GRAZING BEHAVIOUR AND WELFARE OF RUMINANTS

EDITED BY: Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho and Pablo Gregorini PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Veterinary Science





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-166-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-166-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

GRAZING BEHAVIOUR AND WELFARE OF RUMINANTS

Topic Editors:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil Pablo Gregorini, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Citation: Filho, L. C. P. M., Gregorini, P., eds. (2022). Grazing Behaviour and Welfare of Ruminants. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-166-1

Table of Contents

05	Editorial: Grazing Behavior and Welfare of Ruminants
	Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho and Pablo Gregorini
08	Impact of Group Management and Transfer on Individual Sociality in
	Highland Cattle (Bos taurus)
	Sebastian O. Sosa, Marie Pelé, Élise Debergue, Cédric Kuntz,
	Blandine Keller, Florian Robic, Flora Siegwalt-Baudin, Camille Richer,
	Amandine Ramos and Cédric Sueur
24	An Appraisal of Methods for Measuring Welfare of Grazing Ruminants
	Graham K. Barrell
32	A Case for Eustress in Grazing Animals
	Juan J. Villalba and Xavier Manteca
41	On the Search for Grazing Personalities: From Individual to Collective
	Behaviors
	Cristian A. Moreno García, Thomas M. R. Maxwell, Jonathan Hickford and
	Pablo Gregorini
58	Time of Grain Supplementation and Social Dominance Modify Feeding
	Behavior of Heifers in Rotational Grazing Systems
	Gabriela Schenato Bica, Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho,
	Dayane Lemos Teixeira, Karolini Tenffen de Sousa and Maria José Hötzel
65	How Dietary Diversity Enhances Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being in
	Grazing Ruminants
	Matthew R. Beck and Pablo Gregorini
79	Pastoral Farming Ethics and Economics–Aligning Grazing Practices and
	Expectations
	Mark W. Fisher
91	The Influence of Different Types of Outdoor Access on Dairy Cattle
	Behavior
	Anne-Marieke C. Smid, Daniel M. Weary and Marina A. G. von Keyserlingk
102	Effects of Housing System on Dairy Heifer Replacement Cost From Birth
	to Colving Evoluting Costs of Configurate Day Lat and Docture Dood

to Calving: Evaluating Costs of Confinement, Dry-Lot, and Pasture-Based Systems and Their Impact on Total Rearing Investment

Anna Hawkins, K. H. Burdine, D. M. Amaral-Phillips and Joao H. C. Costa

111 Timing and Duration of Observation Periods of Foraging Behavior in Natural Grasslands

Felipe Jochims, Émerson Mendes Soares, Leandro Bittencourt de Oliveira, Bruno Castro Kuinchtner, Pedro Trindade Casanova, Luciana Marin and Fernando Luiz Ferreira de Quadros

122 Beef Cattle on Pasture Have Better Performance When Supplied With Water Trough Than Pond

Gabriela Schenato Bica, Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho and Dayane Lemos Teixeira

130 Preventive Hoof Trimming and Animal-Based Welfare Measures Influence the Time to First Lameness Event and Hoof Lesion Prevalence in Dairy Cows

Mohammed B. Sadiq, Siti Z. Ramanoon, Wan Mastura M. Shaik Mossadeq, Rozaihan Mansor and Sharifah S. Syed-Hussain

142 Low-Intensity, High-Frequency Grazing Positively Affects Defoliating Behavior, Nutrient Intake and Blood Indicators of Nutrition and Stress in Sheep

Angel S. Zubieta, Alejandra Marín, Jean V. Savian,

Anderson M. Soares Bolzan, Jusiane Rossetto, Mariana T. Barreto, Jéromê Bindelle, Carolina Bremm, Laura V. Quishpe, Stella de Faria Valle, Virginie Decruyenaere and Paulo C. de F. Carvalho



Editorial: Grazing Behavior and Welfare of Ruminants

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho 1*† and Pablo Gregorini 2†

¹ Department of Zootechny & Rural Development, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis, Brazil, ² Department of Agricultural Sciences, Lincoln University, Christchurch, Canterbury, New Zealand

Keywords: diet diversity, sustainable farming, social behavior, grazing patterns, lameness

Editorial on the Research Topic

Grazing Behavior and Welfare of Ruminants

The domestication and use of animals for our benefit entails responsibility for their quality of life (1). Animal welfare is a prerequisite for any ethical and sustainable animal production system to be socially defensible and acceptable (2). In nature, animals evolved in a changing environment and developed adaptive mechanisms to increase fitness (3). Cattle evolved in extensive grasslands and rangelands, in herds and families with complex social hierarchy and adapt to challenges posed by their environment through natural selection. Grazing animals face a number of challenges, including tick-borne diseases and lack of access to water and shade. Under human control, it is our responsibility to help animals to cope with such stressors and provide them a good life. This Research Topic aims to identify stressors present in pastoral husbandry systems; assess to the extent they affect health, welfare and production, and propose solutions to mitigate or overcome stressors.

To evaluate the quality of life of animals, assessing welfare conditions is necessary. A number of parameters to evaluate the welfare of grazing ruminants are proposed and are summarized by Barrell. Those parameters should include not only poor states of welfare or physiological measures, such as cortisol, endorphins, plasma serotonin, heart rate variation, etc., but also positive states. As sentient individuals, welfare assessment should include their emotional status. It is likely that to assess welfare condition in grazing ruminants, a variety of tools should be used in the methodology, rather than being reliant on a single measure (Barrell). Welfare is a more complex issue than solely the animal's condition. Welfare became a strong demand from urban societies, but they are raised on farms. Therefore, farmers have to be involved in the debate on animal welfare as part of a broader debate on environmental management, markets and social expectations. Welfare issues have to be resolved in the context of the farming system, and not considering only the experiences of the animal. More sustainable and equitable farming practices are to be built, through dialogue with all involved actors (Fisher). On this debate, pastoral systems have much to contribute. For example, overall costs of production can be reduced if heifers are raised on pasture, compared to confinement housing options (Hawkins et al.).

Grazing is a natural behavior of ruminants (4), and to offer them this opportunity is of paramount importance regarding their welfare. Providing access to alternative forms of outdoor space for ruminants appears to be less attractive for cows than pasture (Smid et al.). In natural conditions, ruminants explore and graze a diverse range of habitats. While exploring diverse habitats and swards ruminants are able to express individual grazing pattern and feed preferences, as well as personalities, with the later being regulated by social and biophysical environments, as well as the emotional state of the animal (Moreno Garcia et al.). Natural pastures offer a diverse range of forage, allowing individuals within herds to have consistent differences in grazing patterns. Such differences are best recorded by the visual observation of the foraging behavior. Ruminants have circadian rhythms and observations from dawn to midnight can represent grazing activities for the entire day (Jochims et al.).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc Food Research Centre, Ireland

*Correspondence:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho pinheiro.machado@ufsc.br

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 05 March 2022 Accepted: 15 March 2022 Published: 13 April 2022

Citation:

Pinheiro Machado Filho LC and Gregorini P (2022) Editorial: Grazing Behavior and Welfare of Ruminants. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:890289. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.890289 Diet diversity is important for the animal nutrition, having an impact on animal and human health. Grazing a diverse arrangement of plants provide to ruminants different sources of primary nutrients such as protein and carbohydrates, and secondary compounds, e.g., phenolics and terpenes (Beck). A diverse pasture provides the animal a wider range and greater amount of phytonutrients, such as terpenoids, phenols, carotenoids, and anti-oxidants, than a monotonous swards, and this more than fed grain-based animals. Further, phytochemical rich diverse swards and its management improve animal health and these nutrients also benefit human health (5–7).

Besides swards' botanical composition, pasture and grazing management affect defoliation strategies by grazing ruminants, from bite features to meal behavior to daily grazing patterns. Sheep on low-intensity/high-frequency grazing strategy bitten on the "top stratum" of the plants' canopy, whereas on highintensity/low-frequency strategy sheep mostly bitten on "grazed plants." Selecting a diet of better nutritive value, sheep on lowintensity/high-frequency grazing had greater nutrient intake. Consequently, blood parameters of these sheep were positively associated with nutritional status and immune response to stress (Zubieta et al.), with possible positive consequences on their welfare.

Because of seasonality in pasture production and / or quality ruminants can face periods of unfulfilled nutrient demands and sometimes hunger. Among other solutions, silage, hay or other supplements offered on pasture are widely used to compensate the shortage of pasture during low season (8). As a social species, cattle and other ruminants have an internal hierarchy, where dominant animals have priority in accessing resources over subordinate ones, especially when resources are limited (9). Competition among animals then occurs, and low ranking animals have to develop strategies to access the resources. In a daily rotational pasture management system, when grain supplement was offered at the time of paddock entry, subordinate heifers could choose to graze fresh pasture, instead of competing for grain with dominant ones. On the other hand, offering supplements after 12 h of entering the paddock, resulted in a higher number of agonistic interactions and less time of grazing during grain offer (Bica). Therefore, supplementing at the time of entering the paddock reduce fights and offers subordinate heifers an opportunity to graze high-quality pasture, improving their welfare.

REFERENCES

- 1. Fraser AF. Ethology of Farm Animals. Amsterdam: Elsevier (1985). p. 500.
- 2. Warriss PD. Meat Science: An Introductory Text. Wallingford: CABI Publishing (2000). p. 310.
- 3. Alcock J. Animal Behavior: An Evolutionary Approach. Sinauer Associates, 10th (2013). p. 522.
- Kilgour RJ. In pursuit of "normal": a review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 138:1– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.12.002
- 5. Kuhnen S, Holz DT, Moacyr JR, Piccinin IN, Pinheiro Machado Filho LC. Effect of pasture management on bioactive compounds of Lolium

When proper sources of water are not offer, thirst becomes another critical challenge to grazing ruminants. Comparing the behavior and performance of grazing steers in the context of water availability in troughs or in ponds, troughs were superior with steers gaining 29% more weight ($P \le 0.007$) than their counterparts drinking from ponds (Bica et al.).

Identified as one of the three most common health issue affecting dairy cows (Sadiq et al.), lameness also occurs in pasture based dairy systems (10). In grazing cows, lameness can be a further problem as they have to walk more (11). Regardless of being on pasture or confined, a study showed that preventive hoof trimming was effective in reducing the prevalence of lesions (Sadiq et al.). Notwithstanding, trimmed cows that spent more time on pasture, have a lower incidence of hoof lesions (12).

Except for extensive management systems, the formation of new groups of animals and the consequent movement of animals from one group to another is a common routine in animal husbandry, including grazing ruminants. Group changing may lead to social instability and stress, implying potentially negative effects on animal welfare (Sosa et al.). As to mitigate the stressful consequences, whenever it is possible, familiar individuals should be transfered as a group and juveniles with a familiar adult. The presence of familiar adults among juveniles in a new group is likely to bring more stability and reduce aggression (13).

Grazing ruminant production systems have the potential to allow the animals to express their natural behavior, maintain health, and experience positive emotional states. The challenges ruminants face on pasture (differences in vegetation, topography, weather changes, social interactions, etc.) may also be viewed as sources leading to positive emotional states, since they present complex problems, that can be successfully solved. The diversity occurring in natural systems may improve animal welfare and prepare the animal for an efficient adaptation to environmental challenges (Villalba and Manteca).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge the Editorial Team of Frontiers for all their support and assistance in this article collection.

multiflorum and Avena strigosa for dairy cows and its effect on milk quality. *Agroecol Sustain Food Syst.* (2022) 46:3–22. doi: 10.1080/21683565.2021.196 4672

- Kuhnen S, Moacyr JR, Mayer JK, Navarro BB, Trevisan R, Honorato LA, et al. Phenolic content and ferric reducing–antioxidant power of cow's milk produced in different pasture-based production systems in southern Brazil. J Sci Food Agric. (2014) 94:3110–17. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6654
- van Vliet S, Provenza FD, Kronberg SL. Health-promoting phytonutrients are higher in grass-fed meat and milk. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* (2021) 4:555426. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.555426
- 8. Wendling AV, Machado Filho LCP. Characterization of silage production and the use by dairy farmers in the West of Santa Catarina state.

Semina. (2018) 39:1639–52. doi: 10.5433/1679-0359.2018v39n4p 1639

- 9. Broom D. Broom and Fraser's Domestic Animal Behaviour and Welfare, 6th Edn. CABI (2021).
- Bran JA, Daros RR, von Keyserlingk MAG, LeBlanc SJ, Hötzel MJ. Cow- and herd-level factors associated with lameness in small-scale grazing dairy herds in Brazil. *Prev Vet Med.* (2018) 151:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2018.01.006
- Thompson AJ, Weary DM, Bran JA, Daros RR, Hötzel MJ, von Keyserlingk MAG. Lameness and lying behavior in grazing dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:6373–82. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15717
- Armbrecht L, Lambertz C, Albers D, Gauly M. Does access to pasture affect claw condition and health in dairy cows? *Vet Rec.* (2017) 182:79. doi: 10.1136/vr.104554
- Sosa S, Pelé M, Debergue E, Kuntz C, Keller B, Robic F, et al. Impact of group management and transfer on individual sociality in highland cattle (Bos taurus). *Front. Vet. Sci.* (2019) 6:183. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00183

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pinheiro Machado Filho and Gregorini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impact of Group Management and Transfer on Individual Sociality in Highland Cattle (*Bos taurus*)

Sebastian O. Sosa^{1†}, Marie Pelé^{2†}, Élise Debergue³, Cédric Kuntz³, Blandine Keller³, Florian Robic³, Flora Siegwalt-Baudin³, Camille Richer³, Amandine Ramos³ and Cédric Sueur^{3*}

¹ Anthropology Department, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ² Ethobiosciences, Research and Consultancy Agency in Animal Well-Being and Behaviour, Strasbourg, France, ³ Université de Strasbourg, CNRS, IPHC UMR 7178, Strasbourg, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Gregorini, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Reviewed by:

Elizabeth S. Herrelko, Smithsonian Institution, United States Sophie Beltran-Bech, University of Poitiers, France

> *Correspondence: Cédric Sueur cedric.sueur@iphc.cnrs.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 22 January 2019 Accepted: 22 May 2019 Published: 12 June 2019

Citation:

Sosa S, Pelé M, Debergue É, Kuntz C, Keller B, Robic F, Siegwalt-Baudin F, Richer C, Ramos A and Sueur C (2019) Impact of Group Management and Transfer on Individual Sociality in Highland Cattle (Bos taurus). Front. Vet. Sci. 6:183. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00183 The sociality of cattle facilitates the maintenance of herd cohesion and synchronization, making these species the ideal choice for domestication as livestock for humans. However, livestock populations are not self-regulated, and farmers transfer individuals across different groups. Individuals consequently have to adapt to different group compositions during their lives rather than choose their own herd mates, as they would do in the wild. These changes may lead to social instability and stress, entailing potentially negative effects on animal welfare. In this study, we assess how the transfer of Highland cattle (Bos taurus) impacts individual and group social network measures. Four groups with nine different compositions and 18 individual transfers were studied to evaluate 1) the effect of group composition on individual social centralities and 2) the effect of group composition changes on these centralities. This study reveals that the relative stability of dyadic spatial relationships between changes in group composition or enclosure is due to the identities of transferred individuals more than the quantity of individuals that are transferred. Older cattle had higher network centralities than other individuals. The centrality of individuals was also affected by their sex and the number of familiar individuals in the group. This study reveals the necessity of understanding the social structure of a group to predict social instability following the transfer of individuals between groups. The developing of guidelines for the modification of group composition could improve livestock management and reduce stress for the animals concerned.

Keywords: livestock, social network, animal welfare, pastureland, applied ecology, bovines

INTRODUCTION

Animal farming began in the Holocene [about 7,500 years BC; (1-3)], when humans domesticated aurochs (*Bos primigenius*), the ancestor of *Bos taurus*. Humans mainly chose cattle for their social nature, which facilitates the maintenance of herd cohesion and synchronization and simplifies the locating of groups in pastureland and the coordination of movements such as transhumance (4, 5). Social groups can regulate their own composition in the wild, with individuals migrating or groups splitting when competition for food becomes too high, for instance (6, 7).

This self-regulation is not possible for livestock. Farmers transfer individuals to different groups throughout their lives to facilitate genetic mixing and reproduction, or to manage pastureland activities (8–10). Such changes may result in periods of social instability and stress (11, 12). These frequent changes in group composition modify the social organization and stability of groups, with possible implications for animal welfare (13) and health (14).

Like their wild counterparts, domestic bovines show strong social behaviors with stable and long-term dyadic relationships when possible, i.e., when the group composition is also stable (12). Boyland et al. (15) showed that cattle form strong relationships with specific partners. These preferential associations are dependent on different socio-demographic factors such as sex and age, as well as dominance, kinship or familiarity with other group members. Two individuals that are the same age or arrive in an enclosure at the same time will have a higher probability of developing a strong relationship than other individuals (16, 17). Many behavioral experiments have shown that cattle are able to discriminate between familiar and unfamiliar individuals, hereafter defined as individuals a bovine has spent time with, or unknown/new individuals, respectively (18, 19). Adding new individuals to the group disrupts the contact between familiars and aggressive behavior increases (10). This suggests that prioritizing good and stable relationships in a group of animals enhances the wellbeing of individuals by decreasing their stress and reinforcing their social status. The use of this principle for livestock management is encouraged (8, 13, 15).

In physiological terms, social stress may lead to decreased food ingestion, lower milk production and even ceased reproduction for cows (8), and can also have a strong impact on the behavior, cognition and health of calves (14). This stress can be reduced by the presence of familiar individuals during transfer (20, 21). The impact of such transfers is also dependent on the sex of individuals: the removal of males from an enclosure leads to stronger cohesion between females, whilst the removal of females does not influence associations between males. These remain basic due to the sexual segregation observed in cattle (6, 22). Females are more involved in group social cohesion than males; this is probably because they are the phylopatric sex, like in some primates species (23).

It appears necessary to understand the social structure of a group to predict any social instability that could occur through the transfer of an animal. Taking this factor into consideration would make livestock management more efficient and less stressful for animals (8). This study uses social network analysis (24) to assess how group composition affects social centralities of Highland cattle (*Bos taurus*) and how the transfers of these individuals impact their social relationships.

Highland cattle are originally from the Scottish Highlands in the United Kingdom. Like most domestic ungulates, this is a social species with sexual segregation (6). This breed is particularly suitable for eco-grazing, as it is adapted to a wide temperature range and has a non-selective diet. Many French natural reserves and national parks have imported Highland cattle in order to maintain ecosystem biodiversity (25–27). These Highland cattle populations with different group compositions can be observed in a wide study permitting a more detailed understanding of how the age ratio, sex ratio and size of group compositions affect the social centrality of cattle and how the transfer of individuals between groups impacts sociality and its dynamic in this species. We studied different compositions (nine in total) of four groups over a 6-month period. We first assessed which sociodemographic factors (sex, age, dominance rank, and group size) influence the social centrality of Highland cattle, which was measured using eigenvector centrality (or popularity, i.e., how well an individual is connected to its neighbors, but also how well its neighbors are connected) and the strength of associations (or social activity, i.e., how often an individual is seen in the proximity of other specific group members) (24). In a second step, changes in group compositions in terms of group size, age or sex composition were examined to determine how they affected the associations and social centrality of individuals. This enabled us to measure the changes in dvadic relationships and in individual centrality according to the changes in group composition. We worked both on transferred and resident individuals.

Following the previous results on sociality in cattle (18, 28, 29), we made the following hypotheses:

- 1. *Effects of socio-demographic factors.* Social centrality is expected to be influenced by the age, sex and dominance rank of group members and the number of familiar individuals they have in the group (17, 28–31). Older individuals were expected to have higher dominance rank and higher social centrality (29). Familiar individuals or those of the same sex and age should also show stronger dyadic associations (6, 32).
- 2. Effects of group composition changes. After a transfer, fewer changes in eigenvector centrality and strength of associations were expected in older, dominant individuals, whilst the opposite was expected in younger, subordinate individuals in the new group composition. Indeed, older or dominant cattle have stronger relationships that are more easily maintained (29, 30). Concerning familiarity, we expected that individuals with a higher number of familiar individuals (for instance three or four) to show a lower impact on their social centrality than the individuals with no or few familiar individuals (i.e., one or two). We further predicted that resident individuals, i.e., those who experienced the arrival of a newly transferred individual in their group, would be less impacted than those being transferred (10). We suggest that the number of transferred individuals is not the only factor affecting social relationships and believe that the social role of removed or newly added individuals can have strong consequences on the social structure. We expected the removal or addition of specific individuals such as a bull or an older individual, specifically an older female, to strongly impact the social relationships of all other individuals because they no longer play their specific social role within the group (29-31).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Note

This study was based on the observation of animals, and no handling or invasive experiments were involved. Our study was

TABLE 1	Characteristics	of the	four Highland	cattle group	sites.
IT DEL 1	onaraotonotioo	01 110	iour i ligi liuriu	outilo group	01100.

Observation site	GPS coordinates	Area (m ²)	Observation time	Number of changes in group compositior
Robertsau (Rob)	48.611237, 7.806514	5 enclosure changes: 66,438; 32,801; 44,028; 80,501; 33,637; 44,028	Period 1: 14/04/15–28/08/15, Period 2: 22/01/16–29/04/16	2
Niedersteinbach (Nie)	49.029522, 7.720504	86,787	Period 1: 14/04/15–28/08/15	1
Sturzelbronn (Stu)	49.057404, 7.580153	112,273	Period 1: 14/04/15–28/08/15	2
Rolbing (Rol)	49.10545, 7.26120	71,454	Period 2: 22/01/16–29/04/16	None

approved by our research institution (IPHC, agreement n°H-67-482-18). It was carried out in full accordance with our national ethical guidelines and complied with European animal welfare legislation. CS is habilitated to perform such behavioral studies on animals (level 1, R-45GRETA-F1-04). Every effort was made to ensure the welfare of the animals and minimize disturbance by researchers present in the field. Animal transfers were a result of agricultural management/farmer choices, not related to the study.

Observation Sites and Study Subjects

We studied the effect of group composition and the effect of change in group composition in four groups of Highland cattle (Table 1 and Figure 1). Group composition change is defined as changing a minority of the individuals at the study location (Robertsau, Niedersteinbach, and Sturzelbronn by either adding some new individuals or removing some individuals from the group; Rolbing is not listed because no transfers were made involving that location). The four groups were located in the Grand Est region of France (see Figure S1 for a map of the different locations). Enclosure size did not have an effect on aggression in the group or the cohesion of group members (correlation test with permutations between the enclosure size and the mean number of aggressions per day per individual: N = 11, rho = -0.30, pperm = 0.317; correlation test with permutations between the enclosure size and the mean number of 3 m proximity per scan per individual: N = 11, rho = -0.37, pperm = 0.214).

Group composition changes were made by the farmer, either for the needs of farmland management or for breeding reasons. In particular, the non-castrated bull was transferred between the groups in order to copulate with females. Castrated bulls, which are known to be less aggressive than bulls (33, 34) were also transferred into groups with juveniles to decrease the stress of the latter. Juveniles were transferred away from their mothers to facilitate new gestation. Females were generally transferred for pastureland management (25–27). The authors did not contribute to the management decision concerning the time of transfer or the choice of individuals transferred. These four groups were chosen for their group size and their contrasting group compositions (i.e., only females with juveniles, females with a bull, juveniles and bullocks; females with different vs. similar ages). The groups were large enough to permit social network analysis (24, 35, 36). The group compositions were selected to study the impact of group composition on individual social centrality and how the changes of group composition affect these centralities.

Water was supplied via a water pump for the Robertsau group, whilst the three other groups had access to a river. Enclosures were all composed of similar vegetation: mainly grass (more than 90% of groundcover, surface area estimated with GIMP 2.9), wetland, some bushes and some small areas of forest/trees, as indicated in Figure S1. Animals were supplied with hay during winter. Twice a week, hay was placed at different locations across a surface area of about seven acres to avoid resource competition. Observations were carried out over two periods: one in 2015, from April 14th to August 28th, and the second in 2016, from January 22nd to April 29th. During the two periods, composition was changed in all groups except the Rolbing group (Table 1 and Figure 1). Each group member was identified according to physical traits such as coat color and horn shape. These physical traits had been clearly identified for each individual prior to the study.

Changes in Group Composition

Group composition changes are summarized in **Figure 1**. A total of nine group compositions were observed for these four groups (**Table 2**) and concerned 18 individual transfers.

Data Scoring

Data were scored by two observers located 2–10 m from the animals. While both observing, one communicated what they saw, and the other wrote it down as confirmation of what they observed. This allowed behaviors to be confirmed by two observers. Cattle were already habituated to human presence and were not disturbed by the observations, which were made once a week over a 6-h period between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. The groups were not observed during rainy or snowy days or during the weekends. Sampling frequency for each group composition is given in **Table 2**.

The group social network was defined and scored using dyadic spatial associations (13, 15). Spatial associations were defined according to the nearest neighbor (closest individual



FIGURE 1 | Chronological scheme of the composition changes in all four groups. Solid lines indicate the period of observation, whilst dashed lines indicate an absence of observation. Dots indicate changes in group composition or enclosure. Forward and backward strokes indicate the addition and departure of individuals, respectively. A vertical stroke indicates a change of enclosure.

TABLE 2 Group size, number of scans and observation days, number of agonistic interactions, sex ratio, and age ratio for each group composition (including changes
of enclosure).

Group composition	Number of scans (and days)	Number of agonistic interactions	Group size	Sex ratio	Age ratio
Niedersteinbach 1	429 (7)	150	10	1 M–9 F	9 A–1 J
Niedersteinbach 2	922 (13)	74	9	9 F	8 A–1 J
Robertsau 1	207 (6)	214	14	14 F	9 A–5 J
Robertsau 2	211 (7)	369	21	21 F	11 A–10 J
Robertsau 3	118 (4)	278	21	21 F	11 A–10 J
Robertsau 4	221 (7)	557	21	21 F	11 A–10 J
Robertsau 5	174 (4)	104	12	12 F	4 A–8 J
Robertsau 6	321 (6)	233	12	12 F	4 A–8 J
Robertsau 7	272 (4)	99	12	12 F	4 A–8 J
Rolbing	416 (9)	74	11	7 M-2 CM-2 F	2 A–9 J
Sturzelbronn 1	172 (4)	83	18	3 M-15 F	8 A–10 J
Sturzelbronn 2	133 (2)	48	8	8 F	8 A
Sturzelbronn 3	899 (13)	266	9	1 M–8 F	1 A-8 A

For sex ratio, M, Male; F, Female. CM indicates castrated males. For age ratio, A, Adult; J, Juvenile (<2yo).

whatever the distance) and were scored every 5 min with the instantaneous sampling method (37). This means that every 5 min (one scan), the value "1" was recorded in a matrix if individual A was the nearest neighbor of individual B and "0" in all other cases. We summed all scans in one matrix for each group composition, thus obtaining the absolute frequencies of nearest neighbors. Dyadic spatial association was defined as the absolute nearest neighbor frequency between each dyad of group members. The total number of scans is indicated in **Table 2**. We obtained 72 scans during usual days.

However, we could obtain less than 72 scans during some days due to different perturbations mostly very bad weather or farmers' intervention. The "nearest neighbor" approach is more appropriate for this kind of study (i.e., evaluating the effects of group composition on social network) than the "five meter proximity" concept (38, 39). Spatial proximity matrices and nearest neighbor matrices are highly correlated (Mantel test with 1,000 permutations: $r \geq 0.78$, $p \leq 0.0001$). Given these two points, we chose the "nearest neighbor" approach to measure associations.

Observers also scored spontaneous agonistic interactions using the behavioral sampling method (37) in order to assess the dominance hierarchy of each group composition. We scored supplanting, avoidance and aggression as agonistic interactions. We measured each agonistic interaction as an event, however long it lasted. We scored this interaction between individual A and individual B as "1" in a matrix of agonistic interactions. We then summed all dyadic agonistic interactions for each group composition period. Agonistic interactions, considered to be the best choice of dominance index (40, 41), were used to calculate the Modified David's Score (MDS). David's score is based on an unweighted and a weighted sum of the individual's dyadic proportions of wins combined with an unweighted and a weighted sum of its dyadic proportions of losses (41). Animals that usually dominate have high positive scores, and those that are usually dominated have largely negative scores. Individuals were ranked from the highest to the lowest MDS, with the individual with the highest value ranked first in the dominance hierarchy and the individual with the lowest value ranked last. SocProg 2.6 (42) was used to calculate MDS values for each group composition, and scoring began on the eighth day following transfer. We did not take the first days of observations into account in our calculation because of the instability of social and hierarchical relationships during this period. Whilst the number of aggressions were higher during these first days compared to stable periods, many agonistic behaviors were bidirectional, meaning that the hierarchy was still not established. These agonistic behaviors did not fit with the dominance ranking we observed in the stable periods.

Basing our analysis on the time intervals between group composition changes, we defined familiarity as the number of familiar individuals in the group, meaning the number of individuals a group member is with / has been with for more than 3 months (35). The examination of the pedigree of each individual revealed that kinship association matrices would be difficult to obtain for each group composition due to missing data or very close genetic proximity between familiar individuals. We therefore preferred to analyse familiarity and did not assess the effect of kinship. Moreover, kinship is very difficult to study in ungulate groups, where the composition changes frequently (10, 12, 18, 19, 21).

Social Network Analysis

Social network analysis (SNA) is an increasingly widespread tool for the study of sociality and its dynamic (24, 38, 43, 44). Indeed, social relationships can evolve over time because of changes in the social strategies of group members, and the arrival or departure of individuals through births, deaths, migrations or transfers. Specific tools were developed in SNA to analyse these changes and their causes (45–48). SNA has also been recognized as a reliable tool for animal welfare and conservation (13, 49, 50).

During data analysis, the matrices of spatial associations obtained per observation day were added together for each group composition. Each dyad of individuals thus obtains a spatial association weight that indicates whether or not these two individuals were frequently observed together. The spatial associations for each group composition were used to calculate the eigenvector centrality coefficient and the strength of associations of each individual (24). These measures were calculated using SocProg 2.6 (42).

Eigenvector centrality is a commonly used measure of individual centrality, and indicates the popularity of an individual (51). This coefficient is defined as a measure of how well an individual is connected to its conspecifics, and also reveals the connections of the group members to which it is connected (52).

The strength of associations is the sum of each node's edge values, and indicates the social activity of an individual (51). The individual with the strongest and most numerous associations has the highest strength value (24). In this study, strength indicates the number of times an individual was observed as the nearest neighbor of another individual. Indeed, in a given scan sampling, one individual might be observed several times as the nearest neighbor of the other group members (maximum = N – 1, where N is the group size).

These two variables are correlated but are by no means collinear (Pearson correlation test, r = 0.16, p = 0.03).

Statistical Analyses

Do Dyadic Spatial Associations Depend on Shared Characteristics Among Dyads?

In a first step, we assessed how the weight of dyadic spatial associations was influenced by socio-demographic factors such as sex, age and dominance. Matrix correlations were made with a Mantel test with 1,000 permutations to check whether individuals sharing similar characteristics (similar age, dominance rank or sex) have stronger dyadic associations than individuals that do not share similar characteristics. This is called homophily, i.e., the tendency of individuals to associate and bond with similar congeners (53, 54). Using Socprog 2.6, we then created matrices for age differences (0: dyad individuals have the same age, 1: an age difference of approximately 1 year, and so on), dominance rank differences (0: dyad individuals have the same rank, 1: a difference of one dominance rank, and so on) and sex difference (0: same sex, 1: different sex). These three matrices were calculated for each group composition and correlated to the dyadic spatial association matrices for each group composition. The "CombinePValue" package in R 3.24 was used to combine the *p*-value of all group compositions and obtain global statistics. The goal here was to test whether vectors of pvalues are significant when combined and to confirm or negate the possible effect of a given socio-demographic factor at the population level.

How Does a Change of Group Composition or Enclosure Affect Dyadic Spatial Associations?

A Mantel test with 1,000 permutations in SocProg 2.6 was used to correlate the dyadic association matrices after a change (transfers or enclosure change). Only individuals that were present in the two adjacent matrices for each matrix (ex: Rob1-Rob2, Rob2-Rob3, Stu1-Stu2, etc.) were retained. The correlation coefficient was then correlated with the number of individuals transferred

between two group compositions using a Spearman correlation test with permutations (library R "Coin," R 3.24).

How Do Sociodemographic Factors Influence Individual Centralities?

GLMMs [R package "Ime4"; (55)] were used to test whether the eigenvector centrality and the strength of associations were affected by the following independent sociodemographic variables: the age of individuals, their sex, their dominance rank and the number of familiar individuals they were associated with in the group. The experimental units we used were the eigenvector centrality for a first GLMM and the strength of associations for a second GLMM, per individual and per group composition. Prior to GLMMs, the eigenvector centrality and the strength of associations were corrected using the group size for each composition in order to control for the mathematical effect of the number of nodes on network metrics. For the regression y=ax+b, y (the eigenvector centrality or the strength of associations) was multiplied by b. The identity of individuals was included as a random factor.

How Do Changes in Group Composition Affect Individual Centralities?

Two further GLMMs were carried out using the differences in eigenvector centrality and in strength of associations between two compositions as positive or negative values. The experimental units we used were the eigenvector centrality difference for a first GLMM and the association strength difference for a second GLMM, per individual and between two group compositions. Effect variables were the age of individuals, the number of familiar individuals in the new group, the difference in dominance rank between the two compositions (negative or positive values) and the total number of added or removed individuals. Changes of enclosures without adding or removing individuals were considered as "0" changes in the analyses. This makes it possible to compare networks where the transfer of individuals occurs to those without transfers. The identity of individuals was included as a random factor. The sex variable was not included in the model testing the differences between two group compositions because only four males (one adult and three juveniles) were transferred to another group, meaning that the sample size was too low, and the sex variable was correlated

Group composition	DyaAsso-dominance	DyaAsso-sex	DyaAsso-age	Dominance-age
Niedersteinbach 1	p = 0.332	$\rho = 1$	p = 0.039	p = 0.007
	(r = 0.06)	(r = -0.15)	(<i>r</i> = 0.16)	(r = 0.43)
Niedersteinbach 2	p = 0.302	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.431	p = 0.448
	(r = 0.10)		(r = -0.01)	(r = 0.08)
Robertsau 1	p = 0.036	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.004	p = 0.002
	(r = -0.29)		(r = -0.15)	(r = 0.52)
Robertsau 2	<i>p</i> < 0.001	NA (just one sex)	<i>p</i> < 0.001	$\rho < 0.001$
	(r = -0.40)		(r = -0.32)	(r = 0.63)
Robertsau 3	<i>p</i> < 0.001	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.001	p < 0.001
	(r = -0.21)		(r = -0.19)	(r = 0.55)
Robertsau 4	<i>p</i> < 0.001	NA (just one sex)	p < 0.001	p < 0.001
	(r = -0.40)		(r = -0.32)	(r = 0.70)
Robertsau 5	<i>ρ</i> =0.001	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.008	$\rho = 0.042$
	(r = -0.35)		(r = -0.25)	(r = 0.28)
Robertsau 6	<i>p</i> < 0.001	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.009	$\rho = 0.036$
	(r = -0.43)		(r = -0.23)	(r = 0.28)
Robertsau 7	<i>ρ</i> =0.004	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.006	$\rho = 0.013$
	(r = -0.30)		(r = -0.24)	(r = 0.39)
Rolbing	<i>ρ</i> =0.015	p = 0.006	p < 0.001	$\rho = 0.035$
	(r = -0.30)	(r = 0.31)	(r = -0.36)	(r = 0.43)
Sturzelbronn 1	<i>ρ</i> =0.028	p = 0.168	p = 0.948	p < 0.001
	(r = -0.13)	(r = 0.05)	(r = -0.10)	(r = 0.63)
Sturzelbronn 2	р =0.592	NA (just one sex)	p = 0.262	$\rho = 0.046$
	(r = -0.03)		(r = 0.10)	(r = 0.34)
Sturzelbronn 3	<i>ρ</i> =0.006	p = 1	p = 0.708	p = 0.349
	(r = -0.42)	(r = -0.16)	(r = -0.03)	(r = 0.05)
Global	p = 1.019e - 13	p = 0.087	p = 7.728e - 12	p =2.584e-23
	NEG $(r = 0.26)$	POS(r = 0.17)	NEG(r = 0.19)	POS(r = 0.41)

The last column also indicates the tests between matrices for age difference and dominance difference. NA, Non-Applicable. For the global value, POS indicates that most of significant correlations were negative. Bold values indicate the global statistical analyses calculated by combining P-values.

with the age of individuals in the model (male individuals were the only representatives of their age group (i.e., adult or juvenile) on transfer in all cases).

The time period was not included as random factor in our GLMMs because the variation of temperatures between the two periods (Period 1 and Period 2) was less than the difference in temperatures over a day (independent sample test with permutations: z = 4.76, p < 0.0001) and because the social behavior of cattle did not change during the daytime (the changes in dyadic associations between Period 1 and Period 2 are not more numerous than the changes within each period: r = 0.6 vs. r = 0.58). Although activity changes according to the temperature, social behavior does not (35). In addition, the period is not dissociated from the group composition, which has already been taken into account in our model. Taking both factors into account could lead to false interactions, influencing the statistical significance of our results [false positive or false negative (56)].

For each GLMM, multi-model inferences and Node label permutations were run. These are detailed in the **Supplementary Material**. GLMM diagnostics (i.e., residual normality distribution plot and multicollinearity between dependent factors) were carried out to evaluate the validity of the final models. We checked for multicollinearity of the predictor variables by calculating the variance inflation factor [VIF, R package "car," (57)]. In all cases, the predictor variables had a VIF value of between 1.02 and 1.9, indicating that the predictor variables were not correlated. The significance level was set at 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed in R 3.24 (58). Plots of residual normality distribution can be found in the annexes (**Figure S2**).

RESULTS

We note that the farmer's management of cattle usually involved the transfer of young individuals. Young individuals are usually dominated by older ones in cattle (Pearson correlation test for our data: df = 176, r = -0.37, p < 0.0001). Moreover, individuals arriving in a new group have fewer familiar individuals and initially have a lower dominance rank than their resident counterparts (Pearson correlation test for our data: df = 111, r = 0.41, p < 0.0001), not because of their low number of familiars but because resident individuals are usually dominant over new arrivals to the group. This phenomenon is considered in the discussion.

Do Dyadic Spatial Associations Depend on Shared Characteristics Among Dyads?

Table 3 indicates the results of correlation tests between the dyadic association matrices and those of differences in characteristics. Figures 2A–F shows six instances of Highland cattle social networks. A relatively high variability is observed according to the group composition. There is a significant correlation between matrices of dyadic associations and those of dominance rank differences. Most correlations are negative, indicating that close-ranking individuals have stronger associations than individuals with distant ranks. This is illustrated by the social networks in **Figure 2C**. Dyadic associations were only dependent on the sex of individuals in the Rolbing group, where individuals of the same sex had stronger associations (**Figure 2C**). However, dyadic associations are mostly negatively correlated with age difference, indicating that individuals of the same age have stronger associations than cattle with greater age differences (greatest difference represented in **Figures 2A,D**). The results for age and dominance led us to make correlations between dominance and age difference matrices. Results show that individuals of a similar age also share similar ranks; VIF analyses based at the individual level do however show that these two factors are not collinear (see Statistical Analyses in the Methods section).

How Does a Change of Group Composition or Enclosure Affect Dyadic Spatial Associations?

The correlation coefficients concerning periods before and after a change ranged from -0.03 to 0.69, with an average of 0.47. This average is lower than we expected and means that 47% of relationships are stable after a change, whilst 53% change significantly. This correlation coefficient is not significantly affected by the number of transferred individuals (r = -0.49, z= -1.4, p = 0.169). This result was then detailed for each group. After the removal of the male, the dyadic spatial associations of the Niedersteinbach group did not change significantly (r =0.52, p = 0.0002; Figures 2A,B). Dyadic spatial relationships in the Robertsau group seemed to stay stable after a change, regardless of whether if it is a change of enclosure or of group composition (0.69 > r > 0.52; p < 0.0001). Finally, results in the Sturzelbronn group are quite different from the two previous groups with no significant stability of dyadic spatial relationships (Figures 2D-F). The correlation coefficient after the removal of juveniles is -0.03 (p = 0.812), and indicates the strong instability of mothers' relationships after the removal of their offspring. Similarly, the dyadic spatial relationships after the addition of the bull into the group are not significantly correlated to relationships prior to this addition (r = 0.14, p = 0.426), and could mean that the male has a strong impact on the relationships of females (Figures 2E,F).

How Do Sociodemographic Factors Influence Individual Centralities?

The model selection for eigenvector centrality is indicated in **Table S1**. The three variables retained in the best models are dominance, familiarity and age. However, the relative importance of these variables is low (RVI(dom) = 0.23; RVI(famil) = 0.04; RVI(age) = 0.01) and after permutations, none of these variables have a significant influence that could explain the variance of the eigenvector centrality (**Table 4**).

The model selection for the strength of associations is indicated in **Table S2**. The variables retained in the best models are dominance, familiarity, sex and age. Familiarity (i.e., the number of familiar individuals in the group) has a strong and



FIGURE 2 | Examples of six group compositions: (A) Nie1, (B) Nie2, (C) Rol, (D) Stu1, (E) Stu2, and (F) Stu3. One node represents one individual, each identified by a number (label). The links between nodes are dyadic associations. The size of nodes depends on the strength of associations but are relative to each group composition (the strengths are not comparable between networks). The thickness of links depend on the weight of dyadic associations. The size of labels increases with the age of individuals. Yellow, blue, and green node colors indicate females, males and castrated males, respectively. Individuals are positioned according to their weight of associations: two individuals located close to each other share a stronger dyadic association than distant individuals. Graphs were created using Gephi 0.91 (59) with the "ForceAtlas" spatialization package.

TABLE 4 Values of the variables retained in the best models to explain the variance of the ei	igenvector centrality.
---	------------------------

Estimate	Std.Error	z-value	Pperm left side	Pperm right side	
0.388	0.0157	24.571	0.00	1.00	
-0.051	0.0204	2.463	0.199	0.801	
-0.029	0.026	1.105	0.298	0.702	
0.004	0.002	1.531	0.664	0.336	
	0.388 0.051 0.029	0.388 0.0157 -0.051 0.0204 -0.029 0.026	0.388 0.0157 24.571 -0.051 0.0204 2.463 -0.029 0.026 1.105	0.388 0.0157 24.571 0.00 -0.051 0.0204 2.463 0.199 -0.029 0.026 1.105 0.298	

significant influence on the strength of associations (RVI = 0.99, **Table 5**, **Figure 3**), i.e., the more familiars an individual has, the stronger its strength of association will be. Females also have significantly lower strengths of association than castrated males (RVI = 0.89, **Table 5**, **Figure 4**). Finally, age has a significant influence on the strength of associations (RVI = 0.12, **Table 5**), with higher strength values in older individuals than for younger ones.

How Do Changes in Group Composition Affect Individual Centralities?

The model selection for the difference of eigenvector centrality after a transfer is indicated in **Table S3**. The three variables retained in the best models are dominance, familiarity and age. However, only age has a significant influence (RVI = 0.05, **Table 6**), with the eigenvector centrality of older

individuals increasing whilst that of younger individuals decreases (Figure 5).

The model selection for the difference of strength of associations after a transfer is indicated in **Table S4**. The variables retained in the best models are dominance, familiarity in the new group, age, and the number of transferred individuals. However, only the number of familiar individuals in the new group had a significant influence on the difference of strength of associations (RVI = 1, **Table 7**), with individuals that had greater numbers of familiar individuals showing stronger strengths of association (**Figure 6**).

DISCUSSION

This study shows how individual and dyadic social network metrics are shaped by sociodemographic factors and composition

		0.15		B 14.11	
	Estimate	Std.Error	z-value	Pperm left side	Pperm right side
(Intercept)	0.915	0.138	6.578	0.65	0.35
Familiarity	0.259	0.065	3.94	1.00	0.00
SexF	-0.301	0.161	1.83	0.003	0.997
SexM	-0.156	0.141	1.09	0.175	0.825
Age	0.001	0.005	0.341	0.98	0.02
Dominance	-0.004	0.19	0.211	0.357	0.643

Bold values indicate significative results.

TABLE 6 | Values of the variables retained in the best models to explain the variance of the difference of eigenvector centrality after transfer.

	Estimate	Std.Error	z-value	Pperm left side	Pperm right side	
(Intercept)	-0.010	0.016	0.629	0.344	0.656	
Age	0.009	0.003	2.38	0.985	0.015	
Familiarity	-0.018	0.548	0.33	0.438	0.562	
Dominance	0.017	0.042	0.392	0.398	0.602	

Bold values indicate significative results.



changes in several groups of Highland cattle. Analyses of dyadic associations and individual centralities highlighted correlations between spatial proximity, age and dominance, an influence of familiarity, age and sex on individual centralities, and finally an impact of transfers that mainly varied according to the number of individuals with which the transferred animal was already familiar. These results have strong implications for animal welfare.

Do Dyadic Spatial Associations Depend on Shared Characteristics Among Dyads?

Matrix correlation tests revealed that individuals of similar age and dominance rank develop stronger associations and are located closer to each other than individuals of different age and sex. However, the tests also showed a correlation between



age and dominance rank similarities. For instance, individuals 951, 949, and 947 in the Robertsau 6 group composition are approximately the same age, are the top-ranking individuals and form a triad with strong associations. This configuration has also been reported in female mouflons (Ovis gmelini) where the most dominant females form triadic relationships (60, 61) and is reminiscent of "triadic closure," a mechanism that may facilitate the development of cooperation for social alliances or access to food. However, it is not clear whether triadic closure is a by-product of socio-demographic characteristics (i.e., individuals that share the same characteristics also share the same needs), or if it is a social strategy leading to better cooperation between multiple partners (62, 63). Other examples also show this homophily according to age and dominance (53, 64). Many authors have confirmed homophily (tendency of individuals to associate and bond with similar others) in ungulate



species (65-69), and underline that animals with the same sociodemographic characteristics may also share the same social or physiological/nutritional needs. Indeed, younger individuals show strong associations, as observed in the Rolbing and Sturzelbronn 1 group compositions (Figures 2C,D, respectively). This tendency of individuals to associate and bond with similar others means that animals feel better by doing this. This increases their welfare and could be use in this way: associating individuals having same age. This homophily seems to help young individuals to learn how to live in groups and acquire sociality without risk of injury, particularly when in contact with adults (70). The same reasoning about reducing risk of injury could be applied for homophily between individuals that have the same dominance rank. Risk of injury prevents subordinate individuals from having strong associations with dominant individuals [as described in ungulates (71) and in primates (46, 72, 73)]. This dominance-related homophily may also result from competition between individuals seeking to associate with top-ranking individuals on order to obtain tolerance or access to resources. However, as high-ranking individuals are already associated among themselves, low-ranking individuals might not gain access to them (46). The results we obtained were not observed in all group compositions, and this could be explained by intra-group age variance. The difference in dominance and the strength of homophily increase with differences in age. This was seen in the Niedersteinbach group, where the maximum age difference between individuals was 2 years (individuals aged 7 yo and 5 yo, with the exception of one juvenile). Unlike the other compositions, no age-related homophily was observed in this group.

Individuals of the same age also have more similar dominance ranks than individuals of different ages. Age affects dominance through the association of individuals, meaning that individuals of the same age are likely to develop the same dominance rank because of their strong and close associations. Social status such as dominance increases with age through different processes such as increases in body weight, experience and knowledge or social power (29, 73–76). In the Niedersteinbach 1 group composition (Figure 2A), the male, which was also the oldest and highest-ranking individual, played an important role in the correlation with dyadic associations. The correlation was no longer significant when this individual left the group (Niedersteinbach 2, Figure 2B). This is either simply because it had been removed from the statistics, or because the group's social structure had been perturbed. When this male arrived in the Sturzelbronn 3 group composition (Figure 2F), it was no longer the oldest in the group but it became the highest ranking individual, making the correlation with dominance and associations significant. This link between age and dominance is advantage for livestock. It means that associating individuals of same age decreases the range of dominance between them and the rate of aggressions.

Whilst age and dominance have a strong impact on dyadic relationships, we found that age was the only variable affecting strength of associations. Older individuals obtain stronger strengths of associations, but dominant individuals do not. There does not appear to be any competition for the central positions in the groups we studied. Dominant individuals are usually expected to develop strong associations because they occupy central positions in the group for better protection against predators or increased access to other resources. This affords higher centrality to these dominant individuals than to others. Other resources are used in this system, such as small clumps of trees that protect from the sun and high temperatures. These spots are appreciated by animals for thermoregulation, and dominant individuals have been seen to occupy them and prevent others from entering them (77-79). Whilst some such areas were present in our study groups, no correlation of this type was observed between strength of associations and dominance.

How Do Sociodemographic Factors Influence Individual Centralities?

Centrality is also linked to age, with the oldest individuals having the highest strength of associations. With age, individuals become more and more selective (80) in their social relationships. Young individuals interact unselectively with many partners in order to learn social rules (70). With time, they develop more stable relationships and become more and more central (73). In our study, this effect was amplified because young individuals, juveniles or young adults were also those the farmers chose to transfer. They therefore had to develop new relationships each time they were transferred, accentuating the link between age and centrality. Juveniles usually have strong relationships with their mothers, yet few juveniles were still in the presence of their mother in our study. They were not easily accepted on their transferal and remained on the periphery of the new group, forming strong dyadic associations among themselves as already shown in previous studies (8, 32). This result for age is emphasized by that obtained for familiarity. Indeed, in our study, familiarity was linked to age as older individuals stayed in their enclosure whilst younger ones were transferred. This is not the best way to avoid stress for juveniles. Transferring adults instead of juveniles or transferring a mix of juveniles and adults could be better for the group integration and the welfare of juveniles. Individuals with a greater number of familiar individuals in the group showed

	Estimate	Std.Error	Adjusted SE	z-value	Pperm left side	Pperm right side
(Intercept)	-0.730	0.145	0.147	4.975	0.00	1.00
Dominance	0.120	0.143	0.144	0.831	0.90	0.10
Familiarity	0.816	0.151	0.153	5.323	1.00	0.00
Age	0.001	0.005	0.005	0.213	0.812	0.188
Ν	-0.0003	0.002	0.002	0.159	0.112	0.888

TABLE 7 | Values of the variables retained in the best models to explain the variance of the difference of strength of associations after transfer.

Bold values indicate significative results.

higher centralities. In bovines, group members form subsets of familiar individuals, accentuating dyadic relationships and increasing centralities (12, 81). In sheep (*Ovies aries*), familiar individuals are attracted to each other, whilst non-familiar individuals are not (69). In our study, resident cattle rebuffed new individuals and were more aggressive toward them around coveted spots (personal observations). The same result has been found in barnacle geese (*Branta leucopsis*) (82) and in mallards (*Anas platyrhynchos*) (83).

Sex also affected the strength of associations in our study, with castrated males showing stronger strengths of association than females. We did not observe any difference between males and females, and this is mainly due to the social organization of bovines. Bovines show sexual segregation, and females usually develop stronger and more stable dyadic associations than males, resulting in a higher centrality for females (17, 28, 84). However, this sex-centrality link in our study is influenced by the fact that male juveniles remain closer to their mother and other young individuals. The stronger centralities of the two castrated males in our study are mainly explained by the group composition. These two individuals were the two only adults in a group of juveniles, which seek group cohesion more than adults. The sex variable was therefore not dissociated from age in the Rolbing group, which probably explains this result in our study. However, the presence of the castrated males seemed to be important for the juveniles and could replace females or non-castrated males, with a lower rate of aggressions. The two castrated males did not show aggressions toward juveniles, which is a good way to manage excess of juveniles.

Eigenvector centrality was not affected by any of the factors we studied. This is probably because eigenvector centrality takes not only direct connections (i.e., how an individual is connected) into account, but also indirect connections, i.e., how its neighbors are connected to other individuals (52). Our studied groups were quite cohesive with a low sample size, which may have led to a low variance of eigenvector centralities between group members and an absence of correlations with socio-demographic factors.

Together, these results allow us to identify which factors affect the social relationships and thus the centralities of group members; the combination of these factors as a management tool could reinforce group cohesion by giving a key sociality role to one specific group member or decreasing aggressiveness during group transfers: juveniles need adults and age similarities increase cohesion and decrease centralities differences and aggressions between individuals.

How Does a Change of Group Composition or of Enclosure Affect Dyadic Spatial Associations?

Our results showed that social relationships are more affected by the identities of transferred individuals than by the number of individuals transferred. Indeed, the addition or the removal of young or adult individuals that were not related to other group members does not seem to significantly affect the social relationships of resident individuals, except for the addition of the male in Sturzelbronn (**Figures 2E,F**). However, the removal of offspring seems to strongly destabilize the relationships of the mothers (**Figures 2D,E**).

How Do Changes in Group Composition Affect Individual Centralities?

The difference in the eigenvector centralities between two transfers is explained by age alone. Results show that the centrality of young individuals tends to decrease during transfer, whilst older individuals obtain higher centrality. During transfer, most young individuals leave their original group for a new group without their mother. These individuals are then isolated and placed at the periphery of the group until they form new and stable relationships (21). Conversely, adults benefit from the transfer of young individuals as they are residents, and newly transferred individuals seek cohesion to alleviate their stress. Indeed, stress increases social cohesion and proximity with partners (85-87). Moreover, the eigenvector centrality coefficient takes into account not only the connections of a group member, but also how these connections are connected to other individuals in the group (52). If the relationships of an individual change but those of its connected individuals do not, then little change will be seen in eigenvector centrality, whilst the strength of association will increase or decrease. In this respect, the eigenvector centrality coefficient is more stable than coefficients that are solely focused on the individual, such as strength of associations or degree (88).

Strength of associations was only affected by the number of familiar individuals in the new group. Individuals with a stable number of familiar individuals in the new group composition showed frequent interaction with them, whilst the individuals that had been separated from familiar individuals interacted less with other group members and needed time to develop strong and stable associations. Researchers (21) showed that the presence of familiar individuals during transfer is indeed less stressful. Familiar individuals have a stronger





strength of associations due to increased group cohesion (85, 86). Finally, and surprisingly, the number of transferred individuals did not lead to a change in strength of associations. Mathematically, as there are more partners to associate with when the number of individuals increases in a group, there is less possibility and less time for each partner to associate. We should therefore observe a global decrease in the strength of associations per individual. Another study (89) showed that an increase in group size may lead to decreased space availability and therefore result in a higher occurrence of agonistic behaviors. The fact that we did not observe such an effect in our study, at least after removing the first 8 days after a transfer, could be explained by the large size of the enclosures. Indeed, aggressive interactions are at their highest when the groups are first mixed. In most cattle groups, aggression is rarely seen once the dominance rank is established, as groups operate more through affiliative than agonistic behaviors (31). Newly transferred individuals in this study have usually all been removed from the same group, which may lead these individuals to stay together (resident vs. transferred) and thus exclude any change in their relationships. However, this hypothesis remains to be tested as even if they stay amongst themselves, the stress entailed by the change should lead to a greater cohesion of individuals, and this was not observed in our study.

Implication for Animal Welfare

Our results show that a group is structured according to age, dominance and familiarity. Favoring specific age differences between individuals and subsets of familiars may be a tool to control cohesion and stability and decrease aggression in a group. The individual centralities of cattle decrease during transfers and changes in group composition. This occurs mainly in young individuals and is due to the loss of familiar individuals. During stressful events, animals seem to prefer interacting with familiar individuals and avoid interacting with unfamiliar group members (69). When transferring individuals, it is therefore preferable to select a certain number of familiar individuals to transfer as a group in order to decrease stress. Juveniles have to been transferred preferentially with a familiar adult, the best is the mother. We may also prevent this stress by transferring first a castrated male (or a female) that will be transferred later with the juveniles. Although it is true that animals should adapt to their new environment after a certain time (11) an optimal group composition will permit a more rapid integration of new individuals. This is particularly important in view of the fact that stress can impact the behavior, cognition, reproductive performance and health of individuals (14, 90, 91). It would also be preferable to transfer juvenile individuals aged around 3 yo with an adult, and avoid transferring juveniles that are less than 1 year old. This would be the best way to decrease the stress of juveniles, related or not to aggressions, to a minimum during transfer. On the other hand, forming stable pairs of individuals before and during transfers may increase food intake and weight gain, particularly in calves (20). Following these rules, then the optimal group composition should be composed of at least four pairs of adults of about same age (mostly females but castrated males is working) and four pairs of juveniles, i.e., sixteen individuals. This will allow transferring two to four adults and two to four juveniles and the same time, preferentially kin. This study has highlighted some interesting results for the improvement of livestock welfare, but other factors could be studied to further enhance animal wellbeing during changes in group composition, notably the personality of the individuals chosen for transfer (92, 93).

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was based on the observation of animals, and no handling or invasive experiments were involved. Our study was approved by our research institution (IPHC). It was carried out in full accordance with our university ethical guidelines and complied with European animal welfare legislation. Every effort was made to ensure the welfare of the animals and minimize disturbance by researchers present in the field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors scored data and read the final version of the manuscript. CS and MP designed the study and wrote the manuscript. CS and SS analyzed the data.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Cécile Bayeur and Jean-Claude Bieber from the Parc Naturel des Vosges du Nord, France and Frédéric Lonchampt from Strasbourg, France for granting us access to the Highland cattle. Our thanks to Arthur Letzelter and Fabien Kauffer for their help obtaining data for the socio-demographic factors of animals, and to Louise Frey and Audrey Claus for their help in data scoring. We thank Joanna Lignot (Munro Language Services) for English editing and Alecia Carter for her helpful comments. SS is funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31470456). This manuscript has been released as a Pre-Print at: https://arxiv.org/abs/1805.11553v4 (94) and was recommended by Peer Community in Ecology (95). We thank Marie Charpentier, Alecia Carter and Sophie Beltran-Bech for their helpful comments on a previous version of the manuscript. This study is part of a PhD thesis by AR (96) and we have full accordance by the University of Strasbourg to publish this study. The thesis is in line with the author's university policy, and can be accessed online (http://www.theses. fr/2017STRAJ079).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2019.00183/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Dunne J, di Lernia S, Chłodnicki M, Kherbouche F, Evershed R. Timing and pace of dairying inception and animal husbandry practices across Holocene North Africa. *Quat Int.* (2018) 471:147–59. doi: 10.1016/j.quaint.2017. 06.062
- Gupta AK. Origin of agriculture and domestication of plants and animals linked to early Holocene climate amelioration. *Curr Sci.* (2004) 87:54–9.
- Larsen CS. The agricultural revolution as environmental catastrophe: implications for health and lifestyle in the Holocene. *Quat Int.* (2006) 150:12– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.quaint.2006.01.004
- Butt B, Shortridge A, WinklerPrins AM. Pastoral herd management, drought coping strategies, and cattle mobility in southern Kenya. *Ann Assoc Am Geogr.* (2009) 99:309–34. doi: 10.1080/00045600802685895
- Von Keyserlingk M, Olenick D, Weary D. Acute behavioral effects of regrouping dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2008) 91:1011– 6. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0532
- Ruckstuhl KE, Neuhaus P. Sexual Segregation in ungulates: a new approach. Behaviour. (2000) 137:361–77. doi: 10.1163/156853900502123
- Sueur C, King AJ, Conradt L, Kerth G, Lusseau D, Mettke-Hofmann C, et al. Collective decision-making and fission-fusion dynamics: a conceptual framework. *Oikos*. (2011) 120:1608– 17. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19685.x
- Bøe KE, Færevik G. Grouping and social preferences in calves, heifers and cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2003) 80:175– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00217-4
- Gupta S, Earley B, Nolan M, Formentin E, Crowe MA. Effect of repeated regrouping and relocation on behaviour of steers. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 110:229–43. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.05.003
- Patison KP, Swain DL, Bishop-Hurley GJ, Robins G, Pattison P, Reid DJ. Changes in temporal and spatial associations between pairs of cattle during the process of familiarisation. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 128:10– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.10.001
- Estevez I, Andersen I-L, Nævdal E. Group size, density and social dynamics in farm animals. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 103:185– 204. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.025
- Gutmann AK, Špinka M, Winckler C. Long-term familiarity creates preferred social partners in dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2015) 169:1– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.05.007
- Sueur C, Pelé M. Utilisation de l'analyse des réseaux sociaux dans la gestion des animaux maintenus en captivité. In: Analyse des Réseaux Sociaux Appliquée à l'Ethologie et à l'Ecologie (Paris: Cédric Sueur, Editions Matériologiques) (2015) p. 445–68.
- Costa J, von Keyserlingk M, Weary D. Invited review: effects of group housing of dairy calves on behavior, cognition, performance, and health. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:2453–67. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10144
- Boyland NK, Mlynski DT, James R, Brent LJN, Croft DP. The social network structure of a dynamic group of dairy cows: from individual to group level patterns. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 174:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.11.016
- Bouissou M, Boissy A. Le comportement social des bovins et ses conséquences en élevage. INRA Prod Anim. (2005) 18:87–99.
- 17. Keeling JL. Social Behavior in Farm Animals. Oxon: CABI Publishing (2001).
- Hagen K, Broom DM. Cattle discriminate between individual familiar herd members in a learning experiment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2003) 82:13– 28. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00053-4
- Takeda K, Sato S, Sugawara K. Familiarity and group size affect emotional stress in Japanese Black heifers. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2003) 82:1– 11. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00039-X
- Costa J, Meagher R, von Keyserlingk M, Weary D. Early pair housing increases solid feed intake and weight gains in dairy calves. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:6381– 6. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9395
- Færevik G, Jensen MB, Bøe KE. Dairy calves social preferences and the significance of a companion animal during separation from the group. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2006) 99:205–21. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.10.012
- Wilson ADM, Krause S, Ramnarine IW, Borner KK, Clément RJG, Kurvers RHJM, et al. Social networks in changing environments. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2015) 69:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00265-015-1973-2

- 23. Wrangham RW. An ecological model of female-bonded primate groups. *Behaviour.* (1980) 75:262–300. doi: 10.1163/156853980X00447
- 24. Sueur C, Jacobs A, Amblard F, Petit O, King AJ. How can social network analysis improve the study of primate behavior? *Am J Primatol.* (2011) 73:703-19. doi: 10.1002/ajp.20915
- Génot J-C. Conservation de la nature: gérer les espèces ou les habitats? Le cas du parc naturel régional des Vosges du Nord, réserve de la biosphère. *Courr Environ INRA*. (2000) 39:5–18.
- Muller S, Dutoit T, Alard D, Grevilliot F. Restoration and rehabilitation of species-rich grassland ecosystems in France: a review. *Restor Ecol.* (1998) 6:94–101. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-100x.1998.06112.x
- Wintz M, Fabien D. La perception des friches dans les Vosges du nord: entre nature abandonnée et nature ≪déjà là. Ann Sci Réserve Biosph Transfront. (2012)
- Reinhardt V, Reinhardt A. Cohesive relationships in a cattle herd (Bos Indicus). *Behaviour*. (1981) 77:121–50. doi: 10.1163/156853981X00194
- Šárová R, Špinka M, Stěhulová I, Ceacero F, Šimečková M, Kotrba R. Pay respect to the elders: age, more than body mass, determines dominance in female beef cattle. *Anim Behav.* (2013) 86:1315–23. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.10.002
- Šárová R, Špinka M, Panamá JLA, Šimeček P. Graded leadership by dominant animals in a herd of female beef cattle on pasture. *Anim Behav.* (2010) 79:1037–45. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.01.019
- 31. Schein MW, Fohrman MH. Social dominance relationships in a herd of dairy cattle. *Br J Anim Behav.* (1955) 3:45–55. doi: 10.1016/S0950-5601(55)80012-3
- Raussi S, Niskanen S, Siivonen J, Hänninen L, Hepola H, Jauhiainen L, et al. The formation of preferential relationships at early age in cattle. *Behav Process*. (2010) 84:726–31. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2010.05.005
- Bouissou MF. Androgens, aggressive behaviour and social relationships in higher mammals. *Horm Res.* (1983) 18:43–61. doi: 10.1159/000179778
- Delville Y, Mansour KM, Ferris CF. Testosterone facilitates aggression by modulating vasopressin receptors in the hypothalamus. *Physiol Behav.* (1996) 60:25–9. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(95)02246-5
- 35. Sueur C, Kuntz C, Debergue E, Keller B, Robic F, Siegwalt-Baudin F, et al. Leadership linked to group composition in Highland cattle (*Bos taurus*): implications for livestock management. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 198:9– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.09.014
- Ramos A, Manizan L, Rodriguez E, Kemp YJM, Sueur C. The social network structure of a semi-free roaming European bison herd (*Bison bonasus*). *Behav Process.* (2019) 158:97–105. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2018.11.005
- Altmann J. Observational study of behavior: sampling methods. *Behaviour*. (1974) 49:227–67. doi: 10.1163/156853974X00534
- Farine DR, Whitehead H. Constructing, conducting and interpreting animal social network analysis. J Anim Ecol. (2015) 84:1144– 63. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12418
- Franks DW, Ruxton GD, James R. Sampling animal association networks with the gambit of the group. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2010) 64:493– 503. doi: 10.1007/s00265-009-0865-8
- Gammell MP, Vries H de, Jennings DJ, Carlin CM, Hayden TJ. David's score: a more appropriate dominance ranking method than Clutton-Brock et al.'s index. Anim Behav. (2003) 66:601–5. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2003.2226
- de Vries H, Stevens JMG, Vervaecke H. Measuring and testing the steepness of dominance hierarchies. *Anim Behav.* (2006) 71:585–92. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.05.015
- 42. Whitehead H. SOCPROG programs: analysing animal social structures. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2009) 63:765–78. doi: 10.1007/s00265-008-0697-y
- 43. Croft DP, James R, Krause J. *Exploring Animal Social Networks*. Princeton: Princeton University Press (2008).
- 44. Pinter-Wollman N, Hobson EA, Smith JE, Edelman AJ, Shizuka D, de Silva S, et al. The dynamics of animal social networks: analytical, conceptual, and theoretical advances. *Behav Ecol.* (2013) 25:242–255. doi: 10.1093/beheco/art047
- Borgeaud C, Sosa S, Sueur C, Bshary R. The influence of demographic variation on social network stability in wild vervet monkeys. *Anim Behav.* (2017) 134:155–65. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.09.028
- Borgeaud C, Sosa S, Bshary R, Sueur C, van de Waal E. Intergroup variation of social relationships in wild vervet monkeys: a dynamic network approach. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:915. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00915

- Boucherie PH, Sosa S, Pasquaretta C, Dufour V. A longitudinal network analysis of social dynamics in rooks corvus frugilegus: repeated group modifications do not affect social network in captive rooks. *Curr Zool.* (2017) 63:379–88. doi: 10.1093/cz/zow083
- Pasquaretta C, Klenschi E, Pansanel J, Battesti M, Mery F, Sueur C. Understanding dynamics of information transmission in drosophila melanogaster using a statistical modeling framework for longitudinal network data (the RSiena Package). *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:539. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00539
- Koene P, Ipema B. Social networks and welfare in future animal management. Animals. (2014) 4:93–118. doi: 10.3390/ani4010093
- Snijders L, Blumstein DT, Stanley CR, Franks DW. Animal social network theory can help wildlife conservation. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2017) 32:567– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2017.05.005
- Kasper C, Voelkl B. A social network analysis of primate groups. *Primates*. (2009) 50:343–56. doi: 10.1007/s10329-009-0153-2
- 52. Bonacich P. Some unique properties of eigenvector centrality. Soc Netw. (2007) 29:555-64. doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2007.04.002
- Massen JJ, Koski SE. Chimps of a feather sit together: chimpanzee friendships are based on homophily in personality. *Evol Hum Behav.* (2014) 35:1– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2013.08.008
- McPherson M, Smith-Lovin L, Cook JM. Birds of a feather: homophily in social networks. *Annu Rev Sociol.* (2001) 27:415– 44. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.415
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Ime4: linear mixedeffects models using Eigen and S4. *R Package Version*. (2014) 1:1–23. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Pourhoseingholi MA, Baghestani AR, Vahedi M. How to control confounding effects by statistical analysis. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench*. (2012) 5:79–83. doi: 10.22037/ghfbb.v5i2.246
- 57. Fox J, Friendly GG, Graves S, Heiberger R, Monette G, Nilsson H, et al. *The Car Package*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2007).
- R Development Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2009).
- Bastian M, Heymann S, Jacomy M. Gephi: An Open Source Software for Exploring and Manipulating Networks. (2009) Available online at: http:// www.aaai.org/ocs/index.php/ICWSM/09/paper/view/154 (accessed January 16, 2014).
- Guilhem C, Gerard J, Bideau E. Rank acquisition through birth order in mouflon sheep (Ovis gmelini) ewes. *Ethology*. (2002) 108:63–73. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0310.2002.00762.x
- Le Pendu Y, Guilhem C, Briedermann L, Maublanc M-L, Gerard J-F. Interactions and associations between age and sex classes in mouflon sheep (Ovis gmelini) during winter. *Behav Process.* (2000) 52:97–107. doi: 10.1016/S0376-6357(00)00129-7
- Banks DL, Carley KM. Models for network evolution. J Math Sociol. (1996) 21:173–96. doi: 10.1080/0022250X.1996. 9990179
- Miguel Q, Barceló JA, Madella M (eds). Advances in Computational Social Science and Social Simulation. Barcelona: Autónoma University of Barcelona (2014). Available online at: http://ddd.uab.cat/record/125597
- Lusseau D, Newman MEJ. Identifying the role that animals play in their social networks. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2004) 271:S477–81. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2004.0225
- 65. Gerard J-F, Richard-Hansen C. Social affinities as the basis of the social organization of a Pyrenean chamois (*Rupicapra pyrenaica*) population in an open mountain range. *Behav Process.* (1992) 28:111–22. doi: 10.1016/0376-6357(92)90053-G
- 66. Guilhem C, Bideau E, Gerard J, Maublanc M. Agonistic and proximity patterns in enclosed mouflon (Ovis gmelini) ewes in relation to age, reproductive status and kinship. *Behav Process.* (2000) 50:101–12. doi: 10.1016/S0376-6357(00)00094-2
- Kimura R. Mutual grooming and preferred associate relationships in a band of free-ranging horses. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1998) 59:265– 76. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(97)00129-9
- Roberts JM, Browning BA. Proximity and threats in highland ponies. Soc Netw. (1998) 20:227–38. doi: 10.1016/S0378-8733(98) 00002-1

- Winfield C, Syme G, Pearson A. Effect of familiarity with each other and breed on the spatial behaviour of sheep in an open field. *Appl Anim Ethol.* (1981) 7:67–75. doi: 10.1016/0304-3762(81)90052-3
- Shimada M, Sueur C. The importance of social play network for infant or juvenile wild chimpanzees at Mahale Mountains National Park, Tanzania. Am J Primatol. (2014) 76:1025–36. doi: 10.1002/ajp.22289
- Syme LA, Syme G, Waite T, Pearson A. Spatial distribution and social status in a small herd of dairy cows. *Anim Behav.* (1975) 23:609– 14. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(75)90138-4
- Balasubramaniam KN, Dittmar K, Berman CM, Butovskaya M, Cooper MA, Majolo B, et al. Hierarchical steepness, counter-aggression, and macaque social style scale. Am J Primatol. (2012) 74:915–25. doi: 10.1002/ajp.22044
- 73. Sosa S. The influence of gender, age, matriline and hierarchical rank on individual social position, role and interactional patterns in *Macaca sylvanus* at 'La Forêt des Singes': a multilevel social network approach. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:529. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00529
- 74. Crockford C. Aging: lessons for elderly people from monkeys. *Curr Biol.* (2016) 26:R532-4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.05.002
- McComb K, Shannon G, Durant SM, Sayialel K, Slotow R, Poole J, et al. Leadership in elephants: the adaptive value of age. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2011) 278:3270–6. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.0168
- Tokuyama N, Furuichi T. Leadership of old females in collective departures in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2017) 71:55. doi: 10.1007/s00265-017-2277-5
- Laforge MP, Michel NL, Wheeler AL, Brook RK. Habitat selection by female moose in the Canadian prairie ecozone. J Wildl Manag. (2016) 80:1059– 68. doi: 10.1002/jwmg.21095
- Lopes LB, Eckstein C, Pina DS, Carnevalli RA. The influence of trees on the thermal environment and behaviour of grazing heifers in Brazilian Midwest. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2016) 48:755–61. doi: 10.1007/s11250-016-1021-x
- McCann NP, Moen RA, Windels SK, Harris TR. Bed sites as thermal refuges for a cold-adapted ungulate in summer. Wildl Biol. (2016) 22:228– 37. doi: 10.2981/wlb.00216
- Almeling L, Hammerschmidt K, Sennhenn-Reulen H, Freund AM, Fischer J. Motivational shifts in aging monkeys and the origins of social selectivity. *Curr Biol.* (2016) 26:1744–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.04.066
- Sato S, Tarumizu K, Hatae K. The influence of social factors on allogrooming in cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1993) 38:235– 44. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90022-H
- Kurvers RH, Adamczyk VM, Kraus RH, Hoffman JI, van Wieren SE, van der Jeugd HP, et al. Contrasting context dependence of familiarity and kinship in animal social networks. *Anim Behav.* (2013) 86:993– 1001. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.09.001
- Bousquet CAH, Ahr N, Sueur C, Petit O. Determinants of leadership in groups of female mallards. (2017) 154:467–507. doi: 10.1163/1568539X-00003431
- Villaret J-C, Bon R. Sociality and relationships in Alpine ibex (*Capra ibex*). (1998) 53:153–70.
- Dufour V, Sueur C, Whiten A, Buchanan-Smith HM. The impact of moving to a novel environment on social networks, activity and wellbeing in two new world primates. *Am J Primatol.* (2011) 73:802–11. doi: 10.1002/ajp.20943
- Hansen H, McDonald DB, Groves P, Maier JAK, Ben-David M. Social networks and the formation and maintenance of river otter groups. *Ethology*. (2009) 115:384–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2009.01624.x
- Heathcote RJP, Darden SK, Franks DW, Ramnarine IW, Croft DP. Fear of predation drives stable and differentiated social relationships in guppies. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:41679. doi: 10.1038/srep41679
- Levé M, Sueur C, Petit O, Matsuzawa T, Hirata S. Social grooming network in captive chimpanzees: does the wild or captive origin of group members affect sociality? *Primates*. (2016) 57:73–82. doi: 10.1007/s10329-015-0494-y
- Kondo S, Sekine J, Okubo M, Asahida Y. The effect of group size and space allowance on the agonistic and spacing behavior of cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1989) 24:127–35. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(89)90040-3
- Gaillard C, Meagher RK, von Keyserlingk MA, Weary DM. Social housing improves dairy calves' performance in two cognitive tests. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e90205. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090205
- Proudfoot K, Habing G. Social stress as a cause of diseases in farm animals: current knowledge and future directions. *Vet J.* (2015) 206:15– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2015.05.024

- Pruitt JN, Keiser CN. The personality types of key catalytic individuals shape colonies' collective behaviour and success. *Anim Behav.* (2014) 93:87– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.04.017
- 93. Wolf M, Weissing FJ. Animal personalities: consequences for ecology and evolution. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2012) 27:452–61. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2012.05.001
- 94. Sosa S, Pele M, Debergue E, Kuntz C, Keller B, Robic F, et al. Impact of group management and transfer on individual sociality in Highland cattle (*Bos taurus*). Q-Bio. arXiv:180511553. (2018) Available online at: http://arxiv.org/abs/1805.11553 (accessed January 24, 2019).
- Charpentier M. How empirical sciences may improve livestock welfare and help their management. *Peer Community Ecol.* (2018) 100003. doi: 10.24072/pci.ecology.100003
- 96. Ramos A. Réseau Social, Utilisation de L'espace et Processus de Prise de Décision Collective Lors des Déplacements de Groupe Chez le BISON

D'EUROPE (Bison bonasus): Implications Pour la Gestion en Milieu Sauvage. (2017). Available online at: http://www.theses.fr/2017STRAJ079 (accessed January 24, 2019).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sosa, Pelé, Debergue, Kuntz, Keller, Robic, Siegwalt-Baudin, Richer, Ramos and Sueur. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





An Appraisal of Methods for Measuring Welfare of Grazing Ruminants

Graham K. Barrell*

Department of Agricultural Sciences, Lincoln University, Christchurch, New Zealand

Although disturbances in body function of animals can be measured to determine whether a state of stress may exist, there is growing interest in finding ways to assess their emotional status as an indicator of good or bad welfare status. Generally it is easier to determine poor states of well-being than positive ones. For grazing ruminants some indicators of well-being include absence of illness, good growth and productivity, and longevity. Motion detectors can provide automated remote monitoring of behavior and it is likely that there will be advances in the interpretation software to increase the utility of this technology for assessing well-being. Cortisol levels in body fluids, feces and pelage are prominent as a marker of poor animal welfare, but like many of the other objective measures that are used, are not wholly reliable at the individual animal level. These other measures include: plasma serotonin, heart rate variation, infra-red thermography, cytokines, salivary alpha amylase, and acute phase proteins. Use of automated facial expression recognition may supplement electrophysiological recording as means to quantify the pain experience of animals. Although the measures described in the literature do not necessarily provide the final answer for determination of welfare in grazing ruminants, they all have some merit and deserve further investigation.

Keywords: animal welfare, ruminants, HPA axis, assessment of pain, animal behavior

INTRODUCTION

One of the initial tasks that arises from attempts to quantify the well-being of grazing animals is that of deciding what their well-being, or welfare, actually is. Although this issue is dealt with in some depth in nearby papers, it needs to be addressed here as well to provide context for the measures under consideration. Confusion stems from differing views about what constitutes animal welfare. For instance Moberg, (1) described disturbances of stress in animals as the development of a pre-pathological state, specifically as "a stress-related change in biological function that threatens the animal's well-being," this being the onset of poor welfare status of an animal. Broom and Johnson (2) provided a wider view that all biological responses represent states of welfare, very good and poor, with the development of pathology as a manifestation of excessive stress and, thus, a poor welfare status. The latter authors (2, 3) also pointed out that most of the quantifiable measures of animals that were being used principally determined poor welfare. What is really needed is a clearer view of the mental state of animals. It is argued that welfare is fulfilled when animals experience positive emotions and do not feel prolonged negative emotions (4–6). This has led more recently to consideration of "animal happiness" where emphasis has shifted from concern about negative aspects of animal welfare to the positives (7). However, the problem remains about how we can

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Jo Hockenhull, University of Bristol, United Kingdom Rebecca E. Doyle, The University of Melbourne, Australia

> *Correspondence: Graham K. Barrell graham.barrell@lincoln.ac.nz

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 23 May 2019 Accepted: 14 August 2019 Published: 28 August 2019

Citation:

Barrell GK (2019) An Appraisal of Methods for Measuring Welfare of Grazing Ruminants. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:289. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00289

24

interpret the responses of animals in terms of their emotional experiences. It has been addressed by Safina (8) but further discussion of this question and of these definitions lies outside the scope of this paper, which is primarily confined to an examination of the methodology used to evaluate measures of welfare.

The focus of concerns about the welfare of grazing ruminants must center on farmed animals. The great bulk of wild, freeranging ruminants are only loosely managed by humans and are generally able to experience their normal behaviors. However, they must encounter all manner of situations where their welfare is poor, for example: from predation, during droughts, from wildfires, during blizzards, presence of uncontrolled infectious diseases, etc. Nevertheless, we tend to view this group of animals as beyond our immediate concern in terms of management of their welfare. Apart from farmed animals (and some held as pets or in zoological parks, circuses, etc.) for whose management we are fully responsible, the other group of grazing ruminants for whom welfare is a major concern are those utilized in research projects or in testing procedures. There is an underlying belief amongst animal rights proponents that scientific research involving use of animals is wrong on philosophical grounds, but this belief is often associated with concerns about welfare of the animals. In recent years, many research projects involving ruminant animals have been conducted just for purposes of evaluating measures of their welfare (see later). It is likely that some of these are motivated by the possible need to set welfare standards for the farming of ruminants, as has been experienced by the poultry and pig farming industries-largely in response to concerns raised by the general public.

Physical Health and Productivity

One generalized view about the determination of a farm animal's well-being is that it can be obtained from their health status and productivity. This concept has been carefully explored by Professor Marian Dawkins in her book "Animal suffering: the science of animal welfare" (9). She pointed out that although the concept that a physically healthy animal must be in a state of good welfare seems attractive, this measure does not provide any evidence about mental well-being of such animals. Nor does high productivity necessarily mean that the animals are experiencing high levels of welfare. In spite of these caveats, the presence of healthy animals with acceptable growth rates and levels of meat, milk or fiber production, and normal reproductive performance must be considered both as sound indicators of good animal welfare and as ones that are readily measured.

One measure that probably integrates both the health status and productivity of farm animals is longevity. It is likely that shortened longevity represents poorer reproductive performance or health status of animals, possibly associated with selection and management practices aimed at high levels of productivity. This appears to be evident in the dairy industries where there has been a reduction of about 50% in the life expectancy of cows in Denmark between 1960 and 1982 (3) and the current life expectancy for dairy cows in Sweden is only 60.5 months (10). These Scandinavian data are likely to be representative of dairy industries globally. It is generally argued that nutritional strategies which improve longevity of ruminants will impact favorably on their welfare (11). Intuitively, longevity of production animals must be fairly easy to determine. This makes it a simple measure that provides a potentially useful indicator of well-being that should be placed high on the list of measures available for assessing animal welfare on farms. Nevertheless, there is a counter argument. Sometimes longevity of animals may come at cost in terms in terms of their welfare and it would be important to recognize when this is the case.

The Good Life

Another concept of a good animal welfare scenario is that they "are healthy and have what they want" (12). This statement obliges us to determine animals' wants and presupposes that we can determine positive states of emotion. It moves away from the notion that good welfare is simply the absence of negative experiences and forces us to find ways to demonstrate that animals are enjoying positive emotional experiences. This has proven to be difficult, as most studies in the literature for humans and other mammals have focussed on negative emotions such as fear; the reason being that negative experiences are more intense than positive ones and are therefore easier to measure (13). Their review (13) indicated a need at that time for more research on positive affective states in animals, however it seems that this area of study still continues to lack attention (7). Evidence of pleasure can be based on behaviors such as social interaction, reproductive activity, play, self-grooming, anticipatory hyperactivity, and exploration. In many cases these activities are associated with a reward, such as food [e.g., see (14)], environmental enrichment or shelter from inclement weather, and these rewards can be akin, in physiological terms, to those provided by addictive drugs. As with addictive drugs, the underlying physiology of pleasure experience is manifested in activation of specific neural and neuroendocrine pathways which are quantifiable and likely to provide complementary information to that determined from behavioral studies. Some of these are addressed below.

Threats to Welfare

In all circumstances grazing ruminants experience a wide realm of threats to their welfare. As well as the obvious threats such as inadequate feed or water, inclement weather associated with inadequate shelter and infectious diseases, grazing ruminants may have to contend with competition for space and feed, gastrointestinal parasitism, unsuitable surfaces, lack of feed diversity or variety, toxic plant compounds, predation, and inadequate care from their human minders. In most cases, these are easily identified and can be quantified and managed. The problem occurs when the threats are either not obvious to the observer or when they are below levels of detection, or not considered important. It is in these cases and where we cannot determine whether a threat exists, e.g., limited feed diversity or negative social interactions amongst individuals, that we are fully dependent on the availability of reliable measures of animal well-being.

Behavioral Assessment to Determine Welfare of Animals

Welfare of animals can be assessed from ethograms of behaviors. This is where the activities of animals are recorded throughout a monitoring period and the amount of time performing each activity provides a spectrum of behavior that can differentiate individuals who are behaving abnormally or even indicate they are undergoing stress. Alternatively, external indicators of behavior, such as skin lesions to quantify aggression in pigs (15), can provide useful assessments of welfare.

The major limitation to behavioral assessment of animals has been the workload demand on the observers, whether conducting direct observations or interrogating hours of closed circuit television recordings. Automation of behavioral monitoring is a rapidly expanding technology that offers much promise for monitoring the welfare of animals, as well as providing measures of their physical health and reproductive status. Use of accelerometers with automated data capture is providing information about activity of animals from devices placed on a leg (16, 17) and/or on a neck collar (17). However, the reliability of the information as an indicator of pain, inflammation or stress does not appear to be very precise. For instance, use of these devices showed that primiparous cows with clinical metritis spent more time on average lying than their metritis-free counterparts although there was no such effect in multiparous cows (16). Likewise, Williams (17) showed a failure of activitysensing devices to record all potential oestrous events in dairy cows. In the case of a short-term removal of dietary supplement from dairy cows that was insufficient to cause clinical signs of metabolic disorder, these devices revealed a compensatory increase in mean eating and rumination times (18). It is possible that these changes would be more pronounced when the metabolic disturbance reached a point where welfare is compromised, but the current picture emerging from these studies is that the type of information obtained with the automated devices lacks the degree of resolution that would make it reliable for assessing the welfare status of individual animals. Nevertheless, there is promise of increased sophistication of such devices and of data analysis software in this area. For example, linking these recording devices to a real-time location system has enabled cow behavior to be classified more accurately (19). This is an area of technology that is likely to advance rapidly.

Another promising avenue of study is the analysis of farm animal vocalizations (20). Vocal expression by mammals is linked physiologically to their emotions (21) and it is suggested that vocalizations of cattle can be interpreted to assess how they are coping with their farming environment (22).

An interesting behavioral measure that has been applied to sheep is ear posture. Their ears can be scored as "forward," "backward," "asymmetric," or "passive" (23). These authors and Reefman et al. (24) have reported changes in ear posture according to different emotional states in sheep, which makes this measure attractive because of its ease of detection.

Qualitative Behavior Assessment and Cognitive Bias

An holistic measure of animal welfare based on behavior can be obtained by applying the process of qualitative behavior assessment [e.g., for sheep-(25)]. This involves an initial group assessment to determine whether animals are: relaxed, dejected, thriving, agitated, responsive, dull, content, anxious, bright, vigorous, distressed, then scoring the predominant behavior. Following this, a follow up examination is conducted to count prevalence of several physical indicators of health and welfare (e.g., coughing, lameness, soiling). Collins et al. (26) found this approach useful for evaluation of sheep transport stressors. However, measures of animal behavior are susceptible to the mood of animals at the time of assessment and this is the basis for consideration of cognitive bias, sometimes termed attention bias, during behavioral evaluation of animal welfare. It is not surprising that an animal experiencing a negative affective state, based on its current emotional experiences (or mood), will display different judgment about a stimulus to that of an animal in a positive affected state. This has been ably reviewed recently by Clegg (27) and several studies have examined this topic in respect of studies with sheep (28–31) and calves (32).

Cortisol

A major component of the stress response of mammals is activation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis which manifests as an elevation of circulating levels of βendorphin, vasopressin and, particularly, cortisol. The stressinduced elevation of β-endorphin levels in blood is related to the stress modulating activity of this and other endogenous opioids (33) and a similar role is performed by vasopressin, in addition to its direct effects on cardiovascular and kidney function (34). Cortisol is a glucocorticoid with an important role in the mobilization of energy stores during activation of the stress process (35). However, cortisol has almost reached "silver bullet" status as the answer to our need for a simple, quantifiable, measure of lowered welfare status for an individual animal. Its measurement in blood plasma has proved useful as a tool to compare various, potentially noxious, farm procedures such as the various techniques for castration of calves [e.g., (36)] and castration and tail docking of lambs [e.g., (37)]. In spite of its universal appeal as a monitor of negative animal welfare status, caution needs to be applied to conclusions based on measurement of cortisol levels in body fluids (38). One factor is the blood sampling procedure itself. Red deer stags blood sampled by jugular venepuncture during manual restraint had a mean plasma cortisol concentration of 56.5 ng/ml which is in stark contrast with the values obtained with a remote blood sampling backpack whilst the stags were on pasture and undisturbed - 8.4 ng/ml (39). These plasma cortisol values obtained from undisturbed animals are low in comparison with other figures in the literature and indicate that even where blood samples are obtained via an indwelling cannula that has been placed intravenously some days prior, the animals are still susceptible to human presence at the time of sampling. Although, gene transcription and eventual synthesis and secretion of de novo hormone product may take several minutes, there are ready releasable sources of cortisol-as seen in blood samples collected at 10 min following administration of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) or corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) in young (3 weeks) and older (26 weeks) calves (40). This means that the arrival of operators to collect blood, albeit remotely, may be a sufficient stimulus to elevate cortisol in the resultant samples. The same will be true for saliva samples. The study by Van Reenen (40) also revealed a lack of consistency between the responsiveness of cortisol to exogenous CRH or ACTH and behavioral tests, and an age-related increase in responsiveness in the calves. It is thus very unlikely that much emphasis can be placed on a single cortisol measurement in a circulating body fluid as a measure of an animal's state of welfare.

Measurement of glucocorticoid metabolites in the feces of mammals provides a non-invasive approach for determination of recent adrenal cortex activity. The methodology for dairy cows has been nicely validated by Catherine Morrow and her co-authors (41). The lag intervals between elevation of plasma corticosteroids and subsequent elevation of metabolite levels in feces approximated digesta intestinal transit times (41). Although the magnitude of the elevations of the metabolites in feces is much lower than that of the corresponding steroid plasma levels, the method is sensitive enough to detect changes on exposure of cows to a new environment and following their transportation (41, 42). Whilst the data obtained from the numerous published studies have been very encouraging, many authors still consider that it is necessary to use this methodology in concert with other monitoring measures to provide reliable indicators of stress.

It can be argued that the information provided by measurement of cortisol, or its metabolites, in blood, saliva, urine or feces is relevant only to the previous few minutes and up to a few days of retrospective experience of the animal. A longer-term picture of HPA axis activity, for instance a period of chronic stress, may be afforded from measurements of these compounds in the hair or wool of animals (43). However, there are several considerations that must be borne in mind regarding cortisol levels in hair. Firstly, skin (melanocytes) and hair follicle cells contain all elements of the HPA axis including signal molecules (pro-opiomelanocortin, corticotrophin releasing hormone, adrenocorticotrophic hormone) and their receptors, plus the steroid synthesis machinery (44). Thus, there is an HPA axis homolog in skin tissues that can produce corticosteroids independently of the central stress axis. Secondly, incorporation of locally derived corticosteroids and those passively acquired from blood into the growing hair shaft takes place at the follicle bulb (45)-several millimeters below the skin surface (46)-so there is considerable delay before they can be located in shaved hair and this is further complicated by variation, especially seasonal, in hair growth rate and skin blood flow. Also, there is possible "washout" of steroids from hair caused by chemical degradation, grooming, ultraviolet radiation, rainfall, etc., and possible contamination from sweat. However, the ease of collection of hair or wool and the stability of its corticosteroid levels during storage makes this an attractive approach to assessment of stress in animals (43). Results from studies of hair cortisol content of cattle have shown significant elevations when stocking density was markedly changed (47) but not when the change was minor (48) and similarly inconsistent findings have been reported for castration of calves [e.g., (49, 50)]. It seems that when there is a major source of stress, e.g., heat and water deprivation in sheep (51), there is an elevation in hair cortisol content and, likewise, hair cortisol content was associated with clinical disease and pregnancy (52) and with the duration of clinical disease (53) in cows. However, Tracy Burnett and her co-authors (52) pointed out that this parameter did not differentiate lower magnitudes of stress or sub-clinical disease in cattle. Hair cortisol content does show promise as an indicator of animal welfare status but clearly there is a need to develop sampling protocols (such as those suggested by 42) and to be aware of its possible limitations.

Serotonin

Serotonin, which is actually 5-hydroxytryptramine (5-HT), is derived from tryptophan. It is a neurotransmitter, produced by the serotonergic neurons, but is also formed in a variety of tissues and appears in the circulation from which it is readily removed by platelets or endothelial cells in the lungs and liver. In mammals, there have been numerous studies relating plasma serotonin levels to stress and other disorders. However, as shown in the extensive review of their relation to various pathological states in horses (54), the picture in relation to stress is confusing. Nevertheless, a study of plasma serotonin levels in dairy cows showed the values to be elevated by the stress of negative energy balance (55). This seems to be a measure with potential for detecting the existence of stress conditions in farm animals although the involvement of platelets in metabolism of serotonin means that measurement of free serotonin concentrations is best done with platelet-poor plasma.

Cardiac Function

The acute response to stressors is an elevation of activity of the sympathetic-adrenal medulla (SAM) axis, most readily detected as an increase in heart rate. Heart rate is easy to measure with electronic recording devices and can be stored on data loggers attached to the animal or transmitted to distant recorders. Heart rate per se probably does not provide useful information about long-term welfare status but there is interest in heart rate variation (HRV) as a measure of welfare. HRV is simply obtained by a Fourier transformation of data from any continuous (preferably at least 5 min) heart rate recording. It is alleged that HRV provides information about the balance of activity between the two divisions of the autonomic nervous system: sympathetic and parasympathetic. Or, simply, the balance between sympathetic and vagal activity. Use of HRV for assessment of welfare of farm animals has been comprehensively reviewed (56) and the evidence obtained from about a decade of investigation provided a strong case for continued development of this technology for use in farm animals.

Infra-Red Thermography (IRT)

Infra-red thermography (IRT) is based on photography of the external surfaces of animals using an infra-red camera. The thermal image can be reproduced in color to reveal the surface heat transfer and blood flow. Initial users of the technique were able to obtain early detection of clinical disease (57). The technique can be used on any region of the body surface, however the eye and surrounding skin tissue provide an image that may reflect the sympathetic-vagal balance of the animal (58). In general, disturbances in thermal radiation from the various surfaces of animals indicate the presence of inflammatory processes, although the genitalia may provide indicators of

Measuring Welfare

reproductive status. An overview of use of IRT in farm animals has been provided by (59). Although it is non-invasive and simple to perform, IRT currently shows most promise mainly as a tool for early detection of disease. One of the problems encountered with the technique is standardizing the positioning (angle and distance) of the camera whilst minimizing the need for restraint of the animals.

A variant of IRT is use of functional near infra-red spectroscopy (fNIRS) probes to determine differences in oxyhemoglobin and deoxy-hemoglobin between right and left cerebral hemispheres of the sheep brain. This has been used to detect a bilateral increase in cerebral activity in response to anticipation of a food reward together with a greater haemodynamic response in the right hemisphere compared with the left (23).

Other Measures of Sympathetic-Vagal Activity

In addition to IRT other non-invasive measures of sympatheticvagal activity include proportion of eye white and eye temperature. Percentage of visible eye white in cows increased with increasing frustration (60) however, Gómez et al. (61) found no relation between this measure or eye temperature of cows experiencing either non-stressful (feeding) or stressful (claw trimming) experiences. Likewise, there were no emotion-related effects on percentage of eye white in sheep (62), although the latter authors suggested that eye aperture (possibly related to eyelid muscle tension) may be meaningful (24). Another measure that comes under this heading is body surface humidity which also seems to vary, particularly in concert with the level of sympathetic activity (24, 62).

Markers of Immune Function

As well as the obvious involvement of immunological mechanisms in response to the presence of pathogenic antigens, the immune system has important functional links with brain function [e.g., emotional limbic system activity (63)] and with the HPA axis (64), the latter particularly through the immunosuppressive activity of glucocorticoids. Brain function is impacted directly by neuroinflammation arising from associated immune dysregulation (65). Markers of immune function include immunoglobulins (e.g., immunoglobulin-A) and the cytokines. The cytokines have been grouped into eight families: interleukins, tumor necrosis factors, interferons, chemokines, haematopoietins, colony stimulating factors, neurotrophins, and growth factors (66). Immune activation may be considered as a stress response in its own right and because many of the markers mentioned above can be measured in samples of blood or saliva, this has become a potentially rich avenue for monitoring well-being of farm animals.

Salivary Alpha Amylase

There is much interest in the concept, particularly in the humanrelated literature, that levels of alpha amylase, a digestive enzyme that is present in saliva, provide a marker of sympathetic nerve activity (67). Among farm animals, this measure of stress has been applied particularly to pigs [e.g., (68)] and a study of sheep (69) showed a significant elevation in concentration of salivary alpha amylase 15 min after exposure to a barking dog stimulus. Nevertheless, both of the studies cited above reported considerable individual variation in the responses and indicated that the measure needs further investigation to confirm its reliability as a monitor of stress in farm animals.

Acute Phase Proteins

Acute phase proteins are a group of approximately 30 mainly liver-derived proteins present in blood that experience a change (25% or more) in concentration in response to inflammation, or specifically in response to altered activity of pro-inflammatory cytokines-particularly interleukin-6, but also interleukin-1, tissue necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma. Members of this group of proteins include C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A and haptoglobin. Their functions include: enabling entrapment of microorganisms and their products, activation of the complement system, binding cellular remnants, neutralizing enzymes, scavenging free hemoglobin and radicals, and modulation of the immune response (70). Specifically, the acute phase proteins are useful indicators of animal ill health and tissue damage, thus providing information about the severity of the condition and on the degree of recovery or healing that is occurring. Such information is likely to be relevant to assessment of the level of stress experienced by an animal.

Assessment of Pain

It is generally accepted that the definition of pain in humans, i.e., "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage," has to be applied equally to other animals. The occurrence of pain experienced by animals is clearly a welfare concern that can be managed effectively only if there are sound means to recognize and quantify it. Presently, for both humans and animals, there are no universally accepted methods for achieving this. Management procedures for farm animals that are perceived (by humans) as being painful usually require use of analgesic drugs or local anesthetics to block potential pain. However, the monitoring of grazing animals to determine when they are experiencing pain "in the field" is largely dependent on assessment of their behavior.

Facial Expression

Although it is assumed that the apparent 'stoicism' of grazing animals may have been acquired to protect injured animals from the attention of prey species, it has not been a complete impediment to behavioral assessment of grazing animals as a means for detecting pain. Automation of behavioral assessment and its application has been briefly discussed above. Analysis of facial expression has been applied successfully with sheep to determine the effectiveness of this approach for animals with footrot or mastitis (71). Likewise a 'sheep grimace scale' correlated well with the occurrence of post-surgical pain in sheep (72). There has been some solid progress in advancing the automation and sophistication of this technology [see work with sheep by Lu et al., (73)] and the topic has been recently reviewed in the wider context of farm animal welfare by McLennan (74).

Electroencephalography

Because pain is a sensory experience, it manifests at the level of the cerebral cortex so that any technology that provides information on brain function at this level could be used to assess the magnitude of pain (75). Currently, non-invasive imaging of the brain based on computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance (MRI) does not appear to provide sufficient resolution for this type of assessment. However, neurophysiological techniques do show promise for assessment of pain in animals (76). These include electroencephalography (EEG) and magnetoencephelography (MEG) (76). EEG has proven useful as a tool for monitoring depth of anesthesia to ensure that the patient is unaware. However, it has been applied also to the identification of nociceptive, i.e., painful, stimuli. Considerable variation occurs with data from EEG recording in animals and this has to be countered by use of highly standardized procedures in association with halothane anesthesia (76). These concerns have limited the usefulness of this technology for monitoring pain. However, when used in conjunction with somatosensory evoked potentials that are generated by various stimuli applied to the skin or other peripheral tissues, especially those evoked by lasers, there has been useful progress in understanding of pain pathways and of the processing of painful stimuli in animals (76).

Domain-Based Assessment of Animal Welfare

A device for quantifying an animal's overall state of welfare is the so-called Five Domains Model (77). This is a systematic scoring of welfare-significant internal states, labeled as Domains 1-3 (e.g., Nutrition, Environment and Health) plus welfaresignificant external circumstances (Domain 4–e.g., Behavior). Once these are identified, any associated affective experiences are accumulated into Domain 5 (e.g., Mental State). A nice account of how this approach was used to evaluate adverse

REFERENCES

- Moberg GP. A model for assessing the impact of behavioural stress on domestic animals. J Anim Sci. (1987) 65:1228–35. doi: 10.2527/jas1987.6551228x
- 2. Broom DM, Johnson KG. Stress and Animal Welfare. London: Chapman and Hall (1993).
- 3. Broom DM. Assessing the welfare of modified or treated animals. *Livest Prod Sci.* (1993) 36:39–54. doi: 10.1016/0301-6226(93)90136-6
- 4. Dawkins MS. La Souffrance Animale. Maisons-Alfort: Editions du Point Vétérinaire (1983).
- Fraser D. Science, values and animal welfare: exploring the inextricable connection. *Anim Welfare*. (1995) 4:103–17.
- Désiré L, Boissy A, Veissier I. Emotions in farm animals: a new approach to animal welfare in applied ethology. *Behav Proc.* (2002) 60:165–80. doi: 10.1016/S0376-6357(02)00081-5
- Webb LE, Veenhoven R, Harfeld JL, Jensen MB. What is animal happiness? *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2019) 1438:62–78. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13983
- Safina C. Beyond Words: What Animals Think and Feel. New York, NY: Henry Holt & Co (2015).
- 9. Dawkins MS. Animal Suffering: The Science of Animal Welfare. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands (1980).

effects of husbandry and other interventions in horses has been provided by McGreevy et al. (78). The authors indicated that the model requires some effort to refine the scoring parameters but it can certainly be extended to various species of animals and could provide a more holistic assessment of welfare than previous approaches.

CONCLUSIONS

There is no perfect remedy for providing objective measures of welfare in animals generally and this obviously applies equally to grazing ruminants. It is likely that the methodology for assessing welfare will utilize a variety of tools, rather than being reliant on a single measure. All of the alternative measures or approaches mentioned in this review show promise for this role and are undergoing further refinement and development, but their reliability is currently generally confined to situations where the degree of compromise to welfare is already severe. All is not lost however. In many cases the particular measure can be applied to studies where data from groups of animals can be ranked to provide information about aversions and unfavorable environments or circumstances that reduce animal welfare or, similarly, about preferences or environments that enhance their welfare.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Professor Pablo Gregorini, Dr. Mark Fisher and Konagh Garrett plus the reviewers, are thanked for helpful comments on the draft and submitted versions of this script.

- Alvåsen K, Doohoo I, Roth A, Emanuelson U. Farm characteristics and management routines related to cow longevity: a survey among Swedish dairy farmers. *Acta Vet Scand.* (2018) 60:38. doi: 10.1186/s13028-018-0390-8
- McGrath J, Duval SM, Tamassia LFM, Kindermann M, Stemmler RT, de Gouvea VN, et al. Nutritional strategies in ruminants; a lifetime approach. *Res Vet Sci.* (2018) 116:28–39. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.09.011
- Dawkins MS. The science of animal suffering. *Ethology*. (2008) 114:937–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2008.01557.x
- Boissy A, Manteuffel G, Jensen MB, Moe RO, Spruijt B, Keeling LJ, et al. Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiol Behav*. (2007) 92:375–97. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003
- Ginane C, Bonnet M, Baumont R, Revell K. Feeding behaviour in ruminants: a consequence of interactions between a reward system and the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:247–60. doi: 10.1071/AN14481
- Candiani D, Salamano G, Mellia E, Doglione L, Bruno R, Toussaint M, et al. A combination of behavioral and physiological indicators for assessing pig welfare on the farm. J Appl Anim Welfare Sci. (2008) 11:1–13. doi: 10.1080/10888700701729080
- Barragan AA, Piñeiro JM, Schuenemann GM, Rajala-Schultz PJ, Sanders DE, Lakritz J, et al. Assessment of daily activity patterns and biomarkers of

pain, inflammation, and stress in lactating dairy cows diagnosed with clinical mastitis. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:8248–58. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14510

- Williams J, Ntallaris T, Routly JE, Jones DN, Cameron J, Holman-Coates A, et al. Association of production diseases with motor activity-sensing devices and milk progesterone concentrations in dairy cows. *Theriogenol.* (2018) 118:57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2018.05.038
- Müller E, Münger A, Mandel R, Eggerschwiler L, Schwinn A-C, Gross JJ, et al. Physiological and behavioural, responses of dairy cows to an acute metabolic challenge. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr. (2018) 102:1120–30. doi: 10.1111/jpn.12931
- Meunier B, Pradel P, Sloth KH, Cirié C, Delval E, Mialon MM, et al. Image analysis to refine measurements of dairy cow behaviour from a real-time location system. *Biosyst Eng.* (2018) 173:32–44. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.08.019
- Manteuffel G, Puppe B, Schön PC. Vocalization of farm animals as a measure of welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2004) 88:163–82. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.02.012
- Briefer EF. Vocal expressions of emotions in mammals: mechanisms of production and evidence. J Zool. (2012) 288:1–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.2012.00920.x
- Green AC, Johnston IN, Clark CEF. The evolution of cattle bioacoustics and application for advanced dairy systems. *Animal.* (2018) 12:1250–9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117002646
- 23. Chincarini M, Qiu L, Spinelli L, Torricelli A, Minero M, Dalla Costa E, et al. Evaluation of sheep anticipatory response to a food reward by means of functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Animals*. (2019) 9:11. doi: 10.3390/ani9010011
- 24. Reefmann N, Wechsler B, Gygax L. Behavioural and physiological assessment of positive and negative emotion in sheep. *Physiol Behav.* (2009) 98:651–8. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.06.015
- 25. Phythian CJ, Michalopoulou E, Cripps PJ, Duncan JS, Wemelsfelder F. On-farm qualitative behavipour assessment in sheep: repeated measurements across time, and association with physical indicators of flock health and welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 175:23–31. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.11.013
- Collins T, Stockman CA, Barnes AL, Miller DW, Wickham SL, Fleming PA. Qualitative behavioural assessment as a method to identify potential stressors during commercial sheep transport. *Animals*. (2018) 8:209. doi: 10.3390/ani8110209
- Clegg ILK. Cognitive bias in zoo animals: an optimistic outlook for welfare assessment. *Animals.* (2018) 8:104. doi: 10.3390/ani8070104
- McBride SD, Morton AJ. Visual attention and cognitive performance in sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 206:52–8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2018.05.026
- Monk JE, Belson S, Colditz IG, Lee C. Attention bias test differentiates anxiety and depression in sheep. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2018) 12:246. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00246
- Monk JE, Lee C, Belson S, Colditz IG, Campbell DLM. The influence of pharmacologically-induced affective states on attention bias in sheep. *PeerJ*. (2019) 7:e7033. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7033
- Raoult CMC, Gygax L. Mood induction alters attention toward negative-positive stimulus pairs in sheep. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:7759. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-44330-z
- Lecorps B, Ludwig BR, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Paininduced pessimism and anhedonia: evidence from a novel probabilitybased judgement bias test. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 13:54. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00054
- 33. Bali A, Randhawa PK, Jaggi AS. Stress and opioids: role of opioids in modulating stress-related behavior and effect of stress on morphine conditioned place preference. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 51:138–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.12.018
- 34. Rotondo F, Butz H, Syro LV, Yousef GM, Di Ieva A, Restrepo LM, et al. Arginine vasopressin (AVP): a review of its historical perspectives, current research and multifunctional role in the hypothalamo-hypophysial system. *Pituitary*. (2016) 19:345–55. doi: 10.1007/s11102-015-0703-0
- Peckett AJ, Wright DC, Riddell MC. The effects of glucocorticoids on adipose tissue lipid metabolism. *Metabolism*. (2011) 80:1800–10. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.06.012

- Stafford KJ, Mellor DJ. The welfare significance of the castration of cattle: a review. NZ Vet J. (2005) 53:271–8. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2005.36560
- Mellor DJ, Murray L. Effects of tail docking and castration on behaviour and plasma cortisol concentrations in young lambs. *Res Vet Sci.* (1989) 46:387–91. doi: 10.1016/S0034-5288(18)31185-8
- Ralph CR, Tilbrook AJ. The usefulness of measuring glucocorticoids for assessing animal welfare. J Anim Sci. (2016) 94:457–70. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-9645
- Ingram JR, Matthews LR, McDonald RM. Remote blood sampling device: a stress free blood sampling technique for free ranging animals. Proc N Z Soc Anim Prod. (1994) 54:39–42.
- Van Reenen CG, O'Connell NE, Van der Werf JTN, Korte SM, Hopster H, Jones RB, et al. Responses of calves to acute stress: individual consistency and relations between behavioral and physiological measures. *Physiol Behav.* (2005) 85:557–70. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.06.015
- Morrow CJ, Kolver ES, Verkerk GA, Matthews LR. Fecal glucocorticoid metabolites as a measure of adrenal activity in dairy cattle. *Gen Comp Endocrinol.* (2002) 126:229–41. doi: 10.1006/gcen.2002.7797
- Palme R, Robia C, Baumgartner W, Mostl E. Transport stress in cattle as reflected by an increase in faecal cortisol metabolite concentrations. *Vet Rec.* (2000) 146:108–9. doi: 10.1136/vr.146.4.108
- Heimbürge S, Kanitz E, Otten W. The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals. *Gen Comp Endocrinol.* (2019) 270:10–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2018.09.016
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Tuckey RC, Paus R. Differential expression of HPA axis homolog in the skin. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2007) 265:143–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2006.12.012
- Meyer JS, Novak MA. Hair cortisol: a novel biomarker of hypothalamicpituitary-adrenocortical activity. *Endocrinol.* (2012) 153:4120–7. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1226
- Harkey MR. Anatomy and physiology of hair. Forens Sci Int. (1993) 63:9–18. doi: 10.1016/0379-0738(93)90255-9
- Schubach KM, Cooke RF, Brandäo AP, Lippolis KD, Silva LGT, Marques RS, et al. Impacts of stocking density on development and puberty attainment of replacement beef heifers. *Animal.* (2017) 11:2260–7. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117001070
- Silva PRB, Lobeck-Luchterhand KM, Cerri RLA, Haines DM, Ballou MA, Endres MI, et al. Effects of prepartum stocking density on innate and adaptive leucocyte responses and serum and hair cortisol concentrations. *Vet Immunol Immunopath.* (2016) 169:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2015.11.007
- Creutzinger KC, Stookey JM, Marfleet TW, Campbell JR, Janz DM, Marques FI, et al. An investigation of hair cortisol as a measure of long term stress in beef cattle: results from a castration study. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2017) 97:499–509. doi: 10.1139/CJAS-2016-0206
- Marti S, Meléndez DM, Pajor EA, Moya D, Heuston CEM, Gellatly D, et al. Effect of band and knife castration of beef calves on welfare indicators of pain at three relevant industry ages: II. Chronic pain. J Anim Sci. (2017) 96:4367–80. doi: 10.2527/jas.2017.1763
- Ghassemi-Nejad J, Lohakare JD, Son JK, Kwon EG, West JW, Sung KI. Wool cortisol is a better indicator of stress than blood cortisol in ewes exposed to heat stress and water restriction. *Animal.* (2014) 8:128–32. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113001870
- Burnett TA, Madureira AML, Silper BF, Tahmasbi A, Nadalin A, Veira DM, et al. Relationship of concentrations of cortisol in hair with health, biomarkers in blood, and reproductive status in dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:4414–26. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8871
- Braun U, Clavadetscher G, Baumgarter MR, Riond B, Binz TM. Hair cortisol concentration and adrenal gland weight in healthy and ill cows. *Schw Archiv Tierheil*. (2017) 159:493–5. doi: 10.17236/sat00128
- 54. Ambrojo KS, Poggi JCG, Corzano MM. *Clinical Aspects Related to Plasma Serotonin in the Horse*. London: IntechOpen (2018).
- Bruschetta G, Di Pietro P, Sanzarello L, Giacoppo E, Ferlazzo AM. Plasma serotonin levels in Italian Friesian dairy cows. *Vet Res Comm.* (2010) 34(Suppl. 1):S17–20. doi: 10.1007/s11259-010-9371-8
- 56. Von Borell E, Langbein J, Després G, Hansen S, Leterrier C, Marchant-Forde J, et al. Heart rate variability as a measure of autonomic regulation of cardiac activity for assessing stress and welfare in farm animals -

a review. Physiol Behav. (2007) 92:293-316. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007. 01.007

- Schaefer AL, Cook NJ, Tessaro SV, Deregt D, Desroaches G, Dubeski P, et al. Early detection and prediction of infection using infrared thermography. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2004) 84:73–80. doi: 10.4141/ A02-104
- Stewart M, Webster JR, Verkerk GA, Schaefer AL, Colyn JL, Stafford KJ. Noninvasive measurement of stress in dairy cows using infrared thermography. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:520–5. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.04.034
- McManus C, Tanure CB, Peripolli V, Seixas L, Fischer V, Gabbi AM, et al. Infrared thermography in animal production: a review. *Comput Electron Agric*. (2016) 123:10–6. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2016.01.027
- Sandem AL, Braastad BO, Bue KE. Eye white may indicate emotional state on a frustration-contentedness axis in dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2002) 79:1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00029-1
- Gómez YB, Vieler R, Hankele AK, Zähner M, and Savary P, Hillmann E. Evaluation of visible eye white and maximum eye temperature as non-invasive measures of stress in dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 198:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.10.001
- Reefmann N, Bütikofer Kaszas F, Wechsler B, Gygax L. Physiological expression of emotional reactions in sheep. *Anim Behav.* (2009) 78:235–41. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.05.017
- Haas HS, Schauenstein K. Neuroimmunomodulation via limbic structures

 the neuroanatomy of psychoimmunology. *Progr Neurobiol.* (1997) 51:195–222. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(96)00055-X
- Bellavance MA, Rivest S. The HPA-immune axis and the immunomodulatory actions of glucocorticoids in the brain. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:136. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00136
- Ramsohoff RM, Schafer D, Vincent A, Blachère NE, Bar-or A. Neuroinflammation: ways in which the immune system affects the brain. *Neurotherap.* (2015) 12:896–909. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0385-3
- Turnbull AV, Rivier CL. Regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis by cytokines: actions and mechanism of action. *Physiol Rev.* (1999) 79:1–71. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1999.79.1.1
- Rohleder N, Nater UM, Wolf JM, Ehlert U, Kirschbaum C. Psychosocial stressinduced activation of salivary alpha-amylase: an indicator of sympathetic activity? *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2004) 1032:258–63. doi: 10.1196/annals. 1314.033
- Contreras-Aguilar MD, Escribano D, Martinez-Subiela S, Martinez-Miró S, Cerón JJ, Tecles F. Changes in alpha-amylase activity, concentration and isoforms in pigs after an experimental acute stress model: an exploratory study. *BMC Vet Res.* (2018) 14:256. doi: 10.1186/s12917-018-1581-2

- Fuentes-Rubio M, Fuentes F, Otal J, Quiles A, Hevia ML. Validation of an assay for quantification of alpha-amylase activity in saliva of sheep. *Can J Vet Res.* (2016) 80:197–202.
- Jain S, Gautam V, Naseem N. Acute-phase proteins: as diagnostic tool. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. (2011) 3:118–27. doi: 10.4103/0975-7406.76489
- Mclennan KM, Rebelo CJB, Corke MJ, Holmes MA, Leach MC, Constantino-Casa F. Development of facial expression scale using footrot and mastitis as models of pain in sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 176:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.01.007
- Häger C, Biernot S, Buettner M, Glage S, Keubler LM, Held N, et al. The sheep grimace scale as an indicator of post-operative distress and pain in laboratory sheep. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0175899. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175839
- Lu Y, Mahmoud M, Robinson P. Estimating sheep pain level using facial action unit detection. In: 12th International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition. Washington, DC (2017), p. 394–99. doi: 10.1109/FG.2017.56
- McLennan KM. Why pain is still a welfare issue for farm animals, and how facial expression could be the answer. *Agriculture*. (2018) 8:127–45. doi: 10.3390/agriculture8080127
- Schnitzler A, Ploner M. Neurophysiology and functional neuroanatomy of pain perception. J Clin Neurophys. (2000) 17:592–603. doi: 10.1097/00004691-200011000-00005
- Murrell JC, Johnson CB. Neurophysiological techniques to assess pain in animals. J Vet Pharm Therap. (2006) 29:325–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2885.2006.00758.x
- Mellor DJ. Operational details of the Five Domains Model and its key applications to the assessment and management of animal stress. *Animals*. (2017) 7:60. doi: 10.3390/ani7080060
- McGreevy P, Berger J, de Brauwere N, Doherty O, Harrison A, Fiedler J, et al. Using the Five Domains Model to assess the adverse impacts of husbandry, veterinary, and equitation interventions on horse welfare. *Animals.* (2018) 8:41. doi: 10.3390/ani8030041

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Barrell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Case for Eustress in Grazing Animals

Juan J. Villalba^{1*} and Xavier Manteca²

¹ Department of Wildland Resources, Utah State University, Logan, UT, United States, ² School of Veterinary Science, Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Herbivores grazing in extensive systems are exposed to a series of challenges, rooted in the inherent spatial and temporal variability of their environment that potentially constrain their health, nutrition, and welfare. Nevertheless, in this review, we argue that challenges induced by some biotic (e.g., vegetation) and abiotic (e.g., terrain) factors may also be viewed as "positive" sources of stress or eustress, since they present complex problems, that when solved successfully elicit a greater degree of behavioral plasticity and adaptability in grazing animals. Chemically and structurally diverse landscapes require animals to display complex behaviors and exhibit adaptive capabilities, like building a balanced and safe diet or finding shelter, which ultimately lead to positive emotional states. Thus, maintaining or enhancing the diversity occurring in natural systems represent a management approach that can be used to improve welfare and prepare the animal for an efficient adaptation to future, and potentially unknown, environmental challenges.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Manja Zupan, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Ruan Rolnei Daros, University of British Columbia, Canada

> ***Correspondence:** Juan J. Villalba Juan.villalba@usu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 08 April 2019 Accepted: 27 August 2019 Published: 13 September 2019

Citation:

Villalba JJ and Manteca X (2019) A Case for Eustress in Grazing Animals. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:303. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00303 Keywords: eustress, grazing, herbivore, animal health, adaptive behavior

INTRODUCTION

Animal welfare is an essential element of modern animal production. First and foremost, animal welfare is grounded on ethical concerns that derive from the fact that animals are sentient beings, i.e., able to suffer and experience emotions, but improving animal welfare may have additional benefits. As many welfare problems have a detrimental effect on production, improving the welfare of farm animals very often has positive effects on performance (1, 2). In addition, improving animal welfare is one of the strategies that potentially contributes to reduce the use of antimicrobials in farm animals (3).

An in-depth discussion of the concept of animal welfare is well-beyond the scope of this review paper, and several reviews are available on the topic [e.g., (4-6)]. However, it is important to mention that animal welfare encompasses not only the physical health of the animals (i.e., the absence of diseases and injuries) but also their behavior and emotions (6-8).

For many years, the Five Freedoms (9) have provided a useful framework to identify the welfare problems of farm animals. These freedoms, which represent ideal states rather than actual standards for animal welfare are (a) freedom from thirst, hunger and malnutrition, (b) freedom form thermal and physical discomfort, (c) freedom from pain, injury and disease, (d) freedom to express most patterns of normal behavior, and (e) freedom from fear and distress.

More recently, the Five Freedoms have been criticized since they can be misunderstood as aiming at eliminating all negative experiences (which is not realistic or even desirable, as we argue in this review), but also because they fail to capture our current understanding of the biological processes underlying animal welfare (5). As an alternative to the Five Freedoms, the so-called Five

32

Domains Model for assessing animal welfare was developed to address these problems. The Model incorporates four physical domains of "nutrition," "environment," "health," and "behavior," and a fifth "mental" domain. Each physical domain has an impact on the affective state of the animal (i.e., on the fifth domain), and the net outcome in the mental domain resulting from the combination of the four physical domains represents the animals' overall welfare state.

It is clear that the Five Domains Model applies to animals kept in confinement under intensive livestock production systems, but the approach is equally relevant to herbivores grazing in extensive systems, as all states identified in the model are crucial for the maintenance of their welfare, even when animals evolved and are presumably adapted to their "natural" grazing environments. In several instances, the natural environment negatively impacts animal welfare due to its inherent temporal and spatial variability, which may lead to unsuccessful coping responses to unpredictable and ever-changing challenges (10, 11). With regards to the grazing process, climate variability has significant negative effects on herbivores, particularly for dryland regions with low and variable precipitation and high temperatures in the growing season (12). Under these conditions, forage abundance and quality may be limited during certain periods, negatively affecting the nutrition domain, which in turn compromises animal welfare. Clear seasonal patterns have been observed for fecal cortisol levels (an indicator of chronic stress) in Pyrenean chamois (Rupicapra pyrenaica) grazing in rangelands of northeastern Spain (13). Concentration of fecal cortisol tracked the levels of nutrient and other environmental stresses experienced by these animals throughout the year (13). The effects of season are compounded with the impacts of thermal stress on ruminants in the face of future heat and cold waves of greater frequency, intensity and duration (14). As an example, heat stress reduces feed intake in ruminants while increasing maintenance requirements, a trend that is aggravated by the predicted decrease in the quality and productivity of feed resources available to herbivores grazing in rangelands (15). All these effects have the potential to promote reductions in animal welfare and productivity given that long-term declines in food availability lead to poor nutrition and stress (16). Another response related to the unpredictability observed in rangelands involves fear to predation and the indirect effects that predators impinge on prey by negatively affecting foraging patterns (i.e., reduced grazing time, increased vigilance), and as a consequence animal nutrition and reproduction rates (17, 18).

The aforementioned inherent variability of rangelands and the potential negative impacts on the nutrition and welfare of herbivores has been extensively reviewed elsewhere [e.g., (19) and papers in that book]. This review was developed with the aim of looking at variability in rangelands from a different angle, i.e., as a force that may potentially bring about greater adaptation and resiliency for animals grazing in the complex chemical and structural realm of rangelands. It is clear that welfare depends not only on whether the animal succeeds at coping with the challenges emerging from its environment, but also on whether coping attempts lead to negative consequences for the animal (20). On this regard, animals have evolved mechanisms to cope with different environmental challenges such that if they are to survive and reproduce, they should maintain a fitness level >0. Innate behavioral strategies and learning play a key role in the ability of animals to cope and adapt to stressful situations imposed by an ever-changing environment (21).

STRESS AND EUSTRESS IN EXTENSIVE SYSTEMS

The concepts of "animal welfare" and "stress" are closely linked, partially because many welfare problems cause stress (22). The term "stress" has been widely used in biology to describe a set of physiological and behavioral changes elicited by aversive stimuli. Cannon (23) described stress as the sympatho-adrenomedullary (SAM) system's attempt to regulate homeostasis when threatened by a variety of aversive stimuli or stressors. Later, Selye (24) conducted some of his classic studies on the response of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis to noxious stimuli and suggested that the organism reacted in a non-specific manner to a wide variety of aversive stimuli, mainly with an increase in the HPA axis activity. Some forms of stress such as the chronic activation of the HPA axis caused by long-term factors are typically viewed as impinging deleterious effects on natural populations, inevitably resulting in maladaptation and pathology (25). Both the HPA axis and the SAM system are generally considered to be the two main elements of the stress response and levels of glucocorticoids in different animal tissues (e.g., blood, hair, saliva) and excretions (e.g., feces) have been widely used as measures of stress. The problem with this approach, however, is that the HPA axis and the SAM system have a crucial function in energy mobilization and redistribution of nutrients to active tissues and both aversive (e.g., fighting) and rewarding situations (e.g., play and mating) may elicit a similar physiological stress response (26). Therefore, if stress is perceived as potentially negative, it may be misleading to consider stress as a synonymous of the HPA axis activation. On the other hand, there is now enough evidence showing that it is not the physical nature of an aversive stimulus that has negative consequences on the animal but rather the degree to which the stimulus can be predicted and controlled (26). As a result, it has been suggested that the term "stress" should be restricted to conditions where an environmental demand exceeds the regulatory capacity of the organism, mainly when such conditions include unpredictability and uncontrollability (26). Thus, when animals have available the conditions or "tools" to control or predict their environment, a challenge may represent a stimulus that results in improvements to their welfare, provided that the animal overcomes the challenge. Interestingly, research in zoo animals has shown that giving animals the opportunity to choose between two different environments (which presumably increases the animals' perception of control) reduces several behavioral and physiological indicators of stress and poor welfare (27, 28).

The coping process to a stressful situation (i.e., an animal being exposed to a certain uncomfortable environment) may lead to fitness costs (i.e., searching activities that increase energy

expenditure). Nevertheless, the net result of this response needs to be adaptive (i.e., finding a more comfortable environment) if the animal is to survive and reproduce, and if improvements in animal welfare are expected. Thus, under circumstances when the animal is able to fully cope to a challenge, this may have a positive impact on animal welfare. Under this context, the word "eustress" was coined (24) to refer to the idea that there is a "correct or optimal stress level" that is adaptive (29). For instance, problems that emerge during the grazing process such as building a nutritious and safe diet may be stressful (e.g., overcoming food neophobia, or preventing the ingestion toxic plants or excessive amounts of nutrients), like the example described above in zoo animals exposed to a choice between different environments, but ultimately beneficial if the individual possesses the skills and resources needed to meet such challenge. Problem-solving opportunities presented during enrichment programs for captive animals potentially enhances welfare, as individuals may be motivated to participate in problem-solving activities when there is an optimal level of challenge, which depends on the individual's cognitive and behavioral skills to solve the presented problem (30). Contrafreeloading, the choice to work for resources when identical resources are simultaneously available in free form, also entails an enrichment of the captive animal's environment as it provides opportunities for general exploration and cognitive challenge that may result in a positive outcome (i.e., "earning food"), even when such activities represent departures from optimal foraging strategies (31).

Our thesis in this review is that the inherent variability in structure, taxonomy, and chemistry provided by rangelands represent stimuli that enhance the adaptability and resiliency of herbivores grazing in these dynamic environments. This is a novel approach to managing animals in rangelands as it suggests that preserving and promoting rangeland diversity is crucial for "providing the training grounds" that will prepare animals to better respond and adapt to future challenges that compromise their welfare. We also submit that management interventions can contribute to foster flexibility in animals grazing in variable environments by providing the means and facilitating the acquisition of skills that optimize the prediction and control of the coping response to the problems presented in the context of a changing world.

FORAGE DIVERSITY AND EUSTRESS

It is known that a variety of plant species enhances the nutrition of mammalian herbivores because no single plant provides all the nutrients or proportions needed by the animal (32). In addition, plant secondary compounds (PSC) ingested as a dilute mixture of plants are less toxic to herbivores because they are less concentrated and potentially detoxified by different pathways [i.e., the Toxin Dilution Hypothesis; (33)]. Anatomical, physiological and experiential differences among individuals lead to specific needs, and thus individual animals can best meet their needs for nutrients and medicines when offered a multiplicity of forages, instead of receiving a single food, even if that food is balanced to meet the "average" needs of the "average" animal (34).

When herbivores engage in the process of building a diet from an array of different foods from a diverse plant community they are faced with solving a problem. This is because they need to balance the ingestion of required nutrients and potential medicines (35) from an array of nutritionally unbalanced and potentially toxic foods. The solution is achieved by the application of a suite of complex behaviors that require cognitive and non-cognitive mechanisms for their efficient execution in time and space (35, 36). For instance, locomotion activities position the individual in space, within the preferred patch and feeding station (36), followed by handling and ingestive activities that consummate a preference for particular plants and parts. Such preference is triggered by learning mechanisms that integrate the plant's orosensorial characteristics with its postingestive consequences (37, 38). The challenge of building a balanced diet from a diverse array of alternatives may "breed" innovation and exploratory behaviors in herbivores that when successful, foster positive emotional responses and allow for better adaptations to future unpredictable conditions of the environment (30). Good welfare is not simply the absence of negative experiences; positive affective states play a significant role in providing animals a better quality of life (39). Under this analysis, forage diversity could be interpreted as an "eustressor" that gives individuals the challenge but also the opportunity to execute behaviors efficiently across contexts and solve problems with potential to improve their welfare. In support of this idea, lambs faced with the problem of building a diet from a diverse array of food items with or without PSC, showed greater acceptance of novel foods and flavors in familiar (40) and novel (41) environments, and showed lower levels of stress-induced hyperthermia and ambulation scores in open field tests than animals exposed early in life to a single ration (41). Although the initial reaction to novel feeds in all treatments was similar (i.e., low food intake; neophobia), neophobia was attenuated at a quicker rate in animals that had the task of building a diet from single foods relative to those previously exposed to a single ration (40). In another study, lambs challenged to build a diet from an array of foods with different energy to protein ratios showed lower blood cortisol levels and neutrophil to lymphocyte ratios than lambs fed a single ration (42). Additionally, lambs under the diet-building task also spent a lower proportion of time eating and showed greater intake rates and greater proportion of time lying and greater activity than lambs under a single diet (42). Heifers grazing 2- or 3-way choices of different legumes showed greater body weight gains, forage intake (43) and hair cortisol levels than heifers grazing monocultures of these species. Some non-overwhelming challenges that increase cortisol levels, with the subsequent decline when the task is mastered or the stimulus removed, have been linked to the development of resilience and the fostering of adaptations that enhance emotional processing, cognitive control, and curiosity in monkeys (44).

Being able to solve a foraging problem, in addition to the reward provided by the nutrients harvested in the process (nutrition and behavior domains in the Five Domains Model), represents an intrinsic reward and positive emotional state (mental domain in the Five Domains Model) inherent to being successful at solving the task performed (30). Thus, the process of building a balanced and safe diet from a diverse array of nutritionally unbalanced alternatives may be interpreted as an achievement [a sense of "victory;" (24)] that leads to a positive emotional state that improves welfare. More research is clearly needed to better understand the effects of forage diversity and diet building on positive emotions in grazing animals. Nevertheless, since the display of behaviors concerning essential activities such as foraging are considered self-rewarding (39), it is plausible to speculate that successful diet building activities are also linked to positive emotional states. Food seeking (motivational states of wanting) and consummatory behaviors (liking or the hedonic pleasure felt during food consumption) have rewarding properties (45) and they are clearly involved in the process of diet selection in mammalian herbivores (35, 37). In addition, it has been shown that controlling an event per se can be perceived as rewarding or at least as less stressful (46). In contrast, foragers may experience negative states (i.e., frustration) when exposed to monotonous rations that may not satisfy all their individual and specific nutritional and medicinal requirements, as well as the need to experience a diverse array of flavors during the foraging process (47, 48). Under the context of single feeds or rations, foraging opportunities are limited since the only responses possible are to eat or to stop eating. Single foods/plants may elicit frustration as the animal's response does not lead to a solution, i.e., there are no single plants/forages that provide all the nutrients and proportions required by the animal (32, 34) and generalist herbivores evolved consuming a diversity of flavors from diverse plant communities instead of single flavors in monotonous foods. In addition, the initial stress (i.e., neophobia) promoted by exposing animals to diverse novel foods may be attenuated by the presence of a familiar model such as mother (35) or experienced companions (49), which allow for a prompt selection of a diversity of food items from the array of novel foods presented. Finally, forage diversity allows for the expression of foraging preferences that may not be able to be expressed under monotonous diets resulting in some animals expressing abnormal and stereotyped behaviors, considered an indicator of poor welfare (20).

FORAGE DIVERSITY AND GENERALIZATION TO OTHER CONTEXTS

As expected from an evolutionary point of view, the ability of animals to compensate for the variability imposed by their environment will be a function of the individuals' phenotypic plasticity (50). Such plasticity may also be interpreted as behavioral flexibility, allowing for a rapid pathway for adjusting to environmental changes that exceeds the rate of evolutionary genetic change (51). Behavioral flexibility may be acquired when animals become familiar with solving foraging problems, generalizing their problem-solving abilities to other contexts, and situations imposed by a changing environment. There is evidence for this process to occur under natural and artificial settings. For instance, models with hummingbirds suggest that environmental heterogeneity (e.g., changes in temperature, water and food availability) are linked to problem-solving abilities, innovation, and exploration that allow individuals to better adapt to the unpredictable conditions of their environment (52). Environmental enrichment programs that allow farm animals show a more flexible foraging behavior lead to reductions in chronic stress due to confinement (53). Sheep have been found to predict and form expectations about the amounts of food that they are receiving, and to control an aversive event in order to access food, showing problem-solving abilities that allow for adjustments to new situations stemming from challenges experienced and solutions achieved in previous tasks (46). This plasticity acquired by the appraisal of novel situations relative to the individual's abilities and past experiences suggests that animals challenged by less predictable environments may be more likely to show a broader range of coping strategies in response to changing environmental conditions than animals living in more stable and predictable conditions (54). Behavioral flexibility may be also influenced by early life conditions as individually housed calves had learning deficits relative to calves housed in a dynamic group with access to their mothers (55).

VARIABLE LANDSCAPES AND EUSTRESS

Access to pasture for animals kept in confinement provides some health-related welfare benefits to cows, even when diets in confinement are nutritionally balanced and cover all of the animals' physiological needs (health domain in the Five Domains Model). For example, at least in some circumstances, cows on pasture have a lower incidence of lameness (56) and mastitis (57) than cows kept indoors. If given the choice, cows will spend a significant proportion of time on pasture, mainly at night (58). Moreover, by using operant responses to assess motivation, it has been shown that cows value access to pasture as highly as fresh feed (59). It might be suggested that access to pasture provides an opportunity to experience a more diverse, stimulus-rich environment than indoor housing. Although boredom in animals has received little empirical study, research done in several species suggests that monotonous environments caused an increased motivation for diverse stimuli, consistent with the hypothesis that animals kept in barren environments may experience boredom or something like it (60). Cattle in pens with ad libitum access to a monotonous forage displayed contrafreeloading, spending energy (they pushed a gate) to obtain a forage which was simultaneously available in a feeder and in abundance (61). This behavior could be interpreted as a form of environmental enrichment, given that the housing environment was barren and the animals had limited social contact (61). Alternatively, pushing a gate may have been perceived as rewarding if this behavior attenuated boredom, created a sense of control over the environment or allowed the animals to experience "a sense of victory" by handling a doable challenge (61).

Consistent with the research described for cows in confinement, and for zoo animals exposed to a choice between different environments (27, 28), the welfare of ruminants grazing in extensive systems may benefit from the opportunity to choose across different locations in the landscape. Nevertheless,
preference in dominant animals within a social group may overcome spatial preferences by subordinate animals, which may lead to frustration. Food preferences and social interactions both influence choice of foraging location by sheep (62), although when animals experienced toxicosis after eating certain foods, dietary preferences overrode social influences (62).

Access to locations that require complex tasks like moving across rugged terrain or uphill may represent challenges that elicit a higher degree of behavioral diversity in grazing animals (environmental domain in the Five Domains Model). Foraging enrichments in confinement are in general designed to facilitate the physical expression of feeding behaviors such as foodsearching and food consumption, but not to facilitate complex tasks related to food acquisition (30), although recent research on cognitive enrichment shows positive effects on animal welfare (63). We propose that the equivalent of complex tasksolving processes for animals grazing in extensive systems entails building a diet from a diverse and complex landscape with different biotic (e.g., plants with diverse chemistries and structures) and abiotic (e.g., slope, rough terrain, rocky outcrops) challenges. Foraging across different spatial scales, from regions and landscapes to plant communities and patches could be viewed a "natural cognitive enrichment program" that enhances animal welfare by providing a form of enrichment, creating a sense of control over the environment, or allowing for the realization of a task that leads to a positive emotional state. In contrast, lack of biotic and/or abiotic challenges, similar to those observed in barren environments lead to boredom, frustration, helplessness, and depression (5). Supplying grazing animals with the opportunity to interact with a more sophisticated environment by challenging their cognitive abilities with chances to gain environmental control or to anticipate rewards represents an appealing approach to enhance their welfare, supported by the positive results observed for animals living in captivity (64). These conditions at the spatial scale may facilitate the acquisition of positive emotional states, induced by a successful coping with a complex cognitive challenge rewarded by the formation of a balanced diet. Consistent with this idea, complex behavioral tasks rewarded by food improve the welfare of intensively housed pigs by providing adequate cognitive challenges that generated successful coping and positive emotional states (63, 65). In addition, structural (climbing racks) and cognitive enrichment (drinking water as a reward for a correct choice) improved different aspects of behavioral competence (e.g., visual fourchoice discrimination tasks and reactions to external challenges) in goats exposed to stressful situations relative to animals exposed to barren environments with easy access to water (64). It has been hypothesized cows remain longer at feeding sites in rugged heterogeneous pastures, with more diverse vegetation and nutrient profiles, than in homogeneous pastures as variability in biotic and abiotic factors reduce satiety and increase residence time at the more complex feeding sites (66). In contrast, monotonous landscapes of uniform topography promote satiety and reduce the time spent at individual feeding sites (67). Cows born and raised under the environmental challenges of the Chihuahuan Desert were farther from water and spent less time at water than naïve cows of the same breed grazing at the same location, but born and raised in a humid environment with gentle topography and lush vegetation (68). During winter and early summer (drought conditions), naïve cows selected diets with lower crude protein content than cows born and raised in the desert (68). No welfare parameters were measured in this study, but it is likely that "desert cows" experienced a sustained cognitive enrichment by the association of successful coping with a demanding behavioral task (i.e., moving in rugged terrain, uphill and away from water in a dry environment) rewarded by food. Interestingly, cows born and raised in the desert, moved to lush pastures for 3 years and then returned to the desert, displayed behavioral patterns similar to cows that spent their whole life at the desert (68).

VARIABLE LANDSCAPES AND THE THERMAL ENVIRONMENT

Trees, shrubs, or long grass, as well as abiotic factors such as topography also provide a diversity of structural arrangements in the landscape that contribute to reduce the incidence of thermal stress in animals living under natural conditions. Thermal stress is a direct welfare problem, as it causes discomfort and it can significantly reduce access to pasture in grazing animals (58). Use of shade is likely to be the most feasible strategy for grazing ruminants. Depending on the quality of shade, provision of shade will reduce radiant heat load by 30-70% (69). Even in temperate climates, provision of shade has positive effects on heat load and production in grazing ruminants (70). The thermal environment plays an important role in determining livestock distribution (71), and thus factors in the landscape such as aspect, slope, type of terrain, type of vegetation also provide "tools" that allow animals gain environmental control or anticipate rewards (i.e., approach to their thermoneutral zone). Such tools are absent in flat terrains without shelter. On sunny summer days, cows have been observed spending considerable time (8 h) under shade trees near water (72). Contrastingly, during winter cattle exhibited heat seeking strategies of grazing south slopes during the day and not resting under shade trees and laying down at night on warmer ridges (72). On cold days cattle would move to lower, sheltered areas that were warmer (72), and on windy days cattle rest in sinkholes sheltered from the wind, possibly creating a more thermally neutral microclimate (71). Effective shelter during cold weather may also entail dry grass or shrubs when sheep graze in areas with such structural diversity in the vegetation, leading to substantial improvements in lamb survival under cold stress (73). Thus, biotic and abiotic factors that lead to successful coping such as efficient thermoregulation could be viewed as "natural" enrichment elements with potential to enhance animal welfare.

RANGELAND DIVERSITY, MANAGEMENT, AND PREPAREDNESS TO THE UNKNOWN

Social and psychological research has placed emphasis in recent years on positive outcomes to stress-related experiences that breed resilience in organisms (74), instead of negative emotions and chronic stress that promote illness. A similar approach could be followed in natural systems by maintaining or enhancing their chemical and structural diversity, which in addition to services like improvements in the efficiency of resource capture, nutrient cycling and stability (75, 76), may promote improvements in animal welfare. Providing new chemicals to the landscape like medicinal PSC (e.g., with the introduction of herbs, shrubs or trees) will benefit the nutrition and health of grazing animals (77, 78), thus addressing the nutrition and health dimensions of the Five Domain Model. The benefits of plant diversity on animal welfare may also need to be pondered in relation to the nature of the assemblage of plant species presented to herbivores. For instance, when subjects are offered a choice of foods under experimental settings to understand their specific nutrient requirements through their diet-building abilities [e.g., the geometric framework of diet selection; (79)], the foods presented are unbalanced but designed in such a way that allows for the construction of a mixed balanced diet that meets the specific nutrient requirements of the individual. Extrapolating from this controlled setting to natural systems, the foods presented in the plant community should be such that different individuals under different physiological states should be able to build a balanced diet. If mixing diverse foods does not lead to meeting specific nutrient and medicinal needs, animals may experience negative emotions such as frustration in response to suboptimal diets, in addition to the direct negative impacts of unbalanced diets on fitness. Thus, it is important to consider the herbivores' foraging preferences when managing grazing environments for improvements in animal welfare and productivity. As an example, it has been shown that beef heifers grazing in natural grasslands use low-quality tussocks in order to harvest strategic amounts of dry matter during the day, given that the high productivity of these plants offer large intake rates (80). Intake of tussocks is then complemented with the consumption of high-quality herbs and grasses (of lower productivity) present in inter-tussock areas (80). Originally, farmers tended to eliminate low-quality tussocks, regardless of their abundance in the plant community, as they were considered problematic for animal production. After exploring the animals' feeding preferences, tussocks are now considered beneficial when present in the plant community below a certain frequency threshold such that animals build a diverse diet, where tussocks optimize the amount of biomass harvested daily and herbs and grasses in the intertussock areas provide the nutrients needed to optimize the digestibility of tussocks in the rumen (81). Managers also offer proportions of grass and clover in the landscape that match the grazers' preference for these forages in order to foster an optimal use of food resources by herbivores (82); such arrangement may also contribute to animal welfare improvements as it offers the conditions needed to successfully complete the task of building a balanced diet. Thus, fostering the "right" diversity, i.e., arrays of complementary plants that when mixed lead to the realization of a balanced diet is essential.

Appropriate challenge is a key concept in environmental enrichment, referring to the problem that is potentially solvable through the application of an animal's cognitive and behavioral skills (30). Under this scenario, managers may be able to "enrich" a certain landscape by providing the supplements or plant species that complement the chemical composition of the existing vegetation such that animals are able to build "optimal diets" that provide an appropriate mix of nutrients and medicinal PSC. Environments of low nutritional quality reduce the fitness and welfare of grazers and browsers (13), but the same is true when plants are high in nutrients (38). Non-complementary plant species that provide excesses of nutrients (e.g., crude protein) lead to stress and food aversions because excessive or frequent ingestion of such foods produce high levels of byproducts of fermentation that are toxic [e.g., ammonia or acid loads; (38, 83)].

Animals faced with the problem of building a diet from an array of diverse and complementary alternatives may be more adapted to maintain their fitness and welfare in response to future challenges triggered by shifts in vegetation like the predicted reductions in crude protein content in grasses in response to increased ambient temperatures (15). It has been proposed that as climatic warming reduces grass protein concentrations, woody species increase in abundance and grassland habitats decline for growing populations of herbivores, wild, and domestic species may need to compensate by relying less on grass and more on browse, which contains greater concentration of PSC (15, 84). In addition, the pattern of protein reduction in grasses may also increase the reliance on protein-richer eudicots, with greater potential for toxicity due to the greater concentration of PSC in these flowering plants (85). Plant secondary toxicity may also be exacerbated with the predicted increases in ambient temperature because toxins interfere with thermoregulation (86, 87). Detoxification pathways are thermogenic and toxins uncouple mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, which also generates heat (88). The imbalanced nature of herbivore diets and the presence of toxins, which affect the thermal balance, may increase the likelihood of heat stress at high ambient temperatures (88). These emerging problems may require building diets of lower PSC content in landscapes where the concentration of protein is declining. Finding appropriate locations in the landscape to dissipate heat under warmer conditions and the challenge of temperature-dependent toxicity will be more relevant for future generations of herbivores. Adaptability in these predicted scenarios is expected to be greater for animals previously exposed to solving the problem of building balanced diets from complex arrays of unbalanced alternatives and complex landscapes with a diversity of biotic and abiotic factors that foster cognitive enrichment. Trans-generational diet-building abilities of offspring as observed in cattle (89) and sheep (90) may also contribute to more efficient adaptations to future environmental challenges.

CONCLUSIONS

We submit that chemical and structural diversity breed animal resiliency and adaptability to current and future challenges imposed by the inherent dynamic conditions of rangelands. Positive outcomes to stress-related experiences may enhance behavioral competence and lead to positive emotions that benefit animal welfare. Using this concept, managers should promote resilience and plasticity in animals by enhancing chemical and structural diversity in rangelands (i.e., through targeted grazing treatments, revegetation efforts that increase plant species diversity, or by strategic distribution of water points that enhance animal distribution in the landscape), thus creating "natural cognitive enrichment programs" that enhance animal welfare and better prepare animals for future challenges inherent of living in these dynamic and variable landscapes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JV drafted the manuscript. JV and XM wrote it in collaboration and read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Broom DM. The scientific assessment of animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1988) 20:5–19. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(88)90122-0
- Veissier I, Butterworth A, Bock B, Roe E. European approaches to ensure good animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 113:279– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.01.008
- EMA and EFSA. EMA and EFSA Joint Scientific Opinion on measures to reduce the need to use antimicrobial agents in animal husbandry in the European Union, and the resulting impacts on food safety (RONAFA). *EFSA* J. (2017) 15:4666. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4666
- Koolhaas JM, Van Reenen CG. Animal behavior and well-being symposium: interaction between coping style/personality, stress, and welfare: relevance for domestic farm animals. J Anim Sci. (2016) 94:2284–96. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-0125
- Mellor D. Updating animal welfare thinking: moving beyond the "Five Freedoms" towards "a Life Worth Living". Animals. (2016) 6:21. doi: 10.3390/ani6030021
- Duncan IJH, Fraser D. Understanding animal welfare. In: Appleby MC, Hughes BO, editors. *Animal Welfare*. Wallingford: CAB International (1997). p. 19–31.
- Mendl M. Animal husbandry: assessing the welfare state. Nature. (2001) 410:31-2. doi: 10.1038/35065194
- Duncan IJH. Science-based assessment of animal welfare: farm animals. *Rev* Sci Tech. (2005) 24:483–92. doi: 10.20506/rst.24.2.1587
- 9. Farm Animal Welfare Council. FAWC updates the five freedoms. *Vet Rec.* (1992) 131:357.
- Villalba JJ, Manteca X. Animal welfare in extensive systems. In: Villalba JJ, editor. *Animal Welfare in Extensive Systems*. Sheffield: 5M Publishing; Nottingham University Press (2016). p. 1–10.
- 11. Broom DM, Johnson KG. Stress and Animal Welfare. London: Chapman and Hall (1993).
- Peters DP, Bestelmeyer BT, Havstad KM, Rango A, Archer S, Comrie A, et al. Desertification of rangelands. In: Pielke RA Sr, editor, *Climate Vulnerability: Understanding and Addressing Threats to Essential Resources*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc (2013). p. 239–58.
- Dalmau A, Ferret A, Chacon G, Manteca X. Seasonal changes in fecal cortisol metabolites in Pyrenean chamois. J Wild Manage. (2007) 71:190– 4. doi: 10.2193/2005-492
- Salama AA, Caja G, Hamzaoui S, Such X, Albanell E, Badaoui B, et al. Thermal stress in ruminants: responses and strategies for alleviation. In: Villalba JJ, editor. *Animal Welfare in Extensive Production Systems*. Sheffield: 5M Publishing; Nottingham University Press (2016). p. 11–36.
- Craine JM, Towne EG, Miller M, Fierer N. Climatic warming and the future of bison as grazers. Sci Rep. (2015) 5:16738. doi: 10.1038/srep16738
- Kitaysky AS, Piatt JF, Hatch SA, Kitaiskaia EV, Benowitz-Fredericks ZM, Shultz MT, et al. Food availability and population processes: severity of nutritional stress during reproduction predicts survival of long-lived seabirds. *Funct Ecol.* (2010) 24:625–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01679.x
- Laundré JW, Hernández L, Altendorf KB. Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, USA. *Canad J Zool.* (2001) 79:1401–9. doi: 10.1139/z01-094

FUNDING

Utah State University provides funds for Open Access. This effort was supported by grants from the Utah Agricultural Experiment Station (Project UTAO 1321).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper is published with the approval of the Director, Utah Agricultural Experiment Station, and Utah State University, as journal paper number 9197.

- Laundré J. Predation. In: Villalba JJ, editor. Animal Welfare in Extensive Systems. Sheffield: 5M Publishing; Nottingham University Press (2016). p. 103-31.
- Villalba JJ. Animal Welfare in Extensive Systems. Sheffield: 5M Publishing; Nottingham University Press (2016). p. 204.
- Broom DM. Indicators of poor welfare. Br Vet J. (1986) 142:524– 6. doi: 10.1016/0007-1935(86)90109-0
- Toates F. The interaction of cognitive and stimulus-response processes in the control of behaviour. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (1998) 22:59– 83. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(97)00022-5
- Fraser, D, Ritchie, JSD, Fraser, AF. The term "stress" in a veterinary context. Braz Vet J. (1975) 131:653–62. doi: 10.1016/S0007-1935(17)35136-9
- Cannon WB. Organization for physiological homeostasis. *Physiol Rev.* (1929) 9:399–431. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1929.9.3.399
- 24. Selye H. Stress and distress. Compr Ther. (1975) 8:9-13.
- Boonstra R. Reality as the leading cause of stress: rethinking the impact of chronic stress in nature. *Funct Ecol.* (2013) 27:11–23. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12008
- Koolhaas JM, Bartolomucci A, Buwalda B, de Boer SF, Flügge G, Korte SM, et al. Stress revisited: a critical evaluation of the stress concept. *Neurosci Behav Rev.* (2011) 35:1291–301. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.02.003
- Owen MA, Swaisgood RR, Czekala NM, Donald G, Lindburg DG. Enclosure choice and well-being in giant pandas: is it all about control? *Zoo Biol.* (2005) 24:475–81. doi: 10.1002/zoo.20064
- Ross SR. Issues of choice and control in the behaviour of a pair of captive polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). *Behav Proc.* (2006) 73:117– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2006.04.003
- Milsum JH. A model of the eustress system for health/illness. *Behav Sci.* (1985) 30:179–86. doi: 10.1002/bs.3830300402
- Meehan CL, Mench JA. The challenge of challenge: can problem solving opportunities enhance animal welfare? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 102:246– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.031
- McGowan RT, Robbins CT, Alldredge JR, Newberry RC. Contrafreeloading in grizzly bears: implications for captive foraging enrichment. *Zoo Biol.* (2010) 29:484–502. doi: 10.1002/zoo.20282
- 32. Westoby M. What are the biological bases of varied diets? *Am Nat.* (1978) 112:627–31. doi: 10.1086/283303
- Freeland WJ, Janzen DH. Strategies in herbivory by mammals: the role of plant secondary compounds. Am Nat. (1974) 108:269–89. doi: 10.1086/282907
- Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Dziba LE, Atwood SB, Banner RE. Linking herbivore experience, varied diets, and plant biochemical diversity. *Small Rum Res.* (2003) 49:257–74. doi: 10.1016/S0921-4488(03)00143-3
- Provenza DD, Villalba JJ. Foraging in domestic herbivores: Linking the internal and external milieu. In: Bels VL, editor. *Feeding in Domestic Vertebrates: From Structure to Function*. Oxfordshire: CABI Publ. (2006). p. 210–40. doi: 10.1079/9781845930639.0210
- Senft RL, Coughenour MB, Bailey DW, Rittenhouse LR, Sala OE, Swift DM. Large herbivore foraging and ecological hierarchies. *BioScience*. (1987) 37:789–99. doi: 10.2307/1310545
- Provenza FD. Postingestive feedback as an elementary determinant of food preference and intake in ruminants. J Range Manag. (1995) 48:2– 17. doi: 10.2307/4002498

- Provenza FD. Acquired aversions as the basis for varied diets of ruminants foraging on rangelands. J Anim Sci. (1996) 74:2010–20. doi: 10.2527/1996.7482010x
- Boissy A, Manteuffel G, Jensen MB, Moe RO, Spruijt B, Keeling LJ, et al. Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiol Behav*. (2007) 92:375–97. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003
- Catanese F, Distel RA, Provenza FD, Villalba JJ. Early experience with diverse foods increases intake of nonfamiliar flavors and feeds in sheep. J Anim Sci. (2012) 90:2763–73. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-4703
- Villalba JJ, Catanese F, Provenza FD, Distel RA. Relationships between early experience to dietary diversity, acceptance of novel flavors, and open field behavior in sheep. *Physiol Behav*. (2012) 105:181–7. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.08.031
- Catanese F, Obelar M, Villalba JJ, Distel RA. The importance of diet choice on stress-related responses by lambs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 148:37– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.07.005
- Lagrange S, Beauchemin KA, MacAdam JW, Villalba JJ. Effects of grazing diverse combinations of sainfoin, birdsfoot trefoil, and alfalfa on beef cow performance and environmental impacts. J Anim Sci. (2017) 95(Suppl_4):143-4. doi: 10.2527/asasann.2017.290
- Lyons DM, Parker KJ. Stress inoculation-induced indications of resilience in monkeys. J Trauma Stress. (2007) 20:423–33. doi: 10.1002/jts.20265
- Berridge KC. 'Liking' and 'wanting' food rewards: brain substrates and roles in eating disorders. *Physiol Behav.* (2009) 97:537– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.02.044
- Faustino AI, Oliveira GA, Oliveira RF. Linking appraisal to behavioral flexibility in animals: implications for stress research. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2015) 9:104. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00104
- Atwood SB, Provenza FD, Wiedmeier RD, Banner RE. Changes in preferences of gestating heifers fed untreated or ammoniated straw in different flavors. J Anim Sci. (2001) 79:3027–33. doi: 10.2527/2001.79123027x
- Villalba JJ, Bach A, Ipharraguerre IR. Feeding behavior and performance of lambs are influenced by flavor diversity. J Anim Sci. (2011) 89:2571– 81. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3435
- Costa JH, Costa WG, Weary DM, Machado Filho LC, Von Keyserlingk MA. Dairy heifers benefit from the presence of an experienced companion when learning how to graze. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:562–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9387
- Korte SM, Koolhaas JM, Wingfield JC, McEwen BS. The Darwinian concept of stress: benefits of allostasis and costs of allostatic load and the trade-offs in health and disease. *Nurosci Behav Rev.* (2005) 29:3– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.08.009
- Frank SA. Natural selection. I. Variable environments and uncertain returns on investment. J Evol Biol. (2011) 24:2299– 309. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2011.02378.x
- González-Gómez PL, Razeto-Barry P, Araya-Salas M, Estades CF. Does environmental heterogeneity promote cognitive abilities? *Integr Comp Biol.* (2015) 55:432–43. doi: 10.1093/icb/icv062
- Young RJ. Environmental Enrichment for Captive Animals. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing (2003). p. 228
- Wingfield JC. Comparative endocrinology, environment and global change. Gen Comp Endocrinol. (2008) 157:207–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.04.017
- 55. Meagher RK, Daros RR, Costa JH, Von Keyserlingk MA, Hötzel MJ, Weary DM. Effects of degree and timing of social housing on reversal learning and response to novel objects in dairy calves. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0132828. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132828
- Hernandez-Mendo O, von Keyserlingk MAG, Veira DM, Weary DM. Effects of pasture versus free stall housing on lameness in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1209–14. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71608-9
- Washburn SP, White Sl, Green JT, Benson GA. Reproduction, mastitis, and body condition of seasonally calved Holstein and Jersey cows in confinement or pasture systems. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:105–11. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74058-7
- Legrand AL, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Preference and usage of pasture versus free-stall housing by lactating dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:3651–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1733
- Von Keyserlingk MAG, Cestari AA, Franks B, Fregonesi JA, Weary DM. Dairy cows value access to pasture as highly as fresh feed. *Nature*. (2017) 7:44953. doi: 10.1038/srep44953

- Meagher RK. Is boredom an animal welfare concern? Anim Welfare. (2019) 28:21–32. doi: 10.7120/09627286.28.1.021
- Van Os JM, Mintline EM, DeVries TJ, Tucker CB. Domestic cattle (Bos taurus taurus) are motivated to obtain forage and demonstrate contrafreeloading. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0193109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 93109
- Scott CB, Provenza FD, Banner RE. Dietary habits and social interactions affect choice of feeding location by sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1995) 45:225–37. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)00605-R
- Zebunke M, Langbein J, Manteuffel G, Puppe B. Autonomic reactions indicating positive affect during acoustic reward learning in domestic pigs. *Anim Behav.* (2011) 81:481–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.11.023
- 64. Oesterwind S, Nürnberg G, Puppe B, Langbein J. Impact of structural and cognitive enrichment on the learning performance, behavior and physiology of dwarf goats (*Capra aegagrus hircus*). *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 177:34– 41. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.01.006
- Puppe B, Ernst K, Schön PC, Manteuffel G. Cognitive enrichment affects behavioural reactivity in domestic pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 105:75– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.016
- Bailey DW, Stephenson MB, Pittarello M. Effect of terrain heterogeneity on feeding site selection and livestock movement patterns. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:298–308. doi: 10.1071/AN14462
- Bailey DW, Provenza FD. Mechanisms determining large-herbivore distribution. In: *Resource Ecology*. Dordrecht: Springer (2008). p. 7–28.
- Bailey DW, Thomas MG, Walker JW, Witmore BK, Tolleson D. Effect of previous experience on grazing patterns and diet selection of Brangus cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. *Range Ecol Manage*. (2010) 63:223– 32. doi: 10.2111/08-235.1
- 69. West JW. Effects of heat-stress on production in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2003) 86:2131-44. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73803-X
- Kendall PE, Nielsen PP, Webster JR, Verkerk GA, Littlejohn RP, Matthews LR. The effects of providing shade to lactating dairy cows in a temperate climate. *Livest Sci.* (2006) 103:148–57. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2006.02.004
- Senft, RL, Rittenhouse LR, Woodmansee, RG. Factors influencing selection of resting sites by cattle on Shortgrass steppe. *J Range Mange*. (1985) 38:295– 99. doi: 10.2307/3899406
- Harris NR, Johnson DE, George MR, McDougald NK. The effect of topography, vegetation, and weather on cattle distribution at the San Joaquin Experimental Range, California. USDA Forest Service Gen Tech Rep. (2002) 184:53–63.
- Bird PR, Lynch JJ, Obst JM. Effect of shelter on plant and animal production. Anim Prod Aust. (1984) 15:270–3.
- 74. Rutter M. Resilience as a dynamic concept. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2012) 24:335–44. doi: 10.1017/S0954579412000028
- Cardinale BJ, Duffy JE, Gonzalez A, Hooper DU, Perrings C, Venail P, et al. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*. (2012) 486:59. doi: 10.1038/nature11148
- Isbell F, Craven D, Connolly J, Loreau M, Schmid B, Beierkuhnlein C, et al. Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. *Nature*. (2015) 526:574–7. doi: 10.1038/nature15374
- Mueller-Harvey I. Unravelling the conundrum of tannins in animal nutrition and health. J Sci Food Agric. (2006) 86:2010–37. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.2577
- Gregorini P, Villalba JJ, Chilibroste P, Provenza FD. Grazing management: setting the table, designing the menu and influencing the diner. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2017) 57:1248–68. doi: 10.1071/AN16637
- 79. Simpson SJ, Raubenheimer D. Assuaging nutritional complexity: a geometrical approach. Proc Nutr Soc. (1999) 58:779– 89. doi: 10.1017/S0029665199001068
- Bremm C, Laca EA, Fonseca L, Mezzalira JC, Elejalde DAG, Gonda HL, et al. Foraging behaviour of beef heifers and ewes in natural grasslands with distinct proportions of tussocks. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 141:108–16. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012. 08.008
- Carvalho PC. Harry Stobbs Memorial lecture: can grazing behavior support innovations in grassland management? *Trop. Grassl. Forrajes Trop.* (2013) 1:137–55. doi: 10.17138/TGFT(1)137-155
- 82. Chapman DF, Parsons AJ, Cosgrove GP, Barker DJ, Marotti DM, Venning KJ, et al. Impacts of spatial patterns in pasture on animal

grazing behavior, intake, and performance. Crop Sci. (2007) 47:399–415. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2006.01.0036

- Provenza FD, Ortega-Reyes L, Scott CB, Lynch JJ, Burritt EA. Antiemetic drugs attenuate food aversions in sheep. J Anim Sci. (1994) 72:1989– 94. doi: 10.2527/1994.7281989x
- Estell RE, Havstad KM, Cibils AF, Fredrickson EL, Anderson DM, Schrader TS, et al. Increasing shrub use by livestock in a world with less grass. *Range Ecol Manage*. (2012) 65:553–62. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-11-00124.1
- Craine JM, Angerer JP, Elmore A, Fierer N. Continental-scale patterns reveal potential for warming-induced shifts in cattle diet. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0161511. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161511
- Dearing MD. Temperature-dependent toxicity in mammals with implications for herbivores: a review. J Comp Physiol B. (2013) 183:43-50. doi: 10.1007/s00360-012-0670-y
- Kurnath P, Merz ND, Dearing MD. Ambient temperature influences tolerance to plant secondary compounds in a mammalian herbivore. *Proc Biol Sci.* (2016) 283:20152387. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.2387
- Beale PK, Marsh KJ, Foley WJ, Moore BD. A hot lunch for herbivores: physiological effects of elevated temperatures on mammalian feeding ecology. *Biol Rev.* (2018) 93:674–92. doi: 10.1111/brv.12364

- Petersen CA, Villalba JJ, Provenza FD. Influence of experience on browsing sagebrush by cattle and its impacts on plant community structure. *Range Ecol Manage*. (2014) 67:78–87. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-13-0 0038.1
- Montes-Sánchez JJ, Van Miegroet H, Villalba JJ. Effects energy supplementation and time on use of medusahead by grazing ewes and their lambs. *Range Ecol Manage*. (2017) 70:380–7. doi: 10.1016/j.rama.2016. 11.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Villalba and Manteca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





On the Search for Grazing Personalities: From Individual to Collective Behaviors

Cristian A. Moreno García*, Thomas M. R. Maxwell, Jonathan Hickford and Pablo Gregorini*

Department of Agricultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and Life Sciences, Lincoln University, Christchurch, New Zealand

While grazing lands can offer a diverse range of forages, individuals within herds prefer to graze some habitats and not others. They can have consistent differences in grazing patterns and occupy specific spatial domains, whilst developing tactics and strategies for foraging that are specific to their grazing personalities. In this review, we explore the development of our understanding of grazing personalities, as we move away from the search for an "optimal animal" toward designing behavior-customized herds with an arrangement of individual grazing personalities that enhance ecosystem services and productivity. We present a "grazing personality model" that accounts for the personality of individual animals and for collective behaviors of herds. We argue that grazing personalities of grazing ruminants and other large herbivores are in part genetically determined, and that they can act at the individual and collective level. The social and biophysical environments as well as the emotional state of animals regulate the expression of "grazing genes" that are observed phenotypically as distinct grazing personalities. The reproductive and sexual successes of individuals and herds filter for allele variants of grazing genes and in turn determines their relative frequency. While the selection of one grazing personality may be adequate for homogeneous pastoral systems, the design of herds with a range of grazing personalities that are matched to the habitat diversity may be a better approach to improving the distribution of grazing animals, enhancing ecosystem services, and maximizing productivity.

Keywords: grazing patterns, behavioral syndromes, conceptual model, genotype-to-phenotype associations, heritability, social environment, personality plasticity

INTRODUCTION

We picture foraging animals distributed throughout grazing lands. Individually or in various sized groups of one or more species, herbivores explore and graze a diverse range of habitats including riparian areas, open flat plains, gentle or steep hills and mountainous lands. Even when considering herds of one single species, individuals show divergent dietary tactics and foraging site preferences resulting in consistently and regularly repeated grazing patterns, like for example in cattle or sheep (1-4).

Grazing has been described as a process composed of short-term ingestive tactics, and midand long-term digestive strategies (5), and its pattern is defined as a cluster of decisions that lead to ingestive actions and digestive strategies that are motivated by the interaction of both internal and external stimuli (6). Differences in grazing patterns are far from being trivial or random, with

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeremy N. Marchant-Forde, Livestock Behavior Research Unit (USDA-ARS), United States

Reviewed by:

Derek Wayne Bailey, New Mexico State University, United States Manja Zupan Šemrov, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

*Correspondence:

Cristian A. Moreno García Cristian.MorenoGarcia@ lincolnuni.ac.nz; moreno.grassland@gmail.com Pablo Gregorini pablo.gregorini@lincoln.ac.nz

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 02 October 2019 Accepted: 28 January 2020 Published: 25 February 2020

Citation:

Moreno García CA, Maxwell TMR, Hickford J and Gregorini P (2020) On the Search for Grazing Personalities: From Individual to Collective Behaviors. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:74. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00074

41

individual animals behaving consistently and adopting specific grazing strategies across situations and over time; such that animals are said to display recognizable grazing personalities (7–10). The diversity of grazing personalities within herds modulates the intensity and frequency of forage defoliation achieved with recommended stocking rates, the fitness of animals and other production traits such as reproduction success, survival, and liveweight changes (11, 12). As a consequence, differences in grazing patterns and personalities affect ecosystem functions such as speeding up nutrient cycling (13), increasing productivity of grasslands (14), and preventing loss of plant diversity (15).

The concept of animal personality, also referred to as behavioral syndrome (10), copying style (16), and temperament (17) among other closely related terms (18, 19), was developed by integrating correlated traits of behavior with other traits. For example, Carere and Maestripieri (20) defined animal personality as correlated behavioral and physiological traits that differ among individuals of the same species, and that are temporally stable across different contexts or situations. Gosling and John (21) suggested this concept should not be restricted to differences observed within-species, but rather these are behaviors and patterns that are consistently displayed by individuals regardless of the species identity. Some authors also argue that personality should include traits that account for consistent patterns of feelings and thoughts that affect behavior (22). In this way, the concept of animal personality includes emotional and cognitive traits, which can influence animal decision-making and wellbeing. In line with Maderspacher's (23) arguments and Biro and Post's (24) speculations, we have chosen to include morphological traits in our definition of grazing personality, as evidence showed correspondence between behavioral polymorphisms and morphological polymorphisms. Accordingly, we define grazing personality for grazing ruminants and other large herbivores as "suites of traits of different nature (e.g., behavioral, cognitive, physiological, and morphological), which are correlated and often concatenated, to result in specific grazing patterns displayed consistently across contexts and over time."

Regardless of the species identity, differences in grazing personalities are observed at the individual (8, 21, 25, 26) and collective level; that is in groups, herds, and populations of animals (27, 28). Consequently, we argue that grazing personalities are the result of evolutionary processes that filtered alleles and established allele frequencies of key genes related to behavioral patterns, tactics, strategies, and decision-making in the grazing process, hereafter referred to as "grazing genes." In addition, interactions with social and biophysical environments, the emotional state of animals and their experiences early in life, might modify the epigenome of grazing genes, thereby modulating their expression.

We support the contention that grazing personalities are observable at individual and collective levels, and suggest that divergent grazing personalities result in distinct grazing patterns and attributes; such as the ability to explore, define a home-range, display a habitat preference, and fragment into groups. These all affect the ecological functioning of grazing systems.

We also propose a "grazing personality model" (GP-model). The purpose and context of the GP-model is to represent the genetic elements, the regulatory systems, and the phenotypic elements that encompass individual and collective personalities in a context of herds of grazing ruminants and other large herbivores. The objective of the GP-model is to further develop our understanding of distribution of grazing animals following the initial "Ecological-Hierarchical grazing model" (29) and the additional concepts of the "Distribution Patterns and Mechanisms" model (30). The GP-model represents grazing personalities, which are genetically determined (genotypic personality) and epigenetically modulated through systems that regulate the expression of grazing genes (personality plasticity) via interactions with the social herd environment and the biophysical features of the grazing environment. The emotional state of animals influences the regulatory systems that modulate gene expression and affects grazing decision-making. In this review, we first deal with grazing personalities at the level of the individual animal, then we deal with collective personalities and finally we illustrate GP-model implications based on movement ecology, genetics and animal personality.

INDIVIDUAL GRAZING PERSONALITIES

"...from the population optimum perspective [...] natural and sexual selection may favor the evolution of multiple responses to environmental challenges, thus resulting in within-population variation in the same behavioral trait, and in whole suites of behavioral traits" (31).

This section describes the GP-model at the individual level (**Figure 1**, left side): from individual genotypes of grazing personalities at the top, through regulatory systems that modulate the gene expression and confers the personality plasticity in the middle, to individual phenotypic grazing personalities at the bottom. Thus, in section The Genetics of Behavior and Grazing Related Genes we present evidence about grazing genes and its heritability. We then investigate regulatory systems that modulate the expression of grazing genes in variable responses to stimuli conferring the personality plasticity (see section The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns). Finally, in section Grazing Traits of Individuals we present examples of phenotypic grazing personalities and traits at the individual level (**Table 1**).

Individual animals exhibit repeatable differences in their grazing behavior within populations, within species and across species. These personality differences arise for many reasons, such as differences in permanent environmental effects (e.g., familial, parental, and epigenetic contributions) and the effect of genetic variation. In ruminants, personality differences can influence eating tactics and ingestive behaviors (9, 54). For example, Gregorini et al. (9) studied a group of 16 dairy cows that were selected as calves (6–8 months old) based on divergence in residual feed intake (i.e., having high and low residual feed intakes) and measured their individual grazing behaviors, eating patterns, and ingestion tactics as milking cows. From a grazing behavior viewpoint, low residual feed intake individuals prioritized grazing and ruminating over idling. They typically took fewer steps when walking during grazing and had a higher



17 (diamonds). Allele variants specified by nucleobases adenine [A], guanine [G], and thymine [T]. The interactions between genes and environment regulates the expression of grazing genes and confers personality plasticity. Phenotypic grazing personalities of individuals (iGPs) may overlap (e.g., iGP1 and iGP2) or diverge (e.g., iGP3). A group of individuals coexisting and displaying distinct grazing personalities constitutes a grazing herd with its own collective grazing personality (cGP).

ratio of grazing to non-grazing steps when compared with cows a cumulative size

Adapted from Bengston and Jandt (33); with concepts from Koolhaas and van Reenen (34), Robinson (35), and Sih (10).

with high residual feed intake. From an ingestive viewpoint, low residual feed intake individuals masticated less, but ruminated more intensively, and they had feces with 30% less quantity of large particles size than their counterparts with high residual feed intake. Wesley et al. (39) also pre-classified 18 beef cattle heifers from within 80 animals in two consecutive years (n =36) based on the rate of consumption of supplementary feed (another trait related to the eating tactics). Similarly, the authors reported divergent grazing behavior and ingestion tactics; for example, cows with faster rates of consumption of supplement tended to spend less time at water, cover larger areas and exhibit less concentrated grazing search patterns than cows with slower consumption rates. These two studies speculated a link between the divergent phenotypic behaviors (i.e., eating tactics) displayed by the selected animals and their genotype. In the following section, we present the genetics of behavior and genes related to grazing patterns.

The Genetics of Behavior and Grazing Related Genes

Van Oers and Sinn (53) undertook a meta-analysis of studies on animal personality to quantify the heritability of personality in wild, captive and domesticated populations of a range of animals. The statistical meta-analysis included 209 estimates of heritability on 14 taxonomic groups such as Ruminantia, Equidae, Canidae, and Hymenoptera, just to mention a few. The authors reported an average heritability of 0.26 for animal personality traits with a cumulative size effect (E = 0.18) significantly different from zero. The average heritability was higher in wild populations than in domesticated populations (0.36 > 0.24), and unweighted heritability estimates for exploration behavior were 0.58 and 0.21, respectively. These authors concluded that selection of animals based on their personality could be expected in wild populations.

At a more general level, a more recent meta-analysis of behavioral studies on non-human animals reported estimates of heritability and repeatability of animal personalities (55). After screening 306 relevant articles, they selected 10 research studies and 71 pairs of estimates for analysis. Their analyses suggested that the repeatability of behavioral responses has a substantive genetic component, with the study revealing that 52% of the phenotypic variation in general behaviors such as aggression, antipredator, foraging, parental effort, and mating, was attributable to additive genetic variation (i.e., genotypic personality in the GP-model). The authors also reported a greater and large mean heritability for animal personality (0.52) than for behavioral variation (0.14). Animal personality heritability being inclusive of additive genetic variation, dominance genetic variation and permanent environmental effects, while behavioral variation includes in addition the temporal environmental effects. If genetic dominance (i.e., non-additive genetics) plays a minor role in determining animal personality (55), then one can potentially attribute about half of personality variation to the effects of the social and biophysical environment (e.g., parental care and vegetation characteristics, respectively) and to epigenetics. In the GP-model, these effects are referred to as

Species	Behavioral types	Behavioral categorizing criteria	Continuous and categorical variables	Genetically explained	References	
Beef cattle	 Riparian areas users Uplands users 	1. Home-range fidelity	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous	Probably	(2, 36)	
Beef cattle	Breeds better suited for mountainous terrain	 Slope Horizontal distance Vertical distance 	Continuous	Probably	(37)	
Beef cattle	 Bottom dweller Hill climber 	1. Terrain-use indexes	Continuous	Probably	(1)	
Beef cattle	 Dominant Subordinate 	1. Dominance	Continuous	No	(38)	
Beef cattle	 Fast-eater Slow-eater 	1. Supplement intake rate	Continuous	Probably	(39)	
Beef cattle	 Bottom dweller Hill climber 	1. Terrain-use indexes	Continuous	Yes	(32)	
Beef cattle	 Bottom dweller (?) Hill climber (?) 	1. Terrain-use indexes	Continuous	Yes	(40-42)	
Beef cattle	 Favorable distribution Unfavorable distribution 	1. Terrain-use indexes (?)	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous?	Yes	(43)	
Beef cattle	 Highly exploratory/bold Slow-exploratory/ shy 	1. Response to novel object	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous		(44)	
Dairy cattle	 Low residual High-residual 	1. Residual feed intake	Continuous	Yes	(9)	
Highland beef cattle	 Initiator Follower 	 Leadership Dominance 	Continuous		(45)	
Multiple species (mice, ats)	 High-aggressive Low (medium)- aggressive 	1. Aggressiveness	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous	Yes	(46)	
Multiple species (foragers).	1. Leader 2. Trailer A. Speeder B. Laggards	 Walking speed Accelerations to conspecifics Length of decision zones Sense of orientation 	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous		(47)	
Sheep	None specified	1. Sagebush consumption/ dietary selection	Continuous	Yes	(3)	
Sheep	1. Bold 2. Shy	1. Shyness-boldness	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous		(48)	
Sheep	1. Bold 2. Shy	1. Shyness-boldness	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous		(49)	
Beef cattle	None specified	Consumption of several species of grasses and forbs	Continuous	Yes	(4)	
Beef cattle (Nellore)	None specified	 Crush score Flight speed Movement score Temperament score 	Categorical (nominal) and continuous	Yes	(11)	
Deer	Several combinations of multiple dimensions	 Boldness Dominance Flexibility 	Categorical (nominal) and continuous		(50)	

TABLE 1 | Dichotomous and multiple classifications of animal behavioral types in grazing ruminants and other large herbivores.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Species	Behavioral types	Behavioral categorizing criteria	Continuous and categorical variables	Genetically explained	References
Multiple species (foragers) with whole spectrum of personality types	 Superficial explorer/ bold/aggressive Thorough explorer/shy/ non-aggressive 	 Exploration strategy Boldness Aggressiveness 	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous	Yes	(51)
Multiple species (cattle, horses, pigs)	 Proactive/bold Reactive/docile 15 combinations of three-dimensions personalities 	 Coping style Emotionality Sociality 	Categorical (dichotomous and nominal) and continuous	Yes	(34)
Multiple species (foragers) with whole spectrum of personality types	1. Fast-explorer 2. Slow-explorer	 Area-restricted search (fractal movement) Sense of direction Home range size and structure Aggressiveness 	Categorical (dichotomous) and continuous		(52)
Multiple species (African elephant, Galapagos tortoises, mule deer)	 Central place foraging Migration Nomadism 	 Node-level (local) metrics Graph-level (system) metrics 	Continuous		(27)

See Réale et al. (19) and van Oers and Sinn (53) for studies with genetically-associated behaviors; see Smith and Blumstein (12) for single personality dimension related to fitness. Behavioral types, behavioral categorizing criteria, type of variable, and if behavior has been explained genetically.

the regulatory systems and the personality plasticity. However, it remains unclear how much of the non-additive genetics [i.e., allelic interactions at the same locus (dominance) or at different loci (epistasis)] can explain the phenotypic behavioral variation (56). For example, in humans, non-additive effects could be as significant as the additive effects in explaining several dimensions of personalities (57).

Results of Dochtermann's et al. (55) meta-analysis are promising but provisional and need to be taken with caution. They also reported that foraging behaviors had a much weaker genetic component (<0.2) than aggression and antipredator behaviors (up to 0.6).

Recent studies supported the premise of grazing personality being under genetic control. Howery and Bailey (43) described both genome regions and gene markers associated with grazing distribution patterns in beef cattle. As an example, using collared cows (n = 87) that carried global positioning systems (GPS), Bailey et al. (32) investigated the association of several quantitative trait locus (QTL) and genetic markers with the phenotypic variation of grazing patterns of cattle displayed along gradients of steep-sloping terrain, elevation and distance to water sources. These cows were grazed in mountainous and extensive grasslands at five ranches in New Mexico, Arizona and Montana in the United States of America (USA). A highdensity single nucleotide polymorphism (HD SNP) array was used to genotype DNA samples from these cows. The study then ascertained whether associations existed between variation in the SNP markers and variation in grazing distribution based on indexes of terrain use. Two QTLs overlaying the glutamate receptor 5 (GMR5) gene accounted for up to 24% of the phenotypic variation in the use of vegetation patches on steep slopes and at high elevations, while another QTL overlaying the mastermind-like 3 (MAML3) gene accounted for 23% of the phenotypic variation (**Figure 1**). These genes have been reported to be involved in locomotion, motivation, and spatial memory as well as in the regulation of neurogenesis, myogenesis, vasculogenesis, and other aspects of organogenesis.

Studies conducted by Pierce et al. (40, 41) validated the previously reported genotype-to-phenotype associations between specific SNPs overlaying grazing genes and indexes of terrain use (32). While these results are promising and point toward the possible integration of grazing personality into selection programs, Howery and Bailey (43) suggested these studies need to be replicated and/or extended to larger number of animals of different origin and which are grazed in diverse environments, if robust and conclusive conclusions are to be reached. For example, the extended study of Pierce et al. (42) including 330 beef cows from 14 ranches in the western USA reported limited genotype-to-phenotype associations and pointed toward different candidate genes.

There are two outstanding explanations for the correlation of behavioral traits defining grazing personalities. The first one is pleiotropy, in which one gene could act on two or more traits, which further determine the displayed grazing patterns. If pleiotropy occurs, one single gene would effectively control several traits simultaneously. For example, phenotypic studies corroborated the correlation of distinctive grazing patterns (e.g., fast-explorer cows), growth rates and boldness within relatively small groups of cattle [i.e., 16 and 36 individuals in Gregorini et al. (9) and Wesley et al. (39), respectively].

Kern et al. (58) suggested that pleiotropic effects could explain the correlations between personality, morphological and

performance traits on zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), but also did not confirm this possibility. A study with bighorn sheep from Ram Mountain, Alberta, Canada could not find pleiotropic effects at major locus because of the lack of genome-wide QTL overlap on genes related to docility and boldness (59). Instead, the authors concluded that small pleiotropic effects could have been missed and therefore, results did not confirm pleiotropy. Future studies might give insights of pleiotropy controlling grazing personality traits.

The second explanation for the correlation of traits as observed in grazing personalities is because of a non-random association of alleles at different loci that produce a combination of traits that confers advantage under a specific set of biophysical and social conditions, as is the case of linkage disequilibrium. For example, individuals with certain association of alleles tend to achieve higher reproduction rates than individuals with a different combination of traits. Such allele associations become common and more frequent in a population than other combinations, although traits are controlled by alleles at different loci (53).

Studies suggested that genetic variation might explain different eating tactics linked to distinctive grazing behaviors exhibited in groups of beef heifers (39) and dairy cows (9). For the latter example, Davis et al. (60) previously confirmed the different genetic basis found on nearly 200 dairy cows that, within a large herd of 3,359 milking cows, displayed extreme residual feed intakes. These genetically tested cows were mother dams of the 16 calves used on Gregorini's et al. (9) research. Future research on grazing personalities and its genetic variation might help to elucidate whether grazing traits are correlated because of genetic pleiotropy, or because of a linkage disequilibrium between grazing traits, or because of both mechanisms acting simultaneously. Both, pleiotropy mechanisms as well as linkage disequilibrium were represented in the hierarchical conceptual model "Organization of Behavioral Traits" (19) and have implications for the regulation and expression of grazing personalities.

The discovery of genetic associations with grazing personalities and thus the identification of specific grazing genes has the potential to assist in breeding programs. However, despite the high heritability of grazing patterns found in cattle, there are other factors controlling them. For example, interactions with the social herd environment (e.g., parental and familial effects), the biophysical environment, and the emotional state as well as the large number of range management practices that influences such interactions. In the next section, we discuss whether non-genetic factors can modulate the expression of grazing genes and if such effects over gene expression are transferable to offspring.

The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns

The section The Genetics of Behavior and Grazing Related Genes and the section Gene Pools and Allele Frequencies focused on alleles of grazing genes, their variation and frequency at two levels, individual and collective, respectively. In the GP-model, allele attributes of grazing genes are the ultimate determinants of grazing personalities. These attributes constitute the individual and collective genomes, respectively, and account for the specific sequence of nucleobases of each gene; that is the genome code. The gene products expressed into RNA and subsequent amino acids and proteins are the ones executing the observed phenotypic traits, such as behavioral traits. In this section, we focus on gene expression and regulatory systems that modulate the expression of behavioral genes related to grazing personalities. Here, we present the ontogeny, the epigenetic inheritance system, and the animal emotional state as the main modulators of behavioral gene expression. These three components of the GP-model create the interface between the genomic determination of grazing personalities and the external and internal stimuli that modulate its gene expression. The expression of grazing genes is variable and responds to changing environmental conditions and emotional states; regulatory systems modulating the gene expression and thus conferring the personality plasticity of the GP-model.

Regulatory systems are an integral part of the pathways between grazing genes and the observed grazing personalities. In the GP-model, grazing personality pathways originate from specific alleles of grazing genes and result in specific phenotypic grazing patterns. Grazing personality pathways involve hierarchical levels of intermediate and concatenated traits with multiple mechanisms that consistently respond to external and internal stimuli modulating the observed grazing patterns. The "Organization of Behavioral Traits" (19) conceptualized genes-neurophysiology-behavioral pathways in a hierarchical model where a few genes are involved in determining a few neurological, physiological, and morphological traits. These neurological, physiological and morphological traits further shape the expression of a number of behavioral traits that ultimately result in biological functions, such as herbivore grazing patterns. As the gene expression of intermediate traits is variable in response to stimuli, each adjusted response of intermediate traits is added up and further transferred along pathways of grazing personality (19).

The variable expression of grazing genes modulated by regulatory systems is referred to as grazing personality plasticity. The reaction norm of behavioral traits are examples of behavioral trait plasticity changing along environmental gradients (61). As the phenotypic response along environmental gradients differs from one individual to another, the grazing personality plasticity might be a trait by itself and even have its own heritability (62). However, even if environmental conditions stay unchanged, the behavior of an individual changes as it ages, which is known as ontogeny, and that leads to behavioral development (63).

Ontogeny

Here we discuss two aspects of animal ontogeny related to grazing personalities. Firstly, the ontogeny itself and the changes in behavior observed in animals over their lifetime. Grazing personalities are consistently observed across situations and over time. However, the behavior of an animal changes along its behavioral development or maturation. For example, Van Moorter et al. (64) conducted a study at contrasting locations

in France to compare the exploration behavior of yearling (8-15 months old) roe deer (Capreolus capreolus) prior to the settlement phase of dispersal against the exploration of adult individuals (>2 year old). Young roe deer had larger exploration behavior than adult deer. The results proved that yearling roe deer leave their natal home range and display a period of exploration in spring and summer as part of their natural maturation process. Adult individuals settle down later in life and explore smaller areas. The example above shows that individuals display changes in grazing behaviors along their ontogenic development. Furthermore, within behavioral development phases, behavioral differences among animals are maintained from early life and along their lifetime. Finally, behavioral differences among individuals detected early in life can be used as predictors for divergent grazing personalities displayed at mature life phases.

The second aspect regarding animal ontogeny affecting grazing personalities is the importance of environments and emotional states experienced early in life (including experiences of predecessors in preconception) to influence the gene expression of behavioral and personality traits. Maternal effects early in life that induce changes in gene expression and thereby of phenotypic behavior have been documented in birds. For example, wild females of the altricial canary (Serinus domesticus) regulates the use of androgens when laying eggs in a way that late born chicks have higher levels of testosterone (65). Thus, chicks from late laid eggs showed faster embryonic development, increased muscular development and more begging behavior than chicks of early laid eggs. All these traits made the younger chicks of the clutch to be more competitive than older (i.e., earlier born) chicks. Different hormonal environment experienced early in life can induce changes in the expression of genes controlling physiological and behavioral traits, conferring a social hierarchy, which is maintained later during adulthood (65). To our knowledge, no study had documented changes of gene expression due to early-in-life experiences in large herbivores [but see study of Candemir et al. (66) with mice].

In the following paragraphs, we explain and exemplify how adaptive responses to early life experiences are determinant in shaping the gene expression of an individual and how such responses can be inherited epigenetically.

Epigenetics

The epigenetic inheritance system of the GP-model is a set of mechanisms that modifies DNA arrangement and that affects the expression of genes related to grazing personalities without causing alterations to the nucleotide sequence. Epigenetic mechanisms stimulate, discourage, or inhibit the expression of genes through DNA folding and transcriptional activities. Most known epigenetic mechanisms are DNA methylation and histone alterations (67). Such mechanisms mediate the interface between the genomic control over grazing behaviors, and responses to stimuli such as the social and biophysical environments and the emotional state of animals. Adaptive and maladaptive responses to stimuli are reflected in the phenotypic grazing personality of individuals that undergo changes to their epigenetic state and thus modulate their

gene expression. Thus, alterable epigenomes-i.e., facilitated epigenotypes (probabilistically controlled by the genotype) and pure epigenotypes (not controlled by the genotype outside the affected locus)-depend on stimuli signals and is modified according to each individual's experiences (68). The transgenerational epigenetic inheritance is the transference to offspring and following generations of adopted epigenetic states in response to stimuli. Steroid hormones mediate a particular case of epigenetic modifications in response to stress (68). The study conducted by Howery et al. (2) in an extensive grazing allotment in Idaho (USA) reported that the majority of individual beef cows (78%) showed high-fidelity to home range and habitats, returning to these feeding areas in consecutive years. The study was carried on for another 4 years (1990-1993) to test if offspring and cross-fostered offspring maintained fidelity to the home range and habitats where they were reared and whether grazing behavior of dams and foster dams influenced their grazing behavior (36). These authors reported that home range and habitat fidelity was displayed by dams and foster dams as well as by yearlings and cross-fostered yearlings. They concluded that grazing behaviors experienced early in life conditioned the behavior in adulthood, and this was observed independently from yearlings being reared by their dams or by foster dams. Habitat fidelity decreased however with a severed drought and in response to the grazing behavior of other peers. These studies showed that grazing behavior was consistent over time and it was transferred to the progeny and foster-progeny. While parental effects of dams and foster-dams were corroborated, at that time, genetic heritability of grazing behavior was not tested and remained unknown. The grazing behavior of dams and yearlings was affected by a severe drought in 1992, which illustrates the plasticity of grazing behaviors responding to changing biophysical environment. Parental effects and peer effects modulated the grazing patterns of yearlings accordingly to the social herd environment experienced early and in subsequent stages of life. Howery and Bailey (43) attributed these results to a combination of nature (genetic) and nurture (learned), although, the latter could also be attributed to epigenetic inheritance. In the following section, we present examples showing how the emotional state of animals can induce changes on the expression of behavioral genes.

Emotional Operating System

Conscious and unconscious internal states of the brain dictate the mental well-being of mammals. While fulfilling their physiological needs, animals can react to external and internal stimuli to attempt to minimize negative emotions and to seek positive emotions (69). For example, grazing actions and reactions of ruminants and foragers in general are conditioned by their current emotional state, past experiences, and expectations (70, 71); referred to as cognitive mechanisms in the GPmodel. Emotions modulate the expression of grazing genes through epigenetic states (inheritable emotional states) and/or affect the observed grazing behaviors directly (i.e., see the two arrows of emotional state in **Figure 1**). For instance, domestic chickens (*Gallus gallus*), under a social environment of intermittent isolation early in life developed a lowered

response to corticosterone, which restrained stress (72). Using microarrays immediately after the treatment, treated chickens have upregulated the function of genes related to stress. Later in life, chickens treated with social isolation displayed a decreased reactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, increased growth and improved associative learning in comparison with untreated chickens. The study provided evidence of transgenerational inheritance triggered by the chickens' emotional state. The emotions and the emotional state of animals affected their immediate behaviors; also experiences early in life might have underpin lifetime "conditioning" that altered the epigenetic environment of specific genes. Such effect was transferred to the progeny. Negative and positive emotions may affect (non-heritable) and modulate (heritable) the behavior of animals. For example, among these emotions, stress has been studied extensively because of the relevance to animal welfare, health and fitness. As individual animals display different coping styles while facing stressful situations, their emotions, emotional state, and ultimately their welfare, depends upon their individual personalities (46).

Grazing Traits of Individuals

On the one hand, quantitative and continuous traits are commonly used to describe grazing behaviors along continuum gradients (28, 32). On the other, grazing personalities as categorical attributes of consistent behaviors may emerge because of the existence of trade-offs among correlated traits. Thus, animals may adopt contrasting strategies (52) such as the contrasting proactive and reactive personalities, *sensu* "life-history theory" (51) or the fast and slow metabolisms, *sensu* "pace-of-life syndromes" (73).

Behavioral studies on foraging animals are commonly limited to describe two types of grazing animals, which account for the extreme behaviors observed at the opposite ends of a continuum axis. For example, the residual feed intake was estimated for nearly two thousand dairy cows and a continuous gradient of this parameter was obtained. Then, individuals displaying the lowest and highest residual feed intake within this gradient were selected for further research [i.e., 183 and 16 selected individuals (74) and (9), respectively]. Similarly, animals of several species have been classified into two contrasting types (**Table 1**). For example, ruminants have been categorized as either riparian or uplands users (2, 36), bold or shy explorers (48, 49), bottom-dwellers or hill-climbers (1, 32, 40, 41).

Alternatively, a diverse range of discrete personalities can be depicted by integrating multiple behavioral "dimensions" (e.g., grazing traits) to describe and classify animals that show distinctive behaviors (17, 75). A multi-dimensional approach applied to grazing behaviors allows the conceptualization (and description) of consistent movement patterns both within species and across species. For example, studies have investigated a large diversity of foraging species and thus clustered individuals into four major types of so-called movement syndromes (25), movement strategies (26), or functional movement classes (27). These studies included, thirteen species of several vertebrate taxa of herbivores and carnivores (25); large herbivores such as the African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*), giant Galapagos tortoise

(Chelonoidis spp.), and mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) (26); and 92 species of marine life with feeding habits of carnivorous, zooplankton and algae feeders (27). The four movement types of these three studies were described and similarly named as: centered home-range, territorialists, nomads, and migrants under movement syndromes (25); as resident, multi-patch, nomadic and migration under movement strategies (26); and as resident, occasional, irruptor, and roamer under functional movement classes (27). The studies found four common movement patterns across several taxa that have different modes of movement (e.g., terrestrial locomotion, swimming, flying) and different feeding habits. For example, there were herbivores [e.g., African elephant, plains zebra (Equus quagga), springbok (Antidorcas marsupialis), mule deer, and several algae feeding marine species] and carnivores [e.g., African wild dog (Lycaon pictus) and several fish feeding marine species]. Furthermore, the authors observed these common movement patterns consistently across situations and over time, a condition for behavioral personalities. We anticipate that grazing ruminants and other large herbivores consistently display such common grazing patterns within herds, populations and species and even across species (i.e., regardless of species identity).

Finally, another alternative would be if grazing patterns and behaviors of grazing ruminants and other large herbivores are displayed as normally distributed variables and genetically independent traits that show no phenotypic correlations (37, 76). In such a case, conceptualizing categorical grazing personalities might be challenging or even inappropriate.

COLLECTIVE GRAZING PERSONALITIES

"The social environment and interactions have a lifelong influence on what an animal eats and where it goes [...]. In herbivores, social organization leads to culture, which is the collective knowledge and habits acquired and passed from generation to generation about how to survive in a particular environment" (77).

In this section, we focused on the collective grazing personalities of the GP-model (**Figure 1**, right side): from collective genotypes (at the top), through regulatory systems modulating plastic responses (middle), to phenotypic grazing personalities as observed in herds of grazing ruminants and other large herbivores (at the bottom). In section Gene Pools and Allele Frequencies, we hypothesize that the allelic variation and frequency of grazing genes determine the emergence of grazing personalities at collective level. Section The Social Environment of the Herd presents the collective social environment as the main regulatory system that shapes grazing personalities at collective level. In section Grazing Traits of Herds, we present examples and discuss the emergence of collective grazing patterns as consistently observed across contexts and over time.

Gene Pools and Allele Frequencies

The existence of distinctive grazing personalities among individuals and the coexistence of divergent personalities within populations (so-called behavioral polymorphic populations) are both products of evolutionary processes. Selection acts over

phenotype through differential fitness (e.g., individuals achieving different rates of survival and reproduction), which is then reflected in the gene pool of the group (12, 51). Animals that achieve longer lives, and/or greater reproduction rates under certain social and biophysical conditions, will produce more offspring. In this way, outperforming phenotypes with greater fitness get larger representation within the herd, making their alleles more common in the gene pool. Inversely, phenotypes with lower fitness are less represented in the population and in turn, their alleles become less common. Changes in social or biophysical environments may affect the fitness of distinct grazing personalities and lead, over generations, to changes in the allele frequencies of genes. Despite their lower performance, low fitness phenotypes still reproduce and therefore, their genes are maintained (78). Mating success of behaviorally distinct individuals would influences the allele frequencies of the population. Populations may have different behavioral morphs that exist at specific ratios. Here are two examples.

Lampert et al. (79) reported genetic associations with divergent behavioral strategies of mating in panuco swordtail fish (Xiphophorus nigrensis). Divergent mating-strategy and morphs of panuco swordtail fish are genetically associated with specific alleles and therefore, these populations seems to be genetically and phenotypically polymorphic. The small male morphs have relatively smaller swords, have a female appearance and are less ornate than large males, which are gifted with larger swordtails and are much more decorated. Females prefer mating with large males, which are territorial and court them. The apparent reproductive disadvantage of small swordtail fish morphs does not stop them mating, and instead of undertaking courtship, small males chase and force females to copulate. By adopting a different behavioral mating strategy, small fish morphs successfully passes their genes ensuring the persistence of this morpho-behavioral phenotype. In the second example, Pruitt and Goodnight (80) reported that natural populations of communal spider (Anelosimus studiosus) have behavioral polymorphic individuals labeled as aggressive and docile. Populations of spiders growing under contrasting environmental conditions such as high and low availability of resources have different ratios of the aggressive to docile phenotypes. The phenotype ratio largely explained the reproductive success of the colony and determined the behavioral attributes of the colony. The authors concluded that aggressive:docile behavioral ratio would ensure long-term survival at the collective level. The phenotype ratio was site-specific and was the result of a collective-driven selection. On artificially made populations, switches of the phenotype ratio toward the ratio of spiders' origin (and regardless of the environmental conditions i.e., maladaptive responses) can be attributed to collectively controlled inheritance.

To our knowledge, there have not been any studies looking at genotypic diversity, composition and relative frequency of grazing genes in ruminant herds. Since the very beginning of animal domestication, herders are selecting individual animals by their behavior (e.g., docility). But it is only in the last 30 years that scientists started to recommend culling individual animals that display undesired grazing patterns (2, 81). Certainly, the behavioral selection conducted in the past over domesticated herbivores has shaped the gene pools of present-day herds. However, it is unknown how this selection has affected their grazing patterns. Similarly, environmental changes, such as fragmentation of natural ecosystems, limited animal migration or selective hunting, has affected the gene pools and relative frequency of grazing genes of herds of wild animals and in that way, may have modified their collective grazing personalities. This has been exemplified by the selective capturing of fish with nets over wild fish populations (24). As seen with the artificially-made colonies of communal spiders (80), we speculate that the ratio of genotypic grazing personalities within a herd of ruminants might be regulated collectively to ensure longterm survival of the group. As the ratio of genotypes within a herd might be site specific, it is possible to speculate that such collective traits are inherited epigenetically.

The recent discovery of nucleotide variation in grazing genes and their association with the grazing patterns of individual animals opens the opportunity to search for an ideal grazer; one that displays the "best" grazing personality (32, 40–42). However, large herbivores do not graze alone but in herds of interacting animals, where individuals display a range of distinct grazing personalities that shapes the grazing personality of the herd. In this way, herds have unique attributes of grazing behavior (see section Grazing Traits of Herds). At collective level, genetically similar herds may display different personalities because of the plastic expressions of grazing patterns. This is discussed in the following section.

The Social Environment of the Herd

The interactions among conspecifics constitutes the social environment of herds. Such interactions establish the social status occupied and the behaviors adopted by each individual. For example, the roles of leader and follower (45), dominant and submissive (38), and producer and scrounger (82), are extensively documented in ruminants, birds and other foraging species. Socially responsive individuals adjust their behaviors according to the social context and within the limits of their personality plasticity (83). Thus, the social herd environment is a major factor of behavioral variation that affects the phenotypic expression of grazing personality and its plasticity at the individual and collective level (61). In section The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns, we provided examples of how the social environment (e.g., social isolation and parental care) affects the behavior of individuals. Similarly, the emergence of socially central individuals (e.g., leader and dominant animals) conditions collective grazing behaviors. For example, in Highland cattle (Bos taurus), Sueur et al. (45) reported that castrated mature males provided leadership and promoted group cohesiveness to juvenile cattle. These authors suggested using trained matured castrated males to increase grazing intensity of targeted areas. In another experiment with groups of fallow deer (Dama dama), Stutz et al. (84) showed that high aggregation and cohesiveness working toward increasing safety against predators have reduced the individual and collective exploitation of preferred and more nutritious diets. Thus, the collective perceived risk of predators influences collective exploration and utilization of feed sources. Another way to study the effects of collective behaviors is by replacing (or removing) socially central individuals. Vital and Martins (85) removed the key individuals from a group of zebrafish (Danio rerio) and reported reduced learning of foraging skills. In bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) the presence of certain individuals was crucial to maintain interactions between subgroups (86). However, in beef cattle the effects of socially central individuals might be only relevant in small size herds, for example <40 individuals, where the fidelity of individuals to the group they belong to is relatively high; on the contrary, social bonds in larger herds are expected to be weaker (87, 88). In the collective context of colony living organisms, the social environment is crucial for the survival and fitness of the group as well as for the relative success of each individual (33); to a certain extent, this is also the case for collective grazers such as grazing ruminants and other large herbivores.

The GP-model establishes that stimuli from the social and biophysical environments and the emotional state of animal affects the displayed grazing personalities of individuals, which in turn are transferred to the grazing patterns displayed collectively (see section The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns). Similarly to the case of individuals, the social environment of the herd might influence the gene expression of collective grazing traits and therefore modulate the phenotypic grazing personalities as observed collectively. However, until now, it is unknown whether there are genes controlling collective behavioral traits in ruminants and, if so, whether the social environment controls its expression. A combination of social learning and a segregation of leader and followers could also explain collective behaviors (85). We posed these unresolved aspects using question marks in the GP-model (Figure 1). In the next section, however, there are examples of grazing traits measured at collective level.

Grazing Traits of Herds

Based on behavioral genetics, Gross (89) described three main pathways to explain phenotypic polymorphism of behavior displayed by individuals within animal populations. Firstly, the so-called "alternative pathway" which considers a frequencydependent selection of animals that maintains genetically polymorphic populations with individuals displaying behavioral polymorphism and achieving similar fitness. Secondly, the "mixed pathway" occurs in genetically monomorphic populations with individuals displaying mixed behavioral tactics. Finally, the so-called "conditional pathway" occurring in genetically monomorphic populations where individuals display a set of behavioral tactics according to state-dependent conditioning. For the GP-model and for any study of grazing herds in general, it is crucial to bear in mind that herds of ruminants are phenotypically behaviorally polymorphic. Within a herd of ruminants, individuals coexist displaying a range of distinctive grazing personalities. While the alternative pathway attributes the phenotypic behavioral polymorphism to genotype variation (i.e., personality genotype in the GPmodel), mixed pathways and conditional pathways apply to populations comprised by genetically monomorphic individuals. As previously presented in section The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns, the personality plasticity at collective level accounts for the variable gene expression and therefore, different phenotypic outcomes from genetically identical individuals may take place. We hypothesize that the mixed pathway may correspond to variations attributable to the epigenetic system (heritable), and that the conditional pathways may correspond to direct effects over the emotional state. For the previous, adopted behaviors might be transferred to offspring and therefore show transgenerational epigenetic inheritance; for the latter, behavioral polymorphism may be observable only in the animals that adopted such behavior as a direct response to their emotional states.

We set the GP-model using an individual-based approach of grazing personalities to explain distributional grazing patterns as observed in real herds of ruminants. Gueron et al. (47) presented a model that simulated distributional patterns of grazing herds based on a set of behavioral traits that were applied to individual agents. The authors applied a hierarchical decisionmaking algorithm, with rules-of-thumb establishing individual sensitiveness to crowding and attraction to conspecifics that applied respectively according to a repulsion zone (animals getting too close), an attraction zone (animals getting too far), and an intermediate buffer zone called neutral zone without response. Simulations were ran for a thousand timesteps of individuals that displayed different behavioral traits, such as walking speed and sense of orientation toward a targeted direction. Gueron's model showed differences in herds distribution and fragmentation as it happens in real herds. The model showed that integrating behavioral, physiological and individual decision-making traits could reproduce attributes of interacting "grazing" animals. From individual differences in grazing traits emerged collective behaviors of herd fragmentation and distributional patterns.

Gueron's mechanistic simulations were later tested and validated in a similar model using groups of sheep of variable number (two, four, six, or eight sheep) of either exclusively bold individuals or exclusively shy individuals (90). In support of individual-based approaches, the findings of these authors showed that the grazing patterns observed in interacting animals derive from individual behavioral traits and interaction rules; however, behavioral traits at the group level, such as the strength of social attraction, seems to control emergent decision-making mechanisms at collective level. A further step on the simulation of grazing herds was achieved by Spiegel et al. (52). These authors simulated grazing agents with divergent movement traits in variable contexts of vegetation patchiness. With some similarity to the simulations done by Gueron et al. (47), Spiegel et al. allocated divergent behavioral traits to groups of individuals "grazing" along increasing levels of vegetation patchiness, i.e., from low patchiness where pixels of nine different vegetation resources were uniformly mixed (patch size equals pixel size), through medium patchiness with randomly mixed pixels (midsize patches), to high patchiness where pixels of each resource are highly aggregated forming large and discrete vegetation patches. Comparing divergent personalities such as slow and fast explorers, these authors concluded that under low patchiness,

fast explorers would achieve higher foraging efficiency than slow explorers. This would be reversed, however, in grazing lands with discrete vegetation patches. Such results are consistent with real experiments in dairy cows (9). Spiegel's et al. (52) scenarios showed that seasonal dynamics of vegetation would alternatively benefit one or another grazing personality at different times of the year, highlighting the temporal variation of animal performance in support of the existence of herds with behavioral polymorphism. Finally, these authors pointed out the emergence of a complex group-level structure displaying collective grazing patterns with its own attributes (e.g., clustering of similar phenotypes, home range size, and structure), which changed along environmental gradients (e.g., vegetation patchiness). Interestingly, individual-based simulation models set behavioral rules and traits to be repeated over time [i.e., 1,000 and 2,000 time steps in Gueron et al. (47) and Spiegel et al. (52), respectively] and even across different contexts such as a gradient of vegetation patchiness (52). By allocating different values of behavioral traits to individuals that coexist and interact with each other, simulation models recreated real ruminant herds as mixed behaviors displayed consistently over time and across situations; therefore complying with conditions of grazing personalities used in the GP-model.

Individuals displaying divergent personalities comprise herds of ruminants, which are recognized and described as extended families that maintain cohesiveness and display unique identities (77). So, how can we characterize and compare the unique identities of ruminant herds (i.e., collective grazing personalities)?

One way to value behaviors at collective level is by using grazing traits measured in individuals while performing within the herd and by integrating these individual values into an averaged and/or weighted value. Additionally, the statistical dispersion of behavioral traits (e.g., coefficient of variance) within herds can be used for comparisons among herds. To our knowledge, there are not many studies with such examples. Partially, this might be because of the challenge of measuring grazing behaviors in all members of the herd while grazing as a herd. However, this might be also because of the lack of conceptualizing collective measurements of grazing behaviors, although, this has been proposed for other social living animals such as foraging insects (33). Sueur et al. (45) studied leadership within four Highland cattle groups (groups ranging from 8 to 21 individuals), but did not compare collective behaviors among groups. Rudin et al. (91) compared behavioral traits on two groups of over 500 Australian field crickets (Telogryllus oceanicus) growing under contrasting social environments of "silent" or "signing" individuals. Based on statistical differences in the mean value and standard error on distance traveled and speed measured in individuals, these authors concluded that the social environment significantly affected "the repeatable aspect of behavior (i.e., personality)," and that behavioral changes were heritable. However, Rudin et al. (91) measured traits in individuals pulled apart from the group rather than on individuals performing within a group. Several studies in the past compared distinct behaviors displayed in ruminants (9, 32, 39) and authors commonly conclude that "individuals" pertaining to a certain group behave differently to "individuals" pertaining to another group rather than assessing collective behaviors. We advocate for comparisons of different groups that display collective grazing personalities with their unique attributes.

Another way applicable to certain scenarios and for certain traits is by representing collective grazing behaviors with the behavior of one or a few animals of the herd. For example, Liao et al. (28) studied the grazing behavior of 20 herds of beef cattle in five different study sites of Southern Ethiopia. These authors derived collective behavioral traits such as daily allocation of time to travel, grazing, and resting by averaging the behavior monitored in three cows of each herd with GPS collars. Pastoral people herded their animals to daily foraging areas and brought them back to their camps for overnight. The herd was moved as a relatively compact group, thus, monitoring of any three cows of each herd would be sufficient to provide comparative information among herds. These authors reported different daily patterns of grazing behavior of monitored herds and provided insights on the different foraging habitats used by different herds with details on greenness, elevation and terrain slope.

Here, we mention attributes of ruminant herds and grazing traits relevant to collective grazing personalities. For example, home range was defined as the spatial expression of behaviors [that individual] animals perform to survive and reproduce (92) in a defined timescale (93). Thus, a certain number of individuals that comprise a herd occupies, needs or is allocated to an area with features of size, shape and biophysical conditions. Similarly, one could compute the area utilized by a herd, for example, on a daily basis. Fragmentation (47), cohesiveness (94) and assortativity (52, 95) are examples of group-level traits that in a future can be used to study collective and individual grazing attributes as well as the impact of grazing herds to ecosystem functions of grazing lands or to animal welfare. For example, Foister et al. (96) used phenotypic attributes of social interactions measured at group-level (i.e., social network properties) to predict consistent aggressive events (i.e., a personality dimension) among pigs reared as a group in pens. In beef cattle, the centrality of individuals as a specific collective measurement rather than the number of individuals determined the group composition and affected the social stability and stress of the herd (97).

ILLUSTRATIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Figure 1 presents a hypothetical example with individuals (left side) differing in the allelic variations of two grazing genes, which comprise a herd of ruminants (right side). Grazing personality pathways between an individual's genotype (I_x) and its displayed grazing personality (iGP_x) involve several intermediate and concatenated traits, which have a regulatory system of the gene expression. Following the GP-model, we described this example starting on the individual genotype (top left), going through stimuli that influence the expression of grazing genes (middle left) to yield in the phenotypic grazing personality of individual grazers (bottom left). As ruminants graze in herds, individual

genotypes were aggregated into the collective gene pool (top right), then, we discuss the modulation of the gene expression at group level (middle right) and finally describe the collective personality of the herd.

Grazing Personality Genotype

Individuals with allelic variations I₁ and I₂ display shy grazing personalities named iGP1 and iGP2, respectively. Individuals with shy personalities occupy relatively small home ranges, stay at relatively short distances from one another and prefer grazing flat terrain in low altitude habitats. As personalities are phenotypically plastic, under certain conditions, iGP1 and iGP₂ cannot be differentiated because of phenotypic overlap. Individuals with allelic variation I₃ are associated with animals displaying a bold grazing personality named iGP₃. Such herbivores show relatively large home ranges, they graze alone or at relatively large distance from one another and show grazing preference for steep slope terrain in high altitude habitats. Regardless of conditions, IGP₃ always display discernible grazing patterns from the previously described personalities. For example, iGP₁ and iGP₂ could be similar to bottom dweller cattle and, iGP3 to hill climber cattle, which display divergent indexes of landscape use and exhibit divergent grazing patterns (1). These cattle have genetic associations to gene markers overlaying the glutamate receptor 5 (GRM5) gene and the mastermind-like 3 (MAML3) gene (32). In the example, these genes are represented with hexagon and triangle shapes in Figure 1. For simplicity, only two of the five genes reported by Bailey et al. (32) are represented in the GP-model. Applying individual-based models, grazing patterns of herbivores can be simulated by using traits such as walking speed and sense of direction toward a preferred habitat and by applying variable responses to stimuli such as to vegetation patchiness, like variable walking acceleration or proximity to conspecifics (47, 52, 90). In our example, iGP₁ and iGP_2 have equal allelic variation as $I_1 GRM5[A] = I_2 GRM5[A]$. This genotype determines animals to have low concentrations of blood cortisol that makes them to display low walking speed and travel relatively short distances (39, 98, 99). For this example, we establish that GRM5[A] animals prefer grazing in flat terrains. Walking acceleration and attraction zone to conspecifics are also similar (iGP₁ \sim iGP₂) making them quickly accelerate toward conspecifics that get away and to do so at relatively short distances. These personalities differ in their allelic variation I₁ $MAML3[T] \neq I_2 MAML3[G]$, responsible of sense of orientation toward preferred areas. For example, MAML3[T] animals display a high sense of orientation and MAML3[G] express a low sense of orientation ($iGP_1 > iGP_2$). I₃ animals differ from both previous genotypes by having *GRM5*[G], which is phenotypically expressed with a high blood cortisol concentration. GRM5[G] animals display fast walking speed, and therefore I₃ animals travel relatively long distances. For this example, we establish that GRM5[G] animals prefer grazing in steep slope terrain in high altitudes. iGP3 walking acceleration is low and attraction zone to conspecifics is long, therefore, iGP₃ individuals accelerate slowly toward conspecifics that get away and do so when conspecifics are relatively far away. iGP3 has equal allelic variation to iGP2 animals for the sense of orientation trait $(I_2 MAML3[G] = I_3)$

MAML3[G]), therefore show low sense of orientation toward its preferred mountainous terrain.

In a herd of ruminants, allelic diversity is defined as the number of different alleles of a grazing gene present when accounting for all individuals. Allelic composition refers to which alleles in particular are represented. Finally, relative allelic frequency refers to the proportion of each allelic variant of grazing genes. While these two previous attributes do not necessarily depend of the number of members but on their genotype, the latter, depends on combining the genotype of members and their proportional representation. Finally, the total size of the herd, at equal proportion of individual grazing personalities, affects the collective personality (not considered in this example). In our example in Figure 1, two grazing genes, GRM5 and MAML3, are shown in three grazing personalities I_1 , I_2 , and I_3 that comprise herd one (H_1). Each gene has two variants. Therefore, the allelic diversity for either of these genes in H₁ is two. The allelic composition of *GRM5* is Adenine and Guanine, while for MAML3 is Thymine and Guanine. Note that the total existing allelic variation for these genes is much larger than in our example; Bailey et al. (32) reported four possible nucleobases (adenine, cytosine, thymine and guanine) at six different positions in GRM5, and the nucleobases thymine and guanine for MAML3. In Figure 1, we did not specify the number of individuals of each genotype nor total number of individuals comprising the herd. However, we represented the relative allelic frequency of grazing genes GRM5 and MAML3 establishing equal number of individuals (n = 10) of each genotype. For example:

If I₁ n = 10; I₂ n = 10; I₃ n = 10, then the relative allelic frequency in H₁ would be: *GRM5* x2[A]: 1x[G]; *MAML3* x1[T]: x2[G].

Personality Plasticity

Despite the genetic determination of cortisol concentrations in blood in individual animals, it has also been revealed that its expression is affected by stimuli, such as during experiments of social isolation [see Goerlich et al. (72) in section The Effect of Personality Plasticity and Regulatory Systems on Grazing Patterns]. For example, the use of low-stress herding techniques might reduce cortisol concentration in the blood of ruminants and foster the use of targeted areas because of emotional state of lower predation risk as in comparison with animals under "traditional" herding techniques (100). In our example, reduction of the concentrantion of cortisol in blood is established to reduce walking speed and also daily traveled distance. We represented personality plasticity on the phenotype of the hypothetical individuals. In Figure 1, iGP1 and iGP2 overlap each other and under certain conditions it will not be possible to distinguish them by simple phenotypic observation. On the other end, iGP3 is separated toward the right of the GP-model and representing therefore that differences in grazing personalities are phenotypically observable.

Grazing Personality Phenotype

The GP-model as shown in **Figure 1** represents genetically polymorphic individuals (i.e., individuals with different alleles) that comprise the collective gene pool and relative allelic

frequency of grazing genes of a herd. Phenotypically, in such a herd coexist individuals that display distinct grazing personalities. iGP1 and iGP2 individual display slow walking speed and travel short distances. As soon as conspecifics move away a relatively short distance, these individuals will accelerate and reduce distance to conspecifics. These grazing personalities prefer flat and low altitude habitat, where they graze more intensively and spend more time than on steep slopes located in high altitude habitats. iGP1 individuals will return quicker and more often to vegetation patches of their preferred habitat than iGP₂, because of the lower sense of orientation of the latter. Therefore, iGP1 tends to utilize its preferred habitat for a longer time. Herds comprised purely of either iGP1 or iGP2 individuals are less fragmented, move slowly and have smaller home ranges [slow-explorer sensu (52)]. In grazing lands where patches of vegetation are small and homogeneously distributed, these two personalities may display similar grazing patterns (i.e., phenotypically similar) because the sense of orientation would not make a difference in distribution where non-conspicuous patches of vegetation exist. In grazing lands where significantly big patches of vegetation are heterogeneously distributed, iGP1 will utilize more intensively its preferred habitat, taking advantage of its better sense of orientation in comparison with iGP₂ individuals (i.e., phenotypically dissimilar). Herds comprised purely of iGP₃ individuals are highly fragmented, move faster, and individuals graze at greater distances from one another. iGP3 individuals graze alone or in relatively small groups that occupy larger home ranges than iGP₁ or iGP₂ individuals. iGP3 individuals prefer steep slope areas in high altitude habitats and have low sense of orientation. As per their low sense of orientation, these animals will show similar grazing patterns in homogeneous and heterogeneous grazing lands. However, iGP3 are "always" phenotypically dissimilar to the other grazing personalities.

Implications

The GP-model proposes a novel understanding of social foragers: grazing is a social activity performed by herds of interacting ruminants that display collective grazing personalities with their own unique attributes. Individuals that display distinct grazing personalities comprise behavioral polymorphic herds of ruminants. Grazing personalities of ruminants are controlled by their genetic composition and are modulated by their epigenetic states in response to the social herd environment, biophysical environment and the emotional state. Adaptive and inheritable epigenetic states confers plasticity to grazing personalities at individual and collective levels.

Selecting for Grazing Personality

Farmers, ranch managers and breeders may adopt the concept of grazing personalities and select for animals according to the desired and needed distinctive behaviors. By so doing, we forecast a genetic gain on herds to address major challenges faced by the pastoral livestock production industry. The identification of grazing personality genotypes and the development of the corresponding genetic markers can be used to determine the grazing personality composition of herds and to further assist in applying goal-oriented selection of animals using a relatively simple and inexpensive genetic test such as single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) (101, 102).

Enhancing the Expression of Grazing Personalities

The GP-model establishes that grazing personalities of ruminants and other large herbivores are plastically displayed in response to stimuli (e.g., social herd environment, biophysical environment, and animals' emotional states). Such responses might be adopted and shown for the entire lifespan of animals and, can be farther transferred to their progeny through transgenerational epigenetic inheritance. This is particularly relevant for experiences occurred early in life. Exposing grazing ruminants and other large herbivores to the biophysical environmental conditions where they are targeted to perform may trigger epigenetic mechanisms and regulatory systems that foster the expression of grazing genes toward desired behaviors of individual grazers and herds. As per the GP-model, the social context in which an animal and its predecessor grow (i.e., the social herd environment) modulates the expression of grazing genes and therefore the displayed grazing personalities. For example, social environments of isolation, crowdedness, threats and fearfulness, as well as the aggressiveness of herds, affect the emotional states and modulates the individual and collective grazing behaviors and associated decision-making. Similarly, the biophysical environment might shape the expression of grazing genes.

Influencing Grazing Personalities Through Emotions

Grazing management practices such as fasting, supplementation or herding techniques alter animal internal states (e.g., hunger, emotions), influence animal decision-making and ultimately, modify their grazing patterns.

Designing Behavior-Customized Herds

The composition and relative frequency of grazing personalities of domesticated ruminant herds has been manipulated and shaped for millennia to produce docile and manageable individuals and herds suitable for living alongside and under management of humans. The GP-model proposes to apply behavioral-based selection for the design of ruminant herds matching the spatial diversity and the temporal variety of forages, foodscapes and landscapes. Pastoral livestock production systems are heterogeneous in space and time. Despite efforts to create "simple and homogeneous" systems, individualities and collective attributes of grazing patterns emerge. Herds are comprised of a mix of individuals displaying distinctive grazing personalities. Therefore, grazing patterns of ruminant herds can be manipulated through designing and deciding the relative frequency of individual grazing personalities along with the adoption of grazing management practices that foster the desired behaviors.

CONCLUSIONS

The GP-model proposes that genetic effects (allele diversity, composition and relative frequency) and epigenetic modulation (via regulatory systems that modulate the gene expression)

conditions grazing behaviors of ruminants and other large herbivores, so that, animals display grazing personalities at individual and collective levels. The interactions with the social herd environment and the biophysical environment shape the phenotypic grazing personalities of individuals. Collective grazing personalities emerge from the social interaction of individuals and their grazing personalities. The social herd environment mediates between the individual and the collective grazing personalities. This is because interacting individuals constitute the herd and create its environment. In turn, the social herd environment influences both, the grazing personality of individuals and the grazing personality of the herd.

The allelic composition and the relative frequency of grazing genes characterize the collective genotypic of grazing personalities and, therefore, there is the opportunity to develop breeding programs aiming to influence grazing patterns of ruminant herds applying behavioral selection. Because of the genetic basis of grazing behavior, animal selection maybe a useful tool to improve grazing distribution of habitat-heterogeneous livestock systems.

The displayed grazing personality of herds of ruminants and other large herbivores results from their genome and the personality plasticity. Grazing management, herding techniques, feeding strategies, and rearing practices that affect animal welfare and the gene expression of grazing traits have the potential to foster desirable grazing personalities. Managers that account for the variety of individual grazing personalities naturally displayed in ruminants, and that manipulate its proportion, can enhance ecosystem services and improve animal welfare while maintaining the productivity of livestock production systems.

The grazing personality model presented here further develops our understanding of the distribution of ruminants and large herbivores by integrating discoveries from the past few decades into models of grazing distribution and behavior (29, 30). The GP-model was inspired from and supported with scientific

REFERENCES

- Bailey DW, Keil MR, Rittenhouse LR. Research observation: daily movement patterns of hill climbing and bottom dwelling cows. *Rangel Ecol Manage*. (2004) 57:20–8. doi: 10.2111/1551-5028(2004)057[0020:RODMPO]2.0.CO;2
- Howery LD, Provenza FD, Banner RE, Scott CB. Differences in home range and habitat use among individuals in a cattle herd. *Appl Animal Behav Sci.* (1996) 49:305–20. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(96)01059-3
- Snowder GD, Walker JW, Launchbaugh KL, van Vleck LD. Genetic and phenotypic parameters for dietary selection of mountain big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata Nutt. Ssp. vaseyana [Rydb] beetle) in rambouillet sheep. J Animal Sci. (2001) 79:486–92. doi: 10.2527/2001.792486x
- Winder JA, Walker DA, Bailey CC. Genetic aspects of diet selection in the chihuahuan desert. J Range Manage. (1995) 48:549–53. doi: 10.2307/40 03068
- Gregorini P, Tamminga S, Gunter SA. REVIEW: behavior and daily grazing patterns of cattle. *Profess Animal Sci.* (2006) 22:201–9. doi: 10.15232/S1080-7446(15)31095-0
- Gregorini P. Estado interno. estímulos que motivan el consumo y ciertas conductas ingestivas de rumiantes en pastoreo. In: Cangiano CA and Brizuela MA, editors. *Produccion Animal en Pastoreo*. Buenos Aires: Ediciones INTA. (2011). p. 513–65.

works conducted with a diverse range of taxa from the animal kingdom, namely bees, birds, marine species, large herbivores, ruminants, and other ungulates. Future research on grazing personalities at the individual and collective levels may confirm the hypotheses posed in the "grazing personality model" and thus contribute to a better understanding of livestock production systems, grassland science and animal behavior.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CM wrote the manuscript. CM, PG, TM, and JH made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

CM was funded with a Lincoln University Ph.D. scholarship from the Lincoln University Foundation and with research funding from the New Zealand Hereford Association (NZHA) and the Miss E. L. Hellaby Indigenous Grasslands Research Trust.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Tihana Vujinović is greatly thanked for listening and commenting uncountable times to an evolving GP-model. Matthew R. Beck, Robyn Dynes, and Tihana Vujinović are acknowledged for helpful comments on early versions of this script. A sincere thank you to Graham Barrell for diligent revisions to the author's proof. We wish to thank both reviewers for constructive comments on the manuscript. Acknowledgments go to farmers, farm managers, colleagues, and peers for their enthusiastic questions about grazing personalities and for sharing their anecdotes and experiences with sentient ruminants.

- 7. Briffa M, Weiss A. Animal personality. Curr Biol. (2010) 20:R912-4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.09.019
- Budaev SV. The dimensions of personality in humans and other animals: a comparative and evolutionary perspective. *Cogn Sci ePrint Arch.* (2000) 5475:1–26. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.20870.27208
- Gregorini P, Waghorn GC, Kuhn-Sherlock B, Romera AJ, Macdonald KA. Short communication: grazing pattern of dairy cows that were selected for divergent residual feed intake as calves. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:6486– 91. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9614
- Sih A, Bell A, Johnson JC. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2004) 19:372– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009
- Sant'Anna AC, Baldi F, Valente TS, Albuquerque LG, Menezes LM, Boligon AA, et al. Genetic associations between temperament and performance traits in Nellore beef cattle. *J Animal Breed Gene.* (2015) 132:42– 50. doi: 10.1111/jbg.12117
- Smith BR, Blumstein DT. Fitness consequences of personality: a metaanalysis. *Behav Ecol.* (2008) 19:448–55. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arm144
- Moreno García CA, Schellberg J, Ewert F, Brüser K, Canales-Prati P, Linstädter A, et al. Response of community-aggregated plant functional traits along grazing gradients: insights from African semi-arid grasslands. *Appl Vegetat Sci.* (2014) 17:470–81. doi: 10.1111/avsc.12092

- Liu C, Song X, Wang L, Wang D, Zhou X, Liu J, et al. Effects of grazing on soil nitrogen spatial heterogeneity depend on herbivore assemblage and pre-grazing plant diversity. J Appl Ecol. (2016) 53:242– 50. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.12537
- Kinnebrew E, Champlin LK, Neill C. Interactions between cattle grazing, plant diversity, and soil nitrogen in a northeastern U.S. *coastal grassland*. *Appl Vegetat Sci.* (2019) 22:317–25. doi: 10.1111/avsc.12422
- Coppens CM, de Boer SF, Koolhaas JM. Coping styles and behavioural flexibility: towards underlying mechanisms. *Philo Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2010) 365:4021–8. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0217
- 17. Budaev SV. How many dimensions are needed to describe temperament in animals: a factor reanalysis of two data sets. *Int J Comparat Psychol.* (1998) 11:17–29.
- Finkemeier M-A, Langbein J, Puppe B. Personality research in mammalian farm animals: concepts, measures, and relationship to welfare. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:15. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00131
- Réale D, Reader SM, Sol D, McDougall PT, Dingemanse NJ. Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biol Rev.* (2007) 82:291– 318. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00010.x
- Carere C, Maestripieri D. Animal personalities: who cares and why? In: Carere C, Maestripieri D, editors. *Animal Personalities: Behavior, Physiology, and Evolution.* Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press. (2013). p. 1–9. doi: 10.7208/chicago/9780226922065.003.0001
- Gosling SD, John OP. Personality dimensions in nonhuman animals: a cross-species review. *Curr Direct Psychol Sci.* (1999) 8:69–75. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00017
- 22. Gosling SD. From mice to men: what can we learn about personality from animal research? *Psychol Bull.* (2001) 127:45–86. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.45
- 23. Maderspacher F. Reproductive strategies: how big is your love? *Curr Biol.* (2010) 20:R925–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.10.004
- Biro PA, Post JR. Rapid depletion of genotypes with fast growth and bold personality traits from harvested fish populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:2919–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0708159105
- 25. Abrahms B, Seidel DP, Dougherty E, Hazen EL, Bograd SJ, Wilson AM, et al. Suite of simple metrics reveals common movement syndromes across vertebrate taxa. *Movement Ecol.* (2017) 5:12. doi: 10.1186/s40462-017-0104-2
- Bastille-Rousseau G, Douglas-Hamilton I, Blake S, Northrup JM, Wittemyer G. Applying network theory to animal movements to identify properties of landscape space use. *Ecol Appl.* (2018) 28:854–64. doi: 10.1002/eap.1697
- Brodie S, Lédée EJI, Heupel MR, Babcock RC, Campbell HA, Gledhill DC, et al. Continental-scale animal tracking reveals functional movement classes across marine taxa. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:3717. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21988-5
- Liao C, Clark PE, Shibia M, DeGloria SD. Spatiotemporal dynamics of cattle behavior and resource selection patterns on East African rangelands: evidence from GPS-tracking. *Int J Geograph Infor Sci.* (2018) 32:1523– 40. doi: 10.1080/13658816.2018.1424856
- Senft RL, Coughenour MB, Bailey DW, Rittenhouse LR, Sala OE, Swift DM. Large herbivore foraging and ecological hierarchies. Landscape ecology can enhance traditional foraging theory. *BioScience*. (1987) 37:789– 99. doi: 10.2307/1310545
- Bailey DW, Gross JE, Laca EA, Rittenhouse LR, Coughenour MB, Swift DM, et al. Mechanisms that result in large herbivore grazing distribution patterns. *J Range Manage*. (1996) 49:386–400. doi: 10.2307/4002919
- 31. Dingemanse NJ, Réale D. What is the evidence that natural selection maintains variation in animal personalities?, In: Animal Personalities: Behavior, Physiology, and Evolution. University of Chicago Press. (2013) p. 201–220. Available online at: https://chicago.universitypressscholarship. com/view/10.7208/chicago/9780226922065.001.0001/upso-9780226922058chapter-08 (accessed May 1, 2019).
- Bailey DW, Lunt S, Lipka A, Thomas MG, Medrano JF, Cánovas A, et al. Genetic influences on cattle grazing distribution: association of genetic markers with terrain use in cattle. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2015) 68:142– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.rama.2015.02.001
- Bengston SE, Jandt JM. The development of collective personality: the ontogenetic drivers of behavioral variation across groups. *Front Ecol Evol.* (2014) 2:13. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2014.00081

- Koolhaas JM, van Reenen CG. Animal behavior and well-being symposium: interaction between coping style/personality, stress, and welfare: Relevance for domestic farm animals. J Anim Sci. (2016) 94:2284–96. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-0125
- Robinson GE. Integrative animal behaviour and sociogenomics. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (1999) 14:202–5. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(98)01536-5
- Howery LD, Provenza FD, Banner RE, Scott CB. Social and environmental factors influence cattle distribution on rangeland. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1998) 55:231–44. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(97)00054-3
- Bailey DW, Kress DD, Anderson DC, Boss DL, Miller ET. Relationship between terrain use and performance of beef cows grazing foothill rangeland. *J Anim Sci.* (2001) 79:1883–91. doi: 10.2527/2001.7971883x
- Šárová R, Špinka M, Panamá JLA, Šimeček P. Graded leadership by dominant animals in a herd of female beef cattle on pasture. *Anim Behav.* (2010) 79:1037–45. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.01.019
- Wesley RL, Cibils AF, Mulliniks JT, Pollak ER, Petersen MK, Fredrickson EL. An assessment of behavioural syndromes in rangeland-raised beef cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 139:183–94. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.04.005
- Pierce CF, Dias MM, Bailey DW, Medrano JF, Canovas A, Speidel SE, et al. SNP discovery for QTL associated with grazing distribution in Angus cattle using RNA-Seq. In: Sartin JL, Caton JS, editor. ASAS-CSAS Annual Meeting & Trade Show Animal Science and Technology: Ensuring Food Security. Baltimore, MD (2017). p. 85–6. doi: 10.2527/asasann.2017.173
- Pierce CF, Bailey DW, Medrano J, Cánovas A, Speidel SE, Coleman S, et al. Validation of quantitative trait loci associated with grazing distribution traits in beef cattle using bayes C. J Anim Sci. (2018) 96:105. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky404.232
- Pierce CF, Speidel SE, Coleman SJ, Enns RM, Bailey DW, Medrano JF, et al. Genome-wide association studies of beef cow terrain-use traits using Bayesian multiple-SNP regression. *Livestock Sci.* (2020) 232:103900. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2019.103900
- Howery LD, Bailey DW. Nature and Nurture's Influence on Cattle Distribution. The University of Arizona; College of Agriculture & Life Sciences. Available online at: https://extension.arizona.edu/pubs/naturenurture%E2%80%99s-influence-cattle-distribution (accessed February 10, 2020).
- 44. Hirata M, Arimoto C. Novel object response in beef cattle grazing a pasture as a group. *Behav Proc.* (2018) 157:315–9. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2018.07.019
- Sueur C, Kuntz C, Debergue E, Keller B, Robic F, Siegwalt-Baudin F, et al. Leadership linked to group composition in Highland cattle (Bos taurus): Implications for livestock management. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 198:9– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.09.014
- Koolhaas JM, de Boer SF, Coppens CM, Buwalda B. Neuroendocrinology of coping styles: towards understanding the biology of individual variation. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2010) 31:307–21. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2010. 04.001
- Gueron S, Levin SA, Rubenstein DI. The dynamics of herds: from individuals to aggregations. J Theor Biol. (1996) 182:85–98. doi: 10.1006/jtbi.1996.0144
- Sibbald AM, Erhard HW, McLeod JE, Hooper RJ. Individual personality and the spatial distribution of groups of grazing animals: an example with sheep. *Behav Proc.* (2009) 82:319–26. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2009.07.011
- Michelena P, Sibbald AM, Erhard HW, McLeod JE. Effects of group size and personality on social foraging: the distribution of sheep across patches. *Behav Ecol.* (2009) 20:145–52. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arn126
- Bergvall U, Schäpers A, Kjellander P, Weiss A. Personality and foraging decisions in fallow deer, Dama dama. *Anim Behav.* (2011) 81:101– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.09.018
- Wolf M, van Doorn SG, Leimar O, Weissing FJ. Life-history trade-offs favour the evolution of animal personalities. *Nature*. (2007) 447:581– 4. doi: 10.1038/nature05835
- Spiegel O, Leu ST, Bull CM, Sih A. What's your move? Movement as a link between personality and spatial dynamics in animal populations. *Ecol Lett.* (2017) 20:3–18. doi: 10.1111/ele.12708
- van Oers K, Sinn DL. Quantitative and molecular genetics of animal personality. In: Carere C, Maestripieri D, editors. *Animal Personalities: Behavior, Physiology, and Evolution*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press (2013). p. 149–200.

- Gregorini P, Villalba JJ, Chilibroste P, Provenza FD. Grazing management: setting the table, designing the menu and influencing the diner. *Animal Product Sci.* (2017) 57:1248–68. doi: 10.1071/AN16637
- Dochtermann NA, Schwab T, Sih A. The contribution of additive genetic variation to personality variation: heritability of personality. *Proc R Soc B*. (2015) 282:1–5. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.2201
- van Oers K, Drent PJ, de Jong G, van Noordwijk AJ. Additive and nonadditive genetic variation in avian personality traits. *Heredity*. (2004) 93:496–503. doi: 10.1038/sj.hdy.6800530
- Rushton JP, Bons TA, Hur Y-M. The genetics and evolution of the general factor of personality. J Res Person. (2008) 42:1173–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2008.03.002
- Kern EMA, Robinson D, Gass E, Godwin J, Langerhans RB. Correlated evolution of personality, morphology and performance. *Anim Behav.* (2016) 117:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.04.007
- Poissant J, Réale D, Martin JGA, Festa-Bianchet M, Coltman DW. A quantitative trait locus analysis of personality in wild bighorn sheep. *Ecol Evol.* (2013) 3:474–81. doi: 10.1002/ece3.468
- Davis S, Macdonald K, Waghorn G, Spelman R. Residual feed intake of lactating Holstein-Friesian cows predicted from high-density genotypes and phenotyping of growing heifers. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:1436– 45. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7205
- Dingemanse NJ, Araya-Ajoy YG. Interacting personalities: behavioural ecology meets quantitative genetics. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2015) 30:88– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2014.12.002
- Kruuk LEB, Slate J, Wilson AJ. New answers for old questions: the evolutionary quantitative genetics of wild animal populations. *Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* (2008) 39:525–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707. 173542
- Rodenburg TB. The role of genes, epigenetics and ontogeny in behavioural development. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2014) 157:8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2014.06.002
- 64. Van Moorter B, Gaillard J-M, Hewison AJM, Said S, Coulon A, Delorme D, et al. Evidence for exploration behaviour in young roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) prior to dispersal. *Ethol Ecol Evol.* (2008) 20:1– 15. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2008.9522539
- Gil D. Golden eggs: maternal manipulation of offspring phenotype by egg androgen in birds. Ardeola. (2003) 2:281–94.
- 66. Candemir E, Post A, Dischinger US, Palme R, Slattery DA, O'Leary A, et al. Limited effects of early life manipulations on sex-specific gene expression and behavior in adulthood. *Behav Brain Res.* (2019) 369:111927. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019.111927
- Richards EJ. Inherited epigenetic variation—revisiting soft inheritance. Nat Rev Genet. (2006) 7:395–401. doi: 10.1038/nrg1834
- Jensen P. Behaviour epigenetics—the connection between environment, stress and welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2014) 157:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2014.02.009
- 69. Boissy A, Erhard HW. how studying interactions between animal emotions, cognition, and personality can contribute to improve farm animal welfare. In: Grandin T, Deesing M, editors. *Genetics and the Behavior of Domestic Animals*. Academic Press; Elsevier (2014). p. 81-113. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394586-0.00003-2
- Ginane C, Bonnet M, Baumont R, Revell DK. Feeding behaviour in ruminants: a consequence of interactions between a reward system and the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:247– 60. doi: 10.1071/AN14481
- Mangel M, Clark CW. Towards a unified foraging theory. *Ecology*. (1986) 1127–38. doi: 10.2307/1938669
- Goerlich VC, Nätt D, Elfwing M, Macdonald B, Jensen P. Transgenerational effects of early experience on behavioral, hormonal and gene expression responses to acute stress in the precocial chicken. *Hormones Behav.* (2012) 61:711–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.03.006
- Montiglio P-O, Dammhahn M, Dubuc Messier G, Réale D. The pace-of-life syndrome revisited: the role of ecological conditions and natural history on the slow-fast continuum. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2018) 72:116. doi: 10.1007/s00265-018-2526-2
- 74. Macdonald KA, Pryce JE, Spelman RJ, Davis SR, Wales WJ, Waghorn GC, et al. Holstein-Friesian calves selected for divergence in residual

feed intake during growth exhibited significant but reduced residual feed intake divergence in their first lactation. *J Dairy Sci.* (2014) 97:1427–35. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7227

- Graunke KL, Nürnberg G, Repsilber D, Puppe B, Langbein J. Describing temperament in an ungulate: a multidimensional approach. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074579
- 76. Vanwagoner HC, Bailey DW, Kress DD, Anderson DC, Kathleen CD. Differences among beef sire breeds and relationships between terrain use and performance when daughters graze foothill rangelands as cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2006) 97:105–21. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.07.005
- 77. Provenza FD. Twenty-five years of paradox in plant-herbivore interactions and sustainable grazing management. *Rangelands*. (2003) 25:4–15. doi: 10.2458/azu_rangelands_v25i6_provenza
- Jensen P, Wright D. Behavioral genetics and animal domestication. In: Grandin T, Deesing M, editor. *Genetics and the Behavior* of Domestic Animals. Academic Press; Elsevier (2014). p. 41–79. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394586-0.00002-0
- Lampert KP, Schmidt C, Fischer P, Volff J-N, Hoffmann C, Muck J, et al. Determination of onset of sexual maturation and mating behavior by melanocortin receptor 4 polymorphisms. *Curr Biol.* (2010) 20:1729– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.08.029
- Pruitt JN, Goodnight CJ. Site-specific group selection drives locally adapted group compositions. *Nature*. (2014) 514:359–62. doi: 10.1038/nature13811
- Bailey DW, Van Wagoner HC, Weinmeister R. Individual animal selection has the potential to improve uniformity of grazing on foothill Rangeland. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2006) 59:351–8. doi: 10.2111/04-165R2.1
- Barnard CJ, Sibly RM. Producers and scroungers: A general model and its application to captive flocks of house sparrows. *Anim Behav.* (1981) 29:543–50. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(81)80117-0
- Dall SRX, Houston AI, McNamara JM. The behavioural ecology of personality: consistent individual differences from an adaptive perspective. *Ecol Lett.* (2004) 7:734–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00618.x
- Stutz RS, Bergvall UA, Leimar O, Tuomi J, Rautio P. Cohesiveness reduces foraging efficiency in a social herbivore. *Anim Behav.* (2018) 135:57– 68. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.11.004
- Vital C, Martins EP. Socially-central zebrafish influence group behavior more than those on the social periphery. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055503.
- Lusseau D, Newman MEJ. Identifying the role that animals play in their social networks. Proc R Soc London Series B. (2004) 271:S477– 81. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2004.0225
- Stephenson MB, Bailey DW, Jensen D. Association patterns of visuallyobserved cattle on Montana, USA foothill rangelands. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 178:7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.02.007
- Stephenson MB, Bailey DW. Do movement patterns of GPS-tracked cattle on extensive rangelands suggest independence among individuals? *Agriculture*. (2017) 7:58. doi: 10.3390/agriculture7070058
- Gross MR. Alternative reproductive strategies and tactics: diversity within sexes. *Trends Ecol Evol*. (1996) 11:92–8. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(96)81050-0
- Michelena P, Jeanson R, Deneubourg J-L, Sibbald AM. Personality and collective decision-making in foraging herbivores. *Proc R Soc B*. (2010) 277:1093–9. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.1926
- Rudin FS, Simmons LW, Tomkins JL. Social cues affect quantitative genetic variation and covariation in animal personality traits. *Evolution*. (2019) 73:540–53. doi: 10.1111/evo.13661
- Burt WH. Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. J Mammal. (1943) 24:346. doi: 10.2307/1374834
- Börger L, Dalziel BD, Fryxell JM. Are there general mechanisms of animal home range behaviour? A review and prospects for future research. *Ecol Lett.* (2008) 11:637–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01182.x
- Vimalajeewa D, Balasubramaniam S, O'Brien B, Kulatunga C, Berry DP. Leveraging social network analysis for characterizing cohesion of human-managed animals. *IEEE Transact Comput Soc Syst.* (2019) 6:323– 37. doi: 10.1109/TCSS.2019.2902456
- 95. BoylNK, Mlynski DT, James R, Brent LJN, Croft DP. The social network structure of a dynamic group of dairy cows: from individual to group level patterns. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 174:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.11.016

- Foister S, Doeschl-Wilson A, Roehe R, Arnott G, Boyle L, Turner S. Social network properties predict chronic aggression in commercial pig systems. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:18. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0205122
- Sosa SO, Pel,é M, Debergue É, Kuntz C, Keller B, Robic F, et al. (2019). Impact of group management and transfer on individual sociality in highland cattle (*Bos taurus*). *Front Vet Sci.* 6:16. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019. 00183
- Guenther A, Groothuis AGG, Krüger O, Goerlich-Jansson VC. Cortisol during adolescence organises personality traits and behavioural syndromes. *Hormones Behav.* (2018) 103:129–39. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2018. 06.010
- 99. Stöwe M, Rosivall B, Drent PJ, Möstl E. Selection for fast and slow exploration affects baseline and stress-induced corticosterone excretion in Great tit nestlings, Parus major. *Hormones Behav.* (2010) 58:864– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.08.011
- 100. Bailey DW, Van Wagoner HC, Weinmeister R, Jensen D. Evaluation of low-stress herding and supplement placement for managing cattle grazing in Riparian and upland areas. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2008) 61:26– 37. doi: 10.2111/06-130.1

- 101. Zhu H. Single-strconformational polymorphism analysis. Basic principles routine practice. In: Fennell JP, Baker AH, editors. *Hypertension: Methods Protocols. Methods In Molecular Medicine*. Vol. 108. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2005). p. 149–58.
- 102. Gasser RB, Hu M, Chilton NB, Campbell BE, Jex AJ, Otranto D, et al. Single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) for the analysis of genetic variation. *Nat Protoc.* (2006) 1:3121–8. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.485

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Moreno García, Maxwell, Hickford and Gregorini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Time of Grain Supplementation and Social Dominance Modify Feeding Behavior of Heifers in Rotational Grazing Systems

Gabriela Schenato Bica^{*†}, Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho^{*}, Dayane Lemos Teixeira[†], Karolini Tenffen de Sousa and Maria José Hötzel

Laboratório de Etologia Aplicada, Departamento de Zootecnia e Desenvolvimento Rural, Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Brazil

Social hierarchy affects the access of animals to feed resources. On daily rotational pasture systems, supplementation time may influence feeding behavior. This trial was designed to test the effect of grain delivery time on the feeding behavior of heifers. Heifers divided into two groups according to breed (n = 15 Braford and n = 19 Jersey) were tested in a crossover design with two treatments: INITIAL-supplement at 8 am (entry time to a fresh paddock), and MIDDLE-supplement at 4 pm (middle time of paddock use). Animals entered a new paddock every morning, and grain supplement at 2 kg/animal/day was offered at the fence line (1 m/animal). Then, ingestive and other behaviors were registered by direct visual observation through scan sampling at 2-min intervals for 1 h after grain supply. Agonistic interactions were recorded continuously (instigator-victim) to build a social matrix whereby each heifer was defined as dominant, intermediate, or subordinate. Weekly pasture samples were collected according to the order that animals left the feeding area, using the hand-plucking technique, to determine crude protein and fiber content. Heifers spent more time grazing on the INITIAL treatment (p < 0.0001) but exhibited more behaviors on the MIDDLE treatment (p < 0.0001). Dominant heifers spent more time eating grain (p = 0.0008), whereas subordinate heifers spent more time grazing along the paddock (p = 0.0067), but not along the fence (p = 0.0008). The crude protein content of pasture samples was higher for the INITIAL treatment (p < 0.0001). Behavioral interaction occurred with respect to the order of leaving the feeding area, social rank, and crude protein consumed (p =0.04). Subordinate heifers consistently grazed more and ate less grain supplement than dominant and intermediate heifers. However, when grain supplement was offered at the time animals entered the paddock, more grazing activity took place during supplement feeding, and subordinate heifers could select a high-protein diet. In the INITIAL treatment, this means that subordinate animals could benefit from the better pasture available, keeping a distance from dominant heifers, reducing agonistic interactions and likely improving their welfare.

Keywords: social hierarchy, cattle, resources, agonistic interactions, subordinate

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marcia Endres, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

Reviewed by:

Andrew David Fisher, The University of Melbourne, Australia Tamara Alejandra Tadich, University of Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Gabriela Schenato Bica bica@ufpr.br Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho pinheiro.machado@ufsc.br

[†]Present address:

Gabriela Schenato Bica, Câmara de Agroecologia, Universidade Federal do Paraná Setor Litoral, Matinhos, Brazil Dayane Lemos Teixeira, Instituto de Ciencias Agronómicas y Veterinarias, Universidad de O'Higgins, Campus Colchagua, San Fernando, Chile

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 05 October 2019 Accepted: 24 January 2020 Published: 06 March 2020

Citation:

Bica GS, Pinheiro Machado Filho LC, Teixeira DL, de Sousa KT and Hötzel MJ (2020) Time of Grain Supplementation and Social Dominance Modify Feeding Behavior of Heifers in Rotational Grazing Systems. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:61. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00061

INTRODUCTION

Rotational grazing systems, as proposed by Andre Voisin, allow better use of the pasture, ensuring sufficient interval between two successive shearings for vigorous regrowth and ensuring that animals will forage at the optimal level (1). Despite the benefits of rotational grazing, farmers may need to offer feed supplements to the animals as a nutritional increment in times of pasture scarcity or as part of the diet of highly productive animals.

Supplementation at specific times of the day may supply the ruminant animal with an appropriate boost in energy and protein substrates, but may also alter grazing patterns (2, 3). Despite widespread use of dietary supplements, technical recommendations to farmers target a regular daily supply of feed to maximize weight gain or increase milk production. However, these recommendations mainly consider such aspects as animal category, nutritional requirements, stage of pastures, and cost of supplements, without taking into consideration the social behavior of the animals and the consequences of such behavior with respect to resource access. Cattle are social animals and organize themselves into hierarchies according to their willingness and ability to fight for resources (4). Social hierarchy affects individual access to resources, and dominant animals are known to exert pre-eminence over resources (4-6), especially when resources are limited (7). Social hierarchy thus affects drinking (8) and feeding behavior (9, 10).

Grazing behavior may also be related to diurnal changes in food quality (11). The circadian rhythm of forage increases soluble sugar concentrations during the day, which may explain why herbivores show a strong preference for afternoon, rather than morning, harvested forage (12). When instantaneous stocking rate is increased, more competition arises for food, and the forage availability per animal and animals' selectivity are reduced. In rotationally grazed paddocks, sward structure changes continually as grazing proceeds along the day, and as a result, changes in quantity and quality associated with the depletion of the sward have a detrimental effect on the bite mass and the intake rate (13). In this scenario, subordinate animals may have their access to feed limited, compromising their welfare.

Therefore, if dominant animals have priority over the use of resources, we raised to question how subordinate animals would behave under such conditions. We further asked what strategies might be used by both animals and farmers to mitigate the negative effects of social dominance to subordinate animals. In a rotational grazing system, we know that animals enter a new paddock every morning. Therefore, based on the animals' physiology, it would be logical to offer feed supplement in the late afternoon when pasture availability is decreased, and the animals are more motivated to obtain feed. However, we hypothesized that subordinate animals could graze the best patches, while dominant animals would eat feed supplement as long as it is offered when animals enter the new paddock. Thus, this study was designed to compare the effect of different delivery times (morning × afternoon) of grain supplement on the feeding behavior of heifers managed in a rotational grazing system.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted between June and August of 2016 (winter) at the Voisin's Rational Grazing (VRG) Unit of the Federal University of Santa Catarina Experimental Farm of Ressacada, Florianópolis, Brazil ($17^{\circ}40'25''$ S; $48^{\circ}32'30''$ W). The VRG unit is a 24-ha pasture divided into 86 paddocks averaging 2,500 m² and mainly composed of plants of the genus *Axonopus, Paspalum, Brachiaria, Pennisetum, Melinus, Setaria, Cynodon, Panicum, Hemarthria, Desmodium, Trifolium, Lotus, Arachis, Stylosanthes*, and *Lolium*. The study was performed in accordance with the Ethics Committee on Animal Use of the Federal University of Santa Catarina (CEUA/UFSC) under the approved protocol number 1004100516.

Animals, Treatments, and Experimental Design

Before the study, the animals were routinely managed in two groups, according to breed: Braford and Jersey heifers without any feed supplementation. These breeds make up the herd of the experimental farm and are very representative of the herds in southern Brazil, where the Jersey breed is the most common breed for grazing milk production and the Braford breed is welladapted to the region, being composed of zebu (3/8) and taurine (5/8) blood.

For the experiment, the separation between breeds was kept, and two groups were formed: 15 Braford heifers (group 1, averaging 316 ± 44 kg) and 19 Jersey heifers (group 2, averaging 232 ± 33 kg). Each group was first allocated to one of the treatments: INITIAL—supplement was offered at occupation time (8 a.m.); and MIDDLE—supplement was offered at middle occupation time (4 p.m.). The experimental design was a crossover. In each period, the animals had 5 days for habituation to observers and the experimental routine, followed by 35 days (each day in a new paddock) for data collection.

Animals were moved to a new paddock every morning with mineral salt and water *ad libitum*. Space availability per animal in the paddocks was \sim 145 m²/animal. Animals were identified by ear tags and individually marked with numbers on their bodies with black and green livestock markers (Raidex., Dettingen; Erms Germany). The supplement was a commercial ration for cattle (12% CP) and was offered on a daily basis of 2 kg/animal/day on the ground at the fence line in the morning or afternoon, according to treatment.

Measurements

Data collection included observations of agonistic interactions and ingestive behavior, recorded simultaneously and in the two groups, as to avoid any environmental influence in their behavior. The agonistic interactions were continuously recorded, and the ingestive behavior was recorded by instantaneous scan sampling with a 2-min interval (14) twice a week for one uninterrupted hour from the moment the grain supplement was offered, resulting in 20 non-consecutive days of direct visual observation. Six trained observers switched groups within and between periods so that every person could observe the same number of times, groups, treatments, and periods, completely

TABLE 1 | Description of behaviors observed during the study.

Behavior	Description Animal grazing along the paddock, with head down and the mouth below or at the level of the forage making movements of forage apprehension or grabbing forage; stationary or moving forward to new grazing patches				
Grazing along the paddock					
Grazing near the fence	Animal grazing as described above but along the fence line where the grain supplement was offered (feeding area)				
Eating supplement	Animal eating grain supplement, with head down on the fence line and mouth on the supplement or above it while chewing				
Other	When the animal performed an activity, either standing of lying, with the exception of the behaviors described above				

The ethogram was based on the definitions by Coimbra et al. (8).

balancing the observations. The ethogram of the behaviors observed during the study is described in **Table 1**.

All agonistic interactions during the 1-h observation period were recorded-displacements, threats, and other behaviors associated with a conflict or fighting between two individuals that involved an instigator and a victim, including, or not, physical contacts, resulting in the physical displacement of an animal (15). Then, a dominance index was calculated according to Kondo and Hurnik (16). An "S" value was calculated for each heifer relative to the others. Therefore, if animal "I" won over animal "J" in Xij interactions, and animal "J" won over animal "I" in Xji interactions, then Sij would correspond to Sij = Xij-Xji/|Xij-Xji|, always resulting in a value of -1, 0, or +1. Then the dominance index for heifer "I" (Si) would be the sum of S that animal had in each dyad. The dominance value for each individual was calculated as a result of the sum of all relationships of each animal with all other animals within the group. When two or more animals had the same "S" value (for example, cow 17 = cow36), the tiebreaker was the result of direct confrontation between both animals.

A dominance index was constructed for each group based on the difference between the maximum and minimum dominance value, and then it was divided into three social categories: dominants (D) in the upper stratum, intermediates (I) in the middle, and subordinates (S) in the lower stratum of the index. Social hierarchy of each heifer and its dominance score are shown in **Table 2**.

To estimate the quality of the consumed diet (crude protein/CP and neutral detergent fiber content/NDF), weekly samples of pasture were collected accordingly by hand-plucking. Grazing simulation can be defined as harvesting a forage sample in the areas where the animals were grazing and simulating the morphological composition of the forage consumed by the heifers (17). In each group, six focal animals were selected for pasture collection. The first three animals (FIRST3) starting to graze and the last three animals (LAST3) leaving the feeding area were chosen. Samples were taken along the paddock immediately after grazing started (SAMPLE1) and then 1 h later (SAMPLE2).

TABLE 2 Dominance score (Score) and respective social hierarchy (SH) of each	
individual animal within each group.	

	Group 1			Group 2	
Score	SH	Animal	Score	SH	Anima
13	D	8	16	D	19
10	D	4	14	D	33
8	D	13	14	D	34
6	D	9	10	D	35
5	D	1	8	D	16
4	I	2	6	D	28
0	I	5	4	D	31
0	I	10	4	I	27
-1	I	12	2	I	29
-2	I	14	0	I	25
_4	I	6	-2	I	17
-6	S	7	-3	I	23
-9	S	15	-4	I	30
-12	S	3	-6	I	32
-12	S	11	-10	S	37
	-		-11	S	20
	-		-12	S	26
	-		-12	S	36
	-		-18	S	24

SH: D for dominant, I for intermediate, and S for subordinate animal.

Each sample was conditioned in a tagged plastic bag, taken to the laboratory and dried in a forced-air buffer for 72 h at 55°C until constant weight. Then, samples were ground to pass a 1-mm screen in a Wiley mill before analysis using near infrared spectroscopy (NIR/MPA, "Multi-Purpose Analyzer," Bruker Optics GmbH, Ettlingen, Germany). The FIRST3 and LAST3 data were also used for the analysis of the correlation between the order to leave the feeding area and start grazing and the social hierarchy of each individual.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated using Microsoft[®] Excel[®] for Windows, and all other statistical analyses were conducted using SAS 9.3. The percentage frequency of behaviors was summarized over the days per period yielding one value for each animal per period. The Shapiro test was used on the model residual information, as well as the examination of the normal plot to evaluate the dataset for the normal distribution.

The effect of treatment and social rank on the percentage frequency of eating grain supplement, grazing on paddock, and grazing near fence line and along the paddock was analyzed using mixed procedures (Proc Mixed of SAS). The effect of treatment and social rank on the frequency of other behaviors was analyzed using generalized linear mixed models (Proc Glimmix of SAS). Treatment and social rank were included in the model as fixed effect, period as random effect, and gamma as the type of distribution. The effect of breed and interactions between treatment and social rank were removed from all models as they were not significant (p > 0.05). Results of eating grain supplement, grazing along the paddock, and grazing near fence line are reported as the least square means \pm standard error (S.E.) of the percentage frequency; results of other behaviors are reported as least square means (95% confidence interval).

The relation between treatment order (FIRST3; LAST3), forage sample (SAMPLE1; SAMPLE2), social rank (dominant, intermediate, subordinate), and pasture contents as crude protein, acid detergent fiber, and neutral detergent fiber were analyzed using mixed procedure (Proc Mixed of SAS). Treatment, sample, order, and social rank were included in the model as fixed effects and period as random effect. Interactions were included in the models when they were significant (p < 0.05). Results are reported as least square means \pm S.E.

The number of agonistic interactions (either instigator or victim) for each animal was summed per period (morning, afternoon). The effect of period and social rank on agonistic interactions was measured through analysis of variance (Proc GLM). Period and social rank were included as fixed effect and animal as the experimental unit. Interactions between period and social rank were tested and excluded from the model, as they were not significant (p > 0.05). Data are expressed as least square means \pm S.E. of the number of agonistic interactions/animal.

RESULTS

Treatment did not affect the time heifers spent eating grain supplement or the time they spent grazing near the fence (feeding area), but it did affect the total time dedicated to grazing along the paddock (p < 0.0001) and other behaviors (p < 0.0001), as shown in **Table 3**. Heifers spent more time grazing on the INITIAL treatment and performed other behaviors more frequently in the MIDDLE treatment.

Regardless of treatment, social hierarchy influenced the feeding behavior of the group. Dominant animals spent more time eating grain supplement compared to subordinate animals (p = 0.0008), which, in turn, spent more time grazing along the paddock (p = 0.0067), but not along the fence (p = 0.0008).

The order to leave the feeding area and start grazing was inversely related to social status. Of the first three heifers leaving the supplement site, most (53.3%) were subordinate, whereas of the last three heifers leaving the supplement site, most (48.3%) were dominants.

A significant effect of treatment was observed on the crude protein content (INITIAL: 11.27 ± 1.5 vs. MIDDLE: 8.27 ± 1.47 ; p < 0.0001) of the forage collected as grazing simulation. An interaction was also noted among the order to leave the feeding area, social rank, and crude protein content (p = 0.04) (**Table 4**). The NDF content was higher for LAST3 compared to FIRST3 (FIRST3: 70.26 % \pm 1.52; p > 0.05; LAST3: 73.74 % \pm 1.53; p = 0.0367). Treatment, sample, order, and social rank were not related to FDA (39.28% \pm 0.96; p > 0.05).

Treatment and social rank affected the number of agonistic interactions. Heifers performed fewer agonistic interactions on INITIAL (182.1 \pm 14.03) compared to MIDDLE (249.2 \pm 14.03; p < 0.01). Dominant heifers (247.7 \pm 16.26) performed more

agonistic interactions than subordinate heifers (182.72 \pm 19.15; p < 0.05). Intermediate heifers (216.6 \pm 16.26) performed a number of agonistic interactions similar to that of the other two (p = 0.2).

DISCUSSION

Treatment and social status affected grazing along the paddock. Heifers spent more time grazing along the paddock when grain supplement was delivered at the time of paddock entry (INITIAL), and subordinate heifers grazed longer than dominant and intermediate heifers during grain supplement feeding. On the other hand, no difference was noted between eating grain supplement and grazing near the fence line (where supplement was placed) relative to treatment. However, dominant and intermediate heifers ate more grain supplement and grazed longer near the fence line when compared to subordinate heifers, regardless of treatment.

As seen in a number of works, supplemental feeding may affect the total grazing time (18), and the time of supplementation is likely to affect grazing. For example, beef cattle grazed for a longer period when corn supplement was offered in the afternoon (19). Steers receiving supplement had the highest forage dry matter intake when supplement was offered at noon compared to 7 am and 4 pm (2). On the other hand, Sheahan et al. (20) concluded that supplementing cows in the morning or in the afternoon does not affect the time spent in grazing or dry matter intake.

All these studies were conducted in extensive grazing systems, considered whole herd behavior, and were focused on the total grazing time. Our study was focused on the effect of social status on grain supplement access and grazing time during supplement feeding. Moreover, heifers were in a rotational grazing system, entering into a new paddock every morning with fresh pasture available. The major grazing events occur in the early morning and late afternoon/early evening; the later grazing event is the longest and most significant in terms of herbage intake (21); according to this author, the dusk grazing event seems to be an adaptive feeding strategy to maximize daily energy acquisition, providing a steady release of nutrients throughout the night. Grazing behavior and intake are a multifactorial phenomenon and interact strongly with the morphological characteristics of grazed plants and the environment such as climate, the feed supply-demand balance, pasture composition, and grazing method, and the challenge is to present feed to grazing animals in ways that allow them to meet their dietary preferences, while also allowing high rates of animal production per hectare (22). Grazing time is affected by the grazing system, with lower grazing times on rotational systems compared to continuous systems, which may be attributed to the ability of cows to anticipate the timing of the daily movement of the electric fence and, correspondingly, reduce the time spent grazing residual herbage (23).

In our study, dominant heifers spent more time eating grain supplement and grazing along the fence line than subordinate heifers, which, in turn, spent more time grazing along the paddock. Dominant animals are known to have priority of access

Behavior (%)		Treatment			Social rar	ık	
	Initial	Middle	p-value	Dominant	Intermediate	Subordinate	<i>p</i> -value
Eating grain supplement	28.6 ± 0.96	30.8 ± 0.96	0.1113	32.9 ± 1.12^{a}	$30.2 \pm 1.12^{\text{a}}$	26.0 ± 1.32^{b}	0.0008
Grazing on paddock	$47. \pm 7.15^{a}$	26.1 ± 7.15^{b}	<0.0001	$30.8\pm7.27^{\text{a}}$	$33.6\pm7.27^{\text{a}}$	$45.2\pm7.45^{\rm b}$	0.0020
Grazing near fence line	16.1 ± 1.94	19.0 ± 1.94	0.2867	23.8 ± 2.26^{a}	$18.9\pm2.26^{\rm a}$	$9.9\pm2.66^{\rm b}$	0.0008
Other	2.1 (1.243–2.984) ^a	2.9 (2.071–3.812) ^b	<0.0001	2.4 (1.476–3.230)	2.6 (1.704–3.457)	2.6 (1.764–3.535)	0.1319

TABLE 3 | Effect of treatment (INITIAL; MIDDLE) and social rank (dominant, intermediate, or subordinate) on behavior: eating grain supplement, grazing, and other behaviors [normal data: least square mean ± standard error; non-normal data: least square mean (95% confidence interval)].

Means with different letters in a row indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

TABLE 4 | Crude protein (%CP) content of hand-plucked pasture samples, according to the order of leaving the feeding area to start grazing (FIRST3; LAST3) and the social rank (dominant, intermediate, subordinate).

Content/order		FIRST3		LAST3		
	Dominant	Intermediate	Subordinate	Dominant	Intermediate	Subordinate
Crude protein (%CP)	12.3 ± 1.88^{a}	$8.5\pm1.55^{\mathrm{b}}$	$10.2 \pm 1.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	9.2 ± 1.65	9.3 ± 1.54	8.9 ± 1.78

Means with different letters in a row indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

to feed resources (24), and for grazing ruminants, this is related to the priority of access to high-quality grazing areas (9). When the dominant heifers entered the new paddock, they went directly to the feeding area along the fence line and stayed there for a long time, even after all the grain had been consumed. This could represent a strategy to prevent subordinate heifers from eating grain supplement, as they were used to the experimental routine; that is, the grain was offered only once a day.

While the dominant heifers were eating grain supplement, the subordinate animals were grazing. Two key factors that influence the foraging behavior of group-living herbivores are feed availability and individual dominance status; therefore, they weigh the costs and benefits of both when making patchjoining decisions (25). Dominant sheep in heterogeneous flocks use the most preferred areas more intensively, and low-ranked sheep use less preferred areas. However, when high-ranking individuals were removed from the flock, low-ranking sheep shifted their selection patterns by increasing the use of the most preferred areas and strongly avoided using the less preferred sites (26). Manson and Appleby (27) found that cows of similar rank fed together compared with cows of dissimilar rank and that the greatest nearest-neighbor distance was found between animals of low and high rank.

The desire to ingest feed or to avoid disputes with other animals is variable and influences the animal's decision-making. High levels of competition and displacement in the feeder indicate that the access to feed is a priority for cattle (28). Nevertheless, this priority is dependent on its motivation to obtain it (29). Motivation is defined operationally as the tendency for an animal to perform a behavior, but understood as reflecting the animal's desire to do so (30), allowing us to estimate the value that an animal gives to a certain resource after weighing costs and benefits to obtain it. The value an animal gives to a resource is dependent not only on the quality of the resource, but on the need of the animal, as well. In a water restriction situation, subordinate non-lactating cows would drink water every other day, while subordinate lactating cows would fight to drink daily (31).

In this study, when grain supplement was offered at the time of paddock entry (INITIAL), with fresh pasture available, subordinate heifers were motivated to ingest feed, and they could choose to graze along the paddock instead of competing for grain supplement with dominant heifers. However, in the MIDDLE treatment, there were a higher number of agonistic interactions, compared to INITIAL treatment, probably due to the fact that heifers no longer had high-quality pasture available, but still motivated to obtain feed. Therefore, offering the supplement at the time of entering the paddock would reduce fights, giving subordinate heifers an opportunity to graze high-quality pasture, improving their welfare.

Since the subordinate heifers were the first to leave the grain supplement location to graze, they could ingest forage with the same crude protein content as the dominant heifers, while the intermediate heifers were left with pasture of inferior quality. In pasture-based systems, the amount of pasture consumed and its nutritive value may influence the between-cow variability in response to supplement and need to be considered as part of a dynamic model for calculating optimum supplementation rates (32).

In dairy cattle, the first animals moving to an allocation of fresh pasture after a milking session are offered feed of greater nutritive value compared with those arriving last, which is closely related to social hierarchy, as they show a consistent milking order (33). Highly dominant animals may obtain priority in resource access in intensive production conditions (34). Such information can be relatively easy for farmers to collect. Thus, the feeding order can be used as an on-site simple attribute of social dominance in intensive beef cattle production systems (24). Housing and management strategies may be implemented to optimize access to feed and feeding patterns, thus promoting good health, productivity, and welfare (35). Under pastoral systems, synergies between animals' and farmers' grazing decisions have the potential to offer greater benefits to our livestock, our landscape, and ourselves (36).

CONCLUSIONS

Subordinate heifers consistently grazed more and ate less grain supplement than dominant and intermediate heifers. However, when grain supplement was offered at the time animals entered the paddock, more grazing activity took place during supplement feeding, and subordinate heifers could select a high-protein diet. In the INITIAL treatment, this means that subordinate animals could benefit from the better pasture available, keeping a distance from dominant heifers, reducing agonistic interactions, and likely improving their welfare.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee on Animal Use of the Federal University of

REFERENCES

- 1. Voisin A. Produtividade do Pasto. São Paulo: Mestre Jou (1974). p. 520.
- Scaglia G, Boland HT, Wyatt WE. Effects of time of supplementation on beef stocker calves grazing ryegrass. ii grazing behavior and dry matter intake. *Prof Anim Sci.* (2009) 25:749–56. doi: 10.15232/S1080-7446(15)30784-1
- Beltrán IE, Al-Marashdeh O, Burgos AR, Gregorini P, Balocchi OA, Wittwer F, et al. The order of grass and maize silage supplementation modifies milk yield, grazing behavior and nitrogen partitioning of lactating dairy cows. *Animals*. (2019) 9:373. doi: 10.3390/ani9060373
- Phillips CJ, Rind MI. The effects of social dominance on the production and behavior of grazing dairy cows offered forage supplements. *J Dairy Sci.* (2002) 85:51–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74052-6
- Sarova R, Spinka M, Panamá JLA, Simecek P. Graded leadership by dominant animals in a herd of female beef cattle on pasture. *Anim Behav.* (2010) 79:1037–45. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.01.019
- Andersson M, Schaar J, Wiktorsson H. Effects of drinking-water flow-rates and social rank on performance and drinking behavior of tied-up dairy cows. *Livestock Produc Sci.* (1984) 11:599–610. doi: 10.1016/0301-6226(84)90074-5
- 7. Phillips CJC. Cattle Behaviour. Ipswich: Farming Press Books (1993).
- Coimbra PAD, Machado FLCP, Hötzel MJ. Effects of social dominance, water trough location and shade availability on drinking behaviour of cows on pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 139:175–82. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.04.009
- Barroso FG, Alados CL, Boza J. Social hierarchy in the domestic goat: effect on food habits and production. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2000) 69:35–53. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00113-1
- Bica GS, Teixeira DL, Hotzel MJ, Machado FLCP. Social hierarchy and feed supplementation of heifers: line or piles? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2019) 220:104852. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2019.104852
- Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Cheney CD, Werner SJ. Self-organization of foraging behaviour: from simplicity to complexity without goals. *Nutr Res Rev.* (1998) 11:199–222. doi: 10.1079/NRR19980015

Santa Catarina (CEUA/UFSC), under the approved protocol number 1004100516.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GB and LP contributed to the conception and planning of the experiment. GB, LP, and MH designed the experiment. GB and KS made the data collection and field work. DT did the statistical analysis. GB wrote the manuscript. LP and MH were advisors and revised and helped in writing. All authors have read and approved the last version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by CNPq (National Council on Scientific and Technological Development) through Project no. 487870/2013-1 and Call no. 81/2013. GB belongs to Câmara de Agroecologia, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Setor Litoral, Matinhos/PR, Brazil.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We further acknowledge CNPq for the scholarship for LP and MH. We thank Fabiellen Pereira, Jessica Medeiros, Laura Amuchastegui, and Thiago Mombach Pinheiro Machado for their collaboration during the experimental period.

- 12. Mayland H, Mertens D, Taylor T, Burns JC, Fisher DS, Gregorini P, et al. Diurnal changes in forage quality and their effects on animal preference, intake, and performance. In: 35th California Alfalfa and Forage Symposium. Visalia, CA; Davis, CA: University of California (2005). p. 223–30.
- McGilloway DA, Cushnahan A, Laidlawet AS, Mayne CS, Kilpatrickal DJ. The relationship between level of sward height reduction in a rotationally grazed sward and short-term intake rates of dairy cows. *Grass Forage Sci.* (1999) 54:116–26. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2494.1999.00158.x
- Lehner PN. Handbook of Ethological Methods. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1996). p. 672.
- Hurnik JF, Lewís NJ, Taylor A, Machado FLCP. Farm Animal Behaviour Laboratory Manual. University of Guelph (1995). p. 145.
- Kondo S, Hurnik JF. Stabilization of social hierarchy in dairy cows. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (1990) 27:287–97. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(90)90125-W
- Euclides VPB, Macedo MCM, Oliveira MP. Avaliação de diferentes métodos para se estimar o valor nutritivo de forragens sob pastejo. *Rev Bras Zoot.* (1992) 21:691–702.
- Barton RK, Krysl LJ, Judkins MB, Holcombe DW, Broesder JT, Gunter SA, et al. Time of daily supplementation for steers grazing dormant intermediate wheatgrass pasture. J Anim Sci. (1992) 70:547–58. doi: 10.2527/1992.7 02547x
- Adams DC. Effect of time of supplementation on performance, forage intake and grazing behavior of yearling beef steers grazing Russian wild ryegrass in the fall. J Anim Sci. (1985) 61:1037–42. doi: 10.2527/jas1985.6151037x
- Sheahan AJ, Gibbs SJ, Roche JR. Timing of supplementation alters grazing behavior and milk production response in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:477–83. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5781
- Gregorini P. Diurnal grazing pattern: its physiological basis and strategic management. Anim Produc Sci. (2012) 52:416–30. doi: 10.1071/AN11250
- Chapman DF, Parsonset AJ, Cosgroveal GP, Barker DJ, Marotti DM, Venning KJ, et al. impacts of spatial patterns in pasture on animal grazing behavior, intake, and performance. *Crop Sci.* (2007) 47:399–415. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2006.01.0036

- 23. Pulido RG, Leaver JD. Continuous and rotational grazing of dairy cows the interactions of grazing system with level of milk yield, sward height and concentrate level. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2003) 58:265–75. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2494.2003.00378.x
- Takanishi N, Oishi K, Kumagai H, Uemura M, Hirooka H. Factors influencing the priority of access to food and their effects on the carcass traits for Japanese Black (Wagyu) cattle. *Animal.* (2015) 9:2017–23. doi: 10.1017/S1751731115001214
- Stears K, Kerley GIH, Shrader AM. Group-living herbivores weigh up food availability and dominance status when making patch-joining decisions. *PLoS* ONE. (2014) 9:e109011. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109011
- di Virgilio A, Morales JM. Towards evenly distributed grazing patterns: including social context in sheep management strategies. *PeerJ*. (2016) 4: 1–19. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2152
- Manson FJ, Appleby MC. Spacing of dairy cows at a food trough. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1990) 26:69–81. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(90)90088-U
- Val-Laillet D, Veira DM, von Keyserlingk MA. Dominance in free-stall– housed dairy cattle is dependent upon resource. *J Dairy Sci.* (2008) 91:3922–6. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1332
- Lindberg AC. Group life. In: Keeling LJ, Gonyou HW, editors. Social Behaviour in Farm Animals. Oxon; New York, NY: CABI Publishing (2001). p. 37–58. doi: 10.1079/9780851993973.0037
- Kirkden RD, Pajor EA. Using preference, motivation and aversion tests to ask scientific questions about animals' feelings. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2006) 100:29–47. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.04.009
- Hotzel MJ, Teixeira DL, Machado FLCP. A hierarquia social e o regime de oferta influenciam o consumo de água em bovinos leiteiros. *Rev Bras de Agroecol.* (2013) 8: 84–91. Available online at: http://revistas.aba-agroecologia. org.br/index.php/rbagroecologia/article/view/13010

- Hills JL, Wales WJ, Dunshea FR, Garcia SC, Roche JR. Invited review: an evaluation of the likely effects of individualized feeding of concentrate supplements to pasture-based dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:1363–401. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8475
- Scott BA, Clark CEF, Camacho A. The nutritive value of pasture ingested by dairy cows varies within a herd. In: 6th Australasian Dairy Science Symposium. Hamilton: Australian Dairy Science Symposium Committee (2014). p. 343–6.
- Miranda-De-La-Lama GC, Sepúlveda W, Montaldo HH, Levrino GAM, Galindo F. Social strategies associated with identity profiles in dairy goats. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2011) 134:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011. 06.004
- DeVries TJ. Feeding behaviour, feed space, and bunk design and management for adult dairy cattle. Vet Clin Food Anim. (2019) 35:61–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.10.003
- Gregorini P. Grazing management: setting the table, designing the menu and influencing the diner. *Anim Product Sci.* (2017) 57:1248–68. doi: 10.1071/AN16637

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bica, Pinheiro Machado Filho, Teixeira, de Sousa and Hötzel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





How Dietary Diversity Enhances Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being in Grazing Ruminants

Matthew R. Beck* and Pablo Gregorini

Faculty of Agriculture and Life Sciences, Lincoln University, Lincoln, New Zealand

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Peter Downs Krawczel, University of Helsinki, Finland Jeremy N. Marchant-Forde, Livestock Behavior Research Unit (USDA-ARS), United States

> *Correspondence: Matthew R. Beck Matt.Beck@lincolnuni.ac.nz

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 22 July 2019 **Accepted:** 23 March 2020 **Published:** 15 April 2020

Citation:

Beck MR and Gregorini P (2020) How Dietary Diversity Enhances Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being in Grazing Ruminants. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:191. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00191 Ruminants evolved in diverse landscapes of which they utilized, by choice, a diverse arrangement of plants (grasses, forbs, and trees) for food. These plants provide them with both primary (carbohydrates, protein, etc.) and secondary (phenolics, terpenes, etc.) compounds (PPC and PSC, respectively). As no one plant could possibly constitute a "balanced-diet," ruminants mix diets so that they can exploit arrangements of PPC to meet their individual requirements. Diet mixing also allows for ruminants to ingest PSC at levels, acquiring their benefits such as antioxidants and reduced gastrointestinal parasites, without overstepping thresholds of toxicity. Meeting dietary requirements is assumed to provide satisfaction through achieving positive internal status and comfort, thereby a sense of hedonic (happiness through pleasure) well-being. Furthermore, choice including dietary choice is a factor influencing well-being of ruminants in a manner akin to that in humans. Choice may facilitate eudaimonic (happiness through pursuit of purpose) well-being in livestock. Nutritional status plays an integral role in oxidative stress, which is linked with illness. Several diseases in livestock have been directly linked to oxidative stress. Mastitis, metritis, hypocalcaemia, and retained placenta occur in animals transitioning from dry to lactating and have been linked to oxidative stress and such a stress has likewise been linked to diseases that occur in growing livestock as well, such as bovine respiratory disease. The link between physiological stress and oxidative stress is not well-defined in livestock but is evident in humans. As dietary diversity allows animals to select more adequately balanced diets (improved nutrition), take advantage of PSC (natural antioxidants), and allows for choice (improved animal well-being) there is a strong possibility for ruminants to improve their oxidative status and thus health, well-being, and therefor production. The purposes of this review are to first, provide an introduction to oxidative and physiological stress, and nutritional status as effected by dietary diversity, with special attention to providing support and on answering the "how." Second, to provide evidence of how these stresses are connected and influence each other, and finally discuss how dietary diversity provides a beneficial link to all three and enhances both eudaimonic and hedonic well-being.

Keywords: grazing, ruminants, animal welfare, taxonomical diversity, biochemical diversity

INTRODUCTION

Dietary diversity in ruminants has recently received considerable attention in the literature (1-8). Much of this work has focused on how dietary diversity can improve animal production by providing animals with the opportunity to choose and mix their diets. By doing so, the animals are better able to meet their individual requirements and self-medicate, acquiring nutraceuticals, pharmaceuticals, and prophylactic benefits associated with the ingestion of specific secondary compounds (PSC) at self-regulated safe levels of intake (9). Here we use the term well-being when discussing the subjective mental state of the animal and welfare as the animal state including well-being, health and the animals experience with their environment. In a comprehensive review article on dietary diversity and welfare, Manteca et al. (4) concluded that the improved nutritional status given by appropriate supply of plant primary compounds (PPC) and the improved health benefits by the PSC are indicative of the intimate relationship between dietary diversity and animal welfare. However, the benefits of dietary diversity on animal welfare have been discussed only as they relate to hedonic well-being. The word hedonic stems from the Greek word hedone, meaning pleasure, and thus hedonic well-being is the balance between positive and negative emotions (10). Emotions are clusters of experiences related to health, fear, nutritional comfort, nutrient supply, and familiarity, as a few examples. Animals integrate those experiences, at different time scales forming either positive or negative emotions (11). Another concept of well-being, commonly applied to humans, is eudaimonia, which was first proposed by Aristotle. Eudaimonia stems from the Greek words Eu, for good, and daimon, for guardian. There are several definitions proposed for eudaimonia, but the one which we propose can best be applied to ruminants is one of function. We propose that eudaimonic well-being is achieved in livestock and other animals when they are able to pursue their potential (10). To that end, eudaimonic wellbeing is achieved when a subject achieves its telos, which is defined as a given purpose (12). Eudaimonic well-being has rarely been applied to livestock welfare but (12) proposed that an animal's telos is enshrined in the species' uniqueness which is genetically coded [see also (13)]. We propose that telos may also be considered as an individual trait and this is supported by individual animal personalities, by genetically related grazing personalities in ruminants (8, 14), and by the reduction of stress when choice is allowed (4, 15). Improved wellbeing by offering choice to animals both facilitates and provides evidence in support for eudaimonia and telos in livestock, as it has been suggested that without choice one cannot pursue their telos and thus achieve eudaimonic well-being (12). Even if the available options (e.g., dietary options) provided will only allow the animals to choose the least-worse option available for their individual needs, we argue eudaimonic well-being will be improved.

We hypothesize that merely providing choice would improve eudaimonic well-being in livestock; however, for dietary diversity to improve hedonic well-being there must first be some subsequent actions to increase pleasure or reduce negative experiences and thereby emotions. Such actions constitute responses to environmental stimuli that provoke oxidative stress, physiological stress, or reduced nutritional state of the animal. These three features of animal state are of interest with regard to welfare and hence production. Oxidative stress influences the pathophysiology of diseases, and its management has received much attention (16–19). Physiological stress including cortisol release is often used as an index of welfare (20), which in turn is linked to production and economic return (21). Appropriate nutrition for each respective class of livestock is obviously a major feature of every livestock production system.

In this review we describe and explain how the influence of oxidative stress, physiological stress, and nutritional state influence well-being of grazing livestock as a response to taxonomic and biochemical diversity of the diet. We present a conceptual model (**Figure 1**) describing the interactive links between dietary diversity and animal state, resulting in positive effects on animal health and well-being (both hedonic and eudaimonic).

OXIDATIVE STRESS

Oxidative stress is a state of imbalance between oxidants (e.g., reactive oxygen metabolites) and antioxidants [both enzymatic [e.g., superoxide dismutase] and non-enzymatic [e.g., vitamin E and glutathione]; (22, 23)]. The circulating level of oxidants is subject to homeostatic regulation but situations may occur in which the animal is exposed to stressors, such as high metabolic demand, gastrointestinal parasites, heat stress, and diseases (19), which cause the rate of production of oxidants to exceed the capacity of the homeostatic regulatory system. The remaining oxidants damage important biological molecules [including lipids, proteins, DNA, and RNA; (19)], which then lead to metabolic and pathological disorder (24).

An example of this is isoprostane production, which has similar actions as prostaglandins (e.g., prostaglandin F- 2α). Prostaglandins are involved in the regulation of many physiological functions (e.g., pregnancy maintenance) and also in inflammation and immune responses (25). The key enzymes involved in the conversion of arachidonic acid to eicosanoids (e.g., prostaglandins) is cyclooxygenases (25). In cattle, prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ are an important part of the estrus cycle as they cause luteolysis [degradation of the corpus luteum; (26)]. Prostaglandins are also important in the pathological manifestation of chemical or physical injury, in fact nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs function by inhibiting prostaglandin synthesis, by blocking the cyclooxygenases (27). Similar compounds to prostaglandins, the isoprostanes, are generated independently of cyclooxygenase enzymes through the peroxidation of arachidonic acid by oxidants (28). Isoprostanes have been identified as a promising in vivo marker for oxidative stress and they have been found to have negative biological effects as they can bind to many of the same receptors as cyclooxygenase derived prostaglandins (28). These effects include vasoconstriction and airway constriction, and therefore may be pathophysiological mediators of oxidative damage (28).



Thus, isoprostanes are formed through oxidants oxidizing a biological molecule (arachidonic acid) and subsequently inducing inflammatory responses to oxidative damage. We postulate that the damage to biological compounds leading to metabolic or pathological disorders and inflammation, such as arachidonic acid, would result in discomfort and subsequently reduce well-being. This is supported by some works who found a positive correlation between blood cortisol and isoprostane concentrations (29, 30). The integration of uncomfortable experiences leads to negative emotions, thus reducing hedonic well-being. The link between oxidative and physiological stress is discussed further below.

Physiological Causes of Oxidative Stress

The following paragraphs provides a summary of the biochemical sources of oxidants, which is the "how" behind oxidative

stress. This detail is important because it provides background information for understanding how biochemical (PSC) diverse diets reduce oxidative stress in grazing ruminants. We later describe how the improved antioxidant status of the animals would lead to enhanced hedonic well-being.

Oxidants are important in several physiological and biochemical reactions; consequently, they are well managed by the body. For example, Superoxide $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ is an oxidant produced in the mitochondria of mammalian cells, which is subsequently converted to H₂O₂ by mitochondrial superoxide dismutase (31, 32). This $O_2^{\bullet-}$ is generated in the electron transport chain, with the majority being produced by complex I, and a negligible amount by complex III (32). These $O_2^{\bullet-}$ are converted to H₂O₂, which exits the mitochondria to act as a redox signal to the cellular cytosol and the nucleus. Hydrogen peroxide, while still an oxidant, has a lower second order rate constant for reactions with biomolecules than other oxidants (e.g., hydroxyl radical or $O_2^{\bullet-}$) and is therefore appropriate for redox signaling (33). These redox reactions are important in regulation of enzymes and transcription factors (33, 34). This elicits various cellular responses such as enzyme activity, substrate supply, and mitochondrial biogenesis (32, 35). Redox signaling shows how oxidant production, when under normal physiological functions, is necessary rather than negative.

Another physiological source of oxidants come from phagocytic cells removing foreign organisms. Reactive oxygen species are toxic to many microorganisms. When phagocytic cells (e.g., neutrophils) engulf bacteria there is an initial oxygen consumption (called oxidative burst) where an NADPH oxidase complex transfers electrons from NADPH to oxygen in order to generate superoxide. As some works have reported that superoxide does not kill bacteria, it is believed that additional secondary oxidants are generated and responsible for bacterial death (36). One important example of phagocytic cells to ruminants is neutrophils involvement in removing pathogens related to pneumonia such as Mannheimia haemolytica. Removal of these pathogens is reliant on active immunity and the innate immune function, such as neutrophils (37). Therefore, oxidant creation in this context is required by the body to remove foreign organisms and to maintain health and comfort through the relief from pain, and thus hedonic well-being.

The final source of oxidants to be discussed in this review occurs in the gastrointestinal tract. Halliwell et al. (38) proposed several sources of gastrointestinal derived oxidants. Firstly, foods will generally contain iron, often in the insoluble Fe^{3+} salt form. Gastric acid can solubilize ferric and metallic iron. The Fe³⁺ is then reduced to Fe^{2+} , which is easier to absorb with stimulation by ascorbate. The oxidant, hydroxyl radical can be produced when ascorbate and Fe^{2+} are mixed, without H_2O_2 (Fenton Chemistry). Similar reactions can occur from Cu²⁺ and ascorbate (38). Other sources include: haem (from haem proteins), dietary lipids that undergo peroxidation, foods containing isoprostanes, oxidized cholesterol, nitrites, the gastrointestinal immune system, and oxidized phenolic compounds such as hydroxyhydroquinone [from coffee; (38)]. This may indicate that oxidized phenolic compounds from forage plants may act as oxidants. While information from the human literature is abundant, to our knowledge, few works have reported how important ruminant gastrointestinal derived oxidants are. One experiment measured antioxidant activity of rumen fluid and plasma from faunated or defaunated rumens [with or without protozoa; (39)]. It was found that faunated rumens had greater antioxidant activity than defaunated rumens in both ruminal fluid and in the plasma (39). Increased antioxidant capacity in the rumen leading to increased antioxidant capacity in the plasma would indicate that rumen fluid is important to the whole animal's antioxidant status. However, we are unaware of any research showing how this would translate to the lower gastrointestinal tract, but due to research on humans (see (38) for a review), we speculate that this is a significant source of oxidant production which requires further investigation.

Defense Mechanisms Against Oxidative Stress

Enzymatic Defense Against Oxidative Stress

Antioxidant enzymes are a major intrinsic, or endogenous, oxidant defense. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) is found in the cytoplasm and the mitochondria of cells in the Cu-SOD and Mn-SOD forms, respectively (40). This enzyme converts the superoxide anion (which is highly radical) to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂; which is less radical). Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) is then responsible for converting H₂O₂ to water and oxidized glutathione. Catalase is another important antioxidant enzyme which converts H₂O₂ to water and O₂. Glutathione reductase then "recycles" the oxidized glutathione by reducing it to its active form, reduced glutathione. This reaction occurs by oxidation of NADPH to NADP⁺ by GR (41).

As these enzymes are important in maintaining homeostasis of ruminants, their quantification in biological samples have been identified as a marker of oxidative stress (42). However, their interpretation is not always straight forward. On one hand, when supplemented with selenium, GPx levels in ruminant erythrocytes increase, which is expected as GPx is a selenium dependent enzyme (43). These experiments interpret this result as an improvement in antioxidant status. On the other hand, there are greater levels of antioxidant enzymes in erythrocytes of dairy cows in the summer than in spring, which is due to increased heat stress (44). These increases are due to increased oxidative stress, as it is known that heat stress causes oxidative stress (44, 45). Due to these inconsistencies, we recommend implementing multiple markers of antioxidant status in order to assist with interpretation.

Intrinsic Non-enzymatic Defense Against Oxidative Stress

Non-enzyme antioxidants such as glutathione, uric acid, melatonin, bilirubin, polyamines, and metal binding proteins are also a part of the intrinsic oxidative stress defense system (41). While important, this review will not delve into detail on them. Mironczuk-Chodakowska et al. (41) provides a detailed review on non-enzymatic, intrinsic antioxidants. One example of nonenzymatic antioxidants is albumin, which is important to grazing ruminant health. Albumin is the major antioxidant in circulating blood, which is continuously exposed to oxidative stress (46). In ruminants, albumin has been found to be incorporated into colostrum and milk (47). Thus, albumin provides antioxidant defense in several biological fluids, such as blood, colostrum, and milk. In the following section we will go in depth on how a diverse diet providing biochemical diversity in plant secondary compounds can provide extrinsic antioxidant defense.

DIETARY DIVERSITY AND ANTIOXIDANT DEFENSE

Extrinsic (exogenous or dietary antioxidants) defenses against oxidative stress come from food. These antioxidants include vitamins E and C and PSC, such as phenolics, terpenes and terpenoids. When offered an array of forages animals select and consume natural antioxidants at rates below toxic levels of intake (48, 49). Plant secondary compounds, especially phenolic compounds, have been shown to improve antioxidant status and reduce plasma levels of oxidative components. Phenolic and polyphenolic compounds (tannins and flavonoids, from terrestrial plants; phlorotannins, from aquatic plants [seaweeds]) can have free radical scavenging properties. Phenolic compound containing-extracts from the common daisy (Bellis perennis L.) showed free-radical scavenging activity of 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl in vitro (50). This ability was likewise demonstrated with isolated flavonoids from Opuntia monacantha (51). Additionally, Chakraborty et al. (52) extracted phlorotannins from three species of red seaweed (Division: Rhodophyta) and saw marked reductions in free radicals. This antioxidant activity can have remarkable effects on antioxidant status when applied to plants and animals (53, 54). Kannan et al. (55) reported increased antioxidant enzymes and reduced lipid peroxidation when sheep were treated with a seaweed extract and challenged with transportation stress. Milking goats provided tannins from sulla (Sulla coronarium L.) forage, had improved plasma antioxidant capacity (56). Sheep provided plant byproducts (tomato pomace and grape skin) had upregulated transcriptional activity to genes that are involved in oxidant defense enzymes (57). When transition dairy cows were provided tannins from chestnut there were lower plasma and milk malondialdehyde (MDA; a marker of lipid peroxidation) and increased antioxidant enzyme activities in plasma and the liver (58). These experiments, and others, highlight the potential of PSC to improve antioxidant status, which would result in a better internal state and improve hedonic well-being of grazing ruminants.

Plant Secondary Compounds as Antioxidants: Potential Modes of Action

Several modes of action exist for PSC, especially phenolic compounds, to exhibit antioxidant activity. One mode would be by providing antioxidant activity directly in bodily fluids and tissues. In order for this to occur, antioxidant PSC would need to be absorbed and incorporated into tissues (59). Evidence for this can be seen by the increased product quality, such as improved shelf life, color stability, flavor, and

odor, from animals provided PSC seen by several experiments (59). One experiment provided sheep plant extracts, including rosemary (Rosemarinus officinalis), grape (Vinis vitifera), citrus (Citrus paradise), and marigold [Calendula officinalis; (60)]. It was found polyphenolic compounds, including condensed tannins from grapes, are catabolized to monomeric phenolics, become bioavailable, and were present in the blood of the sheep. It was also reported that naringin from the citrus extract was found in the plasma, which is contrary to what occurs in monogastrics (60). Another work reported that the ultraviolet-absorbing compounds in milk result from ingested phenolic compounds from forages [various hays, silages, and fresh pasture; (61)]. Additionally, when supplied tannins from sulla, goat milk was found to have greater phenolic compounds and total antioxidant capacity (56). These experiments indicate that antioxidant PSC such as phenolics can be absorbed from ruminant gastrointestinal tracts and incorporated into milk products thus improving product quality, but also potentially exerting nutraceutical, pharmaceutical, and prophylactic activity.

Plant secondary compounds have also been measured in meat products. When ewes were dosed rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) extract, their offspring were found to have increased phenolic compounds incorporated in their meat at slaughter (62). This incorporation in the tissue increased the antioxidant capacity of the meat (62). In a similar experiment, Nieto et al. (63) gave pregnant ewes either 0, 10, or 20% of their diet with distilled rosemary leaf and observed delayed lipid oxidation, odor, and flavor spoilage of their lamb's meat due to the additions. In another experiment, rosemary leaf distillate additions to pregnant ewes improved lamb meat quality characteristics (64). These results were corroborated when ewes were provided varying rates of thyme (Thymus zygis ssp.) leaves in their diet. Again, the antioxidant additions to their dam improved product quality and shelf life of the lamb meat (65). When lambs received a diet containing quebracho (Schinopsis lorentzii) tannins there was a 31.29 and 16.81% increase in total phenols and antioxidant capacity in the muscle compared to the control, respectively. The increased antioxidant status improved meat color stability (54). Similarly, when growing chickens were provided a by-product of the olive oil industry (semi-solid olive cake; "pate"), meat oxidative stability was improved and tyrosol and metabolites of hydroxytyrosol (phenolic compounds) were detected (66). These results support the mode of action for a direct antioxidant activity at the bodily fluids and tissue level by absorbed PSC and this interpretation has also been suggested by Vasta and Luciano (59).

Another potential mode of action for PSC is by providing antioxidant action in the gastrointestinal tract. As discussed above, the gastrointestinal tract is a major source of oxidants. This effect in livestock, to our knowledge, is largely unexplored. However, when sheep had long-term exposure to dietary heavy metals, it was found that there was oxidative damage to the gastrointestinal tract and concluded that lipid peroxidation was one of the mechanisms behind chronic heavy metal poisoning in ruminants (67). In humans, PSC, such as phenolics, have been found to alleviate or prevent gastrointestinal diseases such as ulcers (68). Evidence of antioxidant benefits of PSC in ruminant's gastrointestinal tract is lacking and requires further research; however, as stated above we speculate that the ruminant gastrointestinal tract is a major source of oxidants and postulate that antioxidant PSC would alleviate this production.

Finally, PSC have been found to regulate gene expression to alter antioxidant status. The nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) has been identified as the leading transcription factor behind oxidative stress defense (69). Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 reduces oxidative stress directly by increasing antioxidant enzyme activity, regenerating oxidized cofactors (e.g., GSSG to GSH), synthesizing these reducing factors (e.g., GSH), and by increasing expression of antioxidant proteins (69). Plant secondary compounds have been shown to activate Nrf2, resulting in increased antioxidant enzymes in farm animals (70). An *in vitro* experiment on bovine mammary epithelial cells showed potential of tea polyphenolics to reduce oxidative stress when challenged by hydrogen peroxide, and that these results were due to upregulation of Nrf2 (71).

Oxidative stress is an important aspect of ruminant management. Reactive oxygen metabolites are both necessary for normal physiological functioning (e.g., redox signaling) but also, when produced at levels that outpace the animal's defense system, can cause negative effects after they damage various biological molecules. The defense system in place for ruminants to handle oxidants are intrinsic antioxidant enzymes and nonenzyme antioxidants, but also extrinsic dietary antioxidants. Plant secondary compounds, which can be commonly found in many forages used in grazing ruminant production systems, provide an interesting opportunity to manage oxidative stress in grazing ruminants as they have several modes of actions. They can remove oxidants in the gastrointestinal tract, after absorption in the small intestine, by being incorporated into milk and tissues, and by regulating gene expression.

Physiological Stress and Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being

Physiological stress is the hormonal response that an organism experiences in response to a stressor, whether abiotic or biotic. Physiological stress manifests itself in the "fight or flight" response in organisms (20). This response is elicited by the release of glucocorticoids (GC). Glucocorticoids, such as cortisol, have been studied as a marker of animal welfare with less cortisol acting as a marker for positive welfare (20). Abiotic stressors include climatic events (e.g., heat stress). Biotic stressors are elicited from the animal's peers, predators and other animal species, animal handling (72), and, more recently suggested, dietary monotony (4, 5, 8, 73). Dantzer and Mormède (20) reviewed the causes of physiological stress and physiological pathway, from stress perception to hormonal responses. In brief, following the experience of a stressor, glucocorticoids (GC) are released following the hormonal cascade from the hypothalamicpituitary axis (20). In essence GC prepare the animals for the "fight or flight" through several metabolic responses. These include increased gluconeogenesis, reduced glucose uptake by the periphery, suppress insulin, and mobilize energy stores. Additionally, GC can alter behavior and elicit anxiety behavior [e.g., stereotypies; (20)].

Historically, objective assessment of animal welfare has been done by measuring GC in the blood (20). As animal handling to take the blood sample causes a stress response, it has been suggested that fecal cortisol metabolites (74) or hair (75) cortisol levels are more accurate. While cortisol is the most predominant biomarker of welfare, there are several other markers available [see (76) for a recent review]. However, most methods of measuring welfare would only provide insight on the negative state of the animal and it is often assumed that less cortisol provides insight into positive welfare, which may not always be the case (77). This necessitates research into objective markers of positive welfare. Some markers of positive welfare that have been suggested are vocalizations, measurements of neurotransmitters such as endorphins and dopamine, and hormones like oxytocin and serotonin (77, 78). While physiological stress and negative welfare may often be negatively correlated with positive welfare, it is time for the development of standardized methodologies for measuring positive states of animals.

Ethical management of animals has been predominately based upon the "five freedoms." These include the freedom from (1) thirst, hunger, and malnutrition, (2) discomfort and exposure, (3) pain, injury, and disease, (4) fear and distress, and (5) freedom to express normal behavior (79, 80). All of these freedoms relate to hedonic well-being, with the exception of freedom 5. Hedonic well-being is based upon pleasure and comfort seeking (10). More recently, there has been a call in the literature and from the public for animals to have "A Life Worth Living" (81) or "the Good Life" (12). As such, animal welfare concerns are moving away from merely ensuring that animals are provided with the opportunity to perform (by ensuring that they have adequate nutrition, freedom from fear, sickness, and discomfort), to ensuring that they have a life worth living (at least in terms of anthropomorphic understanding of "worth"). This appeals to the eudaimonic theory of well-being. For further readings find (81) and then the invited response (79).

Under eudaimonic theory, well-being is a process and not a state. It stems from the pursuit of a good life through individual choices (10). Much of what is known about eudaimonic wellbeing comes from philosophy, but recently scientific evidence has been gathered to support this theory using human subjects (82). In grazing animals, more research is required to investigate eudaimonic well-being and we believe that experiments centered around providing choices are particularly needed. Evidence for support of Eudaimonia in livestock has been shown in zoo animals. Giant pandas had lower urinary cortisol when they were provided a choice between two environment enclosures compared to pandas who were only allowed access to the exhibit environment. As the added enclosure area was less enriched, the choice group spent most of their time in the exhibit area, and there were no differences in active time it was concluded that the enhanced animal welfare was derived from the ability of the animals to choose (15). In foraging ruminants, some support for telos and eudaimonic well-being may be seen in grazing personalities (8). One example of grazing personalities was described by Bailey et al. (14), who found that there are cattle who prefer to graze in the flat low fields, termed bottom dwellers, and cattle who prefer to climb mountainous areas for grazing, termed hill climbers. It was found that these specific grazing personalities were related to genetic markers (14). This is interesting as *telos* has been described as intrinsic in the genetic coding of animals (12). Thus, we hypothesize that individual animal's personalities, including grazing personalities, provide insight to individual animal's *telos* and thus provide evidence of eudaimonic well-being. Additionally, we speculate that this theory will apply to livestock and that enhanced welfare from dietary diversity both facilitates and is evidence to support this theory, which is discussed further below, even though separating welfare enhancement of dietary diversity between hedonic and eudaimonic well-being is difficult.

LINKING DIETARY DIVERSITY AND PHYSIOLOGICAL STRESS

Choice is a key concept in the eudaimonic theory of human well-being, with the overarching concept being to pursue a life of fulfillment of one's true nature, or telos, with choices being important in this pursuit (10). Eudaimonia often stands in contrast to the hedonic theory of well-being, which considers contentedness as the sum of positive and negative affective states, i.e., emotions (10) and which has been a primary focus of studies of animal welfare (13). However, recently several works have explored the effect of choice on livestock welfare. Catanese et al. (83) gave lambs either a choice of different foods contrasting in protein: energy ratios (diversity) or all of those foods provided in a total mixed ration (monotonous). It was found that when animals were allowed to choose, they had lower cortisol, than their counterparts (83). Villalba et al. (73) has also shown similar results in lambs. When lambs were offered a four-way choice between foods which were diverse in nutrient composition or in PSC, there was lower plasma cortisol concentrations compared to lambs who received a monotonous diet of all food options. Manteca et al. (4) and Villalba et al. (5) reviewed dietary choice as an important aspect of animal welfare and related it to animals being able to balance their own nutrients to meet individual requirements through nutritional wisdom, and also to balance intake of PSC so that they can experience their benefits (e.g., reduced gastrointestinal parasites) without experiencing toxicities, which all relate to hedonic well-being. Additionally, hedonic well-being is partly responsible for controlling feeding behavior in ruminants (84). While these are likely true, dietary diversity may also reduce stress merely by providing the animals a choice, if the Eudaimonic theory of well-being can be applied to livestock. Additionally, we postulate that dietary diversity likely enhances both hedonic and eudaimonic well-being (Figure 1), as it has been found that these two mental well-being states contribute to welfare in different and overlapping ways (85).

As mentioned previously, dietary choice allows animals to consume PSC at amounts that provide benefits, while staying below the threshold at which negative effects occur. In one experiment, sheep faced either no challenge (received saline injection), an adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) challenge only, or an ACTH challenge plus one of four PSC (containing polyphenols) products (86). Sgorlon et al. (86) examined global mRNA expressions in sheep blood in response to the blood cortisol levels, which resulted from the ACTH challenge. As expected, ACTH treatment caused increased cortisol production after 3 and 51 h. While the sheep that received plant secondary compounds did not experience reductions in cortisol production, it was determined that the PSC altered the molecular signature produced as a result to increased cortisol. Overall it was determined that while ACTH challenge reduced gene expression involved in immune response, when provided PSC products, this effect was attenuated, but the results were dependent upon the product used (86). Thus, PSC may improve the response that animals have to physiological stressful events.

There is a known relationship between diet and the composition of ruminal microorganisms. For example, Tapio et al. (87) in a 4×4 factorial, fed dairy cows two levels of forage-to-concentrate (high, 35:65; low, 65:35) with either 0 or 50 g sunflower oil/kg diet dry matter. It was determined that there were taxa abundance changes and microbial interactions that were diet specific. Similar results have been seen in cows fed alfalfa or triticale forages (88). The composition of ruminal microorganisms can likewise influence the ruminal degradability of feeds, but also fermentation end products as specific microorganisms produce different fermentation end products, as they often fill dietary niches (89, 90). As the majority of energy available for ruminants to use for metabolism come from fermentation end products [~70% in ruminants; (91)] and the ruminal microbiome composition determines the types of fermentation end products produced, several experiments have shown a link between the rumen microbiome composition and feed efficiency traits (92-94). Therefore, the ruminal microbiome is an important aspect of ruminant nutrition and is dependent on diet.

Relatively recently, there has been much work on how microbial fermentation products (e.g., volatile fatty acids) can alter mood, behavior, and subsequently physiological stress, mental well-being, and welfare, through what is termed the microbiota-gut-brain axis. Much of this work has been done with humans. In a review, it was concluded that the gut microbiota in humans can communicate with the central nervous system, subsequently altering mood, cognition, and emotions (95). Likewise, the microbiota-gut-brain axis has been shown to influence behavior (anxiety and social) and memory capacities in non-ruminant livestock (96). Microbial fermentation products are known to alter feeding behavior in ruminants and to provide positive postingestive feedback to the animals, thereby providing positive emotions and influencing the preference for specific foods. For instance, when different flavors were offered to sheep and associated with a low or high addition of exogenous propionate (a glucogenic volatile fatty acid), it was found that at lower additions ruminants developed a dietary preference for the conditioned flavor, whereas at the higher addition the sheep developed aversions to that flavor (97, 98). This relationship makes intuitive sense as the volatile fatty acids provide 70% of the caloric requirements of ruminants (91). In humans and other mammals the microbiota-gut-brain axis has been shown to influence behavior, mood, and emotions, while the only predominant link shown in ruminants is its effect on feeding behavior (96). The availability of information on the microbiome-gut-brain axis and its effect on non-eating related behaviors in ruminants may be lacking because fermentation
products represents a much larger contribution to their nutritional requirements than humans or other farm animals. For example, while volatile fatty acids contribute 70% of energy for metabolism in ruminants, it only accounts for $\sim 10\%$ for humans, 25% for pigs, and 30% for rabbits and horses (91). However, there is still a need to determine how the ruminal and hind-gut microbiome may alter non-eating related behaviors in ruminants.

Dietary diversity would likely influence the ruminal microbiome composition, which in turn may influence the host animal's mood, emotions, and welfare and would influence dietary preference and dry matter intake. A review of the human literature concluded that a diverse diet would supply a wide range of substrates for the microbes to ferment in the gut, which would promote a more diverse microbiome (i.e., microbial species richness). This diverse gut microbiome was suggested to be more adaptable to disruption (99). It is known that diet formulation alters the ruminal microbial species richness. For instance, when grain based diets are fed to ruminants they have a less diverse microbiome compared to forage based diets (100) and differences have also been shown when cows were fed different forages (88). However, to our knowledge, there is no information available for how dietary diversity may influence the ruminal microbiome's species richness. Therefore, there is a need to determine how dietary diversity may influence the microbiome of grazing ruminants. Additionally, while it is known that microbial fermentation products can alter dietary preference and intake behavior in ruminants, there is a lack of knowledge on if the fermentation products could influence other behaviors, and subsequently mental well-being and welfare, in ruminants. However, based on experimentation with other mammals (humans, rats, etc.), there is a strong possibility for dietary diversity to alter the microbiome, mood, and emotions when provided to ruminants.

Grazing ruminant mental well-being and nutrition are closely linked. Hedonic well-being influences voluntary feed intake through changes in opioid, cannabinoid, and the GABA systems, thus providing a reward response and influencing how ruminants like a specific food [(84); Figure 1]. By providing dietary diversity, animal well-being may be improved in several ways. One is through improved eudaimonic well-being, by providing the animals with choice, thus allowing control over the animal's environment and the expression of individuality. Another means is through improved hedonic well-being by enhanced internal state by improved nutritional status. Additionally, PSC consumed at an appropriate level, which is allowed by dietary choice, have direct effects on the response that the animal has to physiological stress. Finally, dietary diversity may alter the microbiome-gut-brain axis, which has been shown to alter the mental well-being of other mammals.

NUTRITION AS EFFECTED BY DIETARY DIVERSITY

Ruminants have evolved in ecosystems where dietary choices abound and where they were able to select plants differing in PPC and PSC so that they could consume a balanced diet that met their needs for nutrients, medicine, and prophylactics (9). Dietary diversity and allowing animals to choose from an arrangement of feedstuffs to meet their own requirements is not a new concept (9). As ruminant nutritionists, requirements are typically assessed and food offered to meet those requirements for an average animal. However, if we expect dietary requirements to follow a normal distribution, a small number of animals would be "average" and thus, \sim 50% of animals will be fed diets that under supply nutrients and around 50% will over ingest nutrients (1, 2). Therefore, lack of dietary choice may result in individual dietary imbalances. These nutrient imbalances may lead to incidental restriction or augmentation (6). Incidental restriction is a reduction in intake due to negative postingestive feedbacks as a result of over consuming specific nutrients and incidental augmentation occurs when animals over ingest nutrients in order to meet their requirements for nutrients that are in lower concentrations in the diet (6). The differences between individual animals are a result of variations in physiological and morphological differences (1) and also due to individual personalities (101). In a grazing context, Parsons et al. (102) found that, overall, sheep prefer to mix their diet and that their dietary preferences change across the day, influenced by sward characteristics and their previous diet. Parsons et al. (102) measured preference by video-recording grazing location (i.e., forage species) and calculating forage intake from previously established intake rates of the respective forages. Individual animals vary greatly with regard to selection of dietary components within and between meals. It's because of these differences of individual animal preference and selectivity that common management goals aim to reduce sorting and selectivity by cattle fed "totalmixed rations" (103). These management goals often involve adding liquids (e.g., molasses or water) to the mixed rations (103). Interestingly several works have shown these management strategies actually encourage feed sorting and reduce dry matter intake and this has been related to the lower dry matter diets having greater temperatures resulting in increased spoilage (104, 105).

The difference in individual animal selection is likely due to individual variation in the internal-state and post-ingestive feedback mechanisms that govern intake. This means that providing animals choice in the dietary constituents, rather than offered as a "total-mixed ration" formulated for the average animal or a non-functional mixed sward (mixed swards planted in a way that inhibit selection) may allow animals to choose from the dietary constituents in order to meet their respective requirements (8). Ruminant producers offering livestock high concentrate diets prefer to feed total mixed rations for ease of management and to reduce risks for negative health problems (e.g., ruminal acidosis and laminitis). However, it has been suggested that by offering choice ruminants can alter eating patterns to account for the later concern (2) and this has been supported by experiments where grain was offered at free choice and pH was measured (106, 107). While there has been much research on feeding total mixed rations in the last 60 years [see (108)], there is surprisingly few experiments which have compared total mixed rations compared to the dietary

constituents offered as choice, but many of those that have, found choice to be superior. In an early experiment, reduced dry matter intake, similar performance, and improved feed efficiency were observed when dairy cows were offered forage and grain separately as opposed to being provided a total mixed ration (109). Another experiment conducted in feedlot fed steers provides further evidence for this hypothesis (2). Cattle were offered either a total-mixed ration or the components of the total-mixed ration offered individually. It was found that the diet selected by cattle varied tremendously between animals, but also within animals across days. The cattle offered choice consumed less feed, had similar performance, and lower cost of gain compared to the total mixed ration treatment (2). A separate experiment conducted by the same laboratory with growing sheep found that when lambs were provided choice between three iso-caloric and iso-nitrogenous diets, they had greater dry matter intakes, performance, and feed efficiency, and less cost-of-gain compared to lambs offered only one of the three diets (110). These experiments have been corroborated by other laboratories. When lactating goats were offered choice they consistently consumed less dry matter comparable milk productions compared to their total mixed ration counterparts (111). It is important to note that some experiments have found choice and total-mixed rations to be not significantly different (106, 107) or for total-mixed rations to be superior (112). Likewise, others contend that ruminants possess poor internal wisdom and that they are unable to select diets according to their nutrient requirements (108). These different findings and conclusions may be due to the differences in the dietary options provided. If dietary constituents are not divergent enough in nutritive composition, then animals may not be able to select diets tailored to their specific individual nutrient requirements. Several experiments across multiple species and production settings have shown choice to improve feed efficiencies (either by reducing intake while maintaining intake or by increasing intake and performance) compared to offering a total-mixed ration, which were formulated to be optimal for the average animal. This is clear evidence for the importance of dietary choice as a means for meeting the individual requirements and avoiding incidental restriction or augmentation of intake.

LINKING OXIDATIVE, AND PHYSIOLOGICAL STRESS

In humans, a link between oxidative status (metabolic stress) and physiological stress has been suggested and reviewed, with an apparent vicious cycle where physiological stress increases metabolic stress, which in turn increases physiological stress, etc., resulting in telomere shortening and aging (113–115). This may be especially true in scenarios of chronic stress (115, 116). Aschbacher et al. (116) explored the effect of chronic stress and perceived acute stress and found that there was significant oxidative damage when chronically stressed people

experienced a perceived stressor. Chronic stress occurs when there are relatively high levels of glucocorticoids circulation in the blood stream for a prolonged period of time. Chronic stress has been linked to health problems in humans and animals. Several works have reported increased oxidative stress as a possible mode of action behind the cost of chronic stress (117). Orzechowski et al. (118) explored how rat's antioxidant status and oxidative stress changed when challenged with dexamethasone (a synthetic GC; 2-mg/kg of body weight/d). It was found that treatment with dexamethasone decreased blood and muscle glutathione, reduced SOD activity, and increased malondialdehyde [measured by TBARS; (118)]. A meta-analysis by Costantini et al. (117) concluded that GC were significantly associated with oxidative stress and that there were different magnitudes of effects according to tissue, sex, and age. Therefore, physiological stress increases oxidative stress in livestock and other mammals.

There is little direct evidence to link physiological stress and oxidative stress and their subsequent consequence in livestock. The experiments that have explored these relationships generally compared animals before and after a physiologically stressful event. In one experiment, 105 crossbred steers where transported for 19h and 40 min. This stressful event significantly reduced serum antioxidant capacity and increased malondialdehyde (marker of oxidative stress). It was found that calves with more incidence of bovine respiratory disease also had higher oxidative stress after transportation (119). Other common management practices, which are known to be stressful to animals have been linked to oxidative stress. After sheep were shorn, there were greater circulating malondialdehyde (marker of lipid peroxidation) concentrations than before shearing (120). Finally, malondialdehyde was likewise increased after cattle were dehorned (121). These experiments provide evidence that physiological stress increases oxidative stress in livestock. However, there is less evidence to show that dietary antioxidants can reduce physiological stress. One experiment challenged sheep with injections of ACTH and found that a treatment group provided with supranutritional antioxidants (Vitamin E and Se) had lower circulating cortisol compared to their non-supplemented cohorts (45). Some recent works have shown a positive correlation between isoprostanes, which results from oxidant conversion of arachidonic acid, and cortisol. These experiments explored the effects of a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug on reproductive performance of cattle (29, 30). As mentioned previously, isoprostanes result from the peroxidation of arachidonic acid by oxidants and it has been suggested that they are the pathophysiological mediators of oxidative damage (28). A positive correlation between cortisol and isoprostanes provides direct evidence and a potential mode of action for a link between oxidants and physiological stress. However, the relationship between physiological and oxidative stress is an area that requires further investigation in livestock, but there is evidence that improving oxidative status may allow the animal to better recuperate from the stress and reduce subsequent negative effects.

LINKING OXIDATIVE AND NUTRITIONAL STATUS

Metabolic disorders seen in transition dairy cows provides excellent insight into how oxidative stress can be effected by the nutritional status of the animal. Bernabucci et al. (22) followed 24 cows with different body condition scores (BCS) across the transition period (\pm 30 d at calving). It was concluded in this experiment that oxidative status was related to energy status and that cows with greater weight loss over this period experienced greater oxidative stress (22). This positive relationship between energy demand and negative energy balance and oxidative stress has been shown in several experiments. For example, milk yield is positively correlated to markers of oxidative stress in dairy cows [malondialdehyde, (122) and hydroperoxides (123, 124)]. While most of the experiments focused on nutrition and oxidative stress in dairy cows, the relationships are applicable across ruminant species. For example, when lambs were fed 70 or 80% of their metabolizable energy requirements, they had higher plasma malondialdehyde levels than when lambs were fed 100% of their requirements (125). Level of energy intake is not the only way oxidative status is influenced by nutrition, in fact source of energy can have impacts. When lambs were fed high fat, there was an increase in blood superoxide dismutase levels and glutathione concentrations. This was attributed to increased fatty acid oxidation which would stimulate the production of oxidants (126). Nutritionally related disorders such as subacute ruminal acidosis can also induce oxidative stress. Guo et al. (127) found that when dairy cows were induced with subacute ruminal acidosis, there were lower plasma levels of total antioxidant capacity and higher glutathione peroxidase activity and malondialdehyde concentrations. Nutritional status and oxidative stress are intimately linked. Oxidative stress can be influenced by previous level of nutrition, current energy intake, source of energy, and also nutritional related diseases.

As mentioned above, diet can greatly influence the composition of the ruminal microbiota. Further, we discussed above how microbial fermentation products can influence physiological stress and welfare. As physiological stress and reduced welfare will likely lead to oxidative stress, the effect that dietary diversity may have on the ruminal microbiota, or even the hind-gut microbiota, may provide another mode of action for dietary diversity to reduce physiological and oxidative stress. However, this requires further investigation. Additionally, microorganisms have been directly linked to reductions in oxidative stress. For instance, cattle had less antioxidant activity in their ruminal fluid and in their plasma when they were defaunated (removal of protozoa) compared to their faunated cohorts (39). Also, steers placed in a feedlot had less glutathione peroxidase activity (indicating less oxidative stress) and a greater blood antioxidant level when provided a lactobacillus fermentation product compared to the control steers (128). Thus, dietary diversity may alter mood and behavior, thereby influencing mental well-being and welfare, indirectly by altering the ruminal microbiota composition and also may directly reduce oxidative stress.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

This review has covered oxidative stress, physiological stress, and nutritional status, which are areas of animal science that are important to both producers and consumers. Further, we have provided links between these three areas and have described how dietary diversity links the three. In conclusion, there is evidence to support how dietary biochemical diversity (provided through taxonomical diversity) can reduce oxidative stress directly by providing plant secondary compounds as natural dietary antioxidants and indirectly by reducing physiological stress, which we have reported evidence to influence oxidative status. Additionally, the antioxidant benefits of plant secondary compounds may improve the metabolic response the animal has to physiological stress and therefore improve the response to the perceived stress. Dietary diversity may improve eudaimonic well-being merely by allowing animals to make choices, and thus we postulate that this theory of well-being applies to livestock. Further, diverse diets may alter the microbial-gutbrain axis, which in humans and some non-ruminant farm animals has been shown to alter cognition, mood, emotions, and behavior, as well as dietary preference and eating behavior in ruminants. Finally, dietary choice allows animals to take advantage of differences in plant primary compounds to meet individual animal requirements and thereby improve nutritional status. Improved nutritional status can subsequently have beneficial impacts on oxidative stress by reducing energy store mobilization and physiological stress by improving hedonic wellbeing. Physiological stress, oxidative stress, and nutritional stress are intimately linked (Figure 1) and dietary choice compared to monotony may simultaneously improve all of these items directly and indirectly, resulting in marked improvements in the foraging animal's nutritional status, health, mental well-being, and ultimately their welfare. We conclude that dietary diversity reduces stresses while enhancing hedonic and eudaimonic wellbeing in ruminant livestock.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB was responsible for the majority of formulating content and writing the submitted manuscript. PG is MB adviser and assisted in writing, formulating content of manuscript, proofreading, and suggesting edits.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to express gratitude to Konagh Garrett and Cameron Marshall from Lincoln University and Nicholas Tyler from the University of Tromso-The Arctic University of Norway for their beneficial comments on the draft and to the reviewers for their comments on the submitted manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Scott LL, Provenza FD. Variation in food selection among lambs: effects of basal diet and foods offered in a meal. J Anim Sci. (1999) 77:2391–7. doi: 10.2527/1999. 7792391x
- Atwood SB, Provenza FD, Wiedmeier RD, Banner RE. Influence of freechoice vs mixed-ration diets on food intake and performance of fattening calves. J Anim Sci. (2001) 79:3034–40. doi: 10.2527/2001.79123034x
- Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Dziba LE, Atwood SB, Banner RE. Linking herbivore experience, varied diets, and plant biochemical diversity. *Small Rumin Res.* (2003) 49:257–74. doi: 10.1016/S0921-4488(03)00143-3
- Manteca X, Villalba JJ, Atwood SB, Dziba L, Provenza FD. Is dietary choice important to animal welfare? J Vet Behav Clin Appl Res. (2008) 3:229–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2008.05.005
- Villalba JJ, Provenza FD, Manteca X. Links between ruminants' food preference and their welfare. *Animal.* (2010) 4:1240–7. doi: 10.1017/S1751731110000467
- Villalba JJ, Provenza FD, Catanese F, Distel RA. Understanding and manipulating diet choice in grazing animals. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:261– 71. doi: 10.1071/AN14449
- Villalba JJ, Cabassu R, Gunter SA. Forage choice in pasturelands: influence on cattle foraging behavior and performance. J Anim Sci. (2015) 93:1729–40. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-8667
- Gregorini P, Villalba JJ, Chilibroste P, Provenza FD. Grazing management: Setting the table, designing the menu and influencing the diner. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2017) 57:1248–68. doi: 10.1071/AN16637
- Provenza FD. Acquired aversions as the basis for varied diets of ruminants foraging on rangelands. J Anim Sci. (1996) 74:2010–20. doi: 10.2527/1996.7482010x
- Deci EL, Ryan RM. Hedonia, eudaimonia, and well-being: an introduction. J Happiness Stud. (2008) 9:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9018-1
- Boissy A, Erhard HW. How studying interactions between animal emotions, cognition, and personality can contribute to improve farm animal welfare. In: Grandin T, Deesing MJ, editors. *Genetics and the Behavior of Domestic Animals*. 2nd ed. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press (2014). p. 81–113.
- 12. Harfeld JL. Telos and the ethics of animal farming. *J Agric Environ Ethics*. (2013) 26:691–709. doi: 10.1007/s10806-012-9422-y
- Nordenfelt L. Health and welfare in animals and humans. Acta Biotheor. (2011) 59:139–52. doi: 10.1007/s10441-011-9125-1
- Bailey DW, Lunt S, Lipka A, Thomas MG, Medrano JF, Jensen D. Genetic influences on cattle grazing distribution: association of genetic markers with terrain use in cattle. *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2015) 68:142–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rama.2015.02.001
- Owen MA, Swaisgood RR, Czekala NM, Lindburg DG. Enclosure choice and well-being in giant pandas: is it all about control? *Zoo Biol.* (2005) 24:475–81. doi: 10.1002/zoo.20064
- Sordillo LM, Contreras GA, Aitken SL. Metabolic factors affecting the inflammatory response of periparturient dairy cows. *Anim Health Res Rev.* (2009) 10:53–63. doi: 10.1017/S1466252309990016
- Sordillo LM, Aitken SL. Impact of oxidative stress on the health and immune function of dairy cattle. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2009) 128:104–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2008.10.305
- Celi P. The role of oxidative stress in small ruminants' health and production. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2010) 39:348–63. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982010001300038
- Celi P, Gabai G. Oxidant/antioxidant balance in animal nutrition and health: the role of protein oxidation. *Front Vet Sci.* (2015) 2:48. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2015.00048
- Dantzer R, Mormède P. Stress in farm animals: a need for reevaluation. J Anim Sci. (1983) 57:6–18. doi: 10.2527/jas1983.5716
- Fraser D. Toward a global perspective on farm animal welfare. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2008) 113:330–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.01.011
- Bernabucci U, Ronchi B, Lacetera N, Nardone A. Influence of body condition score on relationships between metabolic status and oxidative stress in periparturient dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:2017–26. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72878-2

- 23. Jin L, Yan S, Shi B, Bao H, Gong J, Guo X, et al. Effects of vitamin A on the milk performance, antioxidant functions and immune functions of dairy cows. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2014) 192:15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.03.003
- Lykkesfeldt J, Svendsen O. Oxidants and antioxidants in disease: oxidative stress in farm animals. Vet J. (2007) 173:502–11. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2006.06.005
- Basu S. Bioactive eicosanoids: role of prostaglandin F2α and F2-isoprostanes in inflammation and oxidative stress related pathology. *Mol Cells.* (2010) 30:383–91. doi: 10.1007/s10059-010-0157-1
- Odde KG. A review of synchronization of estrus in postpartum cattle. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr. (1990) 68:817–30. doi: 10.2527/1990.683817x
- 27. Chand N, Eyre P. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a review. New applications in hypersensitivity reactions of cattle and horses. *Can J Comp Med.* (1977) 41:233–40.
- Montuschi P, Barnes P, Roberts LJ. Insights into oxidative stress: the isoprostanes. *Curr Med Chem.* (2007) 14:703–17. doi: 10.2174/092986707780059607
- Kasimanickam RK, Hall JB, Estill CT, Kastelic JP, Joseph C, Nak D. Flunixin meglumine improves pregnancy rate in embryo recipient beef cows with an excitable temperament. *Theriogenology*. (2018) 107:70–7. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017. 10.043
- Kasimanickam R, Kasimanickam V, Gold J, Moore D, Kastelic JP, Ratzburg K. Injectable or transdermal flunixin meglumine improves pregnancy rates in embryo transfer recipient beef cows without altering returns to estrus. *Theriogenology*. (2019) 140:8–17. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2019. 08.011
- Muller F. The nature and mechanism of superoxide production by the electron transport chain: its relevance to aging. J Am Aging Assoc. (2000) 23:227–53. doi: 10.1007/s11357-000-0022-9
- Murphy MP. How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochem J.* (2009) 417:1–13. doi: 10.1042/BJ20081386
- Sies H, Berndt C, Jones DP. Oxidative stress. Annu Rev Biochem. (2017) 86:715–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-061516-045037
- Abate C, Patel L, Raucher FJIII, Curran T. Redox regulation of DNAbinding activity of fos and jun oncogene proteins *in vitro*. *Science*. (1990) 249:1157–61. doi: 10.1126/science.2118682
- Hurd TR, Prime TA, Harbour ME, Lilley KS, Murphy MP. Detection of reactive oxygen species-sensitive thiol proteins by redox difference gel electrophoresis: Implications for mitochondrial redox signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:22040–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703591200
- Hampton MB, Kettle AJ, Winterbourn CC. Inside the neutrophil phagosome: oxidants, myeloperoxidase, and bacterial killing. *Blood.* (1998) 92:3007–17. doi: 10.1182/blood.V92.9.3007
- Ackermann MR, Brogden KA. Response of the ruminant respiratory tract to Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica. *Microbes Infect.* (2000) 2:1079–88. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(00)01262-4
- Halliwell B, Zhao K, Whiteman M. The gastrointestinal tract: A major site of antioxidant action? *Free Radic Res.* (2000) 33:819–30. doi: 10.1080/10715760000301341
- Gazi MR, Yokota M, Tanaka Y, Kanda S, Itabashi H. Effects of protozoa on the antioxidant activity in the ruminal fluid and blood plasma of cattle. *Anim Sci J.* (2007) 78:34–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2006. 00401.x
- 40. Harris ED. Regultion of antioxidant enzymes. *FASEB J.* (1992) 6:2675–83. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.6.9.1612291
- Mironczuk-Chodakowska I, Witkowska AM, Zujko ME. Endogenous nonenzymatic antioxidants in the human body. *Adv Med Sci.* (2018) 63:68–78. doi: 10.1016/j.advms.2017.05.005
- Celi P. Biomarkers of oxidative stress in ruminant medicine. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol.* (2011) 33:233–40. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2010.514917
- Gerloff BJ. Effect of selenium supplementation on dairy cattle. J Anim Sci. (1992) 70:3934–40. doi: 10.2527/1992.70123934x

- Bernabucci U, Ronchi B, Lacetera N, Nardone A. Markers of oxidative status in plasma and erythrocytes of transition dairy cows during hot season. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:2173–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74296-3
- Chauhan SS, Celi P, Leury BJ, Clarke IJ, Dunshea FR. Dietary antioxidants at supranutritional doses improve oxidative status and reduce the negative effects of heat stress in sheep. J Anim Sci. (2014) 92:3364–74. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-7714
- Roche M, Rondeau P, Singh NR, Tarnus E, Bourdon E. The antioxidant properties of serum albumin. *FEBS Lett.* (2008) 582:1783–7. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.04.057
- 47. Levieux D, Ollier A. Bovine immunoglobulin G, β-lactoglobulin, α-lactalbumin and serum albumin in colostrum and milk during the early post partum period. J Dairy Res. (1999) 66:421–30. doi: 10.1017/S0022029999003581
- Acamovic T, Brooker JD. Biochemistry of plant secondary metabolites and their effects in animals. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2005) 64:403–12. doi: 10.1079/PNS2005449
- Waghorn G. Beneficial and detrimental effects of dietary condensed tannins for sustainable sheep and goat production-Progress and challenges. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2008) 147:116–39. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.09.013
- Karakas FP, Turker AU, Karakas A, Mshvildadze V, Pichette A, Legault J. *In vitro* cytotoxic, antibacterial, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities and phenolic content in wild-grown flowers of common daisy-A medicinal plant. *J Herb Med.* (2017) 8:31–9. doi: 10.1016/j.hermed.2016.11.003
- Valente LMM, da Paixão D, do Nascimento AC, dos Santos PF, Scheinvar P, da Silva L. A. Antiradical activity, nutritional potential and flavonoids of the cladodes of Opuntia monacantha (Cactaceae). *Food Chem.* (2010) 123:1127–31. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.05.074
- Chakraborty K, Joseph D, Praveen NK. Antioxidant activities and phenolic contents of three red seaweeds (Division: Rhodophyta) harvested from the Gulf of Mannar of Peninsular India. *J Food Sci Technol.* (2015) 52:1924–35. doi: 10.1007/s13197-013-1189-2
- Allen VG, Pond K, Saker R, Fontenot KE, Bagley JP, Melton C. Tasco: influence of a brown seaweed on antioxidants in forages and livestock-A review. J Anim Sci. (2001) 79:E21–31. doi: 10.2527/jas2001.79E-SupplE21x
- Luciano G, Vasta V, Monahan FJ, López-Andrés P, Biondi L, Priolo A. Antioxidant status, colour stability and myoglobin resistance to oxidation of longissimus dorsi muscle from lambs fed a tannin-containing diet. *Food Chem.* (2011) 124:1036–42. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.07.070
- Kannan G, Saker KE, Terrill TH, Kouakou B, Galipalli S, Gelaye S. Effect of seaweed extract supplementation in goats exposed to simulated preslaughter stress. *Small Rumin Res.* (2007) 73:221–7. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2007.02.006
- Di Trana A, Bonanno A, Cecchini S, Giorgio D, Di Grigoli A, Claps S. Effects of Sulla forage (Sulla coronarium L.) on the oxidative status and milk polyphenol content in goats. *J. Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:37–46. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8414
- Sgorlon S, Stradaioli G, Zanin D, Stefanon B. Biochemical and molecular responses to antioxidant supplementation in sheep. *Small Rumin Res.* (2006) 64:143–51. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2005.04.009
- Liu HW, Zhou DW, Li K. Effects of chestnut tannins on performance and antioxidative status of transition dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:5901–7. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6904
- Vasta V, Luciano G. The effects of dietary consumption of plants secondary compounds on small ruminants' products quality. *Small Rumin Res.* (2011) 101:150–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2011.09.035
- Gladine C, Rock E, Morand C, Bauchart D, Durand D. Bioavailability and antioxidant capacity of plant extracts rich in polyphenols, given as a single acute dose, in sheep made highly susceptible to lipoperoxidation. *Br J Nutr.* (2007) 98:691–701. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507742666
- Besle JM, Viala D, Martin B, Pradel P, Meunier B, Berdagué JL, et al. Ultraviolet-absorbing compounds in milk are related to forage polyphenols. *J Dairy. Sci.* (2010) 93:2846–56. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2939
- Moñino I, Martínez C, Sotomayor JA, Lafuente A, Jordán MJ. Polyphenolic transmission to Segureño lamb meat from ewes' diet supplemented with the distillate from rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) leaves. J Agric Food Chem. (2008) 56:3363–7. doi: 10.1021/jf7036856

- Nieto G, Estrada M, Jordán MJ, Garrido MD, Bañón S. Effects in ewe diet of rosemary by-product on lipid oxidation and the eating quality of cooked lamb under retail display conditions. *Food Chem.* (2011) 124:1423–9. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.07.102
- Nieto G, Díaz P, Bañón S, Garrido MD. Dietary administration of ewe diets with a distillate from rosemary leaves (Rosmarinus officinalis L.): influence on lamb meat quality. *Meat Sci.* (2010) 84:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.08.001
- Nieto G, Díaz P, Bañón S, Garrido MD. Effect on lamb meat quality of including thyme (Thymus zygis ssp. gracilis) leaves in ewes' diet. *Meat Sci.* (2010) 85:82–8. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.12.009
- 66. Branciari R, Galarini R, Giusepponi D, Trabalza-Marinucci M, Forte C, Roila R, et al. Oxidative status and presence of bioactive compounds in meat from chickens fed polyphenols extracted from olive oil industry waste. *Sustain.* (2017) 9:1–13. doi: 10.3390/su9091566
- Faix S, Faixova Z, Boldizarova K, Javorsky P. The effect of long-term high heavy metal intake on lipid peroxidation of gastrointestinal tissue in sheep. *Vet Med.* (2005) 50:401–5. doi: 10.17221/5639-VETMED
- Repetto MG, Llesuy SF. Antioxidant properties of natural compounds used in popular medicine for gastric ulcers. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res.* (2002) 35:523–34. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2002000500003
- Ma Q. Role of Nrf2 in oxidative stress and toxicity. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. (2013) 53:401–26. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-011112-140320
- Lee MT, Lin WC, Yu B, Lee TT. Antioxidant capacity of phytochemicals and their potential effects on oxidative status in animals - a review. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (2017) 30:299–308. doi: 10.5713/ajas.16.0438
- Ma YF, Zhao L, Coleman DN, Gao M, Loor JJ. Tea polyphenols protect bovine mammary epithelial cells from hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative damage *in vitro* by activating NFE2L2 / HMOX1 pathways. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 102:1–13. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15047
- 72. Grandin T. Assessment of stress during handling and transport. J Anim Sci. (1997) 75:249–57. doi: 10.2527/1997.751249x
- Villalba JJ, Catanese F, Provenza FD, Distel RA. Relationships between early experience to dietary diversity, acceptance of novel flavors, and open field behavior in sheep. *Physiol Behav.* (2012) 105:181–7. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.08.031
- Palme R, Robia C, Messmann S, Hofer J, Möstl E. Measurement of faecal cortisol metabolites in ruminants: a non-invasive parameter of adrenocortical function. *Wien Tierarztl Monatsschr.* (1999) 86:237–41.
- Tallo-Parra O, Manteca X, Sabes-Alsina M, Carbajal A, Lopez-Bejarm M. Hair cortisol detection in dairy cattle by using EIA: protocol validation and correlation with faecal cortisol metabolites. *Animal.* (2014) 9:1059–64. doi: 10.1017/S1751731115000294
- Barrell GK. An appraisal of methods for measuring welfare of grazing ruminants. Front Vet Sci. (2019) 6:289. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00289
- Yeates JW, Main DCJ. Assessment of positive welfare: a review. Vet J. (2008) 175:293–300. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.05.009
- Boissy A, Manteuffel G, Jensen MB, Moe RO, Spruijt B, Aubert A. Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:375–97. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003
- Webster J. Animal welfare: freedoms, dominions and "A life worth living." Animals. (2016) 6:2–7. doi: 10.3390/ani6060035
- Webster J. Animal Welfare: A Cool Eye Towards Eden. Oxford: Blackwell Science (1994).
- Mellor DJ. Updating animal welfare thinking: moving beyond the "five freedoms" towards "A lifeworth living." *Animals*. (2016) 6:1–20. doi: 10.3390/ani6030021
- Ryff CD. Psychological well-being revisited: advances in the science and practice of eudaimonia. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2013) 83:10–28. doi: 10.1159/000353263
- Catanese F, Obelar M, Villalba JJ, Distel RA. The importance of diet choice on stress-related responses by lambs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 148:37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.07.005
- 84. Ginane C, Bonnet M, Baumont R, Revell DK. Feeding behaviour in ruminants: a consequence of interactions between a reward system and the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:247. doi: 10.1071/AN14481

- Huta V, Ryan RM. Pursuing pleasure or virtue: the differential and overlapping well-being benefits of hedonic and eudaimonic motives. J Happiness Stud. (2010) 11:735–62. doi: 10.1007/s10902-009-9171-4
- Sgorlon S, Colitti M, Asquini E, Ferrarini A, Pallavicini A, Stefanon B. Administration of botanicals with the diet regulates gene expression in peripheral blood cells of Sarda sheep during ACTH challenge. *Domest Anim Endocrinol.* (2012) 43:213–26. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2012.03.001
- Tapio I, Fischer D, Blasco L, Tapio M, Wallace R, Vilkki J. Taxon abundance, diversity, co-occurrence and network analysis of the ruminal microbiota in response to dietary changes in dairy cows. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:180260. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180260
- Kong Y, Teather R, Forster R. Composition, spatial distribution, and diversity of the bacterial communities in the rumen of cows fed different forages. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* (2010) 74:612–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00977.x
- Baldwin RL, Allison MJ. Rumen metabolism. J Anim Sci. (1983) 57(Suppl 2):461–77.
- Russell JB, Rychlik JL. Factors that alter rumen microbial ecology. Science. (2001) 292:1119–22. doi: 10.1126/science.1058830
- Bergman EN. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. *Physiol Rev.* (1990) 70:567–90. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1990.70.2.567
- McCann JC, Wiley LM, Forbes TD, Rouquette FM, Tedeschi LO. Relationship between the rumen microbiome and residual feed intakeefficiency of brahman bulls stocked on bermudagrass pastures. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:91864. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091864
- Myer PR, Smith TP, Wells L, Kuehn JE, Freetly HC. Rumen microbiome from steers differing in feed efficiency. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:129174. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129174
- Li F, Guan LL. Metatranscriptomic profiling reveals linkages between the active rumen microbiome and feed efficiency in beef cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2017) 83:1–16. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00061-17
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:701–12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346
- Kraimi N, Dawkins M, Gebhardt-Henrich SG, Velge P, Rychlik I, Leterrier C. Influence of the microbiota-gut-brain axis on behavior and welfare in farm animals: a review. *Physiol Behav.* (2019) 210:112658. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112658
- Ralphs MH, Provenza FD, Wiedmeier RD, Bunderson FB. Effects of energy source and food flavor on conditioned preferences in sheep. J Anim Sci. (1995) 73:1651–7. doi: 10.2527/1995.7361651x
- Villalba JJ, Provenza FD. Preference for flavored wheat straw by lambs conditioned with intraruminal infusions of acetate and propionate. J Anim Sci. (1997) 75:2905–14. doi: 10.2527/1997.75112905x
- Heiman ML, Greenway FL. A healthy gastrointestinal microbiome is dependent on dietary diversity. *Mol Metab.* (2016) 5:317–20. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2016.02.005
- 100. Khafipour E, Li S, Tun HM, Derakhshani H, Moossavi S, Plaizier JC. Effects of grain feeding on microbiota in the digestive tract of cattle. *Anim Front*. (2016) 6:13–9. doi: 10.2527/af.2016-0018
- 101. Meagher RK, Weary D, von Keyserlingk MAG. Some like it varied: individual differences in preference for feed variety in dairy heifers. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 195:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.06.006
- 102. Parsons AJ, Newman JA, Penning PD, Harvey A, Orr RJ. Diet preference of sheep: effects of recent diet, physiological state and species abundance. J Anim Ecol. (1994) 63:465–78. doi: 10.2307/5563
- Shaver R. Rumen acidosis in dairy cattle: bunk management considerations. Adv Dairy Technol. (2002) 14:241–9.
- Miller-Cushon EK, Devries TJ. Effect of dietary dry matter concentration on the sorting behavior of lactating dairy cows fed a total mixed ration. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:3292–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1772
- Felton CA, DeVries TJ. Effect of water addition to a total mixed ration on feed temperature, feed intake, sorting behavior, and milk production of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 93:2651–60. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-3009
- 106. Moya D, Mazzenga A, Holtshausen L, Cozzi G, González L, Schwartzkopf-Genswein A. Feeding behavior and ruminal acidosis in beef cattle offered

a total mixed ration or dietary components separately. J Anim Sci. (2011) 89:520–30. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3045

- 107. Moya D, Holtshausen L, Marti S, Gibb D, McAllister G, Schwartzkopf-Genswein TA. Feeding behavior and ruminal pH of corn silage, barley grain, and corn dried distillers' grain offered in a total mixed ration or in a free-choice diet to beef cattle. J Anim Sci. (2014) 92:3526–36. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-7224
- Schingoethe DJ. A 100-year review: total mixed ration feeding of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2017) 100:10143–50. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-12967
- 109. Nocek JE, Steele RL, Braund DG. Performance of dairy cows fed forage and grain separately versus a total mixed ration. J Dairy Sci. (1986) 69:2140–7. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(86)80646-4
- 110. Atwood SB, Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Wiedmeier RD. Intake of lambs offered ad libitum access to one of three iso-caloric and iso-nitrogenous mixed rations or a choice of all three foods. *Livest Sci.* (2006) 101:142–9. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2005.10.022
- 111. Yurtseven S, Görgülü M. Effects of grain sources and feeding methods, freechoice vs total mixed ration, on milk yield and composition of German Fawn x Hair crossbred goats in mid lactation. *J Anim Feed Sci.* (2004) 13:417–28. doi: 10.22358/jafs/67429/2004
- 112. McCoy GC, Thurmon HS, Olson HH, Reed A. Complete feed rations for lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (1966) 49:1058–63. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(66)88017-7
- 113. Ando K, Fujita, T. Metabolic syndrome and oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med. (2009) 47:213–8. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009. 04.030
- 114. Epel ES. Psychological and metabolic stress: a recipe for accelerated cellular aging? *Hormones.* (2009) 8:7–22. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1217
- Hopps E, Noto D, Caimi G, Averna MR. A novel component of the metabolic syndrome: the oxidative stress. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2010) 20:72–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2009.06.002
- 116. Aschbacher K, O'Donovan A, Wolkowitz OM, Dhabhar FS, Su Y, Epel E. Good stress, bad stress and oxidative stress: insights from anticipatory cortisol reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2013) 38:1698– 708. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.02.004
- 117. Costantini D, Marasco V, Møller AP. A meta-analysis of glucocorticoids as modulators of oxidative stress in vertebrates. J Comp Physiol B Biochem Syst Environ Physiol. (2011) 181:447–56. doi: 10.1007/s00360-011-0566-2
- 118. Orzechowski A, Ostaszewski P, Brodnicka A, Wilczak J, Jank M, Balasinska B, et al. Excess of glucocorticoids impairs whole-body antioxidant status in young rats. Relation to the effect of dexamethasone in soleus muscle and spleen. *Horm Metab Res.* (2000) 32:174–80. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-978617
- 119. Chirase NK, Greene W, Purdy CW, Loan RW, Auvermann BW, Parker DB, et al. Effect of transport stress on respiratory disease, serum antioxidant status, and serum concentrations of lipid peroxidation biomarkers in beef cattle. *Am J Vet Res.* (2004) 65:860–4. doi: 10.2460/ajvr.2004. 65.860
- 120. Fidan AF, Kucukkurt I, Eryavuz A, Cigerci IH, Yardimci M, Ozdemir A. Effects of shearing procedures on oxidant- antioxidant status in Chios sheep. *Rev Med Vet.* (2009) 7:349–55.
- Fidan AF, Pamuk K, Ozdemir AZK, Sarita S, Tarakci U. Effects of dehorning by amputation on oxidant- antioxidant status in mature cattle. *Rev Med Vet*. (2010) 161:502–8.
- 122. Gabai G, Testoni S, Piccinini R, Marinelli L, Stradaioli G. Oxidative stress in primiparous cows in relation to dietary starch and the progress of lactation. *Anim Sci.* (2004) 79:99–108. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800054576
- 123. Lohrke B, Vierguts TT, Kanitz W, Gollnitz K, Becker F, Schweigert FJ. High milk yield in dairy cows associated with oxidant stress. J Vet Res. (2004) 8:70–8.
- 124. Castillo C, Hernández J, Lopez-Alonso M, Miranda M, Benedito JL. Values of plasma lipid hydroperoxides and total antioxidant status in healthy dairy cows: preliminary observations. *Arch für Tierzucht*. (2003) 46:227–33. doi: 10.5194/aab-46-227-2003
- 125. Singh VK, Pattanaik AK, Sharma K, Saini M. Effect of dietary energy intake on erythrocytic antioxidant defence in growing lambs fed a wheat straw-based diet. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2011) 51:642. doi: 10.1071/AN10098

- 126. Sgorlon S, Stradaioli G, Gabai G, Stefanon B. Variation of starch and fat in the diet affects metabolic status and oxidative stress in ewes. *Small Rumin Res.* (2008) 74:123–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2007.04.004
- 127. Guo Y, Xu X, Zou Y, Yang Z, Li S, Cao Z. Changes in feed intake, nutrient digestion, plasma metabolites, and oxidative stress parameters in dairy cows with subacute ruminal acidosis and its regulation with pelleted beet pulp. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. (2013) 4:1–10. doi: 10.1186/2049-1891-4-31
- 128. Ran T, Gomaa WM, Shen SY, Saleem Z, Yang AM, McAllister TA. Use of naturally sourced feed additives (lactobacillus fermentation products and enzymes) in growing and finishing steers: effects on performance, carcass characteristics and blood metabolites. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2019) 254:114190. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2019. 05.013

Conflict of Interest: MB received funding from Agrisea Ltd (Paeroa, New Zealand) and Callaghan Innovations (New Zealand) to support his Ph.D. studies.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Beck and Gregorini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pastoral Farming Ethics and Economics–Aligning Grazing Practices and Expectations

Mark W. Fisher*

Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington, New Zealand

Keywords: animal welfare, body condition, shelter, painful husbandry procedures, values, profitability, community engagement

INTRODUCTION

We all generally value animal welfare–what animals experience, how they perform or whether they are being treated with respect–is important to them and to us. However, animal welfare is contested because humans benefit from compromises to animals and we have different expectations borne of different needs, preferences and prejudices: "some we love, some we hate, some we eat" (1). Also contested is what we think and understand is important to animals, and whether the way animals are farmed is in keeping with their nature. In all, a complex subject, but complexity is a feature of humanity, as noted in the development of early civilisations (2).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Gregorini, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Reviewed by:

Graham Keith Barrell, Lincoln University, New Zealand Xavier Manteca, Autonomous University of Barcelona, Spain

*Correspondence:

Mark W. Fisher Mark.Fisher@mpi.govt.nz

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 18 November 2019 Accepted: 30 March 2020 Published: 22 April 2020

Citation:

Fisher MW (2020) Pastoral Farming Ethics and Economics–Aligning Grazing Practices and Expectations. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:209. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00209 Few people see the world as exclusively human and most extend concern to animals, plants and the environment, giving rise to different animal-related values, the "rules" and "expectations" we learn from parents and family life, friends, religion, our trades, and professions, the literature, media, the society we live in and its history. Values, then, are not always shared; reasonable people can disagree; and contested ideas can become difficult to describe, subject to considerable political debate and are unlikely to have simple solutions, at best being managed rather than solved. Our common morality holds that we not harm, that we do good, that we are fair and just, and that we respect people's ability to make their own choices (3). The importance of values to human behavior requires that different values are understood, respected and taken into account, even if they cannot be reconciled. And how humans interact with animals is fertile ground for contested practices and expectations.

The aim of this chapter is to provide a commentary on some of the contested aspects of pastoral farming and how we go about dealing with them. The purpose is to reveal the complexity of the subject and how this gives rise to different views or perspectives informed by different values, and how we engage and evaluate those views.

THE CHALLENGES OF PASTORAL FARMING

Farming is at the nexus of two worlds, the physical or biological and the social or societal, farming arguably subordinate to both (4). Consequently, the potential challenges can be varied, from dealing with the vagaries of climate to the expectations of people far removed from the land. Most pastoral farmed animals, especially those in extensive environments, have some of the attributes of free-living or wild animals. Although having choice of diet and considerable freedom of movement and behavior, they are under some degree of human management (5–7). For example, social and kin structure may be distorted by culling and grouping, movement may be limited or prevented, food and nutrients are often less varied in composition, parental care of young may be curtailed by weaning, and animals are usually less subject to predation and natural selection but increased artificial selection is likely. Furthermore, changes to pastures, animals and management

such as supplementary feeding and artificial breeding are commonly used to minimize ecological constraints and improve animal and farm productivity and efficiency (8, 9). In such a complex physical and social environment, there are potentially many challenges to animal welfare, including, for example, those related to body condition, shelter, exposure to mud, and painful husbandry procedures. These examples are used to highlight some of the different perspectives contributing to animal welfare, perspectives that different people may value differently.

Body Condition

Animals have evolved homeostatic mechanisms to overcome nutritional variation when energy demand exceeds availability, e.g., in winter, during pregnancy, and lactation, or when unable to forage. Body condition score, an accepted measure of energy reserves, generally reflects better access to resources, individuals exhibiting enhanced survival (10–12), growth, reproduction, lactation, and health [e.g., (13, 14)]. However, the relationship is not simple. Dairy cows in higher condition at calving are at greater risk of metabolic disorders (e.g., ketosis, milk fever), while those in lower condition are more likely to have difficulty getting pregnant again. Body condition is, then, an important management tool for optimizing flock or herd health and productivity. For example, body condition can be reflected in ovulation and lambing rates (15), lamb birth and growth rates (16), calf birth weights and earlier returns to breeding (17).

As well as inadequate feeding, loss of condition can reflect underlying disease or parasitism, and is sometimes more prevalent at the end of an economic or productive life. It can also be the result of neglect or failure to care for animals, sometimes the result of people in difficult financial and personal circumstances, such as during droughts, or ill-health, and challenging relationships [see (18)]. Furthermore, maintaining animals in good condition may not just reflect a lack of food, but changing genetics (e.g., selection for production can be at the expense of body condition) and management (e.g., a lack of skills in managing pasture, perhaps exacerbated by farming to generalized recipes rather than having the skills to adapt to novel and changing situations).

Not surprisingly, animal welfare regulatory codes place importance on body condition. Typically, they require that when animals are thin, emaciated or very thin, urgent remedial action is taken to improve condition, or the animal humanely destroyed. Therefore, few farm animals tend to routinely be in such poor condition. However, as has been noted (10, 14) neither the animal welfare decision process, nor the information on which recommendations for optimal body condition are based, are clear. The standards seemingly rely on common sense-emaciated animals represent poor welfare, or poor productivity. However, there are limitations in extrapolating from body condition to animal welfare. For example, at low condition score, the weight of fat in dairy cows may be overestimated (19). Even within a more normal range of scores, body condition may have its limitations. After monitoring milk production, health, and udder and uterine health, Roche et al. (20) concluded that body condition score (at least between 3.5 and 5.5 on a scale of 1-10) "is not a sufficiently sensitive measure to be reflective of cow welfare"

in early lactation, despite it appearing optimal for production, reproductive performance and general health. For example, based on measures of liver and immune function, the authors suggested that body condition peripartum and early lactation did not affect cows' abilities mount an inflammatory response.

As well as the understanding of body condition being dominated by measures of animal productivity, further reflection on the relationship with animal welfare reveals a number of other limitations. Firstly, as well as being diagnostic of nutrition, body condition is both a dynamic state and a subjective assessment. Animals at a particular condition score could be maintaining, gaining or loosing condition with different implications for what they feel (e.g., hungry) and are likely to experience (e.g., metabolic diseases), as well as reflect underlying conditions such as ill-health, parasitism, or advanced age, and their seasonal physiology. While it is reasonable to assume that feed restricted animals might be hungry, body condition may not necessarily reflect, or can be taken as a measure of hunger (21). For example, there is natural variation in body condition between individuals and breeds, as well as species. The physiology of some animals may see them lay down fat but then lose their appetite seasonally, e.g., rutting stags. Similarly, an analysis of death rates amongst sheep being exported by sea from Australia suggested that sheep in the fat deposition stage were less able to adjust to feed deprivation (22). It should not be assumed that animals in good condition do not experience hunger, especially when they have been bred to be highly productive. Some sows and breeder meat chickens display extreme examples of what Rauw et al. (23) have suggested is altered, perhaps pathological, hypothalamic mechanisms regulating appetite.

While body condition can be an indicator of hunger, and thus welfare, it is more precisely an indicator of past access to nutritional resources and thus an ability to deal with the constraints of the future environment, be it climate or a need for veterinary care. As such, it serves to illustrate the difficulties in relating how an animal performs with what emotions it may be experiencing, two of the predominant understanding of animal welfare. Nevertheless, body condition is an iceberg indicator, i.e., a key indicator of overall welfare inferring that the animal's care is of high quality and its welfare good (24).

The Provision of Shelter for Pastoral Animals

Pastoral animals experience and usually successfully adapt to a range of climatic factors, whether they are daily and seasonal or extreme and adverse. Adaptation to thermal challenges involves a range of physiological and behavioral systems (**Figure 1**), including shelter seeking behavior, shelter being a resource animals need to ensure their comfort, productivity and survival.

There is a seemingly endless range of possibilities enabling animals to lessen the impacts of adverse weather-contours in the land, hedgerows, trees, gullies, flaxes, vegetation clumps, tussocks, rocks, woolsheds, rushes, etc. The importance of shelter is noted in the internationally recognized "five freedoms."



Freedom from discomfort by providing a suitable environment including shelter and a comfortable resting area (26) addresses, like the provision of food and water, a fundamental need. However, although there are many directives and expectations for the provision of shelter, it remains an example of what Dwyer et al. (27) describe as "stubbornly unchanging." The accumulation of knowledge is sometimes not having a significant impact on the circumstances animals encounter (28).

Given that shelter is important and valued by animals, farmers and the wider community [e.g., (28)], why is it an issue? In a survey (29) barriers to the greater provision of shelter for pastoral animals included resources (time, money, return on investments, etc.), the negative impacts on farm productivity (e.g., the removal of shelterbelts to enable the use large, centerpivot irrigators), inadequate knowledge of means of providing shelter and their success, and the fact that standards are difficult to enforce requiring proof of animal suffering and with a lack of consequences for not providing shelter. Furthermore, many farms appear to provide adequate shelter; others have active plans to provide more shelter; some have other priorities; or are more resistant requiring exposure to the consequences including legal enforcement. In addressing shelter, it may be necessary to acknowledge these factors and aim to achieve a balance between regulation and enforcement and incentives and encouragement.

Exposure to Excessive Mud

Winter brings many challenges, most notably meeting animals' nutritional needs (if well-fed, livestock can usually tolerate variations in the weather). Mud is the inevitable outcome of slow pasture growth in winter, exacerbated by rain, and/or intensive land use, and high stocking densities. It can be uncomfortable, cold and wet. Furthermore, images of miserablelooking animals, deep in mud, has led to public criticism and expectations for improvement (30). Storms, stocking densities, animal preferences, pastures, aspect, soil types, management needs and all the other things that make farming both rewarding and challenging, mean that mud is sometimes inevitable. While feedlots, feeding pads and crop utilization are pragmatic examples of ensuring animals have adequate nutrition over winter, as well as reducing pasture damage and improving feed utilization, they mean animals are concentrated on small hardsurfaced areas. Advances in crop breeding producing markedly increased dry matter per hectare can mean animals live on smaller areas for longer periods, often resulting in mud. On feedlots, energy requirements increase if animals are wet and muddy, especially if not sheltered from the wind, thus mud can also reduce animal performance. Excess energy requirements depend on mud depth, temperature, portion of animal affected, and wind. Liveweight gains can be reduced by 35% in dirt pens



in muddy conditions, and cattle need about 25% more feed to produce the same gains (31).

Excessive or prolonged exposure to mud, especially very wet mud, can potentially impact on animals' needs as follows:

- Proper and sufficient food and water-feed can become contaminated and more difficult to access leading to animals "giving up" and becoming hungry and losing condition, leading to increased risk of metabolic diseases, physical weakness and an inability to stand.
- Adequate shelter-if the site is exposed to adverse weather, especially extremes, with animals unable to seek shelter, animals are prone to discomfort, shivering, hypothermia, and death.
- Opportunity to display normal patterns of behavior-an inability to rest properly because of a preference for dry comfortable resting areas, may result in reduced lying, tiredness, reluctance to move greater distances, inability to move, isolated from mob; possibly increased risk of infection, and typical physiological indicators of stress (more so than moderate feed restriction).
- Protection from, and rapid diagnosis of, any significant injury or disease-mud can increase susceptibility to lameness, mastitis, dermatitis, hypothermia, and metabolic diseases.
- Animals in mud could then, experience discomfort, chilling, skin irritation and pain, weakness, exhaustion, frustration, and depression.

One of the less well-appreciated animal behavioral impacts of mud is on the ability of animals to rest. Dairy cows, for example, may spend, on average, 10–12 h per day lying down although there is much variation between individuals (**Figure 2**). However, lying time is significantly reduced when the animals are exposed to muddy conditions, as little as 3–6 h during the first 24 h. Chen et al. (33) concluded that "muddy conditions, even in the absence of wind or rain, are aversive to cattle and have negative implications for their welfare."

An animal's preferences for lying is dependent on its environment. A dry and comfortable surface, such as pasture,

woodchips, or sawdust, is strongly preferred by dairy cows (34). On a wood-chip standoff pad, lying time reduced from an average of 11.6 h a day to 5.6 h over 5 weeks when bedding was not refreshed (35). If faced with choosing between feeding and lying, dairy cows prioritize lying, and depriving animals of the opportunity to lie down, for example when surfaces are wet and dirty, impairs welfare, evident in in altered pituitary-adrenal function indicative of stress (36, 37) and immunosuppression with an increased the risk of infection (33). The importance of lying was seen in tired cows, those from wet, uncomfortable standoff surfaces, preferring to lie down when they might have normally been expected to graze. The altered lying pattern of a herd, more cows lying down sooner, and for longer, on returning to pasture, may be a simple and practical indicator of inadequate resting opportunities on standoff surfaces (35). Interestingly, rumination and resting appear inextricably linked. For example, sheep given finally chopped feed that did not require ruminating became tired and irritable. The addition of hay to their diet enabled rumination and the disappearance of distress and exhaustion (38).

The risks of excessive mud appear to be minimized by providing fresh bedding, environmental buffers (e.g., windbreaks, mounds, shelter) and access to space with dry, comfortable resting areas. Cow cleanliness is becoming an accepted indicator of animal welfare in farm assurance programmes and dirty cows (e.g., flanks, hind limbs, and udders) a measure of an unsuitable environment.

Painful Husbandry Procedures

Fences notwithstanding, one of the features of pastoral animals is that they more likely to be able to behave naturally compared with more confined farm animals. However, and like many of their more intensively farmed counterparts, livestock are subject to painful husbandry procedures in order to enhance animal health and welfare, facilitate husbandry and management, enhance animal products, or reduce the safety risks to humans. Common examples include castration, tail-docking, and disbudding and dehorning. Many of these procedures can cause anxiety, fear, discomfort, pain, or distress associated with mustering, handling and restraint, and acute and chronic pain resulting from the physical interference of sensitive tissues. While many of these impacts have been well-documented and have contributed to greater use of pain relief at the time of the procedure, the possibility of modified behavior resulting from the procedure is less well-known. One example is the practice of tail docking dairy cows to supposedly improve hygiene, in part because of the reduced inability of the animal to swat flies and to communicate its emotional state. However, perhaps the best example of a husbandry procedure designed specifically to thwart behavior, is nose ringing in in grazing pigs. Although not a ruminant, the example is insightful because of the thwarted behavior being the more significant compromise to the animal than other husbandry procedures where the procedure, usually performed without pain relief, is arguably the more significant compromise.

Rooting is the means by which pigs explore and search for, locate and harvest food. The insertion of a ring, clip or wire through either the nasal septum separating the nostrils, or the upper, outer part of the snout, is a common means of preventing pigs from undertaking the behavior, principally to reduce pasture damage, and perhaps lessen soil erosion, nutrient leaching, and internal parasites. Nose rings reduce the time a pig spend rooting (20–30% of waking hours in semi-natural conditions) and result in significantly better grass cover (39).

The "extreme vocalizations" at the time of insertion suggest nose-ringing is painful. It is probably also painful for a period after the procedure since some behaviors take time to return toward normal levels. Typically, pain relief is not provided. However, it is the long-term or chronic effects which are arguably more significant. Firstly, the ring is effective in reducing rooting presumably because it is uncomfortable or painful to root with a nose-ring. Several behaviors are affected with differences in grazing, sniffing, standing inactive, pawing/scraping the ground, and chewing straw, as well as rooting, evident with different rings or clips (40). Secondly, a natural behavior thought to be important to the animal is thwarted, resulting in a degree of suffering although signs of frustration may not always be evident (41). Pigs continue to root in intensive systems even when fed ad libitum and housed on wire-mesh or concrete floors, situations where they perhaps have no need for food, and certainly no prospect of digging. This suggests rooting is an important natural or normal behavior, and preventing it is likely to lead to frustration and altered behaviors. Finally, the rooting action is also part of digging wallows, nest building, physical aggression and exploring. Ringing reduces rooting in wallows and in straw, and affects grazing and palpating the ground for nuts, stone-chewing and increases the amount of time spent standing but otherwise inactive. Ringed animals are at a disadvantage when feeding and may need to be kept separately from un-ringed animals to enable the former to obtain their fair share of feed (42).

There have been attempts to provide opportunities to satisfy or divert pigs' urges to root. For example, providing other things to do, or a more satisfying diet; sacrificing rooting areas or provision of root crops; or providing earth- or peat-filled rooting troughs in intensively housed pigs. While the provision of root crops did not appear to prevent rooting in any significant way, the provision of rooting trays resulted in less abnormal behavior, such as belly-nosing or ear and tail biting in intensively housed weaners.

Clearly there are compromises to animals undertaken for human benefit, compromises that different people have different views on. Furthermore, alleviating those compromises inevitably comes at a cost. Typically, we appeal to ethics and economics for some sort of guidance, or to justify compromises are reasonable and necessary, in other words what costs should be borne by the animal or the farmer. The following section is a general introduction from the perspective the author's interest in animal welfare, as well as science and farming.

ETHICS AND ECONOMICS

Any introduction to ethics should emphasize two things-it is complex, and yet it is something we all do. Ethics' complexity is one of its benefits. We and the world we live in, are complexsimplifying it doesn't always work.

Morality has its roots in co-operation between social beings over resources-the land, animals and people, and how we apportion them as well as take responsibility when things go wrong. The terms ethics and morals are often used interchangeably but the former can be understood as the study of the latter, the thinking or "reasoning" behind beliefs of right and wrong actions. There are many different reasons and theories-like different scientific disciplines, e.g., animal behavior, immunology, and reproduction-each providing different and important insights, but also each having their own limitations.

The most well-known theory, consequentialism, is based on whether the likely consequences of an action will have benefits outweighing the harms. For instance, humans have benefited from the milk production of dairy cows, both as a source of food and of industry and commerce. These benefits are taken to outweigh the harms associated with the removal of the calf from the cow at birth, and either their artificial rearing or imminent slaughter. These practices are common to many modern dairy systems. However, relying exclusively on an ethic based on the benefits outweighing the harms is problematic. It does not mean all harms to animals are justified because of the benefits to humans. As both individuals, and as a society, we accept that there are some things we cannot do to animals, no matter what the benefits are. For example, as Rollin (43) asks farmers, would you do anything at all to increase profits and production, such as "torture a cow's eyes with hot needles if it increased milk production?" Rights theories set a limit to actions, regardless of the benefits. This ensures, depending on the circumstances, that there is a limit to animal compromises.

Rights are a social device that makes it easier for people to live with each other by providing a protection or constraint on treatment. Western animal rights theory appears to have evolved from eighteenth century reaction to humans apparently having no obligation to animals or to their treatment. Not surprisingly, the movement resulted in almost complete consensus in the need for the speedy killing of animals when slaughtering, or in eradicating vermin, and in repudiating cruelty to animals (44). This view of rights is reinforced by the idea that animal welfare and animal rights are, despite common perceptions, essentially similar in aims (45)-animals have entitlements or rights to adequate food and shelter etc., which humans have a duty to provide (both for the animals sake and because it makes us better human beings). While the term "animal rights" can, and commonly does, refer to any call for the fair treatment and protection of animals, the more revolutionary rights theories maintain that, because animals are the subjects of a life, they should not be used for farming, in animal research and testing, or even kept as pets (46). While it is understandable, then, that animal rights is often dismissed, especially when associated with revolutionary implications and illegal activities, such a stance does not reflect the complexity and common understanding of the term. On the other hand, common understanding of animal rights may preclude its use amongst some people, even where consideration might result in more equitable use and treatment of animals.

Another ethical theory is pragmatism. It not only considers the consequences of an action, but also emphasizes the legitimate and necessary role that emotions and sympathy play in moral reflection and choice. It is, for example, difficult not to feel something for dairy cows, with whom you've become associated with over many years, being loaded for slaughter at the end of their productive lives. Thus, some ethical theories are impoverished in not realizing the special weight of relationships usually inherent in husbandry and caring (47) and this is most evident in care-based reasoning, especially actions that are informed by an intimate understanding of the circumstances, in the skills of stockmanship and animal care based on a respect for the essence of the animal (48). Individuals commonly draw on tradition and experience and a willingness to learn, personal qualities of empathy and patience, and an understanding of the balance between the expectations of people and the needs of animals in different systems. The attributes of good stockmanship include:

- being able to draw on a lifetime, or intergenerational catalog of practical personal experiences with animals and farming such that actions become second nature, where feel and experience are valued as much as specialized knowledge and measures;
- having personal qualities of patience, empathy and other traits or attitudes considered necessary for working with animals, their impacts having been demonstrated scientifically in modern pig, poultry and dairy cattle farming systems [e.g., (49)];
- an understanding of the constraints and opportunities afforded by the farm environment including the terrain, the climate and the flora and fauna, experience with animals aligned with that of the land and the weather; and
- knowledge of the normal behavior of animals and, being observant, having the ability to recognize and deal with abnormal behaviors.

Much of this knowledge is ineffable and should not be underestimated in the calls for formal training and proof of competency, invaluable as they are in complementing such understanding.

Ethical theories, then, provide different insights for people and one understanding of ethics is that it is the systematic examination of moral issues in the public sphere. The broad view, representing the culmination of a long tradition of moral reflection, as well as expressing the common view of most members of society, is that the use of animals is permissible as long as it is justified and humane (50), respecting the following three principles:

- Harms of a certain degree and kind should not be inflicted on an animal, regardless of any benefits (e.g., mulesing, the surgical removal of skin around breech of lambs to reduce the risk of flystrike, or the use of blunt-force trauma to kill unwanted dairy calves, except in emergencies, are prohibited in New Zealand).
- Any harm (e.g., physical pain, loneliness, degrading use) to an animal must be justified by ensuring the good realistically expected from the harm, outweighs the harm inflicted (e.g.,

disbudding or dehorning cattle to reduce the risks to human and other animal safety).

• Any harm which is justified, should be minimized as far as is reasonable possible (e.g., undertaking painful husbandry procedures on young animals to reduce the amount of tissue involved, and providing pain relief).

The third of these principles, minimizing the harms, essentially describes good standards of practice, often justified by or drawn from science [e.g., (51)] and good husbandry and encoded in codes of welfare. New Zealand's *Sheep and Beef Cattle, Dairy Cattle,* and *Painful Husbandry Procedures* codes of welfare (52–54) describe, for example, stockmanship and animal handling; the provision of food, water and shelter; opportunities for animals to behave normally; addressing health, injuries and disease; and husbandry practices from selection and breeding to animal identification, humane destruction, and minimizing pain and distress.

Although codes of animal welfare have a regulatory role, failure to meet a minimum standard can be used as evidence to support a prosecution whilst equalling or exceeding such a standard can be used as a defense, codes typically have a number of uses and purposes. For example, they also articulate the aspirations of society; raise awareness by drawing attention to issues; give the public an idea of what to expect; and are selfpromoting, the standards defining good animal use in a particular industry or country serving to differentiate them from those ascribing to other, especially lesser, standards.

Although there are many ethical insights reflecting common morality and given expression in codes of welfare, arguably one of the more significant is the economic benefits to humans justifying the compromises to animals.

Like animal welfare (55), the term economics has numerous understandings. At one level, it has a business focus, the need to cover expenses and maintain a profit. This is one of the goals of agriculture, along with producing safe and affordable food that is produced fairly and without harming the environment, animals or people. Maintaining profitability is a challenge for any business as decreasing returns and increasing costs squeeze profits. This leads, in many cases, to larger operations benefiting from economies of scale evident in larger farms, flock and herd sizes. And higher animal welfare standards often come at a greater financial cost to the farm system [e.g., see (56– 58)]. Profitability is challenging when viewed against the longterm trend of an increasing marketing share of the consumer's spending on food at the expense of the farmers' share (59).

Animal welfare is also an economic concept at another level: the trade-offs we make between our preferences for food and the opportunities for commerce in producing it, vs. our discomfort with whatever animals may experience in the process. Varying social expectations for animal welfare standards mean, for at least some practices, that they may diverge from those able to be provided by commercial farm in animal production-in other words, some improvements come at a cost. Who bears those costs, the methods of placing a value on them, and, ultimately, the behavior of consumers who pay for animal products in the market place, have been extensively described by, for example, McInerney (60, 61) and Norwood and Lusk (62)?

There are many insights of relevance to animal welfare. For example, the marketplace does not reflect the true values of society, only those things exchanged through markets. Nor can it include the views of people not involved in the marketplacemany of those active in advocating for better treatment of animals are, for example, vegans, or vegetarians. Market values can be distorted by subsidies and taxes, the lack of inclusion of externalities, like animal welfare (products from different systems are usually selected on the basis of cost and appearance rather than the impacts of those systems on the animals), and a lack of informed understanding of the differences between different production systems. Finally, consumers value products differently for different reasons and are free to alter their purchasing behavior. Therefore, it is usually necessary for state intervention to ensure efficiency and fairness, for example in setting minimum standards and in redistributing the costs and benefits.

This more involved understanding of economics reveals several interesting aspects about animal welfare. Firstly, food prices vary for all sorts of reasons (seasons, taxes, instore specials, supply) so perhaps the impacts of balancing animal welfare against food security and availability is over simplified. It is important to know the costs of improving animal welfare and how they might be distributed across the food supply chain, as well as the impacts on various consumers. Secondly, the market generally provides little or no reward or incentive to produce to higher animal welfare standards-such standards are increasingly seen as a cost of production, or of market access. As animal welfare is a value largely attributed to farmers providing good husbandry and stockmanship, not consumers, farmers may require economic signals and incentives to reflect the value consumers and society place on animal welfare. Finally, it is important not to overlook the complexity of the food supply system with its many opportunities for people to mistrust, exploit, distort, overlook, or remain wilfully blind to what occurs.

There are, then, many potential economic means of maintaining and enhancing animal welfare. Taxes and subsidies are one option and some countries link subsidies to successful animal welfare inspections. Another method is labeling products from preferred animal welfare-friendly systems enabling motivated consumers to support them. Tradable permits may enable those in more animal welfare-friendly systems to effectively subsidize less humane farming systems. Lastly, quotas can be used to ensure production is limited so that returns cover the expenses of favored systems.

What the above discussion highlights is that animal welfare is not just about the expectations society may have for how animals should be treated by the person in charge of them, but that it is part of a wider and more complex system. A common caricature of much public concern regarding poor animal welfare practices, is that it reflects an excessive focus on profits and uncaring individuals, for example, "farmers are a nasty, greedy, whinging lot." While leaving aside the instances of animal neglect resulting from difficult personal circumstances, relationships and ill-health (18, 63, 64), and the fact that greed may play a part in some cases, such an understanding does not reflect the influence of economic factors. Animal welfare, McInerney (60) argues, is ultimately an economic or socio-political issue, a subset of human welfare. The place and role of economic understanding in animal welfare is yet to be fully realized.

ETHICS, ECONOMICS, AND PASTORAL ANIMAL WELFARE

Maintaining animals in suitable condition, expectations for the provision of shelter and a comfortable resting area free of mud, and the impacts of painful husbandry procedures, highlight the contested nature of pastoral animal welfare. The well-being of animals is compromised for human benefit, often expressed in economics for those involved in farming and its related industries, but also in the supply of safe and affordable food for others. Depending on individual and group perspectives, compromises are sometimes justified, sometimes not. It is society's consensus which ultimately decides when, for example, animals' needs can be legitimately thwarted, or those exposed to excessive mud or hot sun should have access to resources providing greater comfort and well-being. There are balances and limits in the use of animals-generally production is not maximized at the expense of welfare, and welfare is not maximized at the expense of production.

Poor animal welfare raises concerns and expectations amongst farmers, farm industries and the public alike. While, for example, the provision of shelter is part of good farming, there are different understandings of what is good, and different barriers or constraints to providing shelter, including finances, time and resources. Furthermore, there are different expectations of when shelter is required-for the comfort of the animal, that required to maintain its productivity, or that required to survive. Such differences also reflect different understandings of animal welfare-what the animal experiences, how it performs, whether it is natural and even if it is being treated with dignity and respect. Finally, there is the challenge of addressing something best expressed in the view "a cow on a hot day, yeah she's hot, we all get hot. Is that really a problem?" The contested degree of compromise to animals is crucial to determining what compromises animals can be expected to endure, and when assistance or resources should or must be provided, commensurate with public expectations, to assist them to cope.

To the above difficulties, we can further add the insights revealed by using body condition as a management tool, i.e., of the productivity of the herd or flock, and as an indicator of animal welfare, what the individual animal feels or experiences. For example, animals in good body condition traditionally may have been expected to endure muddy conditions. Similarly, the thwarting of animals' behavioral needs, like rooting in pigs, to prevent pasture and soil damage. These examples raise the issue of what needs are important–are some more important than others or, as legislation and the expectations of the five freedoms seem to imply, are all equal and thus must be given equal weight. Can adequate nutrition outweigh the discomfort of mud? And which human needs outweigh animals' needs? Does protecting the environment outweigh preventing pigs from rooting? One way worthy of further exploration is to perhaps weight animals' needs (65) such those sustaining life (e.g., food), health (e.g., shelter), and comfort (e.g., environmental complexity). This concept is akin to Abraham Maslow's wellknown theory of human motivation and has been adapted to animal welfare (66). What it will require, however, is a greater understanding of the importance of social interactions and bonds which lessen individuals' demands for energy expenditure and skills, helping them to survive, reproduce, and care for their offspring, enhancing physical and mental health and thus wellbeing [see (67)]. The place of social behaviors is yet to be fully integrated into hierarchies of motivation.

Collectively, these aspects highlight the subjective and valuesbased complexity of animal welfare. Animal welfare, then, has been likened to a "wicked problem" (68)-difficult to describe, complex, changing and subject to inconsistencies and considerable debate. Wicked problems are not easily solved but are, at best, managed and progressed with understanding and compassion. Not surprisingly, there are many directives in guidelines, standards and regulations to provide such resources. Thus, while the resources the animal has access to are in the farmer's hands, expectations are increasingly influenced and determined by the wider community and societal expectations. What is not fully acknowledged is the influence, and indeed role, of that wider community and society, in helping maintain and enhance animal welfare other than in "telling" or "wanting" to "manage a farmer's resources at no cost or risk to themselves" (69).

Though the welfare of an animal is largely dependent on knowledge, beliefs and circumstances of the individuals caring for them, as noted animal welfare standards are determined by society. Consensus requires acknowledging the full spectrum of ethical and economic perspectives that provide opportunities and constraints for individual pastoral farmers. For instance, the recognition that economics is a key driver of farming systems is connected with the view that, at least some consumers see themselves as part of the problem. Society's role in pastoral farming welfare may be addressing the factors beyond the ability of farmers to control, such as financial interest and international exchange rates and consumer preferences, factors which affect the ability of those in charge of animals to care for them. A more sustainable vision of animal welfare borne of understanding the connection between animals and all people, may enable society to fairly balance the demands that livestock have with those of the wider community.

DISCUSSION

Land use has changed from the time of hunter-gatherers and nomadic pastoralists, to extensive and intensive settled pastoralism, and finally industrial or factory farming (70). This has shaped human activities from earliest times (71), enabling many people to live without being directly involved in raising and killing animals for food. These changes have undoubtedly contributed to the different values, preferences and prejudices people have toward the rightful place of animals in society. While the welfare of most animals reflects the care provided by those in charge of them, it is influenced by the wider community, and thus subject to contested scrutiny. The examples described in this chapter illustrate some of the contested issues in animal welfare, tensions borne of animals being compromised for human benefit, whether they are for reasons of financial costs, environmental degradation, or practicality.

Given the different viewpoints and ways of justifying stances, who should help decide society's stance on contested issues? Although there are many perspectives, discussion of three of those: scientists and veterinarians; citizens; and stockpeople, are the subject of this discussion because of the strong beliefs in their place, beliefs that may or may not withstand critical scrutiny. For instance, one perspective is that "there is no doubt that veterinarians are the best equipped and most committed profession to lead the community in animal welfare debate" (72). Such a view ignores the fact that animal welfare is a social construct and not exclusively scientific or veterinary. Furthermore, although veterinarians are well-trained in animal health, they are arguably less familiar with other aspects of animal welfare such as what the animal is experiencing (73), limitations which are now beginning to be more widely addressed in veterinary teaching curricula. Similarly, there are calls for science to guide socially contested issues "with rational application of sound scientific principles." Such calls must be tempered by remembering, for example, that scientific advice need not be sound. For example, as recently as early last century survival rates of children in orphanages were terrible. At the time of the rising recognition of the value of cleanliness in preventing disease, and a desire to make the young field of psychology into a truly objective science, it led to a professional crusade by JB Watson, among others, against the evil of affection ("mother love is a dangerous instrument"). Such advice was given authority because its proponents were objective and scientific experts [see (74)]. In contrast [see (75)], the Scottish philosopher David Hume stated, "reason is the slave of passions and should be." Furthermore, Enrich Fromm held that "reason flows from the blending of rational thought and feeling. If the two functions are torn apart, thinking deteriorates into schizoid intellectual activity and feeling deteriorates into neurotic life-damaging passions." Thus, views based on selected or narrow professional understandings not only have a tendency to measure and value what can easily be assessed rather than what is important to the animal (76), they ignore the value of engaging with all our ways of knowingethics, common sense, intuition, imagination, memory, and reason (77).

Another perspective is that advanced by advocacy and activist NGO (non-governmental organizations) interests, often with or through the involvement of popular and social media. Although there are many different motives for an interest in animal welfare (78), including an identity for a minority, a means of expressing prejudiced views and class conflict, to be a part of more general protest movements, or even profit or enlightened self-interest, undoubtedly the main motive is a

genuine concern for the well-being of animals. The growth of NGO interests may also reflect persons in charge and regulatory groups not doing their, or society's, job, or at least not engaging in the issue publicly, enabling "the most shrill and dramatic articulations" (79) that tend to demand attention, or those seeking "to privilege the transient urges of the mob over and above social order" (80). This is hardly a sound approach to addressing contested and complex issues. Debates about farming, including animal welfare, have been considered "disappointing intellectually, ethically, and politically." Fraser (81) considers the debate has not resulted in genuine understanding of how farming affects animals, the environment, and the public; the polemic nature of many of the accounts has polarized the debate preventing critical analysis; and the debate has failed to produce shared understanding and consensus. In overcoming these short comings, those in society need to avoid simply aligning themselves with stances and seek knowledgeable analysis of the issues. Such an approach may require the creation of a forum enabling all parties to explore the various aspects of contentious issues (82). There is little time, resource or will to undertake such critical analysis when in the glare of social and public media frenzy.

Finally, we might ask if society, in determining animal welfare standards, is at risk of disregarding the invaluable perspectives of those husbanding animals since it is those persons in charge of animals who are arguably the most important determinants of their welfare. Stockmanship ensures animals have the resources they need to be comfortable, fit and feeling good. Kilgour and Dalton (83) included in the last chapter of their practical guide Livestock Behavior that there is the potential for better handling by allowing young animals to learn behaviors, such as lambs learning to eat drought feed whilst they are still with their dams, opportunities generally excluded by management practices such as early weaning and maintaining animals in age and sex cohorts. "Using the old to teach the young" may well apply to stockpeople, professionals and advocates, especially in the current era of narrow specialized expectations.

These different perspectives suggest the issue is not so much who is best placed or qualified to determine animal welfare, but who brings knowledge, and practical experience, whether as a veterinarian, a scientist, a farmer or shepherd, or whatever. It is perhaps more relevant to think of animal welfare in terms of a system, since humans and animals are socially and ecologically interdependent (84). In one depiction (85) at the center of the system are animals. Then there are the persons in charge (e.g., farmers and farm workers); those with oversight of the persons in charge (e.g., animal welfare inspectors and regulatory advisory bodies); and those with an interest in animals (e.g., consumers of food, commerce interests, and animal advocates and activists). Finally, there are citizens, who, while not necessarily having direct vested interests in animals, have a special role in the democratic process. There are many examples of the individuals and groups in society making up the animal welfare system and they can be thought of as actors arranged in concentric bands (Figure 3).



Arranged in this way, the system acknowledges that each group has a role, and thus a responsibility, for animal welfare. Like tourists, individuals within each of the bands see the world from their own perspective in a varied but often limited way. Learning more of the features and expectations of others in different bands may act to change or reinforce our responses, in short having a genuine understanding of each other's interests and roles. It has been suggested that this is undertaken by identifying the issues, providing information and involving people (86, 87). In other words, taking responsibility for complexity by understanding animal welfare as a complex problem, recognizing that there are constraints and opportunities, giving people more autonomy by engaging local institutions, building trust with stakeholders, taking accountability for learning, and broadening dialogues (88, 89). In order to have good welfare, perhaps the most important thing is to give those in charge of animals the confidence, resources and opportunities to develop and deliver what they are best placed to do. Animal welfare is important but not all important-the environment and people, along with the outputs from farming (90) must also be placed within the context of the whole.

Farmers, like many others, are having to respond to a dynamic and complex world and conversations may be better managed as part of a wider debate on environmental management, markets and social expectations. In other words, animal welfare interests must be prepared to couch their preferences within the context of the farming system, and not just the experiences of the animal. It is suggested that society cannot merely tell farmers what to do any more than farmers can expect society to understand farmers' "reality." The future may lie not so much in emphasizing productivity and profitability, but in understanding what animals are experiencing and in building better connections with people to produce more sustainable and equitable farming practices (90). It will be necessary to acknowledge the complexity of the issue borne of different animals, environments and people; and that initiatives may be better managed as part of wider expectations. The future may well-involve society moving from telling or expecting farmers to know how to manage their resources, to encouraging them by providing the confidence, resources and opportunities to provide those resources.

Part of managing expectations may require engagement with the wider community-mediating between the reality of animal

REFERENCES

- 1. Herzog H. Some We Love, Some We Hate, Some We Eat: Why it's so Hard to Think Straight About Animals. New York, NY: HarperCollins (2010).
- Mellaart J. *Çatal Hüyük. A Neolithic town in Anatolia*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (1967).
- Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of Biomedical Ethics. 4th ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1994).
- Tauger MB. Agriculture in World History. London: Routledge (2011). doi: 10.4324/9780203847480
- Kilgour R. Animal welfare considerations–pastoral animals. N Zeal Vet J. (1985) 33:54–7. doi: 10.1080/00480169.1985.35161
- Fisher MW, Bryant LD. What might be the consequences of adapting wild animals, such as wapiti, to a farm environment? *Proc N Zeal Soc Anim Prod.* (1993) 53:457–60.
- Deag JM. Behavioural ecology and the welfare of extensively farmed animals. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1996) 49:9–22. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)0 0663-X
- Fisher MW, Stafford KJ. The Welfare of Extensively Farmed Beef Cattle. Wellington, NZ: Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (2007).
- Stafford KJ, Gregory NG. Implications of intensification of pastoral animal production on animal welfare. N Zeal Vet J. (2008) 56:274–80. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2008.36847
- McGregor BA, Butler KL. Relationship of body condition score, live weight, stocking rate and grazing system to the mortality of Angora goats from hypothermia and their use in the assessment of welfare risks. *Aust Vet J.* (2008) 86:12–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2007.00249.x
- Morgan-Davies C, Waterhouse A, Pollock ML, Milner JM. Body condition score as an indicator of ewe survival under extensive conditions. *Anim Welfare*. (2008) 17:71–7.
- Annett RW, Carson AF, Dawson LER, Irwin D, Gordon AW, Kilpatrick DJ. Comparison of the longevity and lifetime performance of Scottish Blackface ewes and their crosses within hill sheep flocks. *Animal.* (2011) 5:347–55. doi: 10.1017/S1751731110002107
- Roche JR, Friggens NC, Kay JK, Fisher MW, Stafford KJ, Berry DP. Body condition score and its association with dairy cow productivity, health, and welfare. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:5769–801. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2431
- Kenyon PR, Maloney SK, Blache D. Review of sheep body condition score in relation to production characteristics. *N Zeal J Agri Res.* (2014) 57:38–64. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2013.857698
- Gunn RG, Doney JM, Russel AJF. Fertility in Scottish Blackface ewes as influenced by nutrition and body condition at mating. J Agri Sci. (1969) 73:289–94. doi: 10.1017/S0021859600014507
- Kenyon PR, Morel PCH, Morris ST. Effect of liveweight and condition score of ewes at mating, and shearing mid-pregnancy, on birthweights and growth rates of twin lambs to weaning. N Zeal Vet J. (2004) 52:145–9. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2004.36419

needs and the demands of public perception, whether informed or uninformed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Marie McAninch (Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington, New Zealand) and David Beggs (Animal Welfare Science Center, University of Melbourne, Australia) are thanked for their invaluable contributions.

- Spitzer JC, Morrison DG, Wettemann RP, Faulkner LC. Reproductive responses and calf birth and weaning weights as affected by body condition at parturition and postpartum weight gain in primiparous beef cows. *J Anim Sci.* (1995) 73:1251–7. doi: 10.2527/1995.7351251x
- 18. Presland P. (2011). When co-dependency breaks down. VetScript. 24:10–2.
- Gregory NG, Robins JK, Thomas DG, Purchas RW. Relationship between body condition score and body composition in dairy cows. N Zeal J Agri Res. (1998) 41:527–32. doi: 10.1080/00288233.1998.9513335
- Roche JR, Macdonald KA, Schütz KE, Matthews LR, Verkerk GA, Meier S, et al. Calving body condition score affects indicators of health in grazing dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:5811–25. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6600
- Schütz KE, Cox NR, Macdonald KA, Roche JR, Verkerk GA, Rogers AR, et al. Behavioral and physiological effects of a short-term feed restriction in lactating dairy cattle with different body conditions scores at calving. *J Dairy Sci.* (2013) 96:4465–76. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6507
- Higgs ARB, Norris RT, Richards RB. Season, age and adiposity influence death rates in sheep exported by sea. Aust J Agri Res. (1991) 42:205–14. doi: 10.1071/AR9910205
- Rauw WM, Kannis E, Noordhuizen-Stassen EN, Grammers FJ. Undesirable side effects of selection for high production efficiency in farm animals: a review. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (1998) 56:15–33. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(98)00147-X
- 24. Farm Animal Welfare Council. Farm Animal Welfare in Great Britain: Past, Present and Future. London: Farm Animal Welfare Council (2009). Available online at: assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/319292/Farm_Animal_Welfare_in_Great_ Britain_-_Past__Present_and_Future.pdf (accessed 17 December, 2018).
- Fisher MW. Shelter and welfare of pastoral animals in New Zealand. N Zeal J Agri Res. (2007) 50:347-59. doi: 10.1080/00288230709510303
- Webster J. Animal Welfare: A Cool Eye Towards Eden. Oxford: Blackwell Science (1994).
- Dwyer CM, Conington J, Corbiere F, Holmøy IH, Muri K, Nowak R, et al. Improving neonatal survival in small ruminants: science into practice. *Animal.* (2016) 10:449–59. doi: 10.1017/S1751731115001974
- Cardoso CS, von Keyserlingk MAG, Hötzel MJ, Robbins J, Weary DM. Hot and bothered: public attitudes towards heat stress and outdoor access for dairy cows. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0205352. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0205352
- Fisher MW, Stockwell W, Hastings A, Brannigan JIE, Lyons CE, Timmer-Arends P. Barriers to the adoption of animal welfare standards: shelter on pastoral farms. N Zeal J Anim Sci Prod. (2019) 79:37–42.
- Anonymous. Winter Grazing Taskforce Final Report & Recommendations. Improving Animal Welfare on Winter Grazing Systems. Wellington: Ministry for Primary Production. (2019). Available online at: www.agriculture.govt.nz/ dmsdocument/38210/direct (accessed April 15, 2020).
- 31. Morrison SR, Givens RL, Garrett WN, Bond TE. Effects of mud-wind-rain on beef cattle performance in feed lot. *California Agri*. (1970) 24:6–7.

- Beggs DS, Jongman EC, Hemsworth PE, Fisher AD. Implications of prolonged milking time on time budgets and lying behaviour in large pasture-based dairy herds. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:10391–7. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15049
- Chen JM, Stull CL, Ledgerwood DN, Tucker CB. Muddy conditions reduce hygiene and lying time in dairy cattle and increase time spent on concrete. J Dairy Sci. (2017) 100:2090–103. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11972
- Schütz KE, Cave VM, Cox NR, Huddart FJ, Tucker CB. Effects of 3 surface types of dairy cattle behaviour, preference and hygiene. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:1530–41. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14792
- O'Connor C, Dowling S, Cave V, Webster J. Cow lying behaviour and bedding quality changes during five weeks on a stand-off pad. *Animals.* (2019) 9:257. doi: 10.3390/ani9050257
- Munksgaard L, Simonsen HB. Behavioral and pituitary adrenal-axis responses of dairy cows to social isolation and deprivation of lying down. J Anim Sci. (1996) 74:769–78. doi: 10.2527/1996.744769x
- Fisher AD, Verkerk GA, Morrow CJ, Matthews LR. The effects of feed restriction and lying down deprivation on pituitary-adrenal axis regulation in lactating cows. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (2002) 73:255–63. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00246-9
- Morag M. Influence of diet on the behaviour pattern of sheep. *Nature*. (1967) 213:110. doi: 10.1038/213110a0
- Eriksen EJM, Studnitz M, Strudsholm K, Kongsted AG, Hermansen JE. Effect of nose ringing and stocking rate of pregnant and lactating outdoor sows on exploratory behaviour, grass cover and nutrient loss potential. *Livestock Sci.* (2006) 104:91–102. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2006.03.008
- Horrell RI, A'Ness PJ, Edwards SA, Eddison JC. The use of nose-rings in pigs: consequences for rooting, other functional activities, and welfare. *Animal Welfare*. (2001) 10:3–22.
- Studnitz M, Jensen MB, Pedersen LJ. Why do pigs root and in what will they root? A review on the exploratory behaviour of pigs in relation to environmental enrichment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 107:183–97. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.11.013
- Horrell I, A'Ness P, Edwards SA, Riddoch I. Nose-rings influence feeding efficiency in pigs. *Anim Sci.* (2000) 71:259–64. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800055090
- Rollin BE. The Frankenstein Syndrome. Ethical and Social Issues in the Genetic Engineering of Animals. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1995). doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139172806
- 44. Maehle AH. "Cruelty and kindness to the 'brute creation.' Stability and change in the ethics of the man-animal relationship 1600–1850," In: AJ Serpell, editor. Animals and Human Society. Changing Perspectives; Manning. London: Routledge. (1994). p. 81–105.
- Rollin BE. Animal rights as a mainstream Phenomenon. Animals. (2011) 1:102–15. doi: 10.3390/ani1010102
- Regan T. "Sentience and rights," In: Turner J, D'Silva J, editors. Animals, Ethics and Trade. The Challenge of Animal Sentience. Oxford: Earthscan (2006). p. 79–86.
- 47. Anthony R. The ethical implications of the human-animal bond on the farm. *Animal Welfare*. (2003) 12:505–12.
- Gatward GJ. Livestock Ethics. Respect, and Our Duty of Care for Farm Animals. Lincoln: Chalcombe (2001).
- Hemsworth PH, Coleman GJ. Human-livestock Interactions: the Stockperson and the Productivity and Welfare of Intensively Farmed Animals. 2nd ed. Wallingford: CABI (2011). doi: 10.1079/9781845936730. 0000
- Banner M, Bulfield G, Clark S, Gormally L, Hignett P, Kimbell H, et al. Report of the Committee to Consider the Ethical Implications of Emerging Technologies in the Breeding of Farm Animals. London: HMSO (1995).
- Fraser D, Duncan IJ, Edwards SA, Grandin T, Gregory NG, Guyonnet V, et al. General principles for the welfare of animals in production systems: the underlying science and its application. *Vet J.* (2013) 198:19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.06.028
- Anonymous. Sheep and Beef Cattle Code of Welfare. Wellington: Ministry for Primary Production. (2018). Available online at: www.mpi.govt.nz/ protection-and-response/animal-welfare/codes-of-welfare/ (accessed April 15, 2020).

- Anonymous. Dairy Cattle Code of Welfare. Wellington: Ministry for Primary Production. (2018). Available online at: www.mpi.govt.nz/protection-andresponse/animal-welfare/codes-of-welfare/ (accessed April 15, 2020).
- Anonymous. Painful Husbandry Procedures Code of Welfare. Wellington: Ministry for Primary Production. (2018). Available online at: www.mpi.govt. nz/protection-and-response/animal-welfare/codes-of-welfare/ (accessed April 15, 2020).
- Fisher MW. Defining animal welfare-does consistency matter? N Zeal Vet J. (2009) 57:71-3. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2009.36880
- 56. Cain P, Guy J, Hornett H. The cost of increased animal welfare standards in UK pig production systems. *Farm Manage*. (2003) 11:433–44.
- 57. Matheny G, Leahy C. Farm-animal welfare, legislation, and trade. *Law Contemporary Probl.* (2007) 70:325–58.
- Gocsik E, Lansink AO, Voermans G, Saatkamp HW. Economic feasibility of animal welfare improvements in Dutch intensive livestock production: a comparison between broiler, laying hen, and fattening sectors. *Livestock Sci.* (2015) 182:38–53. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2015.10.015
- Browne WP, Skees JR, Swanson LE, Thompson PB, Unnevehr LJ. Sacred Cows and Hot Potatoes. Agrarian Myths in Agricultural Policy. Boulder, CO: Westview (1992).
- McInerney JP. Animal welfare: ethics, economics and productivity. *Proc N Zeal Soc Anim Prod.* (2002) 62:340–7.
- McInerney J. Animal Welfare, Economics and Policy. (2004). Available online at: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110318142209/ http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/economics/foodfarm/reports/documents/ animalwelfare.pdf (accessed 31 March, 2018).
- Norwood FB, Lusk JL. Compassion by the Pound. The Economics of Farm Animal Welfare. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2011). doi: 10.1093/acprof:osobl/9780199551163.001.0001
- Andrade SB, Anneberg I. Farmers under pressure. Analysis of the social conditions of cases of animal neglect. J Agri Environ Ethics. (2014) 27:103–26. doi: 10.1007/s10806-013-9456-9
- Devitt C, Kelly P, Blake M, Hanlon A, More SJ. An investigation into the human element of on-farm animal welfare incidents in Ireland. *Soc Ruralis*. (2014) 55:400–16. doi: 10.1111/soru.12069
- Hurnik JF, Lehman H. Ethics and farm animal welfare. J Agri Ethics. (1988) 1:305–18. doi: 10.1007/BF01826794
- Curtis SE. "The welfare of agricultural animals," In: Blatz CV, editor. *Ethics and Agriculture. An Anthology on Current Issues in World Context.* Moscow: University of Idaho Press. (1991). p. 447–57.
- 67. McMillan FD. The psychobiology of social pain: evidence for a neurocognitive overlap with physical pain and welfare implications for social animals with special attention to the domestic dog (*Canis familiaris*). *Physiol Behav.* (2016) 167:154–71. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.09.013
- Rittel HWJ, Webber MM. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning *Policy Sci.* (1973) 4:155–69. doi: 10.1007/BF01405730
- 69. Reynnells R. Proactive Approaches to Controversial Welfare and Ethical Concerns in Poultry Science. Washington, DC: USDA (2007).
- Bray AR, Gonzalez-Macuer E. "New Zealand sheep and wool industries," In: Cottle DJ, editor. *International Sheep and Wool Handbook*. Nottingham: Nottingham University Press. (2010). p. 73–83. doi: 10.7313/UPO9781907284595.005
- Overton NJ, Taylor B. Humans in the environment: plants, animals and landscapes in Mesolithic Britain and Ireland. J World Prehistory. (2018) 31:385–402. doi: 10.1007/s10963-018-9116-0
- Denney I. We should lead animal welfare. Aust. Vet. J. (2000) 78:517. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2000.tb11886.x
- Koch VW. American veterinarians' animal welfare limitations. J Vet Behav. (2009) 4:198–202. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2009.07.002
- 74. Blum D. Love at Goon Park. Harry Harlow and the science of affection. Chichester: Wiley (2003).
- 75. Goldsmith E. The Way. An Ecological World View. Totnes: Themis Books (1996).
- 76. Veasy JS. In pursuit of peak animal welfare; the need to prioritize the meaningful over the measurable. *Zoo Biol.* (2017) 36:413–25. doi: 10.1002/zoo.21390
- 77. Saul JR. On Equilibrium. Ringwood: Penguin (2001).

- Gregory NG. The Politics of Animal Welfare. Palmerston North: Massey University (1996).
- Rollin BE. Bad ethics, good ethics and the genetic engineering of animals in agriculture. J Anim Sci. (1996) 74:535–41. doi: 10.2527/1996.7 43535x
- Norman J. Edmund Burke. The Visionary Who Invented Modern Politics. London: William Collins (2013).
- Fraser D. The "New Perception" of animal agriculture: legless cows, featherless chickens, and a need for a genuine analysis. J Anim Sci. (2001) 79:634–41. doi: 10.2527/2001.793634x
- Thompson PB. From a philosopher's perspective, how should animal scientists meet the challenge of contentious issues? J Anim Sci. (1999) 77:372–7. doi: 10.2527/1999.772372x
- 83. Kilgour R, Dalton C. Livestock Behaviour. A Practical Guide. Auckland: Methuen (1984).
- Benton T. Natural Relations. Ecology, Animal Rights and Social Justice. London: Verso (1993).
- Fisher M, Diesch T, Orange M. "Scapegoats and tourists science as the source of, and the answer to, ethical dilemmas," In: Sutherland G, Cragg, P, editors. *Mixing it Up - Ethics, Science and Adventure Tourism*. Wellington: ANZCCART (2014). p. 2–7.
- Korthals M. Ethical rooms for maneuver and their prospects vis-à-vis the current ethical food policies in Europe. J Agri Environ Ethics. (2008) 21:249–73. doi: 10.1007/s10806-007-9078-1

- Fisher M. A method for considering the acceptability of novel biotechnologies for the control of brushtail possums. *Kotuitui*. (2010) 5:41–52. doi: 10.1080/1175083X.2010.498086
- Jones H. Taking Responsibility for Complexity: How Implementation Can Achieve Results in the Face of Complex Problems. Briefing Paper 68. (2011). London: Overseas Development Institute. Available online at: www.odi.org/ publications/5275-complex-problems-complexity-implementation-policy (accessed 4 April, 2018).
- Yeates JW, Röcklinsberg H, Gjerris M. Is welfare all that matters? A discussion of what should be included in policy-making regarding animals. *Animal Welfare*. (2011) 20:423–32.
- 90. Fisher M. Animal Welfare Science, Husbandry and Ethics. The Evolving Story of Our Relationship With Farm Animals. Sheffield: 5M (2018).

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fisher. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Influence of Different Types of Outdoor Access on Dairy Cattle Behavior

Anne-Marieke C. Smid[†], Daniel M. Weary and Marina A. G. von Keyserlingk^{*}

Animal Welfare Program, Faculty of Land and Food Systems, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Pasture access for dairy cows is highly valued both by cows and the public at large. When pasture access is not feasible, farmers can provide cows with alternative forms of outdoor access, such as an outdoor bedded pack, that may be easier to implement on some farms. We reviewed the literature on how lying, standing, walking, feeding, social, and estrus behaviors are influenced by pasture and other types of outdoor areas. Pasture allows the expression of grazing and can facilitate the expression of lying, standing, walking, and estrus behaviors. In addition, pasture can decrease the number of negative social interactions between cows, likely because more space per cow is provided than what is normally available indoors. The provision of soft flooring and an open space in outdoor bedded packs appears to provide some benefits for lying, standing, and walking behavior and may also have positive effects on social behavior, especially with larger space allowances. The effects of an outdoor bedded pack on estrus behavior are less well-documented, but the provision of a standing surface that provides better footing than typically available indoors may promote estrus behavior. Alternative outdoor areas assessed to date appear to be less attractive for cows than pasture, perhaps because these areas do not provide the opportunity to graze. We encourage future research to investigate the importance of grazing for dairy cows. The motivation of dairy cows to access alternative outdoor areas should also be investigated. As cow preference for the outdoors depends on many factors, providing cows a choice may be of particular importance.

Keywords: animal welfare, pasture, bedded pack, exercise lot, free range

INTRODUCTION

Pasture access for dairy cows is declining in many parts of the world, even though citizens from different countries view pasture as important [e.g., The Netherlands: (1); Germany: (2); Canada and the US: (3); Brazil: (4)]. Collectively these studies indicate that people value access to natural elements for cows such as fresh air and sunshine and the ability to roam, i.e., elements that extend beyond the provision of pasture *per se*. There is also evidence that cows are highly motivated to access pasture (5). As such, several Nordic European countries have implemented regulations that require farms to provide dairy cows with access to pasture for specified periods of time. Organic standards in many parts of the world also regulate access is not regulated. When farm size increases, pasture access may also be difficult to implement (7). An alternative to pasture is providing cows

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Gregorini, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Reviewed by:

Manja Zupan Šemrov, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Dana L. M. Campbell, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO), Australia

*Correspondence:

Marina A. G. von Keyserlingk nina@mail.ubc.ca

[†]Present address:

Anne-Marieke C. Smid, Department of Production Animal Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 01 January 2020 Accepted: 17 April 2020 Published: 13 May 2020

Citation:

Smid AMC, Weary DM and von Keyserlingk MAG (2020) The Influence of Different Types of Outdoor Access on Dairy Cattle Behavior. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:257. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00257

91

access to an outdoor loafing area (i.e., an open area with concrete or other hard flooring) or to an outdoor bedded open pack (i.e., an open area with a soft flooring). Given that these alternative outdoor options generally require less space per cow than pasture and are less subject to damage from cow traffic than pasture, they may be easier to implement on some farms. However, little is known about how alternative outdoor areas influence cow behavior. The aim of this review was to critically assess the scientific literature to understand how key behaviors (lying, standing, walking, feeding, social, and estrus) are influenced by pasture and other types of outdoor area. We also identify gaps in knowledge, especially regarding the use of alternative outdoor areas. Where applicable we draw upon research that investigates cow preference and motivation, as this evidence is especially helpful for drawing inferences regarding the importance of outdoor access to cows (8). We recognize that many aspects of dairy cattle welfare are influenced by pasture and other types of outdoor access, including health and production measures but this is beyond the scope of this review [see (9) for more information]. For the remainder of this review, we will focus on the influence of different types of outdoor access on dairy cattle behavior.

OUTDOOR ACCESS FOR DAIRY CATTLE

In this section, we provide an overview of pasture and alternative types of outdoor access used on dairy farms in those regions where we have been able to find reliable data (Europe, Australia, New Zealand, the United States and Canada). We distinguish between pasture (i.e., an outdoor area with grassland that allows for grazing) and alternative outdoor environments (i.e., any type of outdoor area that has some sort of alternative flooring to grassland, such as concrete or bedding of some sort). Pasture and alternative outdoor areas provide cows with access to the outdoors, but the outdoor environments differ in terms of size and many other features (most notably pasture allows cows the opportunity to graze). This section builds upon the work presented in two recent reviews: one summarized the changes in the global dairy industry affecting dairy cattle health and welfare but did not examine pasture or outdoor access (10) and another focused upon pasture access for dairy cows, but not on alternative types of outdoor access (11).

Europe

Information on pasture access for dairy cows in Europe is not collected in a systematic manner. As such, little is known about which cows are given access to pasture (e.g., young stock, lactating, dry cows, etc.) and duration of access (i.e., days per year and hours per day). In 2019, pasture access in Europe was estimated to range from 95–100% of dairy cows in Ireland, to <25% in Denmark, Poland, and Greece, with most other countries being intermediate [for an overview, please see (12)] (n.b. these figures do not distinguish between farms that provide cows free choice access to pasture from a barn vs. cows housed exclusively outdoors). Data from The Netherlands indicates that in 2018, 71% of the dairy cows aged 2 years and older had access to pasture (13); duration of pasture access was not specified. Regardless, the general trend in the majority of European countries is that the number of farms providing cows with pasture access is declining (12). The exception being some of the nordic countries, such as Sweden, Norway, and Finland, that have implemented regulations requiring farms to provide dairy cows access to pasture for specified periods (12). For example, in Sweden dairy cows must be given pasture access a minimum of 6 h/d, for 60-120 d/y, depending on the region (14). These regulations are based on the assumption that pasture provides cows with an environment in which they can better express natural behaviors such as grazing¹. Similar to pasture access, there are limited data regarding the percentage of farms in Europe that use alternative outdoor areas. To our knowledge the only available scientific information comes from the 2015 European Food Safety Association (EFSA) report (15) detailing that 3 out of 124 small-scale/non-conventional farms in the convenience sample stated that they used an alternative outdoor area.

Australia and New Zealand

Data collected in 2016 showed that about 99% of Australian dairy farms provided cows pasture access. The large majority (89%) kept cows on pasture year-round; 6% of the farms kept cows on pasture during most of the year but also provided supplementary feed (i.e., partial mixed ration) on an outdoor feed pad; 3% of the farms kept their cows on pasture for less than 9 m/y with a partial mixed ration provided on an outdoor feed pad, the latter two used some type of indoor housing or sheds the rest of the year [(16); personal communication]. Alternatives to pasture are commonly referred to as permanent feed pads with the majority of these using concrete flooring; temporary feed pads also exist and are generally differentiated from the permanent feed pads in that they have either a dirt or rubble (i.e., crushed rock and other materials with a range of particle sizes that can be compressed) base (17).

It is thought that more than 99% of dairy farms in New Zealand provide pasture access during some time or during the full year (DairyNZ, personal communication). Approximately one quarter of farms have an off-paddock system (i.e., an area that cows can be kept on during adverse weather conditions, or to reduce feed wastage) available on the farm. Of the farms using an off-paddock system, 81% do not provide any form of cover. Generally, the lying area comprises at least 80% of the total off-paddock surface area; concrete, gravel, and wood-chips are the most common form of surface material; the remaining area is often a concrete feed pad with feed through [(18); personal communication].

United States and Canada

Pasture-based dairy farming was once the norm in the United States (19), but data from 2013 show that pasture is used as the primary system for fewer than 3% of lactating cows and for 5.0% of dry cows (20). A total of 19.9% and 34.0% of lactating and dry cows, respectively, had some pasture access

¹Djurskyddslag SFS 2018:1192. Available online at: http://rkrattsbaser.gov.se/sfst? bet=2018:1192 (accessed May 1, 2019).

(21). Approximately 26% of dairy cows in the US are housed in free-stalls with access to an open/dry lot and ~17% are housed in open/dry lots with or without access to a barn or shed (8.8 and 8.3%, respectively) (20). Although the majority of US dairy farms are still relatively small (i.e., in 2017, 74% of US dairy farms had <100 cows), 55% of all US dairy cows are housed on farms with >1,000 cows (22). As the percentage of lactating cows that have access to pasture decreases with increasing herd sizes, and an increasing volume of total milk production is produced by larger farms (23), the proportion of US dairy cows that have access to pasture is likely to decline.

The National Dairy Study (2015) conducted in April-May 2015 [for detailed methodology, see (24)] contacted all dairy farms in Canada (n = 11,664) and obtained information regarding pasture usage. A total of 1,062 producers completed the full questionnaire (9% response rate). Of those farms that responded, 29.1% provided their lactating cows access to pasture with an approximate minimum average of (\pm SD) 20.5 \pm 6.1 w/y. This corresponds to a total of 18.6% of lactating cows, although this number should be interpreted with caution, given that a significant proportion of all participants did not provide the number of lactating cows on their farm. Pasture use differed for lactating and dry cows and also by province (Figure 1). A total of 57.3% of farms provided dry cows pasture access, with an approximate minimum average of (\pm SD) 20.9 \pm 9.5 w/y (farms often only provide dry cows access to pasture in spring and summer time, or weather permitting). This corresponds to a total of 49.2% of dry cows, although this number should again be interpreted with caution.

Collectively, the available evidence indicates that pasture use differs by region. Pasture usage is generally expected to decline in Europe and North America, driven by increases in farm size (7, 12). In addition to open lot dairies, some farms provide access to alternative types of outdoor environments such as bedded open packs or exercise lots (i.e., non-bedded areas with concrete or dirt as flooring), although the number of farms doing so appears to be limited outside of the US, Australia, and New Zealand. It is largely unknown what percentage of farms keep their cows outside as



opposed to providing cows free choice access to the outdoors and some sort of indoor facility or covered area.

Space requirements for pasture, especially as herd sizes increase, may be one reason why pasture access is not provided. In addition, during some parts of the year pasture access may not be practical, for example during rainy seasons when the soil is subject to damage from cow traffic. This may be a reason why pasture access is more feasible in some parts of the world (e.g., New Zealand, Australia) than others (e.g., Canada and the USA). As will be discussed in the section on feeding behavior, some farmers believe that there are production benefits associated with zero-grazing systems. Farmer characteristics are important predictors of the degree of pasture access provided, as shown in studies with Irish (25) and German farmers (26). Given that the social factors influencing decisions regarding pasture access may differ by country, more research in this area is needed. In addition, most social science work has focussed on pasture access, and information regarding alternative outdoor areas is lacking.

DAIRY COW PREFERENCE AND MOTIVATION FOR OUTDOOR ACCESS

Preference testing requires animals to choose between two or more options (8). The "preferred" option is typically identified as the one that is chosen most often, consumed in the largest quantity, or where the majority of the available time is spent (27). Motivation testing investigates how hard an animal is willing to work to obtain access to a resource (28), i.e., a commodity or the opportunity for the animal to engage in a certain behavior (29). The stronger the motivation to access a resource, the more important that resource is thought to be for the animal (8, 30). Hence, welfare is thought to be more negatively affected if an animal is denied access to a resource for which it is highly motivated (8). Both preference and motivation tests may be affected by the animals' familiarity with the resource and can be influenced by the context in which the experiment is conducted (e.g., weather, time of day, etc.). These and other factors [for a comprehensive overview see (8)] should be taken into account when designing these types of experiments.

Several studies have shown that dairy cattle have a partial preference for pasture access (5, 31-35), with cows choosing to spend from 8% (34) to 72% (35) of their available time on pasture. Experience plays a role in dairy cattle preference for pasture. The cows used in the study of Charlton et al. (34) were reared indoors, potentially explaining why they only spent 8% of their time on pasture. Preference for pasture is influenced by environmental conditions, with high temperature-humidity index (THI) (31), and rainfall (31, 33, 34) decreasing the time spent outside. Cows prefer to spend time on pasture at night rather than during the day (31-33), possibly to avoid high solar radiation during the day (36). Several motivation tests have shown the importance of pasture access for cows, especially at night (5, 33). The quality of the indoor environment may also influence the value of outdoor access for dairy cattle. In a study by Falk et al. (37), cow preference for pasture was not influenced by the number of lying stalls available indoors (24, 16, 8, or 0 stalls per group of 24 cows), showing that even when overstocked cows preferred to be indoors for much of the day and on pasture at night. More research on how the indoor environment influences preference to be outdoors is needed. For example, the provision of an indoor open pack may influence the preference for pasture or an alternative outdoor area.

Despite numerous studies on the importance of pasture access for dairy cattle, little is known about what aspects of pasture are important to dairy cattle. For example, it is not known whether this preference for the outdoors is driven by a desire for more space, cooler air, softer surfaces, grass to graze, or some combination of these and other factors. When free-stall housed, mid-lactation dairy cows could choose between a large pasture or a smaller (i.e., 12 m²/cow) outdoor sand pack during the night in late summer, they spent around 90% of their time on pasture and only 1% on the sand pack (38). This preference could have been driven by the larger space that was available on the pasture compared to the sand pack, the ability to graze on pasture, or other factors. Similarly, Kismul et al. (39), showed that early-to-mid lactation cows with access to a small exercise pasture (0.2 ha grass-covered paddock with little herbage and provided ad libitum grass silage indoors) spent 44% of their time outside, compared to 81% for cows provided access to a production pasture (larger pasture with ample herbage and restricted access to grass silage indoors) (both groups were given 8.5 h/d outdoor access). Jørgensen et al. (40) showed that cows provided access to an exercise paddock (0.74 ha in size in a small forest) spent less time outdoors than did cows provided access to pasture (a total 2.8 ha in size that was used for strip grazing). These two latter studies were based on a single group of cows in each treatment and thus should be interpreted with caution given the lack of replication. When preference of free-stall housed cows for access to an outdoor pack was tested in summer and winter, cows spent 25% of the time outside in summer and only 2% in winter (41). Cows especially spent time outside during summer nights (50.0 \pm 8.4%) rather than during summer days $(3.3 \pm 1.3 \%)$ and generally avoided adverse weather (i.e., snow, strong wind, and/or low air temperatures) during the winter months. Haskell et al. (42) investigated the use of an outdoor concrete loafing area by free-stall housed cows when given the option during the day. These authors reported that the cows spent about 14% of their time outside on the concrete loafing area during the day in spring and summer, with the majority of this time being when the weather was sunny; cows rarely went outside in the rain. Except for cows given access to the production pasture in the study of Kismul et al. (39), feed was provided indoors in all studies such that cows could fulfill 100% of their nutritional needs without the need for grazing. Given that cow preference for pasture and alternative outdoor areas is affected by many factors, providing cows a choice to access the outdoors may be of particular importance. In addition, providing animals controllability over their environment likely enhances their welfare (43).

In the following section, we will outline how various dairy cattle behaviors (i.e., lying, standing, walking, feeding, social, and estrus behaviors) are influenced by different types of outdoor access, and how providing choice to access the outdoors can affect behavior.

THE INFLUENCE OF DIFFERENT TYPES OF OUTDOOR ACCESS ON SPONTANEOUS DAIRY CATTLE BEHAVIOR

Lying, Standing, and Walking Behavior

Lying is a highly motivated behavior in dairy cows, with cows prioritizing lying over feeding after a period of deprivation of both behaviors (44). Heifers appear motivated to lie down for 12 to 13 h/d when housed in a tie stall (45); cows trained to push open a weighted gate to access an open deep-bedded lying area worked to maintain a lying time of 13 h/d (46).

Generally, cows housed on pasture have lower lying times compared to when housed indoors. For example, cows kept on pasture lay down for 10.9 vs. 12.3 h/d when housed in a freestall barn (47). Other studies reported average daily lying times between 7.5 and 9.5 h/d for cows housed on pasture (48-50). Cows in free-stall barns typically lie down for 10-12 h/d (51-55), though large variation in average lying times exist between farms [between 9.5 and 12.9 h/d was reported by (52); between 8.7 and 13.2 h/d was reported by (55)]. Despite having lower lying times when housed on pasture, cows given the choice between pasture, and a free-stall barn generally chose to lie on pasture rather than indoors [e.g., (31, 56)], except during summer days when cows generally stay indoors [e.g., (31, 37)]. Cows are able to engage in a broader range of lying positions when housed on pasture, including lying flat on the side (57); the ability to adopt these positions may help explain cow preference for lying on pasture compared to the more restrictive lying environment of free-stalls. The surface type may also influence preference: when cows had a choice between an outdoor wood-chip area and pasture, they spent most of their lying time on the grass (58).

The lower daily lying times on pasture may be a consequence of time spent grazing, but to our knowledge no studies have attempted to disentangle whether indoor-housed cows provided access to pasture prefer to graze or to lie for long periods of time. Typical grazing times are difficult to estimate, given that these depend on several factors, including herbage height (59, 60), herbage allowance (61), and concentrate supplementation (62). Feral cattle spend from 6.8 to 13.0 h/d grazing [reviewed (63)], and Holstein-Friesian cows appear to spend about 9.2 h/d grazing (64, 65). Given these estimates, grazing time does not appear to be affected by lying time, but future research should investigate this. Higher lying times indoors may also be a consequence of boredom; an alternative explanation for the longer lying times reported in free-stalls compared to pasture is that cows are seeking refuge from the concrete standing surfaces elsewhere in the barn; soft, dry standing surfaces are rarely available indoors (66, 67). Lying stalls were designed to provide cows with a place for lying and not for standing. The ability of the cow to use the lying stall for standing is affected by the positioning of the neck-rail, with more aggressive positions (closer to the curb) increasing two foot standing (perching) in the stall (68). Hence, perching may be a result of cows looking

for a soft place to stand, especially when the placement of the neck rail prevents cows from standing with all four feet in the stall (68). When housed in pens with rubber flooring in front of the feed bunk, cows spent less time perching, and standing fully in the free-stalls and less time lying down in the free-stalls, and more time standing idle at the feed bunk (66, 69). Boyle et al. (70), however, found no difference in lying time between cows housed in free-stall pens with concrete or rubber flooring, but found that cows housed on concrete stood more in the free-stalls compared to cows in pens with rubber flooring. In the latter case, cows stood more on the rubber flooring at the feed face, again suggesting that cows seek refuge from standing on hard surfaces. Taken together, these studies indicate that standing on a soft surface is important for dairy cattle.

These results may also help explain the partial preference of free-stall housed cows for outdoor bedded packs. Fregonesi et al. (71) showed that cows preferred to spend time both lying and standing fully in an indoor open bedded pack compared to freestalls, potentially because of the less restrictive environment of the open pack. A study by Smid et al. (38) provided free-stall housed cows free access to an outdoor open sand pack or pasture during the night. Although the amount of time spent in each location differed, the proportion of time cows spent lying down outside was similar when given free access to a sand pack (55%) or pasture (52%), indicating that cows may find the outdoor pack comfortable for standing. Another study provided cows free access to an outdoor wood chip pack in summer and winter and found that in summer, 54% of the time that cows were outside was spent lying down. This again shows that cows preferred to stand on the outdoor pack for a significant amount of time. In winter cows spent little time outside and of the time spent outdoors only about 5% was spent lying down (41).

Cows generally walk more on pasture than in a free-stall barn [e.g., (72, 73)], likely because of the need to move while grazing. Exercise has been suggested to be positive for dairy cattle welfare (73), although the higher energy expenditure of cattle on pasture compared to zero-grazing systems may pose challenges (74). Pasture systems are often associated with lower body condition scores in dairy cattle [e.g., (75, 76)] emphasizing the need for good pasture management. The increased opportunities for exercise in outdoor areas compared to the generally more restrictive indoor housing environments may also provide benefits for animal welfare. This may be especially true in bedded packs as cows prefer to walk on softer materials such as rubber than on concrete flooring (67), potentially because they are more prone to falling and slipping on concrete (77).

Feeding Behavior

Dairy cattle are able to utilize high roughage diets, but to maintain milk production and minimize body condition loss (75) many dairy cattle are fed more energy dense diets [often provided as a mixture of roughage and grain products, or as a total mixed ration [TMR; (78, 79)]. Ration formulation varies based on the nutritional demands of cows [see (80)]. On average, milk production increases when the diet is supplemented with grain (81, 82), and the perceived production benefits of feeding

a mixed ration is one reason why cows are no longer kept on pasture (21).

It is important to distinguish between choice and forced outdoor systems. When cows were provided a choice between free-stall housing and pasture, they maintained much of their TMR intake, and increased their feeding rate as compared to when they were confined in the free-stall barn (31). A similar result was reported by Smid et al. (41) who provided cows access to an outdoor wood-chip pack and found that cows showed a small decline in their feeding time in summer, but no decrease in feeding time in winter, compared to when confined in the free-stall barn. When cows were provided access to pasture or an outdoor sand pack during the night, they had lower feeding times than when kept indoors day and night. However, regardless of the option to go outside during the night, cows maintained their feeding times indoors during the day (38). Overall, these studies indicate that, when provided a choice to access pasture or an alternative outdoor area, cows maintain much of their TMR intake. Cows can also maintain their intake (and milk production) when kept on pasture at night and indoors during the day, relative to cows kept permanently indoors (83).

An important difference between pasture and alternative outdoor areas is that only the former allows grazing. Cows given access to an alternative outdoor area are generally provided access to a TMR or partial mixed ration (PMR), feed sources that do not allow them to engage in typical "grazing" behavior. It is likely that cows are motivated to graze, but little work has addressed the importance of grazing for cow welfare. The inability to engage in natural feeding behaviors is associated with the development of stereotypic and other abnormal behaviors in many animal species [e.g., pigs: (84), giraffe: (85), chimpanzee: (86); horses: (87)]. Stereotypic behaviors often resemble the behavior that is thwarted (84). When grazing, cattle roll their tongue around the grass to ingest it; this behavior resembles tongue playing or tongue rolling [i.e., "twisting and twirling with the tongue, either inside or outside the open mouth," (88)], one of the most common stereotypies in cattle. As described by Beauchemin (89), cows fed a TMR use their lips to ingest feed, as opposed to their tongue to ingest long-stemmed forage or when grazing grass (90). In experimental settings, oral stereotypies in cattle were never observed on pasture (90-92), but were present in loose housing (91). Thus, the method of feed ingestion may be as important for animals as the goal itself (i.e., ingesting feed). Interestingly, in mountain breeds such as Brown Swiss and Simmental, tongue rolling is more prevalent compared to other cow breeds (93). The reason for this is unknown. Jerseys also seem to be especially orally motivated, showing a higher frequency of cross-suckling than Danish Red or Holstein-Friesian calves (94). The lower prevalence of tongue rolling in other breeds does not necessarily indicate that they are less motivated to graze or to obtain roughage.

Prior experience may play an important role in determining the preference for pasture (11). Naïve heifers grouped with cows that had experience with grazing had a lower latency to graze compared to groups consisting of only naïve heifers. Differences in grazing behavior between the treatments were found only for the first hour after pasture introduction, however (95). Heifers that had experience with pasture spent less time grazing, but more time ruminating, compared to heifers with no experience with pasture. This potentially indicates more efficient grazing behavior of the former (96), grazing itself may not be the only factor influencing the preference for pasture access. As pasture provides cattle with roughage, grazing is confounded with roughage consumption. Research in this area is again limited, but the development and frequency of stereotypies has been linked with feeding low amounts of roughage (97). Calves appear to prefer long over chopped hay (98), and work on beef cows found that they were highly motivated to obtain roughage, especially when kept on a low-roughage diet (99). Collectively, these results indicate that access to roughage and the manipulation of feed are important to cattle, as also suggested in a review (100) on the importance of straw for dairy cattle.

The time of day that cows spend feeding indoors is mainly determined by the time of fresh feed delivery (101). On pasture, cows feed mainly during the day, with intense grazing bouts at dawn and dusk (102–104). Cows housed on pasture often show synchronized feeding (105) and lying behavior (73, 106), which is thought to be positive for their welfare, perhaps especially so for more subordinate cows (107).

Given that milk production per cow has more than doubled in the last 40 years (108), selection for milk yield may cause high producing dairy cows to be especially motivated to consume a high energy ration like that which is normally provided indoors. Given the selection for high milk production and the correspondingly high energy requirements, it has been questioned if certain dairy genotypes are suitable to be housed exclusively on pasture (109). We encourage research to disentangle the importance of grazing, roughage and energy provision for dairy cattle. Given that cows are unable to perform grazing behavior in alternative outdoor systems, understanding the importance of grazing for dairy cattle welfare will also provide insight into the acceptability of providing cows these alternatives. Studies have investigated the effect of outdoor access on feeding behavior, but these studies have not reported effects on drinking behavior. Given that the stocking rate for drinking places is typically higher than that for feeding places (110), and competition around the drinker may be expected, future work on drinking behavior is required.

Social Behavior

Social behavior includes positive and negative (i.e., agonistic) interactions. Positive interactions in cows have not been studied extensively but there is some evidence that allogrooming (i.e., social licking) is important (111, 112). In contrast, agonistic interactions between cows have been well-studied and consist of multiple forms of aggressive behavior, such as displacements, pushes and head butts (88, 113, 114). Housing is thought to play an important role in the frequency and display of these interactions (115).

In free-stall housing, competition for resources such as feeding and lying areas may pose challenges. It is well-known that increased stocking density leads to increased competition for access to the feeding area in free-stall housed dairy cattle [e.g., (116, 117)]. When given a choice, cows prefer to have greater inter-cow distances than what is normally available in indoor systems (118, 119). Tresoldi et al. (115) investigated social behavior in dairy heifers housed in either a free-stall barn or kept on pasture. When housed in free-stalls, heifers exhibited a 4fold increase in the number of social interactions (allogrooming as well as agonistic interactions) compared to when housed on pasture, but the ratio of positive to negative interactions was the same in the two environments. Less space was available indoors than on pasture, leading the authors to suggest that the higher number of social interactions observed indoors was a consequence of a higher stocking density.

Similar observations have been made for other types of outdoor areas. Heifers on an outdoor wood-chip pack, provided an individual space allowance of 8 m² on the pack and 6 m² on the concrete feeding area, showed increased frequency of play behavior, including social play, compared to heifers housed inside a free-stall pen that provided 5.3 m^2 /heifer (120). These heifers also had a higher frequency of allogrooming, but showed no difference in the frequency of agonistic interactions. Schütz et al. (121) reported that a minimum of 6 m^2 of space allowance per cow was needed on an off-wintering rubber pad during an 18h stand off period to maintain daily lying times similar to that observed when cows were housed on pasture. When cows were provided less space (3 or $4.5 \text{ m}^2/\text{cow}$), the reduction in both lying time and lying bout duration and frequency was thought to be due to increased agonistic behavior. Free-stall housed cows given access to an outdoor open wood-chip pack spent more time outside during the night with increasing outdoor space allowance (range of space allowances tested: 4-16 m²) (122). Interestingly, outdoor space allowance did not influence the number of displacements from a lying position that cows were engaged in on the outdoor pack. However, as the authors argue, this latter finding may be a consequence of cows having the opportunity to avoid agonistic interactions by moving indoors, particularly when outdoor space per cow declines. Another study (42) reported that, compared to high-ranking cows, low-ranking, free-stall housed cows used an outdoor concrete loafing area more during the pre-feeding and feeding period, suggesting that the use of the outdoors may in part be affected by social rank. There is also some preliminary evidence suggesting that cows housed on an out-wintering woodchip pad showed a higher synchrony in lying and feeding behavior than free-stall housed cows (123). These authors argued that increased synchrony may be a positive indicator of welfare, but the work should be viewed with caution given that there were only two replications per treatment.

As an increase in space allowance generally results in reduced interactions between cows, it follows that providing cows with an additional outdoor space will result in a decline in social interactions. However, there has been little experimental work looking at how much space cows require on an alternative outdoor area. The Canadian Dairy Cattle Code of Practice (124) states that resting areas in bedded-pack pens must provide 11 m² per mature cow, but no justification is provided

for this number. New research is required to investigate the space requirements of individual cows when provided different forms of outdoor access. Studies should include social rank when investigating cow preference, as social rank may play an important role in the preference of dairy cows for certain environments. In addition, the effect of the choice to go outdoors on social interactions should be investigated, especially on outdoor areas other than pasture that typically provide less space per cow.

Estrus Behavior

The estrus cycle in dairy cows is, on average, 21 days in length (125), with estrus behavior expressed between 2 and 24 h (126). Estrus behavior in dairy cows can be divided into primary (i.e., standing to be mounted) and secondary signs (i.e., anogenital sniffing, chin resting, successful, and unsuccessful mounts) (127).

Free-stall systems where cows are for the most part continuously housed on concrete flooring (representing the vast majority of US dairy operations; (21) pose a challenge for estrus expression. Cows housed in free-stall barns with concrete flooring have fewer standing estrus events (128) and a lower frequency of standing to be mounted compared to cows housed on pasture (129). Similar results were found comparing concrete with other types of flooring; for example, cows had a lower duration of estrus as well as a lower frequency of mounting and standing to be mounted when kept on concrete compared to dirt flooring (130). The effects of rubber flooring in loose housing systems are variable; cows housed on rubber mats showed a higher frequency of mounting than when housed on concrete (77), but no beneficial effects on estrus behavior of rubber over concrete flooring were found by Boyle et al. (70). Differences in rubber quality may explain this difference (131, 132).

Vailes and Britt (133) suggested that cows may feel unsure of their footing on concrete and are therefore less inclined to perform estrus behaviors on this flooring. Concrete flooring has been linked with more slipping during mounting compared to pasture (128) or rubber flooring (77). In the latter study, 19 out of 23 mounts on a concrete floor were accompanied with collapsing or slipping. Little information is available regarding the effect of alternative outdoor areas on estrus behavior. Cows housed in a covered straw yard had more successful mounting attempts compared to cows housed in a free-stall (134), possibly because the straw flooring provided them with better footing. Indeed, when given a choice between concrete and dirt, cows in estrus spent more time on dirt than on concrete and preferred to mount other cows that were in estrus on dirt rather than on concrete (133). However, the latter study was conducted with individual cows that were given 30 min to interact with two tied cows, one on concrete and one on dirt; to our knowledge no research has examined preferences for different types of flooring during estrus in dairy cows housed under commercial conditions.

Concrete flooring can also increase the risk of lameness in dairy cows [e.g., (47, 135, 136)]. Lame cows may be less inclined to engage in estrus behaviors, especially if the flooring contributes to their pain. Lame cows have lower behavioral estrus expression than non-lame cows (137). In addition, falling and slipping when mounting can increase the risk of trauma and lameness.

Based on these results, housing systems with softer, high traction flooring such as pasture, dirt, or deep bedded packs may facilitate the expression of estrus behavior in dairy cows. Access to an outdoor area with better footing than is provided by concrete may be especially beneficial to cows in estrus.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Pasture can provide cows with an open area and a soft surface that allows the expression of grazing and facilitates the expression of lying, standing, walking, and estrus behaviors. In addition, keeping cows on pasture decreases negative social interactions between cows, potentially because cows on pasture engage in fewer encounters compared to when housed indoors. Alternatives to pasture include outdoor loafing areas (often with concrete flooring) or outdoor open bedded packs. Given challenges with concrete or other hard flooring in terms of lying, standing, and walking behavior, bedded packs may be more suitable than concrete loafing areas. Access to an outdoor open bedded pack can facilitate lying, standing and walking behavior and may also have positive effects on social behavior. The benefits of an outdoor bedded pack on estrus behavior warrants more research, but the available evidence shows that outdoor bedded packs can provide better footing than is available indoors, minimizing slips which can be beneficial for estrus behavior. Alternative outdoor areas assessed to date appear to be less attractive than pasture, perhaps because these areas do not provide the opportunity to graze. We encourage future research to investigate the importance of grazing for dairy cattle welfare. The motivation of dairy cows to access alternative outdoor areas should also be investigated. Given that cow preference for the outdoors depends on many internal and external factors, providing cows a choice between well-managed indoor and outdoor areas may be of particular importance.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed equally to conceptualization. A-MS performed the literature search and wrote the initial version of the review. DW and MK provided critical revisions.

FUNDING

The authors declare that this study received funding from the Dairy Farmers of Canada, Alberta Milk, British Columbia Dairy Association, Boehringer Ingelheim, Intervet Canada Corporation, Saputo Inc., SaskMilk, Manitoba Milk, Cattle Industry Development Fund, Lactanet, and Semex Alliance. The funders were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dairy Australia (Melbourne, Australia) and Dairy NZ (Hamilton, New Zealand) for providing us with information on dairy cattle housing systems used in these parts of the world. We thank Dr. Lombard, US

REFERENCES

- Boogaard BK, Oosting SJ, Bock BB. Defining sustainability as a socio-cultural concept: citizen panels visiting dairy farms in the Netherlands. *Livest Sci.* (2008) 117:24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2007.11.004
- Weinrich R, Kühl S, Zühlsdorf A, Spiller A. Consumer attitudes in Germany towards different dairy housing systems and their implications for the marketing of pasture raised milk. *Int Food Agribus Manag Rev.* (2014) 17:205–22. doi: 10.22004/ag.econ.188715
- Schuppli CA, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Access to pasture for dairy cows: responses from an online engagement. J Anim Sci. (2014) 92:5185–92. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-7725
- 4. Hötzel MJ, Cardoso CS, Roslindo A, von Keyserlingk MAG. Citizens' views on the practices of zero-grazing and cow-calf separation in the dairy industry: does providing information increase acceptability? J Dairy Sci. (2017) 100:4150–60. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11933
- von Keyserlingk MAG, Amorim Cestari A, Franks B, Fregonesi JA, Weary DM. Dairy cows value access to pasture as highly as fresh feed. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:44953. doi: 10.1038/srep44953
- Lund V. Natural living-a precondition for animal welfare in organic farming. Livest Sci. (2006) 100:71–83. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2005.08.005
- Robbins JA, Von Keyserlingk MAG, Fraser D, Weary DM. Invited review: Farm size and animal welfare. J Anim Sci. (2016) 94:5439–55. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016-0805
- Fraser D, Matthews LR. Preference and motivation testing. In: Appleby MC, Hughes BO, editors. *Animal Welfare*. New York, NY: CAB International (1997). p. 159–73.
- Arnott G, Ferris CP, O'connell NE. Review: welfare of dairy cows in continuously housed and pasture-based production systems. *Animal.* (2017) 11:261–73. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116001336
- Barkema HW, von Keyserlingk MAG, Kastelic JP, Lam TJGM, Luby C, Roy J-P, et al. Invited review: changes in the dairy industry affecting dairy cattle health and welfare. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:7426–45. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9377
- Charlton GL, Rutter SM. The behaviour of housed dairy cattle with and without pasture access: a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 192:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.05.015
- Dasselaar AVDP, Hennessy D. Grazing of dairy cows in Europe—An indepth analysis based on the perception of grassland experts. *Sustainability*. (2020) 12:1098.doi: 10.3390/su12031098
- CBS. StatLine—Weidegang van melkvee; GVE-klasse, regio. Weidegang van melkvee, GVE-klasse (2019). Available online at: https://opendata.cbs.nl/ statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/83953NED/table?dl=2C206 (accessed December 31, 2019).
- Jordbruksverket. Statens Jordbruksverks Författningssamling, Saknr L 106. (2017). p. 1–15. Available online at: http://www.jordbruksverket. se/download/18.229ea55815233ba0390e8c59/1452694447806/ Landsbygdsprogrammet\$+\$2014-2020.pdf (accessed May 1, 2019).
- Zuliani A. Description and interpretation of submitted data and subsequent analysis obtained from the preparatory work for the scientific opinion on welfare assessment of dairy cows in small scale farming systems. *EFSA Support Publ.* (2015) 12:853E doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2015. EN-853
- Dairy Australia. Dairy Welfare, We Care. Animal Husbandry Survey 2016. (2017). Available at: https://www.dairyaustralia.com.au/farm/animalmanagement/animal-welfare

Department of Agriculture, for providing us recent data on dairy cattle housing in the US. We are also grateful to Drs. Kelton, Bauman and Hand from the Department of Population Medicine, University of Guelph, for providing us with data on pasture use in Canada from the National Dairy Study.

- Street CA, Avenue O. *Guidelines for Victorian Dairy Feedpads and Freestalls.* Department of Primary Industries Victoria on behalf of the Geoffrey Gardiner Dairy Foundation (2010).
- 18. DairyNZ. Off-Paddock Dairy Systems Farmer Survey Report (2015).
- Blayney D. The changing landscape of U.S. milk production. USDA Statistical Bulletin No. SB-978. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (2002).
- USDA. Special Tabulation Cow Housing: Dairy 2014, Dairy Cattle Management Practices in the United States, 2014, USDA-APHIS-VS, CEAH. Fort Collins, CO (2016).
- 21. USDA. Dairy Cattle Management Practices in the United States, 2014. Fort Collins, CO (2016).
- USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service. Census of Agriculture. Available online at: https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/ 2017/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_1_US/usv1.pdf (accessed December 24, 2019).
- 23. Macdonald JM, Cessna J, Mosheim R. *Changing Structure, Financial Risks, and Government Policy for the U.S. Dairy Industry, ERR-205.* U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service (2016).
- Bauman CA, Barkema HW, Dubuc J, Keefe GP, Kelton DF. Canadian National Dairy Study: herd-level milk quality. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 101:2679– 91. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13336
- Läpple D, Hennessy T, O'Donovan M. Extended grazing: a detailed analysis of Irish dairy farms. J Dairy Sci. (2012) 95:188–95. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4512
- Becker T, Kayser M, Tonn B, Isselstein J. How German dairy farmers perceive advantages and disadvantages of grazing and how it relates to their milk production systems. *Livest Sci.* (2018) 214:112–9. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.05.018
- Kirkden RD, Pajor EA. Using preference, motivation and aversion tests to ask scientific questions about animals' feelings. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2006) 100:29–47. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.04.009
- Duncan IJH. Science-based assessment of animal welfare: farm animals. *Rev Sci Tech.* (2005) 24:483–92. doi: 10.20506/rst.24.2.1587
- Kirkden RD, Edwards JSS, Broom DM. A theoretical comparison of the consumer surplus and the elasticities of demand as measures of motivational strength. *Anim Behav.* (2003) 65:157–78. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2002.2035
- Dawkins MS. Behavioural deprivation: a central problem in animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1988) 20:209–25. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(88)90047-0
- Legrand AL, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Preference and usage of pasture versus free-stall housing by lactating dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:3651–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1733
- 32. Charlton GL, Rutter SM, East M, Sinclair LA. Effects of providing total mixed rations indoors and on pasture on the behavior of lactating dairy cattle and their preference to be indoors or on pasture. *J Dairy Sci.* (2011) 94:3875–84. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4172
- Charlton GL, Rutter SM, East M, Sinclair LA. The motivation of dairy cows for access to pasture. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:4387–96. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6421
- 34. Charlton GL, Rutter SM, East M, Sinclair LA. Preference of dairy cows: indoor cubicle housing with access to a total mixed ration vs. access to pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2011) 130:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.11.018
- 35. Krohn CC, Munksgaard L, Jonasen B. Behaviour of dairy cows kept in extensive (loose housing/pasture) or intensive (tie stall) environments I. Experimental procedure, facilities, time budgets diurnal and seasonal conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1992) 34:37–47. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(05)80055-3

- Schütz KE, Rogers AR, Cox NR, Tucker CB. Dairy cows prefer shade that offers greater protection against solar radiation in summer: Shade use, behaviour, and body temperature. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 116:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.07.005
- Falk AC, Weary DM, Winckler C, von Keyserlingk MAG. Preference for pasture versus freestall housing by dairy cattle when stall availability indoors is reduced. J Dairy Sci. (2012) 95:6409–15. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-5208
- Smid AMC, Weary DM, Costa JHC, von Keyserlingk MAG. Dairy cow preference for different types of outdoor access. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 450:1–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13294
- 39. Kismul H, Spörndly E, Höglind M, Næss G, Eriksson T. Morning and evening pasture access - comparing the effect of production pasture and exercise pasture on milk production and cow behaviour in an automatic milking system. *Livest Sci.* (2018) 217:44–54. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018. 09.013
- Jørgensen GHM, Eilertsen SM, Hansen I, Aanensen L. The behaviour and production of dairy cattle when offered green pasture or exercise pen. *Grassl Sci Eur.* (2013) 20:107–9.
- Smid AMC, Burgers EEA, Weary DM, Bokkers EAM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Dairy cow preference for access to an outdoor pack in summer and winter. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:1551–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15007
- 42. Haskell MJ, Masłowska K, Bell DJ, Roberts DJ, Langford FM. The effect of a view to the surroundings and microclimate variables on use of a loafing area in housed dairy cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 147:28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.04.016
- Wiepkema PR, Koolhaas JM. Stress and Animal Welfare. Anim Welf. (1993) 2:195–218.
- Munksgaard L, Jensen MB, Pedersen LJ, Hansen SW, Matthews L. Quantifying behavioural priorities - effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos taurus. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2005) 92:3–14. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.11.005
- Jensen MB, Pedersen LJ, Munksgaard L. The effect of reward duration on demand functions for rest in dairy heifers and lying requirements as measured by demand functions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2005) 90:207–17. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.08.006
- 46. Tucker CB, Munksgaard L, Mintline EM, Jensen MB. Use of a pneumatic push gate to measure dairy cattle motivation to lie down in a deep-bedded area. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 201:15–24. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.12.018
- Hernandez-Mendo O, von Keyserlingk MAG, Veira DM, Weary DM. Effects of pasture on lameness in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1209–14. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71608-9
- Tucker CB, Rogers AR, Schütz KE. Effect of solar radiation on dairy cattle behaviour, use of shade and body temperature in a pasture-based system. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.015
- Sepúlveda-Varas P, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Lying behavior and postpartum health status in grazing dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:6334– 43. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8357
- O'Driscoll K, Lewis E, Kennedy E. Effect of feed allowance at pasture on lying behaviour and locomotory ability of dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2015) 166:25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.02.008
- Cook NB, Bennett TB, Nordlund KV. Monitoring indices of cow comfort in free-stall-housed dairy herds. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:3876–85. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)73073-3
- Ito K, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Lying behavior: assessing withinand between-herd variation in free-stall-housed dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:4412–20. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2235
- Gomez A, Cook NB. Time budgets of lactating dairy cattle in commercial freestall herds. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 93:5772–81. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3436
- 54. von Keyserlingk MAG, Barrientos A, Ito K, Galo E, Weary DM. Benchmarking cow comfort on North American freestall dairies: lameness, leg injuries, lying time, facility design, and management for high-producing Holstein dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2012) 95:7399–408. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5807
- Charlton GL, Haley DB, Rushen J, de Passillé AM. Stocking density, milking duration, and lying times of lactating cows on Canadian freestall dairy farms. *J Dairy Sci.* (2014) 97:2694–700. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6923

- Ketelaar-De Lauwere CC, Ipema AH, Van Ouwerkerk ENJ, Hendriks MMWB, Metz JHM, Noordhuizen JPTM, et al. Voluntary automatic milking in combination with grazing of dairy cows: milking frequency and effects on behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1999) 64:91–109. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00027-1
- 57. Krohn CC, Munksgaard L. Behavior of dairy-cows kept in extensive (loose housing pasture) or intensive (tie stall) environments II. Lying and lying-down behavior. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1993) 37:1–16. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90066-X
- Schütz KE, Huddart FJ, Cave VM. Do dairy cattle use a woodchip bedded area to rest on when managed on pasture in summer? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020) 223:104922. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2019.104922
- Motupalli PR, Sinclair LA, Charlton GL, Bleach EC, Rutter SM. Preference and behavior of lactating dairy cows given free access to pasture at two herbage masses and two distances. J Anim Sci. (2014) 92:5175–84. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-8046
- Gibb MJ, Huckle CA, Nuthall R, Rook AJ. The effect of physiological state (lactating or dry) and sward surface height on grazing behaviour and intake by dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1999) 63:269–87. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00014-3
- Peyraud JL, Comeron EA, Wade MH, Lemaire G. The effect of daily herbage allowance, herbage mass and animal factors upon herbage intake by grazing dairy cows. *Anim Res.* (1996) 45:201–17. doi: 10.1051/animres:199 60301
- Bargo F, Muller LD, Kolver ES, Delahoy JE. Invited review: production and digestion of supplemented dairy cows on pasture. *J Dairy Sci.* (2003) 86:1–42. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73581-4
- Kilgour RJ. In pursuit of "normal": a review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 138:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.12.002
- Kennedy E, McEvoy M, Murphy JP, O'Donovan M. Effect of restricted access time to pasture on dairy cow milk production, grazing behavior, and dry matter intake. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:168–76. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1091
- O'Driscoll K, O'Brien B, Gleeson D, Boyle L. Milking frequency and nutritional level affect grazing behaviour of dairy cows: a case study. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 122:77–83. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.11.014
- 66. Tucker CB, Weary DM, de Passillé AM, Campbell B, Rushen J. Flooring in front of the feed bunk affects feeding behavior and use of freestalls by dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:2065–71. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72274-3
- Telezhenko E, Lidfors L, Bergsten C. Dairy cow preferences for soft or hard flooring when standing or walking. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:3716–24. doi: 10.3168/jds.2006-876
- Fregonesi JA, von Keyserlingk MAG, Tucker CB, Veira DM, Weary DM. Neck-rail position in the free stall affects standing behavior and udder and stall cleanliness. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:1979–85. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1604
- Fregonesi JA, Tucker CB, Weary DM, Flower FC, Vittie T. Effect of rubber flooring in front of the feed bunk on the time budgets of dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:1203–1207. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04) 73270-1
- Boyle LA, Mee JF, Kiernan PJ. The effect of rubber versus concrete passageways in cubicle housing on claw health and reproduction of pluriparous dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 106:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.07.011
- Fregonesi JA, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Cow preference and usage of free stalls compared with an open pack area. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:5497–502. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2331
- Black RA, Krawczel PD. A case study of behaviour and performance of confined or pastured cows during the dry period. *Animals.* (2016) 6:41. doi: 10.3390/ani6070041
- Crump A, Jenkins K, Bethell EJ, Ferris CP, Arnott G. Pasture access affects behavioral indicators of wellbeing in dairy cows. *Animals.* (2019) 9:902. doi: 10.3390/ani9110902
- 74. Dohme-Meier F, Kaufmann LD, Görs S, Junghans P, Metges CC, Van Dorland HA, et al. Comparison of energy expenditure, eating pattern and physical activity of grazing and zero-grazing dairy cows at different time points during lactation. *Livest Sci.* (2014) 162:86–96. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2014.01.006

- Kolver ES, Muller LD. Performance and nutrient intake of high producing holstein cows consuming pasture or a total mixed ration. *J Dairy Sci.* (1998) 81:1403–11. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75704-2
- Washburn SP, White SL, Green JT, Benson GA. Reproduction, mastitis, and body condition of seasonally calved Holstein and Jersey cows in confinement or pasture systems. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:105–11. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74058-7
- Platz S, Ahrens F, Bendel J, Meyer HHD, Erhard MH. What happens with cow behavior when replacing concrete slatted floor by rubber coating: a case study. J Dairy Sci. (2008) 91:999–1004. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0584
- Eastridge ML. Major advances in fundamental dairy cattle nutrition. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:1324–36. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72200-7
- DeVries TJ, Beauchemin KA, von Keyserlingk MAG. Dietary forage concentration affects the feed sorting behavior of lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:5572–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0370
- NRC. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th ed. Washington, DC: National Academic Press (2001).
- Bargo F, Muller LD, Varga GA, Delahoy JE, Cassidy TW. Ruminal digestion and fermentation of high-producing dairy cows with three different feeding systems combining pasture and total mixed rations. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:2964–73. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74382-8
- White SL, Benson GA, Washburn SP, Green JT. Milk production and economic measures in confinement or pasture systems using seasonally calved Holstein and Jersey cows. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:95–104. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74057-5
- Chapinal N, Goldhawk C, de Passillé AM, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM, Rushen J. Overnight access to pasture does not reduce milk production or feed intake in dairy cattle. *Livest Sci.* (2010) 129:104–10. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.01.011
- Jensen P. Diurnal rhythm of bar-biting in relation to other behaviour in pregnant sows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1988) 21:337–46. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(88)90068-8
- Koene P. When Feeding is Just Eating: How Do Farm and Zoo Animals Use Their Spare Time? Regulation of Feed Intake. New York, NY: CAB International (1999). p. 13–9.
- Baker KC, Easley SP. An analysis of regurgitation and reingestion in captive chimpanzees. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1996) 49:403–15. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(96)01061-1
- Willard JG, Willard JC, Wolfram SA, Baker JP. Effect of diet on cecal pH and feeding behavior of horses. J Anim Sci. (1977) 45:87–93. doi: 10.2527/jas1977.45187x
- Krohn CC. Behaviour of dairy cows kept in extensive (loose housing/pasture) or intensive (tie stall) environments. III. Grooming, exploration and abnormal behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1994) 42:73–86. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(94)90148-1
- Beauchemin KA. Invited review: current perspectives on eating and rumination activity in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:1–23. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13706
- Redbo I. Changes in duration and frequency of stereotypies and their adjoining behaviours in heifers, before, during and after the grazing period. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1990) 26:57–67. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(90)90087-T
- Redbo I. The influence of restraint on the occurrence of oral stereotypies in dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1992) 35:115–23. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(92)90002-S
- Redbo I. Stereotypies and cortisol secretion in heifers subjected to tethering. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1993) 38:213–25. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90020-P
- Sambraus HH. Mouth-Based anomalous syndromes. In Fraser A, editor. Ethology of Farm Animals: A Comprehensive Study of the Behavioural Features of the Common Farm Animals. New York, NY: Elsevier (1985). p. 391–422.
- Nielsen PP, Jensen MB, Lidfors L. Milk allowance and weaning method affect the use of a computer controlled milk feeder and the development of cross-sucking in dairy calves. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:223–37. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.01.015
- Costa JHC, Costa WG, Weary DM, Machado Filho LCP, von Keyserlingk MAG. Dairy heifers benefit from the presence of an experienced companion when learning how to graze. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:562–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9387

- 96. Arrazola A, Dicker K, Vasseur E, Bergeron R. The effect of early housing and companion experience on the grazing and ruminating behaviour of naïve heifers on pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020). 226:104993. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.104993
- Redbo I, Nordblad A. Stereotypies in heifers are affected by feeding regime. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1997) 53:193–202. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01145-8
- Webb LE, Jensen MB, Engel B, Van Reenen CG, Gerrits WJJ, De Boer IJM, et al. Chopped or long roughage: what do calves prefer? Using cross point analysis of double demand functions. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e88778. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088778
- 99. Van Os JMC, Mintline EM, DeVries TJ, Tucker CB. Domestic cattle (Bos taurus taurus) are motivated to obtain forage and demonstrate contrafreeloading. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e193109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193109
- 100. Tuyttens FAM. The importance of straw for pig and cattle welfare: a review. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2005) 92:261–82. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.05.007
- DeVries TJ, von Keyserlingk MAG, Beauchemin KA. Frequency of feed delivery affects the behavior of lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:3553–62. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)73040-X
- Ruckebusch Y, Bueno L. An analysis of ingestive behaviour and activity of cattle under field conditions. *Appl Anim Ethol.* (1978) 4:301–13. doi: 10.1016/0304-3762(78)90002-0
- Gregorini P. Diurnal grazing pattern: its physiological basis and strategic management. Anim Prod Sci. (2012) 52:416. doi: 10.1071/AN11250
- 104. Linnane MI, Brereton AJ, Giller PS. Seasonal changes in circadian grazing patterns of Kerry cows (Bos Taurus) in semi-feral conditions in Killarney National Park, Co. Kerry, Ireland. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 71:277–292. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00188-X
- Rook AJ, Huckle CA. Synchronization of ingestive behaviour by grazing dairy cows. *Anim Sci.* (1995) 60:25–30. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800008092
- 106. Stoye S, Porter MA, Stamp Dawkins M. Synchronized lying in cattle in relation to time of day. *Livest Sci.* (2012) 149:70–3. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2012.06.028
- Metz J. Food competition in cattle. In: Baxter S, Baxter M, MacCormack J, editors. *Farm Animal Housing Welfare*. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff (1983). p. 164–70.
- Oltenacu PA, Broom DM. The impact of genetic selection for increased milk yield on the welfare of dairy cows. *Anim Welf.* (2010) 19:39–49.
- 109. Dillon P, Berry DP, Evans RD, Buckley F, Horan B. Consequences of genetic selection for increased milk production in European seasonal pasture based systems of milk production. *Livest Sci.* (2006) 99:141–58. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2005.06.011
- McDonald P V., von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Technical note: using an electronic drinker to monitor competition in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:3495–500. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15585
- 111. Endres MI, Barberg AE. Behavior of dairy cows in an alternative bedded-pack housing system. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:4192–200. doi: 10.3168/jds.2006-751
- 112. Val-Laillet D, Guesdon V, von Keyserlingk MAG, de Passillé AM, Rushen J. Allogrooming in cattle: Relationships between social preferences, feeding displacements and social dominance. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 116:141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.08.005
- 113. DeVries TJ, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Effect of feeding space on the inter-cow distance, aggression, and feeding behavior of free-stall housed lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:1432–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(04)73293-2
- 114. von Keyserlingk MAG, Olenick D, Weary DM. Acute behavioural effects of regrouping dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2008) 91:1011–6. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0532
- Tresoldi G, Weary DM, Filho LCPM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Social licking in pregnant dairy heifers. Animals. (2015) 5:1169–79. doi: 10.3390/ani5040404
- 116. Huzzey JM, DeVries TJ, Valois P, von Keyserlingk MAG. Stocking density and feed barrier design affect the feeding and social behavior of dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:126–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72075-6
- 117. Krawczel PD, Klaiber LB, Butzler RE, Klaiber LM, Dann HM, Mooney CS, et al. Short-term increases in stocking density affect the lying and social behavior, but not the productivity, of lactating Holstein dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2012) 95:4298–308. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4687

- 118. Kondo S, Sekine J, Okubo M, Asahida Y. The effect of group size and space allowance on the agonistic and spacing behavior of cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1989) 24:127–35. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(89) 90040-3
- 119. DeVries TJ, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Effect of feeding space on the inter-cow distance, aggression, and feeding behavior of free-stall housed lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:1432–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73293-2
- 120. Boyle LA, Boyle RM, French P. Welfare and performance of yearling dairy heifers out-wintered on a woodchip pad or housed indoors on two levels of nutrition. *Animal.* (2008) 2:769–78. doi: 10.1017/S1751731108 001870
- 121. Schütz KE, Huddart FJ, Sutherland MA, Stewart M, Cox NR. Effects of space allowance on the behavior and physiology of cattle temporarily managed on rubber mats. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:6226–35. doi: 10.3168/jds.201 5-9593
- Smid AMC, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Effect of outdoor open pack space allowance on the behavior of freestall-housed dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2020). 103:P3422–30. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-17066
- O'Driscoll K, Hanlon A, Boyle L. The effect of out-wintering pad design on the synchrony of dairy cow behavior. J Dairy Sci. (2008) 91:4651–60. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0741
- 124. NFACC. Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Dairy Cattle. Dairy Farmers of Canada, Ottawa, ON (2009).
- Savio JD, Boland MP, Roche JF. Development of dominant follicles and length of ovarian cycles in post-partum dairy cows. J Reprod Fertil. (1990) 88:581–91. doi: 10.1530/jrf.0.0880581
- 126. Forde N, Beltman ME, Lonergan P, Diskin M, Roche JF, Crowe MA. Oestrous cycles in Bos taurus cattle. *Anim Reprod Sci.* (2011) 124:163–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2010.08.025
- 127. Sveberg G, Refsdal AO, Erhard HW, Kommisrud E, Aldrin M, Tvete IF, et al. Behavior of lactating Holstein-Friesian cows during spontaneous cycles of estrus. J Dairy Sci. (2011) 94:1289–301. doi: 10.3168/jds.201 0-3570
- Palmer MA, Olmos G, Boyle LA, Mee JF. Estrus detection and estrus characteristics in housed and pastured Holstein-Friesian cows. *Theriogenology*. (2010) 74:255–64. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2010.02.009
- 129. Palmer MA, Olmos G, Boyle LA, Mee JF. A comparison of the estrous behavior of Holstein-Friesian cows when cubicle-housed and at pasture.

Theriogenology. (2012) 77:382–8. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2011. 08.010

- Britt JH, Scott RG, Armstrong JD, Whitacre MD. Determinants of estrous behavior in lactating Holstein cows. J Dairy Sci. (1986) 69:2195–202. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(86)80653-1
- Phillips CJ, Morris ID. The locomotion of dairy cows on floor surfaces with different frictional properties. J Dairy Sci. (2001) 84:623–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74517-1
- 132. Phillips CJC, Morris ID. The ability of cattle to distinguish between, and their preference for, floors with different levels of friction, and their avoidance of floors contaminated with excreta. *Anim Welf.* (2002) 11:21–9.
- Vailes LD, Britt JH. Influence of footing surface on mounting and other sexual behaviors of estrual Holstein cows. J Anim Sci. (1990) 68:2333–9. doi: 10.2527/1990.6882333x
- Phillips CJC, Schofield SA. The effect of cubicle and straw yard housing on the behaviour, production and hoof health of dairy cows. *Anim Welf.* (1994) 3:37–44.
- Vanegas J, Overton M, Berry SL, Sischo WM. Effect of rubber flooring on claw health in lactating dairy cows housed in free-stall barns. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:4251–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72471-7
- 136. de Vries M, Bokkers EAM, van Reenen CG, Engel B, van Schaik G, Dijkstra T, et al. Housing and management factors associated with indicators of dairy cattle welfare. *Prev Vet Med.* (2015) 118:80–92. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2014.11.016
- Walker SL, Smith RF, Routly JE, Jones DN, Morris MJ, Dobson H. Lameness, activity time-budgets, and estrus expression in dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2008) 91:4552–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1048

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Smid, Weary and von Keyserlingk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effects of Housing System on Dairy Heifer Replacement Cost From Birth to Calving: Evaluating Costs of Confinement, Dry-Lot, and Pasture-Based Systems and Their Impact on Total Rearing Investment

Anna Hawkins¹, K. H. Burdine², D. M. Amaral-Phillips¹ and Joao H. C. Costa^{1*}

¹ Department of Animal and Food Science, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, ² Department of Agricultural Economics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Courtney L. Daigle, Texas A&M University, United States Hillary A. Dalton, Newcastle University, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Joao H. C. Costa costa@uky.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 January 2020 Accepted: 03 August 2020 Published: 16 October 2020

Citation:

Hawkins A, Burdine KH, Amaral-Phillips DM and Costa JHC (2020) Effects of Housing System on Dairy Heifer Replacement Cost From Birth to Calving: Evaluating Costs of Confinement, Dry-Lot, and Pasture-Based Systems and Their Impact on Total Rearing Investment. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:625. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00625

Replacement heifer rearing is critical for the future of dairy operations, to improve genetic merit and maintain herd size. A myriad of options exist on how to manage, feed, and ultimately raise replacement heifers. Pasture is perceived to offer optimal welfare and an economical housing system for replacement animals, but confinement systems are gaining popularity. This study investigates the costs associated with replacement heifer management decisions from birth to calving, considering the factors of housing systems, labor, feed, and health. The objective of this study was to develop an economic model to determine the cost of raising a replacement heifer managed in confinement, dry-lot, and pasture-based scenarios post-weaning. We accounted for variation in feed, labor, and health inputs and quantified the impact of these individual management decisions. An economic simulation with 10,000 iterations were completed for each situation using @Risk and PrecisionTree add-ons (Palisade Corporation, Ithaca, NY) where health incidence, commodity prices, and management variables were made stochastic. Published literature or sample farm data created parameters used in Pert distributions. Costs and biological responses were reflective of published surveys, literature, and market conditions. Management decision inputs had 3 main factors: housing type, ration composition, and labor utilization. Housing systems were calculated separately for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture scenarios. The mean total cost (min, max) to raise a replacement heifer from birth to calving, assuming the same pre-weaning strategy of group housing with an automatic calf feeder, was found to be \$1,919.02 (\$1,777.25, \$2,100.57), \$1,593.57 (\$1,490.30, \$1,737.26), and \$1,335.84 (\$1,266.69, \$1,423.94) for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture, respectively. Total housing cost per replacement heifer was \$423.05, \$117.96, and \$207.96 for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture management systems, respectively. When compared to total cost, housing contributed 21% for confinement, 7% for dry-lot, and 15% for pasture. Upon analysis of all scenarios, utilizing pasture to raise heifers resulted in a lower overall cost when compared to confinement housing options. Percentage breakdowns of feed, labor,

housing, and fixed and variable costs provided more information on efficiency rather than total cost, which makes each situation different in relation to on-farm cost. This cost analysis is critical to assisting farms in making decisions in the utilization of their resources for replacement dairy heifers.

Keywords: stochastic model approach, dairy economics, dairy calf, young stock, dairy management, on-farm decision tools

INTRODUCTION

Access to pasture is generally assumed to improve welfare for dairy cattle [reviewed by (1)]. However, dairy cattle in many parts of the world are housed on zero grazing or continuous housing systems, especially North America (2, 3). Many of these cows have already entered the milking herd, where confinement housing is used as a tool for more intense management. Pasture is still an important part of the housing system in many of these intensive farms, where pasture is still commonly used in spring and summer to feed heifers and animals with low energy demands, for reasons of lower feed and labor cost.

Replacement heifers are the second largest annual operating expense on the farm, behind only feed cost (4). The cost of raising a replacement heifer is increasing and plays an important role in dairy enterprise economics (5, 6). Heifer raising cost is directly related to feed, housing, and labor demand, which can all contribute to increased cost. In the Netherlands, the difference in actual and perceived cost of heifer retention averaged \$898.19 (7). The difference in cost is accounted for in the operation, but it is normally misallocated to another area of dairy expenses. Therefore, determining the true on-farm cost of raising replacement heifers is the first step in better managing these costs.

The decisions that producers make regarding housing options can impact total cost, the development of heifers, and labor utilization. In 2014, the most common housing types for weaned heifers were (1) group housing in a barn and (2) open, dry-lot areas with a barn or shed shelter. While these two housing systems represent over half (54.6%) of all heifers in the United States, over 10 different housing management styles were represented (8). Housing of replacement heifers accounted for 17% of the total cost to raise a weaned heifer in a report from Wisconsin, USA (9). Inputs contributing to housing costs include barn payments, electricity, bedding, and maintenance costs. A potential cost-saving and animal welfare-friendly option would be to raise heifers on pasture. Pasture is utilized by 13.1% of producers for weaned heifers (8). Dairy operations in the Eastern region of the USA are utilizing pasture more than those in the West (10). The adjustment period appears to be quick regardless of whether heifers are kept on pasture for the entire period as a heifer or a select time frame; heifers in the milking herd that were housed previously in confinement for at least a year acclimated to pasture within 3 days.

Analyzing replacement heifer raising costs can uncover additional information about resources utilized on the farm and can assist in evaluating the efficiency of an operation. Feed costs are the primary expense, accounting for 60-73% of all expenses during the rearing period (5, 6). In a 2013 survey of Pennsylvania producers, labor utilization (the second largest contributor to cost) was a clear distinction between efficient and inefficient farms. Farms labeled as efficient were allocating on average \$140 in labor resources for each replacement heifer (6). Additionally, biological management decisions can influence the total cost of raising a replacement heifer. For example, raising replacement heifers to be bred to calves at 24 vs. 25 months has the potential to save considerable costs for the dairy enterprise (4). Decreasing cull rates of the milking herd has a direct influence on the cost of the entire heifer raising enterprise, by lowering the required number of heifers to be raised [(4, 11)].

There are multiple options for how to raise replacement heifers on farm, with each decision presenting a unique cost. Many current investment decisions made on dairy operations are based on tradition or intuition, providing an opportunity for more objective methods of investment analysis (12). While there are many factors that influence decisions about dairy heifer raising, including tradition, animal welfare, and environmental concerns, herein we focus on economic efficiency as a primary decision point in heifer raising. The objective of this study was to develop an economic model to determine the cost of raising a replacement heifer managed in confinement, dry-lot, and pasture-based scenarios post-weaning. Furthermore, we account for additional variation in feed, labor, and health inputs and quantify the impact of these individual variables on the total cost.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A heifer cost simulation model was created in Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA) utilizing @RISK add-ons (Palisade Corporation, Ithaca, NY) at the University of Kentucky Dairy Science program. This model serves as the extension to a pre-weaning model described in Hawkins et al. (13). Briefly, the pre-weaning period is an intensive time for raising replacement heifers and total costs for changes ranged from \$258.56 to \$582.98 (13). Because of the variation in cost during this time period in this analysis, all heifer calves are assumed to follow the growth and cost patterns seen from heifers raised on an automatic calf feeder in group housing, fed milk replacer, and allotted 8 L of milk per day. The total cost found (\pm SD) was \$352.40 \pm \$16.70 per calf for the pre-weaning period. This accounts for variation in diarrhea and respiratory illness, mortality rate, and weaning age.

Replacement heifer costs were separated into age groups (3–6, 7–10, 11–14, and 15 months to 60 days pre-calving) representing common biological and management changes, such as weaning or reaching puberty, or a change of housing (such as housing heifers on pasture after breeding). Each age group was developed

in a new layer within the model to be calculated separately and summed at the end. This opens the possibility of changes within each age category in further model development without changing the rest of the calculations. Management decision options were required for 3 main factors: housing type, ration composition, and labor utilization. The cost associated with each decision was calculated by day; therefore, within each month group, a producer could allocate how many days heifers were utilizing specific resources. This structure allows for more flexibility to account for differences from one farm to the next. Housing could be one of three options: confinement, drylot, or pasture. Rations were utilizing corn silage or pasture supplemented with grain. A visual representation of postweaning management decision pathways for housing, feed, and labor are outlined in Figure 1. Based on previous decisions, only one possible option may be available. For example, if pasture is used within the heifer rearing system, then the only labor option would be time required to care for a heifer on pasture.

Breeding and health-related costs were calculated separately. Health costs per age group were combined with the corresponding month totals, while totals for breeding were incorporated into the final overall cost calculation. All calculated total costs per age group and management style were presented in an overview spreadsheet.

Variables related to health incidence, commodity prices, and on-farm management variables were made stochastic with @RISK simulation. Pert distributions were utilized with parameters set from published literature or sample farm data. A convenience sample of 12 dairy farms located in the states of Ohio and Indiana provided annual financial data to aid in the creation of assumptions. **Table 1** outlines the key assumptions made by authors for the calculation of the cost of replacement heifers from weaning to calving.

Housing

Housing costs were calculated separately for three potential options: confinement, dry-lot, and pasture. For the confinement housing scenario, a barn cost per replacement heifer was calculated. The required square meter of barn space was calculated based on the age group and number of animals from the input page. Square meter requirements per replacement heifer began at 2.8 m^2 at 3–6 months and increased 0.93 m^2 with each age group (16). The total required m^2 was multiplied by the construction cost per m² to calculate the barn value. Barn payments were calculated, including interest and depreciation, then broken down by total number of heifers utilizing the barn. Dry-lot and pasture housing scenarios both incorporated land value as the base of housing cost. Pasture, as a housing system, was calculated separately than the nutritional content gained by using pasture as a feedstuff. Average per acre rental rate in Kentucky was used as the assumption to value the land (15). Annual pasture maintained per acre was assumed at \$31.50, accounting for seed, equipment, upkeep, and labor. Based on the University of Massachusetts recommendation, 0.5 acres is required per 227 kg of animal and was used to determine the number of replacement heifer per acre. Daily pasture price per animal was calculated using Equation (1). For dry-lot housing, 55.7 m^2 was required per replacement heifer and used to calculate required spacing. Additionally, dry-lot housing included the calculated investment of 3.71 m² shade per replacement heifer, valued at \$0.13 per m² (17). All housing options accounted for



water consumption with water valued at \$0.75 per cubic meter of water.

[(Annual Rental Rate per Acre + Annual Pasture Maintenance per Acre) / 365 days] / Number of Animals per Acre (1)

Feed

Feed costs were calculated following the nutritional requirement of Holstein dairy heifers in each stage of growth following the NRC (18). Heifer requirements are shown in **Table 2**. Options for diet formulation included two diet types: R1, comprised of silage, forage, corn, soybean meal, and distillers grain, or R2, which included the utilization of pasture into the diet while supplemented with forage and corn. All rations included a mineral premix and assumed heifers would consume 2.2% of their body weight on dry matter basis. Feed cost was calculated as the average of USDA agriculture commodity market reports from January 2014 to November 2018. Feed cost and rations were both inputs into the model. Therefore, in the available economic model, the user can alter the model to be reflective of their farm or unique conditions.

The three commodities outlined in **Table 2** were made stochastic by assuming a 15% increase or decrease to create a minimum and maximum price. Distribution of the commodity prices is shown in **Table 3** for corn, corn silage, and soybeans as a result of the stochastic simulation model. Most values used for feed cost calculations were within 2 standard deviations from the mean. The mean remained the same average value set from USDA published market reports. Shrink of forage and concentrates was accounted for in the daily cost of the feed using Equation (2). An assumption of shrink was made at 10% for

TABLE 1 | Key assumptions presented in the model to determine the cost to raise a replacement dairy heifer from weaning to calving.

Variable	Value Source		
Number of heifers raised annually	1,000		
Hourly employee labor	\$14.00	Based on Adcock et al. (14)	
Hourly management labor	\$22.00	Based on Adcock et al. (14)	
Interest rate	7%		
Construction per M ² frame	\$13.00	(9)	
Weaning age	65 days	(9)	
Value of newborn calf	\$100.00	Based on USDA market reports	
Whole milk value (cwt)	\$15.00	Based on USDA (8)	
Milk replacer value (22.7 kg)	\$65.00	Based on average market price	
Manure management (\$/head/month)	\$0.90	(9)	
Pasture rental rate (improved pasture)	\$40.00	(15)	

Values were found in published literature, extension surveys, and USDA market reports.

silage and forage feedstuff, and 3% for concentrates, based on communications with forage specialists.

Total Daily Cost of Individual Feedstuff/(1 - -% shrink) (2)

The projected body weight of replacement heifers in each month group was based on a weaning weight of 88 kg and 0.8 kg average daily gain of heifers post-weaning, following results found in Hawkins et al. (13).

Labor

Required labor hours varied from confinement housing to a pasture-based system. Published surveys of producer-reported time required per heifer were used in the calculation of labor cost. Equation (3) explains how the total labor hours (TLH) were used to determine how many hours of labor are required per replacement heifer.

Labor Required per replacement heifer = TLH

/Total Number of days the replacement heifer was in the rearing program (3)

To determine the labor cost (LC) within each age group, the total number of days within each month period is multiplied by labor

TABLE 2 | Projected weight and nutritional requirements for dairy heifers.

Age group (months)	Projected Wt.* (kg)	DMI (kg/d) ME (Mcal/d)		CP %	
3–6	148	4.2	9.6	15.9	
7–10	245	6.2	14.1	13.1	
11–14	340	7.9	18.2	11.7	
15-calving	544	12.2	27.5	13.3	

*Diets were balanced for NRC provided weight requirements which most closely matched projected weights. 150, 250, and 350 kg, respectively.

TABLE 3 | The distribution, mean, SD, minimum, and maximum of commodity prices per ton used to calculate feed cost of dairy heifers post-calving.

	Distribution		Mean	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Corn	110	150	\$130.00	\$7.37	\$111.35	\$148.91
Corn Silage	30	42	\$36.26	\$2.06	\$30.96	\$41.54
Soybean Meal	280	390	\$333.00	\$18.88	\$284.80	\$381.85

Values were developed using the @RISK. Assumed commodity prices were based on USDA monthly reports from January 2014 to November 2018 for corn and soybeans. Corn silage was valued based on corn commodity price.

requirement (LR). The resulting variable is the total number of hours of labor required per heifer within each age group (TLR). Equation (4) represents the final step in calculating the cost of labor per heifer (19). Hourly cost associated with more than one employee working on heifers at a time was calculated into the cost.

$$LC = TLR *$$
 Number of Employees *Employee Hourly Wage (4)

Pasture-based scenarios followed the same labor calculations outlined above. An assumption was made based on lack of published literature for TLH required per heifer in a pasture-based scenario. 1:02 min was assumed for labor required per heifer; this was broken down from the 3 h of labor requirements per day to care for 175 heifers. The model allows for labor to be provided hours per replacement heifer or total labor hours per day and then divided to get a per replacement heifer cost.

Health

An external sheet is included in the model to calculate health costs by age group. A standard vaccine protocol was used as the assumed costs. Health related expenses for pre-weaned calves were included in the assumed pre-weaned replacement heifer cost used in all scenarios. **Table 4** outlines the vaccines and treatments provided to each age group and subsequently included in the overall cost. Labor requirement for working replacement heifers to provide these injections and treatments through working facilities was accounted for by an additional \$0.20 per dose (20). The sum of these expenses resulted in a health cost per age group.

Breeding

Variation of synch protocols, visual heat detection, or a combination of both was incorporated to account for difference preferences in breeding protocols. After six possible breeding cycles, 7% percent of heifers were assumed to be culled because of unsuccessful breeding. In this situation, Equation

TABLE 4 | Outline of the health protocol followed by the authors to create

 health-related expenses for each age group of heifers.

Health description	Age group (months)					
	3–6	7–10	11–14	15–Calving		
Dewormer	Х	Х	Х	х		
Fly treatment	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Respiratory vaccine	Х			Х		
Leptospirosis vaccine	Х	Х	Х			
7-way vaccine	Х	Х	Х	Х		
E. coli vaccine				Х		
Brucellosis vaccine	Х					
Staphylococcus aureus vaccine				Х		
Vitamin A&D				Х		
Total cost	\$11.60	\$6.03	\$6.37	\$8.10		

(5) was used to determine the additional cost incurred by the remaining heifers on the operation. This accounts for the cost of raising heifers that did not complete the heifer-raising program.

[Value of Newborn Heifer + (Total Cost at 13 months -Springer Heifer Value)*%Culled]/Remaining Heifers (5)

Heat detection and conception rate were used to determine the number of heifers culled because of breeding performance. In the model, 176 heifers were in the age group to be bred and considered "at risk." The number inseminated was a function of how many heifers "at risk" were detected to be in heat. The number of pregnant heifers was a result of inseminated heifers multiplied by the conception rate. The difference between "at risk" and pregnant heifers were considered open. This open population would become the "at risk" heifers in the following cycles. Our model allowed for a heifer to complete 6 cycles before she was culled. Services per pregnancy were the sum of all inseminations, divided by the total number of pregnancies. The number of heifers within each group was dependent on how many heifers were culled in the breeding tab.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The mean total cost (min, max) for a producer to raise a replacement heifer from birth to calving, assuming the same preweaning strategy of group housing with an automatic calf feeder, was found to be \$1,919.02 (\$1,777.25, \$2,100.57), \$1,593.57 (\$1,490.30, \$1,737.26), and \$1,335.84 (\$1,266.69, \$1,423.94) for confinement, dry-lots, and pasture management systems, respectively (**Table 5**). These averages follow the trend of previously published literature, resulting in average values within 1 standard deviation of presented averages (6, 9, 21, 22). The contributions of feed, labor, housing, and fixed and variable

TABLE 5 | Three main housing scenarios were evaluated incorporating the variation represented through stochastic variables.

	Distribution		Mean	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Confinement	1,750	2,150	\$1,910.02	\$58.78	\$1,777.25	\$2,100.57
Dry-Lot	1,450	1,750	\$1,593.57	\$44.09	\$1,490.30	\$1,737.26
Pasture	1,260	1,440	\$1,335.84	\$28.78	\$1,266.69	\$1,423.94

The distribution of total cost, mean, SD, minimum, and maximum is shown for each of the housing types selected.



costs toward this total cost are reported in **Figure 2**. The two largest contributing variables to the total cost were feed and labor expenses in all management situations, always representing at least 60% of the total cost.

Housing

Total housing cost per replacement heifer was \$423.05, \$117.96, and \$207.96 for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture management systems. When compared to total cost, housing contributed 21%
for confinement, 7% for dry-lot, and 15% for pasture. When the sum of variables reported in published surveys is calculated to match the variables presented in our housing group, the average producer-reported housing costs \$280. This represented 18% of total allocated cost in an industry-wide report from Wisconsin, USA (9). Most published surveys do not distinguish between housing management system, which may explain the largest cost represented in confinement. Housing cost was the highest for confinement housing because of the additional cost of barn infrastructure. The monthly barn payment per replacement heifer, accounting for interest and depreciation, was \$4.81. This model assumes the payment of the barn; therefore, calculated costs may be higher than seen of cash expenditure expenses at the farm. The main contributor for the pasture-based scenario was the value of the land that the replacement heifers were occupying and the associated opportunity cost. With current assumptions, replacement heifers were costing producers \$0.06 per day or \$1.80 per month for the land as a housing system, excluding additional value of land as a feed source. Because of the nature of dry-lot housing, more heifers could occupy the same acre in comparison to pasture, reducing the land cost per replacement heifer.

Feed

Feed cost is dependent on input for price per ton and allotment of feed. Total feed cost, under current assumptions, was \$932.14, \$932.14, and \$702.17 for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture management systems, respectively. Confinement and dry-lot scenarios have the same feed cost because both situations are reliant on delivered feed, including a silage ration. As a percentage of the total cost, feed cost contributed 47, 57, and 51% for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture scenarios, respectively. Feed cost is consistently the largest expense on farm in published replacement heifer raising cost, ranging from 51% to over 70% (6, 21). Percentage of feed cost is higher for dry-lots and pastures, partly due to the lower total cost and reduced emphasis on infrastructure found in the housing cost of confinement. This relationship is important when analyzing replacement heifer costs on farm, because we can assume that when comparing percentages of the total cost, confinement will have a lower total percentage of cost in comparison to a pasture setting.

Labor

Labor was broken down by paid hourly employees and hourly management employees, but labor is reported as the sum of these two expenses. The mean labor expense for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture was \$932.14, \$932.14, \$702.17, respectively. As observed in feed cost, the labor for confinement and dry-lot scenarios are considered the same due to similar time and skill requirements. Labor accounted for 20%, 24%, and 19% of the total cost in confinement, dry-lot, and pasture housing scenarios, respectively. Labor accounted for on average 18.2% of the total cost of Wisconsin dairy producers, just below our calculated percentages (23).

A perceived challenge with this input is determining the time strictly used for caring for replacement heifers. This is particularly important on farms where labor is not hired specifically for the post-weaning replacement heifer period. For example, laborers may split time between feeding and care of replacement heifers and the milking herd, making it difficult to develop a true assumption for the relationship of hourly paid employees and management requirements. We have assumed 10% of the hourly labor was equivalent to the management labor required for replacement heifers. In some situations, management may have varied from this assumption.

Breeding

Heat detection varied based on management decisions and set reproductive performance. Cost to sync one replacement heifer, utilizing CIDR technology for breeding, was an investment of \$19.60 per heifer. Incorporating visual observation into the breeding protocol added an additional cost of \$4.68 per replacement heifer. Therefore, heat detection programs utilizing both visual observation and a sync program totaled \$24.28 per replacement heifer.

The assumed base reproductive performance was a 65% heat detection rate and a 55% conception rate. Following the herd model of 1,000 heifers annually, 84 replacement heifers would be in the initial "at risk" group of pregnancy. Under our base assumptions after 6 cycles, 7% of the replacement heifers (or 6 heifers) would be culled for reproductive reasons. The cost accrued before breeding for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture management decisions was \$1,197.85, \$1,063.32, and \$927.77, respectively. When distributed over the remaining heifers, there was an additional cost of \$8.38, \$6.65, \$5.13 per replacement heifer for confinement, dry-lot and pasture housing systems, respectively.

Total cost for breeding with a sync protocol and visual heat detection, accounting for additional expenses due to reproductive culls, was \$66.95 per replacement heifer. This accounted for 3.4, 4.2, and 5.0% of costs in confinement, dry-lot, and pasture-based management scenarios, respectively. If only visual heat detection was utilized, the percentage of the total cost decreased to 2.2, 2.6, and 3.2% of each management scenario.

Total Cost

Total replacement heifer raising cost ranged from \$1,266 to \$2,100 per head. The lowest cost was a result of pasture management decisions, with total cost increasing as infrastructure requirements increased. This model assumed a constant average daily gain across management scenarios, and thus, age at first calving was also consistent. However, many reports of average daily gain of heifers in pasture-based scenarios may be below other housing systems, which could increase the rearing period and increase the presented total costs.

When analyzing replacement heifer cost as an enterprise on the dairy operation on an annual basis, the number of replacement heifers raised can have a large impact on total cost. When the current assumption of the number of replacement heifers raised on farm was reduced by 5% (e.g., 500 heifers annually reduced to 475 replacement heifers), the cost per replacement heifer increased by \$85.54, \$67.75, \$61.89 per heifer for confinement, dry-lot, and pasture management scenarios, respectively. Despite this increase in cost per heifer, the total annual investment in replacement heifers decreased by \$7,109, \$5,873, and \$1,078 annually for each of the respective management scenarios. These results are more variable than the conclusions made by Tozer and Heinrichs (4), who valued a 1% decrease in cull rate of the milking herd which had the potential to decrease overall replacement heifer costs by \$1,000–1,500. In addition, our results follow a similar trend found in Mohd Nor et al. (11) where a 5% decrease in cull rate had the potential to decrease replacement heifer costs by \$6,500 annually. While heifer raising is often considered a separate enterprise from the dairy herd, management decisions have a large influence on the entire operation.

This study highlights the influences that each factor can have in the different scenarios studied and how it impacts the total rearing cost of replacement dairy heifers. Further studies should investigate the on-farm true cost and the use of economic models for decision-making on-farm.

CONCLUSIONS

Utilizing pasture to raise heifers resulted in a lower overall cost when compared to confinement and dry-lot housing options. Percentage breakdowns of feed, labor, housing, and fixed and variable costs provided more information on efficiency rather than total cost. The model and results presented are dependent on the inputs and assumptions made by the authors. Actual costs calculated may result in higher or lower totals when individual farms utilize the program; nonetheless, the authors determined the model to be highly effective in calculating the cost of raising heifers on an individual farm. This cost analysis is critical to assisting farms in making decisions in the allocation of their resources to raise or purchase replacement dairy heifers. However, a myriad of factors in addition to cost influence decisions around dairy heifer replacement raising on farms, such

REFERENCES

- Charlton GL, Rutter SM. The behaviour of housed dairy cattle with and without pasture access: a review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 192:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.05.015
- Fulwider WK, Grandin T, Rollin BE, Engle TE, Dalsted NL, Lamm WD. Survey of dairy management practices on one hundred thirteen North Central and Northeastern United States dairies. *J Dairy Sci.* (2008) 91:1686–92. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0631
- Haskell M, Rennie L, Bowell V, Bell M, Lawrence A. Housing system, milk production, and zero-grazing effects on lameness and leg injury in dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:4259–66. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72472-9
- 4. Tozer PR, Heinrichs AJ. What affects the costs of raising replacement dairy heifers: a multiple-component analysis. *J Dairy Sci.* (2001) 84:1836–44. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74623-1
- 5. Gabler MT, Tozer PR, Heinrichs AJ. Development of a cost analysis spreadsheet for calculating the costs to raise a replacement dairy heifer. *J Dairy Sci.* (2000) 83:1104–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)74975-7
- Heinrichs AJ, Jones CM, Gray SM, Heinrichs PA, Cornelisse SA, Goodling RC. Identifying efficient dairy heifer producers using production costs and data envelopment analysis. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:7355–62. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6488
- 7. Mohd Nor N, Steeneveld W, Derkman THJ, Verbruggen MD, Evers AG, de Haan MHA, et al. The total cost of rearing a heifer on Dutch

as tradition, animal welfare, and environmental concerns; these factors in decision-making should be further explored.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AH and JC: conceptualization and writing—original draft preparation. AH, DA-P, KB, and JC: methodology and writing review and editing. AH, KB, and JC: formal analysis. AH: investigation. JC: resources and project administration. AH and KB: visualization. KB and JC: supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors declare that this study received funding from Dannon Co Inc. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the dairy producers in Kentucky, Indiana, and Ohio, USA that provided sample data set and feedback on model drafts. We are thankful for the time and effort they spent with us consulting on this project. The authors would like to thank Dannon Co Inc. for technical and funding support. The authors would like to thank Dr. Jeffrey Bewley and Dr. Michael Overton for the input and assistance during the development of this economic model.

dairy farms: calculated versus perceived cost. Irish Vet J. (2015) 68:29. doi: 10.1186/s13620-015-0058-x

- USDA. Dairy 2014, Dairy Cattle Management Practices in the United States. Fort Collins, CO: USDA (2016).
- Akins MS, Cavitt M, Hagedorn MA, Mills-Lloyd S, Kohlman TL, Sterry R. Economic Costs and Labor Efficiencies Associated with Raising Dairy Calves for Operations Using Individual or Automated Feeding. University of Wisconsin Extension (2017).
- 10. Granger L. Dairy Heifer Raiser (2011), An Overview of Operations That Specialize in Raising Dairy Heifers. USDA (2012).
- Mohd Nor N, Steeneveld W, Mourits MCM, Hogeveen H. The optimal number of heifer calves to be reared as dairy replacements. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:861–71. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8329
- Bewley JM, Boehlje MD, Gray AW, Hogeveen H, Kenyon SJ, Eicher SD, et al. Stochastic simulation using @Risk for dairy business investment decisions. *Agric Finance Rev.* (2010) 70:97–125. doi: 10.1108/00021461011 042666
- Hawkins A, Burdine K, Amaral-Phillips D, Costa JHC. An economic analysis of the costs associated with pre-weaning management strategies for dairy heifers. *Animals*. (2019) 9:471. doi: 10.3390/ani9070471
- 14. Adcock F, Anderson D, Rosson P. *The Economic Impacts of Immigrant Labor on U.S. Dairy Farms*. Center for North American Studies (2015).
- Halich G, Kindred S, Pulliam K. Kentucky ANR Agent Land Value and Cash Rent Survey. AEC 2018–90 (2018).

- Graves RE, Tyson JT, McFarland DF, Wilson TH. Recommendations for Calf and Heifer Housing Dimensions for Holsteins. NRAES-201:278 (2016).
- Lardy GP, Anderson VL, Boyles SL. Drylot Beef Cow-Calf Production. North Dakota Agriculture Experient Station, Extension Publication AS974 (2017).
- National Research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle: Seventh Revised Edition. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2001).
- Lowe JK, Boyer CN, Griffith AP, Waller JC, Bates GE, Keyser PD, et al. The cost of feeding bred dairy heifers on native warm-season grasses and harvested feedstuffs. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:634–43. doi: 10.3168/jds.201 5-9475
- Lima FS, De Vries A, Risco CA, Santos JEP, Thatcher WW. Economic comparison of natural service and timed artificial insemination breeding programs in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 93:4404–13. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2789
- 21. Karszes J, C. W., Vokey F. Dairy Replacment Programs: Cost & Analysis. Pro-Dairy, Cornell University EB 2008-16 (2008).

- Boulton AC, Rushton J, Wathes DC. An empirical analysis of the cost of rearing dairy heifers from birth to first calving and the time taken to repay these costs. *Animal.* (2017) 11:1372–80. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117000064
- 23. Akins MS. Dairy heifer development and nutrition management. *Vet Clin N Am Food Anim Pract.* (2016) 32:303–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2016.01.004

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hawkins, Burdine, Amaral-Phillips and Costa. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Timing and Duration of Observation Periods of Foraging Behavior in Natural Grasslands

Felipe Jochims^{1*}, Émerson Mendes Soares², Leandro Bittencourt de Oliveira³, Bruno Castro Kuinchtner⁴, Pedro Trindade Casanova⁵, Luciana Marin⁵ and Fernando Luiz Ferreira de Quadros⁶

¹ Family Farming Research Center, Santa Catarina Agricultural Research and Rural Extension Company (EPAGRI/CEPAF), Chapecó, Brazil, ² Animal Science Department, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil, ³ Integrated Regional University of Alto Uruguai (URI), Frederico Westphalen, Brazil, ⁴ Animal Science Department, Farroupilha Federal Institute, Alegrete, Brazil, ⁵ Animal Science Department, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil, ⁶ Animal Science Department, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil

The goals of this study were to evaluate the length of time grazing which should be

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Susan Hazel, University of Adelaide, Australia Oleksiy Guzhva, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

***Correspondence:** Felipe Jochims felipejochims@epagri.sc.gov.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 12 December 2019 Accepted: 07 October 2020 Published: 12 November 2020

Citation:

Jochims F, Soares ÉM, Oliveira LB, Kuinchtner BC, Casanova PT, Marin L and Quadros FLF (2020) Timing and Duration of Observation Periods of Foraging Behavior in Natural Grasslands. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:519698. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.519698

monitored over a 24-h period to predict the grazing behavior of beef heifers within a season and determine the patterns of foraging activity over 24 h. A database was constructed between 2010 and 2012 for beef heifers managed under rotational grazing in a natural grassland. Grazing, rumination, and other activity times were assessed visually during 24 h on 15 occasions. Data were classified according to climatic seasons, generating 12 replicates in summer, 18 in spring, 24 in autumn, and 36 in winter. Treatments were the evaluation of four distinct periods: from sunrise to sunset (DAY-SUN), daylight duration from dawn to nightfall (DAYLIGHT), DAYLIGHT plus 2 h (DAYLIGHT+2), DAYLIGHT to midnight (DAYLIGHT to 0), and the entire 24 h period (CONTROL). Differences for grazing, rumination, and other activities were found in all seasons for the evaluation periods. Sampling sufficiency was reached only with the DAYLIGHT to 0 and CONTROL for all four climatic seasons. The DAYLIGHT to 0 treatment covered 75% of a 24-h period and 95% of the mean foraging time took place during this time interval. Considering grazing distribution during a day, in the warm seasons, the major grazing period during mornings occurred earlier than in the cool seasons, and in cool seasons, the grazing peak was observed during the afternoon. Visual observations from dawn until midnight represented the total grazing time and natural behavior of heifers and could be used to represent grazing activities for the entire day.

Keywords: grazing behavior, grazing distribution, foraging activities, monitoring behavior, grazing patterns

INTRODUCTION

Grazing behavior evaluations can be an important issue when establishing management goals because the behavior of animals on pastures provides clues with which to determine if pasture management decisions are suitable (1) and whether animals are expressing their natural behavior, which is a good indication of animal welfare in pasture-based production systems. Furthermore, the behavior of animals in controlled situations, such as grazing trials, can provide insights into the production data collected in those situations.

The southern Brazil Campos grasslands (2) are the major foraging systems for beef cattle reared in this region, and the same is valid for other nearby South American countries, such as Argentina, Uruguay, and part of Paraguay. Thus, developing management tools for these grazing systems can provide productivity gains, as well as ensure the welfare of animals. Grazing systems in these natural grasslands are considered an important marketing advantage for these countries, and monitoring ingestive behavior could attest to the adequate state of animal comfort. Management systems that do not take into account whether animals can attain daily forage intake to meet their nutritional requirements may be inefficient.

Among behavior variables, time spent grazing, and ruminating is the main measured indicative and key variables used as indicators of management efficiency and animal welfare. Other relevant variables of management efficiency could be estimates of dry matter (DM) intake and forage quality that relates to forage on offer and sward structure (3), but these are not animal behavior traits. For example, ruminants commonly have grazing times between 450 and 600 min/day in temperate pastures and rarely forage < 360 min/day, with times that may exceed 760 min/day on subtropical and tropical pastures (4, 5). In the southern Brazil Campos grasslands (6), without limitations to inhibit potential intake (e.g., sward height or herbage mass), the time spent grazing commonly ranges between 500 and 650 min/day (7-9), regardless of the grazing method used (10). This variation in grazing time indicates potentially diverse situations and challenges that animals can face, even in situations with abundant forage allowance, attesting to the complex interaction of animals with plants and sward structure. On subtropical natural grasslands, in a wide range of forage allowances, Trindade et al. (11) indicated that both lower and higher levels could limit forage intake, due to limited bite volume and mass at allowances lower than 8 kg of DM/100 kg of liveweight and to limited bite selection above 16 kg of DM/100 kg of liveweight. These bite variations are linked also to grazing time along the day, indicating a "standard range" of 500-600 min/day. However, observed grazing times outside of "standard range" are indicative that something is wrong with animal management, which could even decrease welfare by forcing unusual behavior on animals, such as grazing during hot periods of the day. Notwithstanding, all these protocols of forage allowance and sward structure could be far from the possibility of farmers to follow at paddock level and depend on shade availability and water quality and availability. However, observing grazing times at key periods of the day could give clues to adequate grazing management.

Although foraging behavior studies have already been defined as important evaluations, the extent of the evaluations (e.g., during the daylight periods or 24 h periods) that best represent animal behavior remains uncertain. Both protocols were found in the international literature (daylight \times 24 h). This is due to three main factors: (i) availability and costs of skilled observers; (ii) circadian behavior rhythms associated with daylight, especially in temperate climates; and (iii) the need for artificial light during the night. The 24-h visual evaluations may currently be less feasible, in part, because they require a large number of trained people. Furthermore, artificial light during dark periods may affect the natural behavior of animals (12), especially if the animals are not very tame or not used to being under artificial light. Thus, many research groups are searching for accurate automatic recording methods of behavior (13). Nevertheless, continuous 24 h assessments are the most accurate for evaluations, and methods need to be calibrated for automatic recording and evaluating a longer and fixed period, regardless of the climatic season (1,440 min/day). On the other hand, evaluations performed only during daylight periods, regardless of the time interval, have been justified based on the pattern of ruminants' diurnal foraging behavior, especially for the main meals during the day, and have lower labor requirements (14, 15).

The problem lies in the autumn and winter assessments. In these climatic seasons, restriction to daylight evaluations could be seriously biased because of the reduced day length (photoperiod) and, more importantly, because during this period the quantity and quality of the forage are substantially different from that during other periods of the year, especially in natural grasslands. Moreover, daylight observations do not consider natural animal behavior. Usually, animals tend to graze at night (16), mainly in tropical and subtropical conditions. Preference for grazing at night could occur because of more comfortable air temperatures during this period (12), although nighttime grazing activity has a shorter duration compared with that during daylight. However, these grazing events could represent as much as 35% of the total grazing time over 24h in hot weather or during long nights (17-19). Furthermore, during these foraging events at night, (19) demonstrated that animals have a heavy bite mass (19). This part of the day needs to be considered in assessments that consider animal welfare and evaluate the efficiency of the management system.

Thus, considering the importance of the daylight period on behavior and the interaction of the daylight period with temperatures in subtropical environments, the objectives of this work were to evaluate for how long foraging should be monitored over a 24-h period to predict foraging behavior of beef heifers within a season and determine the patterns of foraging activity over 24 h.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Local, Climate, Experimental Area, Area Management, and Behavior Assessments

The experimental area is located in the southern part of Brazil, Rio Grande do Sul state, with the center of the experimental area at $\sim 29^{\circ}43'30''$ S, $53^{\circ}45'33''$ W. This area belongs to the Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM). The local climate is classified as subtropical humid, with a mean ambient annual temperature of 19.2°C and a mean annual rainfall of 1,770 mm at 95 m above sea level (20). During the trial, the mean maximum temperature was 22.7°C and the mean minimum temperature was 17.1°C, the mean precipitation was of 130.6 mm per month, November is the wettest month (294.9 mm), and October is the driest (53.6 mm). The experimental area was 22.5 ha, which was divided into six rectangular paddocks of 3.5 ha each. Each of these six areas was then subdivided into seven smaller sub-paddocks and managed with a rotational grazing method. The criteria that defined the rest period of sub-paddocks was the thermal sum accumulated (degree Celsius per day; degree day, DD) for the duration of leaf elongation of two functional groups of grasses (21) (*as described below*) that compose the swards of Campos grasslands.

To define the rest intervals of the rotational grazing method (original trial treatments), mean phyllocron (time in DD for complete leaf elongation) of functional groups A/B and C/D (375 or 750 DD) was multiplied by the number of expanding leaves per tiller, generating the rest periods of each subpaddock. The number of expanding leaves of grasses in the functional groups is intrinsic to the genetic traits of plants and defines the time of rest intervals (21). Following this logic, over 3 years, three paddocks were managed using a rest interval of the accumulated thermal sum of 375 DD, and the other three paddocks were managed using 750 DD of the accumulated thermal sum. Therefore, the occupation period was defined by dividing rest intervals (in thermal sum) of each treatment by the number of sub-paddocks, less one (sub-paddock under occupation), resulting in the time, in degree Celsius, of occupation of each sub-paddock. The accumulated thermal sum to manage the paddocks generated a varying number of days for occupying the sub-paddocks, according to ambient temperature and weather seasons.

The 375-DD rest interval was based on the accumulated temperature for elongation of 2.5 leaves per tiller of grasses of functional groups A and B [e.g., *Coelorhachis selloana* and *Paspalum notatum*; (22)]. The 750-DD rest interval was based on the accumulated temperature for elongation of 1.5 leaves per tiller of functional groups C and D [e.g., *Aristida laevis* and *Saccharum trinii*; (23)]. Those species had an important contribution to sward composition of the area and, consequently, on available herbage mass.

Over 3 years, when measuring the rest interval effects, a total of 15 experimental evaluations of beef heifer grazing behavior were conducted. All assessments were performed with visual observations during 24 consecutive hours. In each year, a variable number between 24 and 36 beef heifers (at least four heifers per paddock) was evaluated with variable body weights (177–215 kg) and age (12–24 months) (**Table 1**). Variations in weight and age were within the range for heifers rearing to breed at 2 years of age.

During the grass growing seasons over the 3 years (springs, summers, and autumns), heifers were only supplemented with mineral salt and had access *ad libitum* to freshwater. During the first winter (2010), heifers were supplemented with mineral protein salt *ad libitum* (24). During the second winter (2011), heifers were supplemented with grounded corn at a proportion of 0.5% of body weight (BW). During the third winter (2012), the heifers were supplemented with 0.5% of BW with wheat bran (85%) and glycerol (15%). In all winter seasons, except for the first when mineral protein salt had its intake limited by NaCl concentration, the intake was not higher than 200 g per animal. In the second and third winter, supplement did not exceed 0.5%

TABLE 1 | Mean initial body weight, age, and number of beef heifers monitored during a study to quantify the daily foraging activities.

	2010 ^a	2011 ^b	2012 ^b
Body weight	215	177	185
Age	18	12	12
Monitored animals	24	36	24
Breed type	Angus	Angus; Charolais \times Nelore	Angus
Date of behavior	June 11	January 20	January 16
evaluations ^c	August 15	April 09	March 24
	September 30	June 04	May 26
	December 17	July 19	July 07
		September 03	September 12
		November 18	

Body weight is expressed as kg BW. Age is expressed as months. "Monitored animals" is the number of animals assessed in each evaluation year. Breed type represents the breed of animals assessed each year. Date of behavior evaluations represents the dates when the assessments were performed.

^aFrom September to December.

^b In 2011 and 2012, heifers started with 12 months remaining in paddocks until they reached 24 months.

^c June, July, and August represent winter; September represents spring; December and January represent summer and March; April and May represent autumn.

of BW and was available only from 09:30 to 10:30 h, when grazing activity is lower. The stocking rate adjustments were made each 28 days using 4.5% of the herbage allowance (4.5 kg MS per 100 kg of BW) considering 70% of grass leaf blades creating part of the sward mass.

The experimental area was arranged in a randomized block design with the two rest periods as the treatments (375 and 750 DD), with three area replicates (six paddocks with subpaddocks, three for each rest period), using rotational grazing management. The blocking criterion was the relief. Details regarding management can be found in Barbieri et al. (10).

Before this 3-year experimental period and 15 behavior assessments, behavior variables were tested through an analysis of variance model (using P < 0.05 as the significance level). Because there were no differences between grazing and rumination time between 375 and 750 DD treatments, all data were used to form a larger database. Then, these databases were combined by year, generating four evaluations in the first year (4 \times 6 paddocks = 24 replicates), six evaluations over the second year (6 \times 6 = 36 replicates), and five evaluations in the third year $(5 \times 6 = 30 \text{ replicates})$. To this new analysis, the year was used as a block in the statistical model to remove possible climatic differences among the years. Next, data were clustered by season, regardless of year (blocked), which generated 12 replicates in summer, 24 replicates in autumn, 36 replicates in winter, and 18 replicates in spring. Each replicate evaluated at least four heifers. Even after clustering the data (years and climatic seasons), grazing and rumination time did not present significant differences between the 375- and 750-DD treatments, making it possible to pool all data to perform the timing and sample sufficiency analysis. The original data and animal performance can be found in Soares (25).

Natural Grassland Characterization

The pasture that composes the Campos grasslands (6) presents a well-defined double layer canopy structure. In this case, the lower strata were composed of short-grass species, such as *Axonopus affinis* and *Paspalum notatum*, mostly with a prostrate growth pattern and were the major grasses in the above-cited A/B functional groups. These species were highly preferred by free-ranging cattle. In the upper strata were grass species with a tussock-like growth habit, such as *Andropogon lateralis* and *Aristida laevis*, the major grasses in the above-cited C/D functional groups (26). Moreover, the experimental area was mostly composed of C₄ metabolic cycle grasses (above 75% of herbage mass). During the cool seasons, sward production was dramatically reduced concomitant with the decrease in its nutritional value.

The herbaceous vegetation of the area consisted (mean contribution for green herbage mass) primarily of Andropogon lateralis ($\pm 37\%$), Aristida laevis ($\pm 14\%$), Saccharum trinii $(\pm 6\%)$, Shorgastrum nutans $(\pm 6\%)$, Paspalum plicatulum $(\pm 3\%)$, Axonopus affinis $(\pm 6\%)$, Paspalum notatum $(\pm 9\%)$; species within the Umbelliferae family, including Eringium horridum ($\pm 3\%$); and $\pm 16\%$ representing other plant families, including woody plants (each with negligible amounts; <1%). Furthermore, 117 species, representing 33 grass genera, have been documented in this experimental area (27). Species classified as A and B functional groups (Andropogon lateralis, Axonopus affinis, and Paspalum notatum) comprised 52% of the mean green herbage mass and those as C and D groups (Aristida laevis, Saccharum trinii, Shorgastrum nutans, and Paspalum plicatulum) comprised 29% of the herbage mass. These species and group contributions varied throughout the year, mostly because of the variations in environmental temperatures over time (seasons). See Cruz et al. (21) for details on functional groups. The quantity of senescent plant material also changed across seasons, being lower in the spring ($\pm 20\%$ of total herbage mass) and greater in the winter season ($\pm 55\%$ of total herbage mass). All these values (species contribution and botanical composition) were sampled using the BOTANAL method, as described by Tothill et al. (28).

Over the 3 years, herbage mass (HM) was measured, each 28– 32 days, using a visual standard comparison, calibrated with a double sampling technique (29), with 20 visual samplings and six samples cut at ground level, using 0.25 m² quadrats. All regression equations derived from visual assessments were above 0.7 determination coefficient (R^2). In each evaluation of HM, sward height was measured with a sward stick at the same points as HM evaluations. We did not consider the tall tussock grasses in sward height measurements.

Grazing Behavior

All 15 grazing behavior evaluations began on the second day of occupation of the sub-paddocks, regardless of whether the management was 375 or 750 DD (dates in **Table 1**). The mean time of occupation of the sub-paddocks was 4 days (range from 2 to 5 days in spring and summer) and 7 days (range from 5 to 10 days in autumn and winter). In all assessments, the experimental

unit was the sub-paddock and the variables explored were the mean values of at least four tested animals.

Previously for each assessment, heifers were exposed to night observations with flashlights to acclimate them to this type of light and they were habituated to close handling by people using daily supplementation on grassland. Thus, flashlights and close observations appeared to have minimal effects on the behavior of the animals. In each evaluation, trained evaluators were placed at ground level in "easy-to-view" locations for heifer behavior recording. Four trained evaluators were used for each sub-paddock, taking turns every 2 h.

Total grazing, rumination, and other activity times were visually recorded, every 10 min over 24 consecutive hours, and the results were expressed in minutes per day. Considering that sub-paddocks were 0.5 ha, and animals expressed their behavior in groups, each observer was able to handle a single paddock observation. The recording frequency was chosen based on previous data reported by Gary et al. (30) and Mezzalira et al. (31). Grazing was defined as including time spent searching, selecting, and gathering (eating) forage, similar to that previously described by Hodgson (18). Rumination time was defined as the cessation of grazing and the beginning of jaw movements. Time of other activities was considered the time when animals were not foraging or ruminating and could be idle, engaging in social activities, drinking water, or eating supplements (32).

Treatments for Timing, Sampling Sufficiency Evaluation, and Natural Behavior

As previously described, an analysis of variance showed no differences among treatments (375 and 750 DD rest intervals). Thus, data were recombined in five treatments regardless of the rest intervals. New treatments consisted of the comparison between timing and duration of observation periods to test the sufficiency of sampling duration for grazing time analysis and to determine the behavior of heifers in the natural environment. Again, each paddock area was used as a replicate in each season, generating 12 replicates in summer, 24 in autumn, 36 in winter, and 18 in spring. Differences among seasons were not compared because of the differences in day length among seasons and differences in green biomass availability and herbage quality.

Validation of the timing and duration of observation periods in each season accounted for grazing, rumination, and other activity times observed over uninterrupted periods of 24 h. Treatments consisted of the evaluation of four distinct periods having different lengths based on the following selected intervals: *sun duration*—during the day from sunrise to sunset (DAY-SUN); *daylight duration*—from dawn to dusk (DAYLIGHT); *DAYLIGHT plus 2 h* (DAYLIGHT+2); *DAYLIGHT to midnight* (DAYLIGHT to 0); and the *entire 24 h* (CONTROL) (details in **Figure 1**). All data were compiled by fractioning the CONTROL dataset.

To obtain the times of sunrise and sunset, historic data were used (mean of 30 years) registered by the National Institute of Meteorology (INMET) station, located 3 km from the experimental area. The mean time of sunrise and sunset was



calculated for each season. Using these times, the beginning and the end of the DAY-SUN treatment were identified (**Table 2**). This information also was used to obtain the *dawn* and *dusk* durations [sun position 6° above (sunrise) and -6° below (sunset) the horizon (33)], and this time was added to the DAY-SUN treatment. The mean values of dawn and dusk (in minutes, mean of each season) were added to the mean sunrise and sunset hours for each season to determine the start and the end of behavior evaluations that defined the DAYLIGHT treatment (see **Table 2**).

In addition to these observation periods, to determine if animal behavior was being represented, other evaluation

periods were observed. In the DAYLIGHT+2 treatment, animal evaluations were considered from dawn until 2 h after dusk ended. For the DAYLIGHT to 0 treatment, behavior was compiled between dawn and midnight (00:00; midnight). For DAYLIGHT+2 and DAYLIGHT to 0 treatments, the end of the evaluations was considered a fixed period of time. The evaluation period (time), even within the same treatments (except in the CONTROL treatment), was different between climatic seasons, and this occurred because of photoperiod changes among climatic seasons (**Figure 1**), influencing the time the assessments began.

TABLE 2 Mean hour of dawn, sunrise, sunset, and dusk among the four climatic
seasons during a study to quantify the daily foraging activities of beef heifers.

Event	Climatic seasons								
	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Spring					
Dawn	05:53	06:53	06:55	05:23					
Sunrise	06:04	07:05	07:07	05:44					
Sunset	19:24	18:03	18:07	19:02					
Dusk	19:46	18:20	18:25	19:24					

See the text for the definitions of dawn, sunrise, sunset, and dusk. Mean hours of the events are an average of the last 30 years, provided by the National Institute of Meteorology (INMET).

Behavior Data Analysis

The statistical analyses used was a block design model where each year was considered the block. Each paddock was considered a replicate (mean of animals inside the paddocks) and there were six replicates (paddock number in the experimental area) in each trial (15 trials for 3 years). In spring, data were analyzed with 18 replicates, in summer with 12, in autumn with 24, and in winter with 36 replicates. Results are presented separately by season because of the differences in day length among seasons.

The analysis of grazing time (minute per hour during 24 h) was performed using the mean values of grazing time from all replicates in the database. For this analysis, data were separated by climatic seasons, and using mean values of all replicates in each climatic season, the grazing time (minute per hour) was calculated for each hour of the day. From this, the grazing time in each hour between climatic seasons was compared.

Initially, data were submitted to a Bartlett test followed by a Shapiro–Wilk test to determine the homogeneity of variances and normality of residuals, respectively. After confirming this, the data were submitted to an analysis of variance and *F*test. Mean comparison analyses were conducted using PROC MIXED (Tukey test) in SAS 9.2 software, including the model effects of blocks (years) and treatments (evaluation periods). The criteria for sampling sufficiency of the duration of observation periods were defined as occurring when comparisons between the CONTROL and treatments were similar. For all statistical tests, significance was defined as P < 0.05.

RESULTS

The main objective of this article was to evaluate the extent of observations of grazing behavior over a 24-h period to accurately represent this behavior, so we will discuss our data considering at the same time feasibility and representativeness to predict foraging behavior mediated by pasture management practices.

Sward Characteristics

Mean herbage mass maintained during the experimental years was 3,871 kg DM/ha, ranging from 3,017 to 4,242 kg DM/ha. Furthermore, mean sward height, without tussock species, was 20 ± 3.9 cm, ranging from 17.3 ± 3.3 to 22.5 ± 4.1 cm. Sward

characteristics were similar among the paddocks and typical of this grassland formation.

Timing and Duration of Observation Periods

There were differences (P < 0.05) for grazing, rumination, and other activity times among all seasons and treatments within 24 h (**Table 3**). There were differences in grazing time even among lower observation period treatments (DAY-SUN vs. DAYLIGHT) in summer and winter seasons. Furthermore, these treatments presented lower (P < 0.05) foraging times than did the time observed in the CONTROL. In summer, grazing time measured in the DAY-SUN treatment represented only 82.7% of the total time spent grazing over 24 h and this treatment evaluated 56.9% of day length. In DAYLIGHT, grazing time observed represented 88.1% of the total grazing time and the DAYLIGHT evaluated 60.4% of day length.

In winter, the DAY-SUN treatment represented only 47.2% of day length and covered 74.9% of the grazing time observed in the CONTROL. In the DAYLIGHT treatment, 79.7% of the foraging time of the CONTROL was represented and 50% of the day length was observed. Rumination and other activity times were similar between DAY-SUN and DAYLIGHT treatments among all seasons. However, rumination time was lower in these treatments relative to that of the CONTROL.

In the DAYLIGHT+2 treatment, grazing time differences were observed in the spring, autumn, and winter when compared with other evaluation periods. In this treatment, grazing time was greater than the time spent grazing in the two treatments that evaluated grazing time only during the day clarity period (DAY-SUN and DAYLIGHT) and lower than the grazing time observed in DAYLIGHT to 0 and CONTROL treatments. In spring, DAYLIGHT+2 evaluated 68.1% of the day length and grazing time represented 88% of the CONTROL. During autumn, this treatment evaluated 57.5% of the day length and 81.5% of the grazing time in the CONTROL. During winter, DAYLIGHT+2 represented 84.1% of the CONTROL grazing time, evaluating 58.4% of the day length. Regardless of the season, the DAYLIGHT+2 treatment reached the grazing time representativeness of time grazing by the heifers observed over 24 h. In general, rumination and other activity times increased with the increase in the evaluated period during all seasons.

Grazing time only began to be represented when a large portion of the night was added to the evaluation period. Sampling sufficiency of the duration of the observation period was achieved when the evaluations were undertaken until midnight (DAYLIGHT to 0 treatment) in the four seasons (treatment DAYLIGHT to 0 vs. CONTROL; summer P = 0.485; spring P = 0.278; autumn P = 0.212; winter P = 0.196).

Using this evaluation period, during summer, 77.1% of the day length with 97.8% of the CONTROL grazing time was used. In spring, the evaluation period had 76.4% of day length and achieved 91.5% of the foraging time observed during the CONTROL period. During winter, grazing time in the DAYLIGHT to 0 represented 91.5% of grazing activity of the CONTROL, evaluating 72.9% of the day length. In autumn,

		Evaluation periods (treatments)								
Min/day	CONTROL	SUN-DAY	DAYLIGHT	DAYLIGHT+2	DAYLIGHT to 0					
Summer										
Grazing	648 ^a	536°	571 ^b	597 ^b	634ª	11.2	0.001			
Rumination	517 ^a	191 ^d	196 ^d	267°	321 ^b	13.8	0.001			
Other act.	275 ^a	93°	103°	126 ^{bc}	155 ^b	13.8	0.001			
Spring										
Grazing	692ª	549°	575°	609 ^b	633ª	14.7	0.001			
Rumination	473 ^a	164 ^d	176 ^d	230 ^c	311 ^b	10.2	0.001			
Other act.	275 ^a	97°	109 ^c	141 ^{b,c}	156 ^b	12.4	0.001			
Autumn										
Grazing	637 ^a	449 ^c	475 ^c	521 ^b	602ª	12.9	0.001			
Rumination	469 ^a	114 ^d	122 ^d	176 ^c	270 ^b	9.2	0.001			
Other act.	334ª	107°	113°	133°	178 ^b	10.4	0.001			
Winter										
Grazing	597 ^a	447 ^d	476 ^c	502 ^b	566 ^a	7.7	0.001			
Rumination	437 ^a	91 ^d	95 ^d	167°	303 ^b	8.1	0.001			
Other act.	406 ^a	142 ^d	149 ^{c,d}	171°	191 ^b	9.1	0.001			

TABLE 3 | Grazing, rumination, and other activity times of beef heifers in a natural grassland managed under rotational grazing among the four climatic seasons.

See text for definition of the different treatments (Control, SUN-DAY, DAYLIGHT, DAYLIGHT+2, and DAYLIGHT to 0). Grazing, rumination, and other activities (Other act.) are expressed in minutes. Different lowercase letters in a line differ by Tukey test at 5%.

*standard mean deviation.

grazing time in the DAYLIGHT to 0 represented 94.8% of the activity of the CONTROL, evaluating 73.6% of the day length.

Considering the time spent in rumination and other activities, even with the increase in the observation periods, differences were observed when compared with that of the CONTROL (P < 0.05). Overall, in summer and spring, rumination time during periods of natural clarity (day) represented only 37.6% of rumination time compared with the 24-h period (CONTROL). The remaining rumination time (62.4%) was observed during dark periods (night). In the cool seasons (autumn and winter), 23.9% of rumination time was observed during light periods and 76.1% overnight. Furthermore, the remaining activities followed the same pattern; during summer and spring, 31.1% of other activities occurred during the day (natural light), whereas the remaining time (68.9%) was observed during darkness. In the cool seasons (mean of autumn and winter), 43% of other activities were distributed in the day and 56.9% during darkness.

Diurnal Foraging Patterns

Grazing time distribution over 24 h presented some similarities among seasons, mainly when comparing among warm seasons (summer and spring) and cooler seasons (autumn and winter) (Figure 2).

During warm seasons, the first intense grazing cycle (or peak) occurred earlier than in cooler seasons, at ~04:00 in the morning. At 05:00, grazing activity was more intense during warm seasons than during cool seasons (P < 0.05). In cooler seasons, the first grazing peak started at ~06:00 h. The difference (P < 0.05) in grazing intensity (time spent grazing per hour) between warm and cool seasons was observed until 08:00. In all seasons, after

this intense activity, grazing activity was reduced until 10:00 h (more details in the Supplementary File; **Table 4**).

During late morning, at ~11:00, a second intense peak of grazing activity occurred in the summer and it was different from that of other seasons (P < 0.05). In this same time of the day (late morning and early afternoon), cool seasons and spring had low intensity and more constant grazing distribution. Regardless of the season, during late afternoon, and at the beginning of the night (16:00–20:00 h), a second intense grazing peak was observed. This peak in grazing activity started earlier in the cool season as compared with that of warm seasons. In winter and autumn, this intense grazing activity started at ~15:00–16:00 h. This grazing peak had, approximately, a duration of 3, 1 h less than the duration of the grazing peak observed during the warm season. In summer and spring, the intense foraging activity occurred between 17:00 and 21:00 h.

After this grazing peak in the late afternoon, grazing activity was reduced during the early evening. In cool seasons, this grazing activity reduction ranged from 19:00 to 22:00 h. During spring, this reduction was shorter and ranged from 21:00 to 22:00 h, and in the summer, grazing activity was evident from 21:00 to 0:00 h. Furthermore, in spring, autumn, and winter, heifers had another short grazing peak during the night (between 23:00 and 01:00 h). Only during summer did heifers present low foraging activity during the night.

DISCUSSION

During the 3 years when grazing behavior was evaluated, herbage mass and sward height did not present values in the range of sward structure considered limiting for beef heifer intake on



natural grasslands (1). Thus, the similarities allowed us to assume that the grazing behavior of beef heifers in this study was not influenced by these factors.

Recently, animal behavior evaluations (or trials) have focused on the observation periods during daylight observations, regardless of the climatic season or pasture type (8, 11, 34, 35). This observation period was based on the major grazing events featured by the animals by their natural behavior, mostly observed in temperate climate conditions. In such situations, the weather is characterized by milder environmental temperatures during the daylight period and cold environmental temperatures during the night (14). Thus, because of thermal comfort, grazing activity occurs predominantly during daylight hours (15) and major grazing events occur near sunrise and sunset, with the latter having greater intensity and longer duration (36).

However, in tropical and subtropical conditions, the temperature distribution is different over a 24-h period, especially in different seasons, and as seen in our results, to maintain animal welfare, animals distribute their grazing activities differently, having more dispersed foraging activities over 24 h as compared with those in temperate climates. In support of this, in subtropical and tropical climates, animals can conduct a significant portion of grazing during non-daylight hours together with rumination and resting (12, 19, 37).

Another important feature related to diurnal ingestive preferences of animals in temperate climates is the high nutritional quality of C₃ grass species, a typical trait of the pastures in temperate climates that easily supports animal nutritional demands over the day when the sward is high or herbage mass allows high bite masses. Because of this, night foraging activity is usually characterized as occurring in shorter intervals and less intense bouts. Overall, night foraging represents a small percentage of daily foraging time and contribute minimally to daily herbage intake in temperate climates (16, 38). However, in subtropical natural grasslands, as in our experiment and as observed by Trindade et al. (11), sometimes the nutrient concentrations of the pasture are poor, and consequently, animals have to spend more time during the day to attend to their energetic requirements, even with no limiting intake factors based on sward conditions (high or mass).

Thus, evaluations of grazing time, which consider only day length (DAY-SUN and DAYLIGHT), are incomplete in the representation of grazing time and natural behavior of heifers over 24 h (CONTROL). In these situations, grazing time was significantly lower than grazing time normally presented by the animals. Even when 2 h was added past sunset (DAYLIGHT+2), the time spent grazing was significantly lower than grazing time measured over 24 h. This definitively suggests that there is

TABLE 4 Hourly mean foraging distribution of beef heifers over 24 h foraging
behavior assessments in a natural grassland managed under rotational grazing.

Timetable		-	Time foraging (min/h)							
		Autumn	Winter	Spring	Summer					
00:00	01:00	21.1ª	27.5 ^a	23.4 ^a	1.8 ^b	3.45				
01:00	02:00	16.4 ^b	28.3ª	2.4 ^a	7.5 ^c	2.97				
02:00	03:00	11.3 ^b	16.7 ^b	24.7 ^a	11.0 ^b	2.76				
03:00	04:00	8.6 ^b	5.2 ^b	16.9 ^a	14.6 ^a	2.7				
04:00	05:00	6.1 ^b	2.7 ^b	13.1 ^a	4.6 ^b	2.3				
05:00	06:00	2.0 ^b	3.3 ^b	16.4 ^a	3.1 ^b	3.21				
06:00	07:00	4.8 ^b	9.0 ^b	25.9 ^a	14.2 ^{a,b}	4.13				
07:00	08:00	31.5 ^b	25.4 ^b	43.1 ^a	26.3 ^b	4.4				
08:00	09:00	33.5	41.1	39.1	41.6	3.47				
09:00	10:00	28.6	37.8	26.6	31.1	3.64				
10:00	11:00	36.2	29.1	30.7	25.6	4.11				
11:00	12:00	40.4	33.3	37.1	35.8	3.38				
12:00	13:00	35.9	40.1	33.9	47.4	3.61				
13:00	14:00	38.9 ^a	36.6 ^a	27.8 ^b	46.8 ^a	2.48				
14:00	15:00	28.5 ^b	36.7 ^{a,b}	35.2 ^{a,b}	46.3 ^a	2.41				
15:00	16:00	36.0	42.7	31.9	33.7	2.84				
16:00	17:00	51.2ª	49.9 ^a	33.4 ^b	23.7 ^b	3.33				
17:00	18:00	53.9 ^a	55.4 ^a	26.9 ^b	21.1 ^b	4.47				
18:00	19:00	41.1	43.6	48.6	43.9	3.02				
19:00	20:00	20.6 ^b	12.9 ^b	51.7 ^a	51.4 ^a	4.95				
20:00	21:00	10.9 ^c	5.9 ^c	38.3 ^b	55.6 ^{a,b}	5.43				
21:00	22:00	8.5 ^b	2.4°	9.4 ^b	44.8ª	4.19				
22:00	23:00	14.6	4.9	12.3	10.2	2.43				
23:00	00:00	27.2ª	16.3ª	17.3 ^a	4.6 ^b	3.84				

Time foraging is expressed in minutes for each daily hour. Different lowercase letters in a line differ by Tukey test at 5%.

significant nighttime foraging (**Figure 2**). Champion et al. (14) and Gregorini et al. (12, 19) suggest that both sheep and cows may have significant meals at night. In temperate climates, ruminants have approximately three major grazing events per day: at sunrise, around 12:00, and sunset (36). However, this pattern is flexible and affected by external environmental conditions, especially environmental temperatures. According to Gregorini et al. (12), an adaptation could be an increase in the length of grazing events and a decrease in the number of meals during short days, or ruminants could increase meal numbers, including times at night to allocate these meals.

To faithfully represent the natural behavior of heifers, it is possible to confirm that the time extent of grazing behavior assessments that should be evaluated needs to include part of the night. In our case, despite being 35 min less total grazing time than the CONTROL, evaluations using all day and until midnight showed no differences (P > 0.05) when compared with the natural behavior of heifers. To achieve this representativeness, we evaluated 75% of the entire day.

Additionally, our data support that in a tropical climate situation, sunlight (including dawn and dusk) has a strong influence on animal activity (39), even in warm environments.

Furthermore, another important fact is that grazing events, which occur after sunset, should not be underestimated (38). Nevertheless, trials assuming that grazing time observed only between sunrise and sunset (natural light) represents an accurate estimate of the grazing time are underestimating the real time that animals spend foraging. This bias can be magnified when this incomplete information is used to estimate/calculate other behavior variables (e.g., bite mass) causing serious misunderstandings, especially in trials were the bite mass is estimated by the division of daily animal intake by the daily bite number, which, in turn, is estimated by multiplying the bite rate by total grazing time.

Of course, to determine the "size" of the evaluation period that must be performed, baseline experiments need to be conducted. In our case, it was possible to reduce the total evaluation period by 25% with no effects in grazing representativeness [all seasons mean: 94% of the total grazing time observed in the CONTROL treatment (P > 0.05)]. This protocol reduces possible overestimations of other dependent variables of grazing time and allows the comparison among trials conducted in similar conditions, mostly by representing the actual grazing time of animals.

Grazing activity occurs mainly during daylight and the influence of day length changes the foraging patterns of animals (**Figure 2**). Moreover, the different grazing peaks during different seasons demonstrate the ability of animals to adapt their ingestive activity to variations in daylight, reserving most rumination and rest activities for periods of darkness to maintain their welfare. Furthermore, there are other factors to determine this pattern, such as the difficulty of food selection during dark periods (15), defense mechanisms (40), and hormonal factors (41).

The extent of grazing taking place during daylight in summer and spring (higher temperatures) compared with that in autumn and winter (lower temperatures) was not highly variable, even though the peaks in this behavior occurred during different periods of the day. In summer and spring, grazing begins earlier in the day compared with that of autumn and winter seasons. Consequently, grazing peaks during the morning are more intense in warm seasons than cool ones. This probably occurs because of the longer photoperiod, which encourages the animals to begin foraging earlier (12, 19), and thus, it reduces the need for foraging during the hottest period of the day (late morning/early afternoon). After the first meal (morning grazing peak), animals decrease the time spent grazing, probably because of rumen filling (3).

Another important practical information indicated by our data is related to the use of feeding supplements in production systems. When the use of supplementary sources of feeding is necessary, supplements should be offered to the animals between the grazing peaks. In our subtropical environment, this means offering it from 08:30 to 09:30 (spring-summer) and from 09:30 to 10:30 (autumn-winter) (Figure 2). Thus, using this information, it is possible to reduce herbage substitution by the supplement, and this was already used in that particular environment (42, 43). Furthermore, when energetic supplements

are used, this management schedule allows better use of herbage nitrogen (44).

Grazing peaks earlier in the afternoon during autumn and winter compared with that of summer and spring, which may be a consequence of the interaction of photoperiod and environmental temperatures. The first is related to the light period when animals can distribute themselves for better grazing activity (15), avoiding the high-temperature periods of the day. Secondly, animals start grazing when temperatures are milder (late afternoon). In seasons with high environmental temperatures, this grazing peak [mainly in summer (12, 19)] is slightly longer than in other seasons.

The longer duration and later start of the afternoon grazing peak probably influences the later onset of grazing during the nighttime period during summer. Only during summer did animals not obtain a meal during the night between 22:00 and 01:00 h. Grazing events over the night are also necessary for the animals to maintain their metabolic heat production (by rumen fermentation) during cool seasons (45). Furthermore, our data of nighttime behavior observations contradicted the assumption that heifers do not forage for significant periods at night (16, 37, 38). Therefore, if one of the experimental goals is to measure the length of foraging events and represent natural grazing activity, it is necessary to accurately evaluate periods of nighttime grazing, especially under subtropical and tropical climate conditions.

CONCLUSION

Visual observations beginning at dawn until midnight represented the total foraging time in a subtropical natural grassland. This period could be used to represent grazing activities performed during 24 h, as well to evaluate the natural behavior of heifers, and this would be useful for the calibration of automatic recording devices.

REFERENCES

- 1. Gonçalves EN, Carvalho PCF, Kunrath TR, Carassai IJ, Bremm C, Fischer V. Relações planta-animal em ambiente pastoril heterogêneo: processo de ingestão de forragem. *R Bras Zootec.* (2009) 38:1655–62. doi: 10.1590/S1516-359820090009 00003
- Carvalho PCF, Fischer V, Santos DT, Ribeiro AML, Quadros FLF, Castilhos ZMS, et al. Produção animal no bioma campos sulinos. *R Bras Zootec*. (2006) 35:156–202.
- 3. Demment MW, Peyraud JL, Laca EA. Herbage intake ate grazing: a modeling approach. In: Jornet M, Grenet E, Farce M, Theriez M, Demarquillys C, editors. *Proceedings of the IV International Symposium on the Nutrition of Herbivores.* Paris: INRA Editions (1995). p. 121–41.
- Hodgson J. Ingestive behaviour. In: Leaver JD, editor. *Herbage intake Handbook*. Wallingford: British Grassland Society (1982). p. 113–38.
- Carvalho PCF, Prache S, Damasceno JC. O processo de pastejo: desafios da procura e apreensão da forragem pelo herbívoro. In: Nascimento D, Torres RA, Pereira JC, editors. 36° Reunião Anual da Sociedade Brasileira de Zootecnia. Anais: Porto Alegre (1999). p. 253–68.
- Allen VG, Batello C, Berretta EJ, Hodgson J, Kothmann M, Li X, et al. An international terminology for grazing lands and grazing animals. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2011) 66:2–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2010.0 0780.x

Diurnal evaluations of grazing behavior of beef heifers do not represent the necessary time to represent grazing activities in natural grasslands in subtropical and tropical conditions.

Beef heifers managed in natural grasslands have a diurnal pattern of grazing. However, there are significant grazing events in dark periods, and there are also significant changes between seasons in the times that animals perform these events. Farmers could use this daytime pattern to establish key periods of the day for observations of grazing behavior, such as the end of the morning grazing peak or the beginning of the evening peak.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal ethics committee—Federal University of Santa Maria.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FJ, ES, and LO compiled and organized the data, ran the statistical analyses, wrote the article, and assisted in the behavioral evaluations. BK, PC, and LM were responsible for the trials wherein data were collected, as well work conducted on the behavior assessments. FQ revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Émerson M. Soares (25) for providing the data from his doctoral thesis for elaboration in this article.

- Carlotto SB, Medeiros RBD, Pellegrini CBD, Garcia RPA, Lisboa CAV, Saibro JC. Comportamento ingestivo diurno de vacas primíparas em pastagem nativa dominada por capim-annoni-2 com suplementação proteica e mineral em diversas estações climáticas. *R Bras Zootec*. (2010) 39:454–61. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982010000300002
- Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Trindade JK, Nabinger C, Carvalho PCF. The ingestive behaviour of cattle in large-scale and its application to pasture management in heterogeneous pastoral environments. J Agric Sci Technol. (2012) 2:909–16. doi: 10.17265/2161-6256/2012.07A.008
- Pinto CE, Carvalho PCF, Frizzo A, Fontoura Júnior JA, Nabinger C, Rocha R. Comportamento ingestivo de novilhos em pastagem nativa no Rio Grande do Sul. *R Bras Zootec.* (2007) 36:319–27. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982007000 200007
- Barbieri CW, Quadros FLF, Jochims F, Soares ÉM, Oliveira LB, Carvalho RMR, et al. Sward structural characteristics and performance of beef heifers reared under rotational grazing management on campos grassland. *Am J Plant Sci.* (2014) 5:1020–9. doi: 10.4236/ajps.2014.57114
- Trindade JK, Pinto CE, Neves FP, Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Genro TCM, et al. Forage allowance as a target of grazing management: implications on grazing time and forage searching. *Rangeland Ecol Manag.* (2012) 65:382–93. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-11-00204.1
- Gregorini P, Tamminga S, Gunter SA. Review: behavior and daily grazing patterns of cattle. *Prof Anim Sci.* (2006) 22:201–9. doi: 10.15232/S1080-7446(15)31095-0

- Brown DD, Kays R, Wikelski M, Wilson R, Klimley AP. Observing the unwatchable through acceleration logging of animal behavior. *Anim Biotelemetry*. (2013) 1:20. doi: 10.1186/2050-3385-1-20
- Champion RA, Rutter SM, Penning PD, Rook AJ. Temporal variation in grazing behaviour of sheep and the reliability of sampling periods. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1994) 42:99–108. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(94)90150-3
- Linnane MI, Brereton AJ, Giller PS. Seasonal changes in circadian grazing patterns of Kerry cows (*Bos Taurus*) in semi-feral conditions in Killarney National Park, Co. Kerry, Ireland. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 71:277–92. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00188-X
- O'Connell J, Giller PS, Meaney W. A comparison of dairy cattle behaviour patterns at pasture and during confinement. *Irish J Agric Res.* (1989) 28:65–72.
- Dulphy JP, Remond B, Theriez M. Ingestive behaviour and related activities in ruminants. In: Ruckebush Y, Thivend P, editors. *Digestive Physiology and Metabolism in Ruminants*. Lancaster: MTP (1980). p. 103–22. doi: 10.1007/978-94-011-8067-2_5
- 18. Hodgson J. Grazing Management. Science into Practice. Essex: Longman (1990).
- Gregorini P, Gunter SA, Beck PA, Soder KJ, Tamminga S. Review: the interaction of diurnal grazing pattern, ruminal metabolism, nutrient supply, and management in cattle. *Prof Anim Sci.* (2008) 24:308–18. doi: 10.15232/S1080-7446(15)30861-5
- 20. Moreno JA. *Clima do Rio Grande do Sul*. Porto Alegre: Secretaria da Agricultura (1961).
- Cruz P, Quadros FLF, Theau JP, Frizzo A, Jouany C, Duru M, et al. Leaf traits as functional descriptors of the intensity of continuous grazing in native grasslands in the South of Brazil. *Rangeland Ecol Manag.* (2010) 63:350–8. doi: 10.2111/08-016.1
- Eggers L, Cadenazzi M, Boldrini II. Phyllochron of Paspalum notatum FL. and Coelorhachis selloana (HACK) camus in natural pasture. *Sci Agricola*. (2004) 61:353–7. doi: 10.1590/S0103-90162004000400001
- Machado JM, Rocha MG, Quadros FLF, Confortin ACC, Santos AB, Sichonany MJO, et al. Morphogenesis of native grasses of Pampa Biome under nitrogen fertilization. *R Bras Zootec.* (2013) 42:22–9. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982013000100004
- Knorr M, Patiño HO, Silveira ALF, Mühlbach PRF, Mallmann GM, Medeiros FS. Desempenho de novilhos suplementados com sais proteinados em pastagem nativa. *Pesq Agropec Bras.* (2005) 40:783–8. doi: 10.1590/S0100-204X2005000800008
- 25. Soares EM. Produção e Comportamento Animal em Pastagem Natural Manejada sob Pastoreio Rotativo – Análise Conjunta de Experimentos. (thesis). Universidade Federal de Santa Maria; Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil (2018). Available online at: https://repositorio. ufsm.br/bitstream/handle/1/13752/TES_PPGZOOTECNIA_2018_SOARES_ EMERSON.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed November 15, 2019).
- 26. Quadros FLF, Trindade JPP, Borba MA. Abordagem funcional da ecologia campestre como instrumento de pesquisa e apropriação do conhecimento pelos produtores rurais. In: Pillar VP, Müller SC, Castilhos ZMS, Jacques AVA, editors. *Campos Sulinos, Conservação e Uso Sustentável da Biodiversidade.* Brasilia: Ministério do Meio Ambiente (2009). p. 206–13.
- 27. Quadros FLF, Pillar VD. Dinâmica vegetacional em pastagem natural submetida a tratamentos de queima e pastejo. *Ciência Rural.* (2001) 31:863–8. doi: 10.1590/S0103-84782001000500020
- Tothill JC, Hargreaves JNG, Jones RM. BOTANAL a comprehensive sampling and computing procedure for estimating pasture yield and composition. 1. Field sampling. *Trop Agron Tech Memorandum*. (1978) 78:1–24.
- Haydock KP, Shaw NH. The comparative yield method for estimating dry matter yield of pasture. *Aust J Agric Anim Husbandry*. (1975) 15:663–70. doi: 10.1071/EA9750663

- Gary LA, Sherritt GW, Hale EB. Behavior of charolais cattle on pasture. J Anim Sci. (1970) 30:303–6. doi: 10.2527/jas1970.302203x
- Mezzalira JC, Carvalho PCF, Fonseca L, Bremm C, Refatti MV, Poli CHEC, et al. Aspectos metodológicos do comportamento ingestivo de bovinos em pastejo. *R Bras Zootec.* (2011) 40:1114–20. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982011000500024
- Forbes TDA. Researching the plant-animal interface: the investigation of ingestive behavior in grazing animals. J Anim Sci. (1988) 66:2369–79. doi: 10.2527/jas1988.6692369x
- Miguens AP. Navegação: A ciência e a Arte. Volume II. Navegação Astronômica e de rotas. In: Nascer e Pôr-do-sol e da Lua. Marinha do Brasil: Crepúsculos; Brazil Navy (1996). p. 737–52.
- 34. Baggio C, Carvalho PCF, Silva JLS, Anghinoni I, Lopes MLT, Thurow JM. Padrões de deslocamento e captura de forragem por novilhos em pastagem de azevém-anual e aveia-preta manejada sob diferentes alturas em sistema de integração lavoura-pecuária. *R Bras Zootec.* (2009) 38:215–22. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982009000200001
- Silva RR, Prado IN, Silva FF, Almeida VSS, Santana Júnior HA, Queiroz AC, et al. Comportamento ingestivo diurno de novilhos Nelore recebendo níveis crescentes de suplementação em pastejo de capim-braquiária. *R Bras Zootec*. (2010) 39:2073–80. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982010000900028
- 36. Gibb MJ, Huckle CA, Nuthall R. Effect of time of day on grazing behavior by lactating dairy cows. Grass Forage Sci. (1998) 53:41–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2494.1998.00102.x
- Phillips CJC, Leaver JD. The effect of forage supplementation on the behavior of grazing dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1986) 16:233–47. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(86)90116-4
- Krysl LJ, Hess BW. Influence of supplementation on behavior of grazing cattle. J Anim Sci. (1993) 71:2546–55. doi: 10.2527/1993.7192546x
- Rutter SM, Tainton V, Champion RA, Le Grice P. The effect of a total solar eclipse on the grazing behaviour of dairy cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2002) 79:273–83. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00150-8
- Rook AJ, Huckle CA. Activity bout criteria for grazing dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1997) 54:89–96. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(97) 00065-8
- Gregorini P. Diurnal grazing pattern: its physiological basis and strategic management. Anim Prod Sci. (2012) 52:416–30. doi: 10.1071/ AN11250
- 42. Carvalho THN. Comportamento Ingestivo de Novilhas e Terneiras de Corte Recriadas em Campo Nativo no Período de Outono-Inverno. (BSc thesis). Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil (2011).
- Kuinchtner BC. Manejo de Pastagem Natural em Pastoreio Rotativo no Período de Outono/Inverno. (BSc thesis). Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, Santa Maria, Brazil (2013).
- Poppi DP, Mclennan SR. Protein and energy utilization by ruminants at pasture. J Anim Sci. (1995) 73:278–90. doi: 10.2527/1995.731278x
- Forbes JM. (2007). Voluntary Food intake and Diet Selection in Farm Animals. 2nd ed. Wallingford: CAB International. doi: 10.1079/9781845932794.0000

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Jochims, Soares, de Oliveira, Kuinchtner, Casanova, Marin and de Quadros. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Beef Cattle on Pasture Have Better Performance When Supplied With Water Trough Than Pond

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Keelin Katherine Mary O'Driscoll, Teagasc, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Martina Tarantola, University of Turin, Italy Derek B. Haley, University of Guelph, Canada

*Correspondence:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho pinheiro.machado@ufsc.br

[†]Present address:

Gabriela Schenato Bica, Câmara de Agroecologia, Universidade Federal do Paraná -Setor Litoral, Matinhos, Brazil Dayane Lemos Teixeira, Instituto de Ciencias Agroalimentarias, Animales y Ambientales (ICA3), Universidad de O'Higgins, San Fernando, Chile; Animal Welfare Subprogram, Institute of Agrifood Research and Technology - IRTA, Monells, Girona, Spain

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 13 October 2020 Accepted: 02 March 2021 Published: 29 April 2021

Citation:

Bica GS, Pinheiro Machado Filho LC and Teixeira DL (2021) Beef Cattle on Pasture Have Better Performance When Supplied With Water Trough Than Pond. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:616904. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.616904 Gabriela Schenato Bica † , Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado Filho* and Dayane Lemos Teixeira †

Laboratório de Etologia Aplicada, Departamento de Zootecnia e Desenvolvimento Rural, Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Brazil

The behavior and performance of steers on pasture regarding water availability in troughs or in ponds were compared. Eight paddocks were randomly allocated to one treatment: POND (~30 m of diameter) or TROUGH (water trough, 120 cm diameter and 60 cm high and 500 L capacity). Eight groups of six beef steers were randomly assigned to one of the paddocks. The first 10 days were considered for animal habituation. Animals were individually weighed (days 0, 30, 60, and 90). Beginning in the day after each weighing on days 30 (Month 1), 60 (Month 2), and 90 (Month 3), behavior and animal distribution in the paddock were recorded by direct visual observation in three periods of 4 consecutive days. Water temperature and fecal and herbage DM were also recorded in these periods. Water intake was measured during 16 random days in the troughs. Data were analyzed using Generalized Linear Mixed Models, with treatment and period as fixed effects. TROUGH steers gained more weight (0.44 vs. 0.34 kg/day/animal; $P \leq$ 0.007) during the experiment and were heavier than the others at the end of the study (P < 0.05). POND steers spent more time drinking water, but TROUGH steers increased the number of drinking events throughout the study (P < 0.05), suggesting an adaptation for the new type of water source. Both treatments increased grazing time throughout the study, but not ruminating time ($P \le 0.05$). Walking time differed between treatments in all periods of behavior observation ($P \le 0.05$). Events of animal licking and ingesting salt of POND steers reduced throughout the study ($P \leq 0.05$). The number of drinking events of TROUGH steers increased throughout the study, and drinking events were longer for POND steers than TROUGH steers ($P \leq 0.05$). TROUGH steers spent more time on pasture on Month 2 (P < 0.05). Period collection did not affect the water intake of TROUGH treatment (P > 0.05). This study demonstrates that water available in troughs rather than ponds for steers on pasture has positive effects on their weight gain and affects cattle behavior.

Keywords: water intake, average daily gain, beef cattle welfare, extensive pasture, behavior

INTRODUCTION

Water supply and presentation for bovines have been subjects of increasing interest as they affect cattle drinking behavior and preference (1-4). Water quality also affects grazing behavior and cattle performance (5). The lack of appropriate water supply may lead to water restriction, with detrimental effects to water consumption and animal welfare (6-8) as well as animal performance (5, 9, 10).

Dry matter ingestion and cattle performance are closely related to water consumption. Restricted water intake reduces feed intake (11, 12) and may result in lower weight gain. The need of water for appropriate growth, reproduction, digestion, excretion, and all body processes and metabolism is well-known (13). Water required by cattle is achieved from the sum of that intake from plants and other feeds, plus that consumed as free water (13), with the later being usually the major part of the water consumed. Water is perhaps the cheapest nutrient to offer in most production systems, and certainly the most important, affecting directly all body functions. Nevertheless, allocation of water to cattle is mostly underestimated, especially in situations where beef cattle are raised on pasture.

To assure adequate water ingestion for beef cattle in pasture-based systems, a maximum of 250-m walking distance from the water source is recommended (14). However, this recommendation depends on the paddocks size and their arrangements as water source location and water availability that can influence the distance that animals travel in search for water and the number of visits to the water trough. If water is outside of small paddocks, e.g., in the corridor, even a 150-m distance will affect the number of visits, water consumption, and access of subordinate animals (7). A water source located inside the paddock has positive effects on animal performance (15).

The use of water troughs decreases the energetic demand of animals to find a water source (16) and is a useful management strategy to improve the distribution of animals in pastures in order to preserve natural water sources (17), as off-stream watering generally shifts cattle drinking from river to water (18). However, careful placement is required to improve the likelihood that cattle will find and use these water sources and thus decrease their dependence and use of permanent streams and associated riparian areas (19).

Furthermore, it provides availability of water in adequate quantity and quality to the animals. Any low manure contamination in the water from the pond can affect water intake. Dairy cattle can detect low levels (as 0.005% in the water) of manure contamination in their drinking water, avoiding drinking it whenever is possible (20). Clean water available in a trough instead of pond water pumped to a trough or direct access into the pond resulted in an increase of 23% in yearling heifer performance (9). Among different water troughs, cattle may have preferences. They prefer and drink more water from a round plastic than from a squared concrete trough (4). Likewise, they prefer and drink more water from larger than from smaller troughs (2) and deeper and wider to shallow water troughs (3).

There is a growing concern regarding the environmental impact of cattle accessing natural water sources (21, 22). In fact,

when having the choice beef cattle would prefer to drink in a water trough than in a natural stream (1). In that study, however, cattle performance was not evaluated. Perhaps the scarcity of information on water source and beef performance is one of the reasons why the vast majority of cattle on pasture drink water from streams, rivers, lakes, or ponds. Farmers usually consider enough having any natural source of water for beef cattle and are not aware of any effect on cattle performance, drinking behavior, or welfare, regarding the source of water. This is largely the reality of cattle on pasture in all countries. With the aim of bringing information on that issue, this experiment was designed to compare the behavior and the performance of beef steers reared in a continuous grazing system, regarding water availability in troughs or in ponds.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experiment was carried out in a private farm (Cacupé Farm) in the municipality of São Gabriel, the South of Brazil, at the geographic location of 30°20'S and 54°19'W, with an average altitude of 124 m. It was carried out from January to April of 2005, when air temperature ranged from 17.1 to 31.1°C, and total rainfall was 165 mm along the 4 months. Before the beginning of the experimental period, all animals were kept under a continuous grazing system (200 ha) with *ad libitum* mineral salt and water from natural ponds. The pasture was mostly composed by native species, as Uruguayan rice grass (*Piptochaetium montevidensis*), Spanish clover (*Desmodium incanum*), strongback (*Desmodium adscendens*), rescue grass (*Bromus catharticus*), cane grass (*Eragrostis plana*), Australian jointvetch (*Aeschynomene falcata*), and beard grass (*Andropogon bicornis*).

Study Description

The area of the experiment (32 ha) was equally divided into eight paddocks, with similar pasture botanical composition (as described), natural shade (trees), and mineral salt mix offered *ad libitum*. The eight paddocks were randomly allocated to one of the treatments: POND treatment, four paddocks had water available in a pond of \sim 30 m of diameter. TROUGH treatment, four paddocks had water available in a round water trough made of polythene (120 cm diameter and 60 cm high and 500 L capacity; Tigre[®], Joinville, SC, Brazil). The water from one of the ponds was pumped to a 2,000-L reservoir and then distributed by gravity to the water troughs. A floating ball controlled the water level of the troughs.

A total of 48 beef steers, crossbred of Nelore and Hereford, with average age of 15 months and weighting 189.1 ± 35.35 kg were used. Animals were blocked by body weight and randomly allocated to one of the eight groups of six. Then, the groups were randomly assigned to one of the eight paddocks. All animals were identified by ear tags and coat color and were individually marked with numbers on their sides with black livestock markers (Raidex[®], Dettingen; Erms, Germany). Animals from both treatments had no experience with the water trough before the study.

Measurements

Weight Gain and Dry Matter Intake

Animals were individually weighed (individual scale CAUDURO 40100–1,500 kg, Cachoeira do Sul; Brazil) located next to the paddocks at the beginning of the study (Day 0) and on days 30, 60, and 90, always at 9:00 h, after 3 h of fasting. The average daily gain (ADG) was determined by the difference between weights on Day 30, Day 60, and Day 90 divided by the number of days between each measurement (i.e., 30).

Behavior and Distribution

Animal behavior was directly recorded in three periods of 4 consecutive days (named Month 1, Month 2, and Month 3), starting in the day after each weighing on days 30, 60, and 90. In the first 2 days of each period, two groups of each treatment were observed simultaneously from 6:00 to 12:30 h on day 1 and from 12:30 to 19:00 h on day 2. On days 3 and 4, the same procedure was made with the remaining two groups of each treatment. That is, each group was observed for 13 h per period. Four observers watched different groups simultaneously. The observers were trained before the study to ensure interobserver reliability (23), and they were balanced across groups and treatments, in order that every observer recorded equally both treatments. The four observers were the same throughout the entire study.

Behaviors were recorded every 10 min using the instantaneous scan sampling technique (23, 24). The behaviors observed were grazing (animal with the mouth below or at the level of the forage or grabbing forage, may be stationary or moving forward), ruminating (animal chewing with lateral jaw movements with the head at the same level or above its body, lying or standing), walking (animal moving, with the head above the superior level of the forage), and other (any other behavior not described above, such as mineral salt and water ingestion and interacting with other animals), according to the definitions adopted by the Laboratory of Applied Ethology and Animal Welfare (LETA) of the Federal University of Santa Catarina (7).

All events of animal licking and ingesting salt were recorded by continuous observation. The number and duration of drinking bouts were also recorded. All events of drinking (i.e., drinking bout) were defined as the beginning to the end of submerging lips in water with perceivable swallowing movements at the throat.

Location of the animals in the paddock (shade, pasture, or water source) was recorded every 20 min. The animal was considered in the shade when the head and most of its body was covered by the shade; at the water source, when standing or lying at <5 m from the water source.

Water Intake, Water Temperature, and Climatic Parameters

Daily water intake was measured during 16 random days of the experiment (on days 32, 39, 40, 45, 51, 52, 60, 61, 65, 66, 67, 68, 79, 85, 86, and 87). Only water intake from TROUGH treatment was recorded. During these days, the volume of water required to fill the trough in 24 h was measured using a flow meter (Tecnobrás[®], Brazil; precision of 0.01 L) attached to the water inlet.

During the behavior observation days, the temperature of water from ponds and troughs was measured every 2 h from 7:00 to 19:00 h, using floating thermometers (Dolphin[®], Guangdong, China) submerged at ~4 cm under water surface. If an animal was drinking water at the same moment of water temperature measurement, the observer waited until the animal gets a distance from the water source. Daily climatic parameters were obtained from the Meteorological Station of *Fundação Estadual de Pesquisa Agropecuária* (FEPAGRO) in the city of São Gabriel.

Dry Matter of Fecal and Herbage Sampling

The collection of fecal samples was carried out between 7 am and 9 am of the following day after the behavior observations, with the animals in their respective paddocks. The sample was collected close to the soil, immediately after defecation, disregarding the bottom and top parts. Fecal samples were placed in identified sterile plastic bags and were stored at -18° C. To obtain the DM content, the samples were placed in an aluminum tray, weighed and oven dried at 100° C for 48 h, and then weighed again.

Right after the collection of fecal sampling, pasture sampling was carried out. Five herbage samples of 0.25 m² were randomly collected from each paddock (25). The samples were cut close to the ground and immediately placed in identified sterile plastic bags and stored at -18° C. To obtain DM contents of herbage, samples were placed in identified paper bags and dried in forced circulation oven at 60° C for 48 h (26).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated using Microsoft[®] Excel[®] for Windows. Data from water intake of TROUGH treatment measured during 16 random days were grouped into two periods, where Months 1-2 covered data collected from days 32 to 59 and Months 2-3 covered data collected from days 60 to 87. The total amount of water drank during 24 h in each paddock was divided by 6 to achieve an average of water consumption/animal/day. ADG, final body weight, water temperature, water intake, and DM of fecal and herbage data were analyzed using Generalized Linear Mixed Models (Proc Glimmix) of Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) 9.3. Models included treatment and period as fixed effect. The interaction between treatment and period was removed from the models as it was not significant (P > 0.10). In the models for ADG, final body weight, and DM of fecal, animal was used as the experimental unit. In models for water temperature, water intake, and DM of herbage, paddock was used as the experimental unit. For water intake and DM of herbage, gamma was included as the type of distribution.

The frequency of grazing, ruminating, walking, and other behavior; the frequency of position of the animal in the paddock (shade, pasture, or water source); the frequency of events drinking water and licking and ingesting mineral salt; and the duration of drinking bouts were also analyzed using Generalized Linear Mixed Models (Proc Glimmix) of SAS. Models included treatment and period as fixed effect. With exception of ruminating behavior and the duration of drinking bouts, interactions between treatment and period were included in the models as they were significant ($P \le 0.05$). Animal within paddock was used as the experimental unit, and gamma was TABLE 1 | Effect of treatment and period on ADG, water temperature, and DM of fecal and herbage sampling (LSM ± SEM).

	Treatment		Period			Statistics				
	POND	TROUGH	s.e.m.	Month 1	Month 2	Month 3	s.e.m.	Treatment	Period	Treatment × period
ADG* (kg/day)	0.34y	0.44x	0.037	0.47a	0.50a	0.21b	0.036	≤0.007	≤0.001	NS
Mean water temperature (°C)	28.7	29.3	0.46	29.7	28.1	29.2	0.57	NS	NS	NS
DM of fecal (%)	17.6x	16.1y	0.26	16.4	17.0	17.1	0.30	≤0.0001	NS	NS
DM of herbage (%)	45.5	47.7	1.40	42.6b	46.3b	51.3a	1.72	NS	≤0.01	NS

NS, non-significant; ADG, average daily gain; DM, dry matter; s.e.m, standard error of means. Different letters "a, b" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between periods of observation. "x, y" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between treatments.

included as the type of distribution. Results are reported as least square means (LSM) with the associated standard error of means (SEM). Statistical differences are reported when $P \le 0.05$, and tendencies were reported when $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

RESULTS

Weight Gain and Dry Matter Intake

TROUGH steers had higher (29%) ADG than POND steers (P = 0.007; **Table 1**). ADG was lower on Month 3 than Month 1 and Month 2 ($P \le 0.0001$; **Table 1**) in both treatments. Despite that the initial body weights were similar in all groups (189.1 \pm 35.35 Kg; P > 0.05), TROUGH steers (228.2 \pm 1.50 kg) were heavier than POND steers (219.4 \pm 1.50; $P \le 0.0001$) at the end of the study.

Behavior and Distribution

Treatment did not affect the ruminating time (P > 0.05), but it was lower on Months 2 (18.4 \pm 0.87) and 3 (20.0 \pm 0.94) than on Month 1 (27.2 \pm 1.28; *P* \leq 0.05). For grazing, walking, and other behavior, there were interactions between treatment and period of observation ($P \le 0.05$; Figure 1). On Month 2, TROUGH steers spent more time grazing than POND steers ($P \le 0.05$); in contrast, POND steers spent more time grazing than TROUGH steers on Month 3 (P < 0.05). Both treatments increased grazing time throughout the study ($P \leq 0.05$). Walking time differed between treatments in all periods of behavior observation ($P \leq$ 0.05). Within treatment, walking time was higher on Months 1 and 2 for POND steers, while it was lower on Month 3 (P <0.05). Other behaviors, which included any other behavior not previously mentioned, such as mineral salt and water ingestion and interaction between animals, differed between treatments in Month 2 ($P \le 0.05$). Within treatments, POND steers spent more time performing other behaviors on Month 2, while TROUGH steers spent more time in other behaviors on Month 1 compared to the other periods of behavior observation ($P \le 0.05$).

There were interactions between treatment and period of behavior observation on the number of events of animal licking and ingesting salt and number of drinking bouts (**Figure 2**). The number of events of animal licking and ingesting salt of POND steers was higher on Month 1 than Months 2 and 3 ($P \le 0.05$), while it remained constant for TROUGH steers (P > 0.05). In Month 3, animals in the TROUGH treatment had a higher number of drinking bouts than in the POND treatment

 $(P \le 0.05)$. The number of drinking bouts of TROUGH steers increased throughout the study ($P \le 0.05$), while it remained constant for POND steers (P > 0.05). There was no interaction between treatment and period of behavior observation on the duration of drinking bouts (P > 0.05). However, drinking bouts were longer in POND steers (59.2 ± 3.32) than TROUGH steers (43.5 ± 3.19 ; $P \le 0.001$) and both treatments had longer drinking events in Month 1 (65.9 ± 4.49) than Month 2 (47.6 ± 3.73) and Month 3 (40.5 ± 3.45 ; $P \le 0.001$).

The effect of treatment and period on animal distribution on paddock is presented in **Figure 3**. POND steers spent a similar time on shade during the three periods of behavior observation, which was similar for time spent on pasture and near to water source (P > 0.05). In contrast, TROUGH steers spent more time on pasture on Month 2, which was balanced with less time on shade and water source in this respective month ($P \le 0.05$).

Water Intake, Water Temperature, and Climatic Parameters

Period of data collection did not affect the water intake of TROUGH treatment (P > 0.05). During the recording days, TROUGH steers drank 12.5 \pm 0.87 L/animal/day (P > 0.05).

Averages of minimum and maximum air temperature were calculated for the months of January (min 19.6 \pm 2.5°C; max 31.1 \pm 2.6°C), February (17.5 \pm 1.6°C; max 29.8 \pm 2.1°C), March (17.1 \pm 3.5°C; max 28.3 \pm 4.3°C), and April (17.7 \pm 2.4°C; max 29.3 \pm 2.1°C). Total rainfall during the 4 months was 165 mm, distributed in 21 days (January: 22.4 mm/5 rain days; February: 33.5 mm/4 rain days; March: 29.5 mm/4 rain days; April: 80.2 mm/8 rain days).

Minimum water temperature was not affected by treatment; however, it was lower on Month 2 than on Month 1 and Month 3 ($P \le 0.001$, **Table 1**). In contrast, period did not affect the maximum water temperature, although it was higher on the TROUGH than on the POND treatment ($P \le 0.05$; **Table 1**). Average water temperature was not affected by treatment or by period ($29.0 \pm 0.49^{\circ}$ C; P > 0.05; **Table 1**).

Dry Matter of Fecal and Herbage Sampling

TROUGH steers presented lower fecal DM than POND steers ($P \le 0.0001$; **Table 1**), without effect of period or interaction on fecal DM (P > 0.05). In contrast, herbage DM was not affected by treatment (P > 0.05) but by period, being higher on Month 3 than on Months 1 and 2 in both treatments ($P \le 0.01$; **Table 1**).



FIGURE 1 | Effect of treatment and period on steer behavior (least square means \pm s.e.m.). Grazing, walking, and other behaviors are expressed in least square means \pm s.e.m. of the percentage of animals performing each behavior on the three periods of observation. Different letters "a, b, c" represent significant differences ($P \leq 0.05$) between periods of observation within treatment. "*" represents significant differences ($P \leq 0.05$) between treatments within the period of observation.



FIGURE 2 | Effect of treatment and period on the number of events of animal licking and ingesting salt and number and duration of drinking bouts. The number of events of animal licking and ingesting salt and drinking bouts is expressed in least square means of the number of events per animal per period of observation. The duration of drinking bouts is expressed in least square means of the duration (s) of events per animal per treatment or period of observation. Different letters "a, b" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between periods of observation.



DISCUSSION

The findings of this study showed that water supplied in a trough rather than in a pond has positive effects on animal performance and behavior. Although having the same body weight at the beginning of the study, TROUGH steers had an ADG 29% higher than POND during the experiment and were 4% heavier at the end of the study. Our findings confirm the previous study showing that cattle drinking clean water delivered to a trough gained 23% more weight than cattle drinking from a dugout (9). Similarly, yearling heifers gained 23% more weight when drinking clean water delivered to a trough than those drinking directly from a pond and 20% more than those drinking pond water pumped to a trough (5). Cows and calves with off-stream water also gained more weight than no-off stream animals (27). Brew et al. (28) reported that water intake of beef cattle is positively correlated with feed intake and ADG, which are in line with our findings as steers from both treatment reduced ADG and drinking time throughout the study.

Despite that grazing time was longer on POND treatment on Month 3, the difference of final body weight between treatments may be due to the fact that TROUGH steers increased their grazing time from Month 2, while POND steers only showed an increase on Month 3 compared to the beginning of the study. A previous study also reported an effect of water source on grazing time: cattle with access to clean water also spent more time grazing and less time resting than animals receiving pond water pumped to a trough and those with direct access into the pond (5). In our study, a systematic approach to ensuring similar pasture availability and consumption was not carried out, so it was not possible to affirm that nutrition did not influence weight gain.

DM intake is the most important factor for water intake in bovines (29), followed by milk production, sodium intake, and high temperatures (6). Earlier studies reported a positive correlation between water intake and DM intake (6, 29-31) and salt ingestion (6, 32). Animals under water deprivation have a reduction in food consumption and an increase in urine concentration (33). In contrast, cows accelerate drinking water intake to excrete a large amount of potassium and nitrogen into urine in excess of their needs (34). Despite that DM of herbage mass increased throughout the study in both treatments, the water intake from the TROUGH steers was not affected by the period of the study. Paddocks were set up on the same pasture, and the herbage content of both treatments was equal, as shown in Table 1; therefore, the higher fecal DM of POND steers could indicate that this group had a lower water intake than TROUGH steers. Moreover, fecal DM did not follow the increase in DM of herbage between periods, suggesting an effect of treatments on the moisture content of the feces.

The duration of drinking bouts was longer in steers with access to POND than in TROUGH. Besides that, the number of drinking bouts increased on steers with access to TROUGH in the following periods, being higher than POND in the last period of behavior observation. It has been shown, in a number of experiments reported in a systematic review, that an increased frequency of drinking water resulted in increased weight gain in beef cattle and milk production in dairy cows (35), as was found in this experiment. The increase in the number of drinking bouts of steers with access to TROUGH in this study could be due to animal adaptation to the new type of water source. In the Bagshaw et al. (36) study, beef cattle in the grazing system also increased the use of trough over time.

Water intake by cattle can be affected by other factors including weather conditions, water quality, and height of the

water trough. Increased THI (temperature-humidity index) resulted in cows drinking more water, spending more time at the drinker, making more visits to the drinker, and competing more at the drinker (37). Among other characteristics, cattle can discriminate for and select water based on organic solid contents (38) and they reduce water intake due to suspended particulate matter that can influence its appearance, odor, taste, and physical and chemical properties (39). Also, they have an aversion to drink water containing feces (5). In the case of the present study, animals could enter in POND water. Therefore, it was prone to manure contamination from both erosion of the soil adjacent and direct defecation and urination into the water by drinking animals (40). However, despite that suspended particulate matter could be higher on POND treatment, the chemical composition and microbiological quality of water from both treatments did not differ, as water of the troughs was pumped from the pond.

While in POND treatment water was offered at the ground level, in TROUGH it was 60 cm high. In the study of Machado Filho et al. (2), the cows drank more water from a larger and higher trough, also 60 cm high, when they had access for 24 h than on the smaller version (30 cm height). Likewise, beef heifers preferred and drank more from a 60-cm-height round plastic trough than from a 50-cm-height squared concrete trough (4), and dairy cows took more sips, spent more time drinking, and drank more water from higher (60-cm) and larger troughs than small ones (30-cm-height) (3, 41).

The current study was conducted during the hottest months of the summer, under high temperatures, and the average of maximum air temperatures was above 28°C. Temperature and humidity have a direct relationship with cattle water consumption (32, 37, 42). Month 2 of behavior observation was the month with the lowest minimum and maximum air temperatures compared to the other 2 months. Apparently, differences in weather conditions among months did not change POND steers' spatial distribution. However, in Month 2 TROUGH steers spent less time near the shade or water source, therefore spending more time on pasture. In fact, TROUGH steers grazed longer in Month 2, therefore spending more time on pasture. Conversely, in Month 3 POND steers spent more time on pasture and less time in shade than TROUGH steers, and they also grazed longer in this period. These results are unlikely to be explained by the weather conditions but might be related to water intake, once dry matter intake is closely related to water (13).

The availability of shade is essential for grazing animals, and their absence can reduce their well-being (43) and modify their behavior; that is, cows can spend more time around the water source when the shade is unavailable or insufficient (44). In addition, the quantity of forage in the field is likely to alter cattle behavior around water sources (36). In the present study, it was not possible to control the distance between the shade and the water sources (pond or trough), but this could explain the difference between treatments on their spatial distribution throughout this study. The location of the trough seems to be one of the critical factors affecting drinking behavior by cattle (7, 36).

Mean water temperature did not differ between TROUGH and POND treatments. Therefore, the differences found in this study are unlikely to be due to water temperature. Previous studies have reported that beef cattle drink more warm than cold water (45). This finding was later confirmed on dairy calves (46), lactating dairy cows (47), sheep (48), and goats (49).

CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates that water available in trough rather than ponds has positive effects on steer performance and affects beef cattle behavior. Steers supplied with water on trough gained more weight and were heavier than the other group of animals at the end of the study. In general, POND steers spent more time drinking water but TROUGH steers increased the number of drinking events throughout the study, suggesting an adaptation for the new type of water source.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because at the time of fieldwork, Brazil didn't have any regulation requiring previous evaluation from Ethics Committee for non-invasive studies. Even though the activities of the experiment followed conduct respectful to the welfare of the

REFERENCES

- Sheffield RE, Mostaghimi S, Vaughan D, Collins E Jr, Allen V. Off-stream water sources for grazing cattle as a stream bank stabilization and water quality BMP. *Trans ASAE*. (1997) 40:595–604. doi: 10.13031/2013.21318
- Machado Filho LP, Teixeira D, Weary D, Von Keyserlingk M, Hötzel M. Designing better water troughs: dairy cows prefer and drink more from larger troughs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2004) 89:185–93. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.07.002
- Teixeira DL, Hötzel MJ, Machado Filho LCP. Designing better water troughs:
 2. surface area and height, but not depth, influence dairy cows' preference. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2006) 96:169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.06.003
- Coimbra PAD, Machado Filho LCP, Nunes PA, Hötzel MJ, de Oliveira AL, Cecato U. Effect of water trough type on the drinking behaviour of pasturebased beef heifers. *Animal.* (2010) 4:116–21. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990930
- Willms WD, Kenzie OR, McAllister TA, Colwell D, Veira D, Wilmshurst JF, et al. Effects of water quality on cattle performance. *J Range Manage*. (2002) 55:452–60. doi: 10.2307/4003222
- Murphy MR, Davis CL, McCoy GC. Factors affecting water consumption by Holstein cows in early lactation. J Dairy Sci. (1983) 66:35–8. doi: 10.3168/jds.S.0022-0302(83)81750-0
- Coimbra PAD, Machado Filho LCP, Hötzel MJ. Effects of social dominance, water trough location and shade availability on drinking behaviour of cows on pasture. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 139:175–82. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.04.009
- Hötzel MJ, Teixeira DL, Machado Filho LCP. A hierarquia social e o regime de oferta influenciam o consumo de água em bovinos leiteiros. *Rev Bras Agroecol.* (2013) 8:84–91. Available online at: http://revistas.aba-agroecologia.org.br/ index.php/rbagroecologia/article/view/13010
- 9. Willms W, Kenzie O, Mir Z, Quinton D. Effects of water supplied from old dugouts on the performance of cattle. In: *Fifth International Rangeland Congress, Salt Lake City, UT.* (1995).

animals involved according to Brazilian Federal Law No. 11.794 of October 8, 2008, later approved, which regulates use of animals in research. Animals were individually weighed following the routine of the farm, and the only direct intervention was marking animals using nontoxic markers for identification in the field. The other activities during the experiment were restricted to visual observation. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LP and GB conceived, planned, designed the experiment, and wrote the manuscript. GB and DT made the data collection and fieldwork. DT performed statistical analysis and contributed to the manuscript. LP, GB, and DT interpreted data. All the authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

GB was sponsored by CNPq (National Council for Scientific and Technological Development, Brazil).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Angela Maria Schenato Bica and Carlito Bica for supporting and opening their farm to this research.

- Lardner H, Kirychuk B, Braul L, Willms W, Yarotski J. The effect of water quality on cattle performance on pasture. *Crop Pasture Sci.* (2005) 56:97–104. doi: 10.1071/AR04086
- Utley P, Bradley N, Boling J. Effect of restricted water intake on feed intake, nutrient digestibility and nitrogen metabolism in steers. J Anim Sci. (1970) 31:130–5. doi: 10.2527/jas1970.31 1130x
- Ali A, Mustafa M, Bilal M, Muhammad G, Lateef M, Ullah S. Effect of watering frequency on feed intake, milk production and composition in Sahiwal cattle during summer. *J Anim Plant Sci.* (2015) 25:19–22. Available online at: http:// thejaps.org.pk/docs/v-25-01/03.pdf
- 13. NRC (2016). Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- RSPCA (2020). RSPCA Welfare Standards for Beef Cattle. Available online at: http://www.rspca.org.uk/sciencegroup/farmanimals/standards (accessed March 30, 2020).
- 15. Reyes J, Garcia Trujillo R, Vidal I, Font D. Effect of drinking water in paddocks on the performance of Holstein cattle and star grass. *Rev CubanaCiencia Agricola*. (1996) 30:263.
- 16. Kamphues J. Water requirement of food-producing animals and pets. *DTW Deutsche Tierarztliche Wochenschrift*. (2000) 107:297–302.
- Ganskopp D. Manipulating cattle distribution with salt and water in large arid-land pastures: a GPS/GIS assessment. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2001) 73:251–62. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(01) 00148-4
- Miller J, Curtis T, Rogness D, Willms W, Chanasyk D. Influence of offstream watering systems on cattle behaviour adjacent to Lower Little Bow River in Southern Alberta. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 209:14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2018.09.004
- Johnson DE, Clark P, Larson L, Wilson K, Louhaichi M, Freeburg T, et al. Cattle use of off-stream water developments across a northeastern Oregon landscape. J Soil Water Conserv. (2016) 71:494–502. doi: 10.2489/jswc.71.6.494

- Schütz KE, Huddart FJ, Cox NR. Manure contamination of drinking water influences dairy cattle water intake and preference. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2019) 217:16-20. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2019.05.005
- Davies-Colley RJ, Nagels JW, Smith RA, Young RG, Phillips CJ. Water quality impact of a dairy cow herd crossing a stream. NZ J Mar Freshwater Res. (2004) 38:569–76. doi: 10.1080/00288330.2004.9517262
- O'Callaghan PM, Kelly-Quinn E, Jennings P, Antunes M, O'Sullivan O, Fenton O. The environmental impact of cattle access to watercourses: a review. *J Environ Qual.* (2019) 48:340–51. doi: 10.2134/jeq2018.04.0167
- 23. Lehner PN. Handbook of Ethological Methods. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1996).
- 24. Altmann J. Observational study of behaviour: sampling method. *Behaviour*. (1974) 49:227–67. doi: 10.1163/156853974X00534
- 25. Gardner A. Técnicas de pesquisa em pastagens e aplicabilidade de resultados em sistemas de produção. Brasília: IICA/EMBRAPA (1986).
- Sollenberger L, Cherney D. Evaluating forage production and quality. *Forages Sci Grassland Agric*. (1995) 2:97–110.
- Porath M, Momont P, DelCurto T, Rimbey N, Tanaka J, McInnis M. Offstream water and trace mineral salt as management strategies for improved cattle distribution. *J Anim Sci.* (2002) 80:346–56. doi: 10.2527/2002. 802346x
- Brew MN, Myer RO, Hersom MJ, Carter JN, Elzo MA, Hansen GR, et al. Water intake and factors affecting water intake of growing beef cattle. *Livestock Sci.* (2011) 140:297–300. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2011.03.030
- Senn M, Gross-Lüem S, Kaufmann A, Langhans W. Effect of water deprivation on eating patterns of lactating cows fed grass and corn pellets ad lib. *Physiol. Behav.* (1996) 60:1413–8. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(96)00304-6
- Andersson M, Lindgren K. Effects of restricted access to drinking water at feeding, and social rank, on performance and behaviour of tied-up dairy cows. *Swedish J Agric Res.* (1987) 17:83.
- 31. NRC (2001). Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Meyer U, Everinghoff M, Gädeken D, Flachowsky G. Investigations on the water intake of lactating dairy cows. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (2004) 90:117–21. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2004.03.005
- Burgos MS, Senn M, Sutter F, Kreuzer M, Langhans W. Effect of water restriction on feeding and metabolism in dairy cows. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Compar Physiol.* (2001) 280:418–27. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.2001.280. 2.R418
- Kume S, Nonaka K, Oshita T, Kozakai T. Evaluation of drinking water intake, feed water intake and total water intake in dry and lactating cows fed silages. *Livestock Sci.* (2010) 128:46–51. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009. 10.012
- Williams LR, Jackson EL, Bishop-Hurley GJ, Swain DL. Drinking frequency effects on the performance of cattle: a systematic review. *J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr.* (2017) 101:1076–92. doi: 10.1111/jpn. 12640
- Bagshaw CS, Thorrold B, Davison M, Duncan IJ, Matthews LR. The influence of season and of providing a water trough on stream use by beef cattle grazing hill-country in New Zealand. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:155–66. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.004

- McDonald PV, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Hot weather increases competition between dairy cows at the drinker. J Dairy Sci. (2020) 103:3447– 58. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-17456
- Dohi H, Ogura S, Kosako T, Hayashi Y, Yamada A, Shioya S. Separation of deterrents to ingestive behavior of cattle from cattle feces. J Anim Sci. (1999) 77:756–61. doi: 10.2527/1999.773756x
- Wright CL. Management of water quality for beef cattle. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (2007) 23:91–103. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2006.12.002
- Lardner HA, Braul L, Schwartzkopf-Genswein K, Schwean-Lardner K, Damiran D, Darambazar E. Consumption and drinking behavior of beef cattle offered a choice of several water types. *Livestock Sci.* (2013) 157:577–85. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.08.016
- Teixeira DL, Hötzel MJ, Machado Filho LCP, Hidalgo DE, Cazale JD. Aspectos Etológicos no suprimento de água em bovinos leiteiros. *Biotemas*. (2009) 22:193–8. doi: 10.5007/2175-7925.2009v22n4p193
- Rouda R, Anderson D, Wallace J, Murray L. Free-ranging cattle water consumption in southcentral New Mexico. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (1994) 39:29–38. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(94)90013-2
- Schütz KE, Cox NR, Matthews LR. How important is shade to dairy cattle? Choice between shade or lying following different levels of lying deprivation. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 114:307–18. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.04.001
- Schütz K, Rogers A, Poulouin Y, Cox N, Tucker C. The amount of shade influences the behavior and physiology of dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 93:125–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2416
- Lofgreen G, Givens R, Morrison S, Bond T. Effect of drinking water temperature on beef cattle performance. J Anim Sci. (1975) 40:223–9. doi: 10.2527/jas1975.402223x
- Huuskonen A, Tuomisto L, Kauppinen R. Effect of drinking water temperature on water intake and performance of dairy calves. J Dairy Sci. (2011) 94:2475–80. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3723
- Osborne V, Hacker R, McBride B. Effects of heated drinking water on the production responses of lactating Holstein and Jersey cows. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2002) 82:267–73. doi: 10.4141/A01-055
- Shiga A. The effect of drinking water temperature in winter on water, magnesium and calcium metabolisms in ewes. *Jpn J Vet Sci.* (1986) 48:893–99. doi: 10.1292/jvms1939.48.893
- Olsson K, Hydbring E. The preference for warm drinking water induces hyperhydration in heat-stressed lactating goats. *Acta Physiol Scand.* (1996) 157:109–14. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201X.1996.d01-727.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bica, Pinheiro Machado Filho and Teixeira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

129

Bica et al





Preventive Hoof Trimming and Animal-Based Welfare Measures Influence the Time to First Lameness Event and Hoof Lesion Prevalence in Dairy Cows

Mohammed B. Sadiq¹, Siti Z. Ramanoon^{1,2*}, Wan Mastura M. Shaik Mossadeq^{2,3}, Rozaihan Mansor^{1,2} and Sharifah S. Syed-Hussain⁴

¹ Department of Farm and Exotic Animal Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ² Center of Excellence (Ruminant), Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ³ Department of Veterinary Pre-Clinical Science, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ⁴ Department of Veterinary Clinical Studies, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Carlos Pinheiro Machado F°, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Giuliana Miguel-Pacheco, Independent Researcher, Nottingham, United Kingdom Benjamin Lecorps, University of British Columbia, Canada

> *Correspondence: Siti Z. Ramanoon sramanoon@upm.edu.my

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 21 November 2020 Accepted: 18 May 2021 Published: 11 June 2021

Citation:

Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WMM, Mansor R and Syed-Hussain SS (2021) Preventive Hoof Trimming and Animal-Based Welfare Measures Influence the Time to First Lameness Event and Hoof Lesion Prevalence in Dairy Cows. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:631844. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.631844

Background: The objectives of this study were to, (1) investigate the impact of the Dutch five-step hoof trimming (HT) technique on time to lameness and hoof lesion prevalence in grazing (GR) and non-grazing (NGR) dairy cows, and (2) determine the association between potential benefits of HT and animal-based welfare measures during lactation. A total of 520 non-lame cows without hoof lesions from 5 dairy farms (GR = 2, NGR = 3) were enrolled at early (within 30 days in milk; DIM) and late lactation (above 200 DIM), and randomly allocated to either trimmed (HGR or HNGR) or control groups (CON-GR and CON-NGR). Locomotion scores, body condition, hock condition, leg hygiene, and hoof health were assessed at monthly intervals until the following 270 days in milk. The data were analyzed using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis, multivariable Cox, and logistic regression models. The overall incidence rate of lameness was 36.2 cases/100 cows/month, with corresponding rates of 27.4, 31.9, 48.4, and 45.8 cases/100 cows/month in HGR, HNGR, CON-GR, and CON-NGR, respectively. Time to first lameness event was significantly higher in HGR (mean \pm S.E; 8.12 \pm 0.15) compared to CON-GR (7.36 \pm 0.26), and in HNGR (8.05 \pm 0.16) compared to CON-NGR (7.39 \pm 0.23). The prevalence of hoof lesions in the enrolled cows was 36.9%, with a higher occurrence in CON-GR (48.8%) than HGR (23.2%), and in CON-NGR (52.6%) compared to HNGR (32.2%). The majority of hoof lesions were non-infectious in grazing (HGR vs. CON-GR; 21.3 vs. 33.3%) and nongrazing herds (HNGR vs. CON-NGR; 25.0 vs. 40.4%). The risk of lameness was higher in underconditioned cows (Hazard ratio; HR = 3.1, 95% CI 1.2-7.4), presence of hoof lesion (HR = 33.1, 95% Cl 17.6–62.5), and there was variation between farms. Aside HT, lower parity (OR = 0.4, 95% CI 0.2-0.8), normal hock condition (OR = 0.06; 95% 0.01-0.29), and absence of overgrown hoof (OR = 0.4; 95% 0.2-0.7) were protective against non-infectious hoof lesions. Functional HT is beneficial as a lameness preventive strategy during lactation; however, ensuring older cows are in good body condition and free from hock injuries are equally important.

Keywords: lameness, hoof lesions, hoof trimming, animal welfare, dairy cows

INTRODUCTION

Lameness is amongst the 3 most common health issues affecting dairy cows after mastitis and infertility (1, 2). It remains a financial burden to dairy farmers, with significant economic loss attributed to impaired milk yield, low reproduction performance, high culling risk, and treatment costs (3-5). Most lameness cases involve hoof pathologies, although their presence may not elicit detectable changes in cows' gait (4, 6). Thus, lameness may be seen as an indicator of hoof lesion, which is often painful and contributes to the poor welfare of dairy cattle (7, 8).

Animal-based welfare measures (ABWM) are vital parameters in assessing the well-being and performance of dairy cows (9). For instance, individual cow characteristics such as body condition, leg hygiene, hock condition, and lying behavior have been associated with lameness levels on dairies (6, 7, 10). Cowlevel factors relating to body condition including combined depth of the digital cushion and corium influenced the development of hoof horn disruptive lesions during lactation (11, 12). However, there is a scarcity of data regarding the variation of these measures with intervention targeted on lameness control. Moreover, ABWM need to be monitored during lactation to identify the variation of welfare outcomes and developing appropriate management plans (13).

Lameness levels vary under different management systems, with studies reporting higher prevalence in non-grazing or confined cows than those kept on pasture-based herds (14, 15). Factors such as prolonged standing time, reduced lying time, and little exercise were suggested to enhance the development of hoof lesions in confined and non-grazing dairy cows (16). These events contribute to detrimental hoof traits including disproportionate heel height, too-long dorsal wall, greater imbalance in weight distribution between the front and hind hooves (3, 17), and increasing the need for preventive or curative hoof trimming (HT) (18).

The five-step Dutch method (i.e., functional trimming) is widely practiced in the dairy industry (19). The HT technique advocates for relatively leveled abaxial and axial walls of the claw, and they are presented perpendicular to the metatarsals (17). Few authors have reported the benefits of functional HT as a lameness control strategy on dairies. Cows that were trimmed at mid-lactation had a lower incidence of lameness (20) and lower odds of hoof lesions (21) compared to control groups. The incidence of hoof horn lesions was significantly lower in farms conducting preventive HT compared to farms lacking such practice (20), while cows trimmed at late lactation had lower odds of developing sole ulcers in the subsequent lactation (21). However, based on the study designs and lack of information on previous lameness events, lesion history, and characteristics of the enrolled cows, attributing better hoof health to preventive HT is limited. Additionally, the benefits of preventive HT as a lameness management strategy in cows managed under confined and grazing conditions have not been widely investigated. By enrolling cows with reliable information on lameness history and monitoring of ABWMs, variation in either lameness or hoof lesion levels can be identified, and targeted welfare management plans can be implemented. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to, (1) investigate the impact of the Dutch five-step HT technique on time to lameness and lesion prevalence in grazing (GR) and non-grazing (NGR) dairy cows, and (2) determine the animal-based factors that may influence the potential benefits of HT during lactation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Selection of Farms

This study is part of a large project including several observational studies on the epidemiology and effective preventive measures for lameness control in Malaysian dairy farms. A total of 14 dairy farmers from six states in Peninsular Malaysia were contacted via a phone and email directory obtained from the Divisional Department of Veterinary Services (DVS), and they were briefed about the study objectives, inclusion criteria, and methodology. The inclusion criteria entailed farmers' consent to participate, large herd size (>150 cows), adequate farms' health and production records, availability of HT chute (manual or hydraulic system), and either confined housing or provision of pasture access. Eight of the farmers agreed to participate. Upon farm visits, the herds were re-evaluated for compliance with the inclusion criteria, and five farms located in five states in Peninsular Malaysia (Selangor, Negeri Sembilan, Melaka, Johor, and Pahang) were finally enrolled in the study. The data collection took place from October 2018 to December 2019.

Farm Management Practices

Farm characteristics and management practices (e.g., herd size, number of milking cows, and number of staff, HT services, feeding pattern, cleaning frequency, milking technique, footbath usage, and animal source) were assessed through a structured interview with the farm owner or manager. The interview session was conducted by a single researcher in all the selected farms. Factors related to barn design (e.g., flooring type, floor cleanliness, and slipperiness, distance to milking point, stocking density) were evaluated using a modified farm inspection protocol developed by Grandin (22) and Solano et al. (23) as presented in **Supplementary Table 1**.

Two of the farms (Farm C and D) were categorized as GR herds based on the provision for external grazing for 3–6 h daily all year round. The other three farms (Farm A, B,

		Non-grazing		Grazing			
Factors	Farm A	Farm B	Farm E	Farm C	Farm D		
Stocking density	0.8 cow/stall	1.0 cow/stall	1.3 cow/stall	0.94 cow/stall	1.2 cow/stall		
Milking technique	Milking machine	Milking machine	Milking machine	Milking machine	Milking machine		
Cleaning frequency	Twice/day	>Twice/day	Twice/day	Twice/day	Twice/day		
Outdoor exercise	No	No	No	No	Yes		
Flooring-related factors							
Barn floor type	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM		
Walkway floor type	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM	Concrete/RM		
Slipperiness	Non-slippery	Non-slippery	Non-slippery	Non-slippery	Non-slippery		
Cleanliness	Clean	Dirty	Clean	Clean	Clean		
Cleaning method	Vehicular manual	Manual	Manual	Manual	Automated scrape		
Average distance from barn to milking point	30 m	45 m	50 m	40–60 m	65–80 m		
Source of replacement cows	Australia	Australia	Australia and local	Australia, Thailand, and local	Australia		
Hoof trimming practice	Except during treatment	Except during treatment	1/year	Except during treatment	2/year		
Footbath	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes		
305-day milk yield	4,230	3,355	3,050	3,250	5,490		
Herd size	125	180	252	350	2,800		
Number of milking cows	92	121	154	174	1,210		

TABLE 1 | Herd level factors of the non-grazing (n = 3) and grazing (n = 2) farms enrolled in the study.

RM, rubber mats.

and E) practiced the NGR system as cows were completely housed indoor all year round (**Table 1**). In addition to pasture access, Farm D had an outdoor exercise area with compost bedding. All the farms used fans as a heat-abatement strategy. Also, concrete floors with installed rubber mats were present at the holding, resting, and milking pens in all the enrolled farms. The herd size ranged from 125 to 2,800 cows, while the 305-day milk yield/cow ranged from 3,050 to 5,490 kg. Professional hoof trimmers were invited on a timely basis for the management of lame cows in four farms (Farm A, B, C, and E), and only one farm (Farm D) had on-farm hoof care and trimming unit.

Study Design and Sample Size Calculation

This study employed a prospective longitudinal approach including 4 cohort groups; hoof-trimmed from GR farms (HGR), hoof-trimmed from NGR farms (HNGR), non-trimmed/control from GR (CON-GR), non-trimmed/control from NGR (CON-NGR). Hence, each farm had a proportion of trimmed and nontrimmed cows. The cows were enrolled at early (within 30 DIM) or late lactation (≥200 DIM). The follow-up period was 9 months from enrollment, which was sufficient for the cows to be observed during the high-risk period for lameness in the present and subsequent lactation. Also, the period was selected considering the scheduled time for preventive HT in farm B. The required sample size per group was calculated by assuming a precision level of 5%, power of 80%, and expected lameness incidence of 40 and 20% in control groups from NGR and GR farms, respectively. The estimated sample size per group was increased from 110 to 120 animals to adjust for loss to follow-up, by assuming that 10% of the animals will be culled during the study period.

Cow Selection and Enrollment

The inclusion criteria entailed sound locomotion score (LS < 3), moderate BCS (2.5–4.0) based on the 5-point scoring scales developed by Sprecher et al. (24) and Vasseur et al. (25), respectively, presence of healthy hooves, and indications for maintenance HT (overgrown hoof, unbalanced sole surface, and disproportional heel height). On the first day of visits, all the lactating cows in each farm were assessed for locomotion scores. The cows were observed and assessed for locomotion scores one at a time while they exited the milking parlor. LS was recorded when cows completed a minimum of four steps and undisturbed while walking on a flat and non-slippery floor surface. Cows were considered for selection when presented with sound mobility (LS < 3) and farmers' consent for such animals remaining in the herd until the next lactation. Thereafter, lame cows and those affected with other health issues or had been treated using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and/or antibiotics 2 weeks before the visit were excluded.

The hoof health of the cows was examined. A multipurpose HT chute was present in four of the enrolled farms (Farms A, B, C, and D). To enable the cows to get accustomed to the trimming chute, they were allowed to walk through the facility when returning to resting barns after milking. This was conducted twice daily for 3 days before enrollment. In Farm E, cows were examined on a tilting table HT facility (hydraulic system). The cows' limbs were restrained and their hooves were assessed to ensure the absence of lesions before enrollment. The dorsal wall length was measured using a claw check device based on the distance from the proximal aspect of the perioplic horn to the distal end of the dorsal wall. Values ranging from 7 to 9 cm were considered normal, whereas values >9 cm were recorded as overgrown (26).

Other cows' characteristics such as leg hygiene and hock condition were recorded. Leg hygiene was measured using the 3-point scoring scale described by Vasseur et al. (27) where 1 = clean (absence of manure flecks on the lower limbs, upper limbs, and upper flank region), 2 = dirty (distinct splash of manure around the area), and 3 = very dirty (confluent plagues of manure). Hock condition was assessed by scoring (3-point scale) the fore and hind limbs based on the condition of the area around the tarsal (hock) and carpal (knee) joints, where 1 = healthy, 2 = balding or mild swelling, 3 = swollen or open wound (28).

Hoof Trimming and Animal Placement into Groups

Upon tossing a coin, the selected cows in each farm were randomly allocated into either the trimmed or control group. Cows selected for trimming were restrained in the HT facility and their hooves were trimmed using the five-step Dutch method (28). Briefly, overgrown hooves were identified, marked using a claw check, and reduced to normal length using a hoof nipper. The inner claw (medial claw) of the hindfoot was trimmed before proceeding to the outer claw (lateral claw) and vice versa for the front foot. A HT knife (Kruuse[®]) was used to pair and level the sole and heel region. For standardization, a little modification of the model described by other authors (29) was applied to pin-point the paring from axial to abaxial aspects of the claw (40 mm away). The cow enrollment and HT in farms A, C, D, and E were completed after 3 visits to each farm by the same veterinarian. In farm B, HT was conducted by the veterinarian and farms' professional hoof trimmers trained on how to apply the trimming technique employed in this study. For the control cows, indications for HT such as disproportionate heel height and unbalanced sole were not corrected.

Data Collection

The cows were assessed for locomotion scores, hock condition, BCS, and leg hygiene every month for 9 months study period. Lameness was defined as the manifestation of two successive locomotion scores of 3 or the first score of 4 or 5 (30). Cows fulfilling the lameness definition were immediately (on the day of lameness diagnosis) examined in the HT facility for hoof health. Thereafter, the lame cows were treated according to the farms' management protocol, which entailed a therapeutic trim, administration of a non-steroidal and anti-inflammatory drug, placement of hoof block on the healthy claw, and local antibiotic agent depending on the lesion type. The ICAR claw health atlas (31) was used as a guide for the lesion diagnosis. Lesions such as sole ulcer, sole hemorrhage, double sole, white line disease, toe ulcers, and thin sole were categorized as non-infectious lesions, whereas infectious lesions included digital dermatitis, interdigital dermatitis, heel horn erosion, and swollen coronet. Lesions such as corkscrew claw, interdigital hyperplasia, and wall fissures were categorized as "others." All the non-lame cows that remained in the study were examined for hoof lesions after the followup period.

Data Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using the IBM SPSS version 24.0 (Armonk, NY, USA: IBM Corp.). Descriptive statistics were used to simplify the characteristics of the enrolled cows. Mean and standard deviations were used to summarize the continuous variables, whereas categorical variables were presented in median, interquartile range, and percentages. The cows with complete locomotion scores and other animal-based measures either before censoring or throughout the study period were included in the final analysis. Those with missing data or culled before censoring or the end of the study period were not included. The outcomes (lameness incidence and lesion prevalence) were determined at cow levels using descriptive statistics. The incidence rate of lameness was calculated as the number of new cases divided by the total number of cows at risk multiplied by the time at risk. Lesion prevalence was calculated based on the total number of cows affected with either one or more hoof lesions to the total number of observed cows at the end of the study.

Survival analysis was used to evaluate lameness incidence in the trimmed and control groups. The time of lameness diagnosis was the date of the second successive lame locomotion score (LS = 3) or the first severe lameness score (LS = 4). The difference in time to lameness (measured in months) between the study groups was evaluated using Kaplan-Meier analysis. Univariable Cox proportional regression models were first constructed to evaluate the relationship between lameness incidence and the covariates: parity (first, second and greater parity), breed, DIM (>200 DIM and within 30 DIM during enrollment), HCS (normal, hair loss, and swelling/ulcer), leg hygiene (clean, dirty and very dirty) and BCS (\leq 2.5, 2.6–3.4, and \geq 3.5) and hoof overgrowth (present or absent). For the four latter covariates, records used in the regression analysis were the respective scores or observations either at the point of censoring (for lame cows) or at the end of the study period (for non-lame cows). Farms were introduced in the model as random effects. In the next stage, covariates were introduced into the multivariable cox proportional regression model if the P-value was <0.10. A forward conditional method was applied and changes in the remaining coefficients were checked as factors were added into the model. P-value <0.05 was used for the final model. Risk estimates were presented as hazard ratios with a 95% confidence interval. Interaction between farm groups and other predictors was checked. The proportional hazard function in the final model was assessed based on the Schoenfeld residuals test (32).

Hoof lesion prevalence was analyzed by including all the cows diagnosed with lameness during and at the end of the study period. The outcome was the odds for any hoof lesion either during or at the end of the follow-up period. Due to the low prevalence of infectious hoof lesions (<10%), analysis was only conducted for non-infectious types. Therefore, cows having a non-infectious hoof lesion and those without lesions were included in the regression models. Binary logistic regression models were conducted for all the enrolled cows. A similar two-step model building process described earlier was used to construct the final multivariable logistic regression models. Farms were considered as a random effect in the final model, whereas groups (trimmed vs. control) were treated as a fixed

		Non-graz	ing farms					
Factors	Farm A	Farm B	Farm E	Total (%)	Farm C	Farm D	Total (%)	Overall (%)
	Freq.	Freq.	Freq.		Freq.	Freq.		
Breed								
Friesian Sahiwal	52	75	69	196 (84.4)	79	90	169 (69.3)	365 (76.6)
Jersey Friesian	36	-	-	36 (15.6)	33	42	75 (30.7)	111 (23.4)
Parity								
1	40	61	18	119 (51.2)	29	37	66 (27.0)	185 (38.8)
2	40	14	43	97 (41.8)	60	63	123 (50.4)	220 (46.2)
≥3	8	0	8	16 (7.0)	23	32	55 (22.6)	71 (15.0)
BCS								
2.5–2.9	7	7	0	14 (6.0)	4	2	6 (2.4)	20 (4.2)
3.0–3.4	66	63	47	176 (75.8)	80	105	185 (75.8)	361 (75.8)
3.5–4.0	15	5	22	42 (18.1)	28	25	53 (21.7)	95 (19.9)
Hock condition								
Normal	68	65	56	189 (81.5)	104	110	214 (87.7)	403 (84.6)
Hair loss	19	10	12	41 (17.7)	8	21	29 (11.8)	70 (14.7)
Swelling/ulcer	1		1	2 (0.8)	0	1	1 (0.4)	3 (0.7)
Leg hygiene								
Normal	50	36	58	144 (62.1)	89	78	167 (64.3)	311 (65.3)
Dirty	24	35	11	70 (30.2)	22	40	62 (21.3)	132 (27.7)
Very dirty	14	4		18 (7.7)	1	14	15 (61.5)	33 (6.9)
Hoof overgrowth								
Absent	36	52	33	121 (52.2)	86	63	149 (61.6)	270 (56.7)
Present	52	23	36	111 (47.8)	26	69	95 (38.9)	206 (43.3)
Group								
Trimmed	45	35	38	118 (72.8)	89	71	160 (65.6)	278 (58.4)
Control	43	40	31	114 (27.2)	43	41	84 (34.4)	198 (21.6)
Trimmed foot (per cow)								
All	28	38	11	77 (65.3)	24	73	97 (60.1)	174 (36.5)
Both rear	9	_	24	33 (27.9)	46	9	55 (34.4)	88 (18.4)
Both rear and one front foot	8	_	-	8 (6.8)	-	8	8 (5.0)	16 (3.4)
Indication for HT								
Dorsal wall length	28	35	17	80 (67.7)	23	41	64 (40.0)	144 (51.7)
Heel height	4	2	1	7 (5.6)	22	37	59 (36.9)	66 (23.7)
Unbalanced sole	13	1	17	31 (26.3)	25	12	37 (23.1)	68 (24.4)
Days in Milk (Mean \pm SD)	92.0 ± 102.7	130.6 ± 115.3	148.2 ± 111.7	109.1 ± 111.4	117.8 ± 118.8	115.8 ± 113.4	126.5 ± 115.3	. ,

Freq., frequency; SD, standard deviation; HT, hoof trimming; BCS, body condition score.

Indications for HT and trimmed foot per cow were only presented for the trimmed cows in grazing and non-grazing farms.

effect. Biologically plausible interactions were checked in the main effects, however, none was retained (all predictors had P > 0.05). The final model fit was selected based on the lowest Akaike's information criterion.

RESULTS

Descriptive Analysis

A total of 520 cows were enrolled in the study (HGR = 170, CON-GR = 97; IS; HNGR = 124, CON-NGR = 129). However, 44 cows were either culled or had missing data during the study and were not included in the final analysis. Descriptive statistics

of the cows (n = 476) with complete data are presented in **Table 2**. The total number of enrolled cows in NGR herds was 232 with 72.8 and 27.2% in trimmed (HNGR) and control (CON-NGR), respectively. In GR herds, the proportion of cows in HGR and CON-GR were 65.6% (n = 160) and 34.4% (n = 84), respectively. The majority of the cows in both groups were Australian Friesian Sahiwal breed (GR vs. HGR; 69.3 vs. 84.4%), and equal proportions (75.8%) had BCS between 2.6 and 3.4 during enrollment. Also, both groups had similar proportions of cows with normal hock conditions, clean legs, and overgrown hooves. Overall, the major indication for HT was overgrown dorsal wall length (51.7%).



FIGURE 1 | Incidence rate of lameness in hoof-trimmed and control cows in non-grazing and grazing herds during the 9 month study period (M1 = first month post-enrollment, M9 = ninth month post-enrollment).

TABLE 3 | Time to first lameness event and lameness incidence rate in trimmed and control cows from grazing (n = 2) and non-grazing (n = 3) dairy farms.

	Time to first lameness (months)							
	Mean	S.E	95% CI	Chi-square	P-value	Lame cows	ATE	Incidence rate
Grazing cows								
HGR ^a	8.12	0.15	7.69-8.32	6.37	0.01	39	142.3	27.4/100
CON-GR ^b	7.36	0.26	6.86-7.87			33	68.1	48.4/100
Non-grazing cow	3							
HNGR ^a	8.05	0.16	7.74-8.35	3.76	0.05	34	106.5	31.9/100
CON-NGR ^b	7.39	0.23	6.95-7.83			45	98.6	45.8/100
Overall ^c	7.75	0.09	7.56-7.95	10.61	0.001	151	415.5	36.3/100

^{a,b}Groups with significant difference in time to first lameness have different superscripts.

ATE, animal time events; SE, standard error.

^CComparison between trimmed and control cows irrespective of management systems.

Total number of cows in trimmed cows: HGR = 160, NGR = 118.

Total number of cows in Control cows: CON-GR = 84, CON-NGR = 114.

Lameness Analysis

The monthly incidence rate of lameness in HGR and HNGR ranged from 5 to 9% throughout the study period; however, CON-GR and CON-NGR had higher monthly lameness incidence rates (12 vs. 13%) in the fourth and 7th month into the study (**Figure 1**). Overall, the incidence rate of lameness in the enrolled cows all through the study period was 36.3 cases/100 cows/per month. The corresponding rate of lameness in HGR, HNGR, CON-GR, and CON-NGR were 27.4, 31.9, 48.4, and 45.8 cases/100 cows/per month, respectively (**Table 3**). Time to first lameness event measured in months was significantly higher in HGR (mean \pm S.E; 8.12 \pm 0.15, *P* = 0.04) compared to CON-GR (7.36 \pm 0.26), and in HNGR (8.05 \pm 0.16, *P* = 0.03) compared to CON-NGR (7.39 \pm 0.23). The majority of the lameness events in trimmed and control cows were observed during early lactation (50%) and mid-lactation (40.3%), respectively (**Figure 2**).

Factors in the univariable Cox regression model included BCS, hock condition, lesion presence, and farms, but hock condition

was not retained in the final multivariable model. Cows with thin BCS (≤ 2.5) had a higher risk for lameness (Hazard ratio; HR = 3.05, 95% CI 1.24–7.46) compared to those with good BCS (**Table 4**). The risk of lameness was higher in cows affected with hoof lesions (either infectious, non-infectious or both) than those with a healthy hoof. Overall, lameness risk varied between farms with farm C recording higher risk compared to farm E.

Hoof Lesions Analysis

Table 5 shows the prevalence of hoof lesions in all the enrolled cows (i.e., both lame and non-lame) at the end of the study. The prevalence of hoof lesions in the enrolled cows was 36.9% (176/476), with a higher prevalence in CON-GR (48.8%) than HGR (23.2%). Likewise, CON-NGR recorded a higher prevalence (52.6%) of hoof lesions compared to HNGR (32.2%). The majority of hoof lesions were non-infectious in grazing (HGR vs. CON-GR; 21.3 vs. 33.3%) and non-grazing herds (HNGR vs. CON-NGR; 25.0 vs. 40.4%). The prevalence of infectious hoof



TABLE 4 | Final multivariable cox regression models for factors associated withtime to first lameness event in 476 cows from five farms in Peninsular Malaysia.

Factors	В	SE	Wald	P-value	HR	95% CI	
BCS			18.35	<0.001			
≤2.5	1.15	0.45	5.96	0.01	3.05	1.24	7.46
2.6–3.4	0.70	0.45	2.44	0.11	2.02	0.83	4.83
3.5–3.9	0.08	0.46	0.03	0.86	1.08	0.43	2.63
≥4.0					Ref		
Lesion			126.72	< 0.001			
Non-infectious	3.50	0.32	117.26	< 0.001	33.18	17.61	62.55
Infectious	3.66	0.37	97.60	< 0.001	38.99	18.85	80.65
Both	2.99	0.48	37.74	< 0.001	20.02	7.69	52.08
No lesion					Ref		
Farms			10.22	0.043			
Farm A	0.23	0.29	0.61	0.43	1.26	0.70	2.26
Farm B	0.03	0.30	0.01	0.92	1.03	0.57	1.85
Farm C	0.72	0.28	6.24	0.01	2.04	1.16	3.58
Farm D	0.19	0.29	0.44	0.50	1.22	0.67	2.19
Farm E					Ref		

BCS, body condition score; HR, hazard ratio; SE, standard error; CI, confidence interval; Ref, reference category.

lesions in HGR and CON-GR was 1.9 and 15.4%, respectively. However, similar proportions of infectious hoof lesions were recorded in HNGR (6.8%) and CON-NGR (7.0%).

Table 6 shows the estimated associations between covariates and having a non-infectious hoof lesion. Factors in the multivariable model included parity, BCS, hock condition, hoof length and treatment groups. Lower parity (Odds ratio; OR = 0.41, 95% CI 0.19–0.88), normal hock condition (OR = 0.06; 95% 0.01–0.29) and absence of overgrown hoof (OR = 0.47; 95% 0.28–0.79) were protective against non-infectious hoof lesion. Factors that increased the odds of non-infectious hoof lesions included low BCS (BCS \leq 2.5) (OR = 19.71, 95% CI 6.39–60.81) and belonging to the control group (OR = 3.25; 95% 1.92–5.53) relative to those with BCS \geq 4.0 and trimmed cows, respectively.

DISCUSSION

This study adds to the body of knowledge on the impact of the five-step Dutch trimming method on lameness incidence and lesion prevalence in grazing and non-grazing cows. Overall, the incidence rate of lameness in hoof-trimmed cows from GR and NGR was 27.4 cases/100 cows/month (3.6 cases/cow/year) and 31.9 cases/100 cows/month (4.2 cases/cow/year), respectively. The present result is consistent with the lameness incidence rate reported in cows from freestalls during dry periods (4.2 cases/cow/year) (33) but lower compared to 7.4 cases/cow/year recorded in lactating cows from a freestall herd (34) and pooled lameness incidence in grazing herds (64.6/100 cow-years) (16). The high lameness incidence rate could be attributed to the enrollment of primiparous and older cows, which are more susceptible to lameness episodes, management practice, and the presence of control groups that were not trimmed during lactation.

High milk-yielding cows are at higher risk of becoming lame (10, 23), but this was not the case in the present study. Although the enrolled cows in this study are expected to be high producers based on their genetics, the milk yield was relatively lower compared to the same breed of cows in other related studies (19, 29). Factors such as poor heat abatement strategies and nutrition may contribute to the low milk yield in the study population (9, 13). Based on the high lameness incidence rates, especially in the untrimmed cows, the finding suggests that other management factors may play a role in gait disturbance and the onset of hoof lesions on

TABLE 5 | Hoof lesion prevalence in trimmed and control cows from grazing (n = 2) and non-grazing (n = 3) dairy farms.

	Frequency of hoof lesions												
	SU	SH	WLD	τυ	TS	DD	SC	Others	Total	Cows	Prevalence (%)	NIF	IF
Hoof-trimmed													
HGR	14	5	6	8	1	3	0	0	37	37	23.2	21.3	1.9
HNGR	17	7	10	5	1	6	2	2	50	38	32.2	25.0	6.8
Control													
CON-GR	11	5	9	4	1	10	3	4	47	41	48.8	33.3	15.4
CON-NGR	19	7	16	3	2	6	2	6	61	60	52.6	40.4	7.0
Overall	61	24	41	20	5	25	7	12	195	176	36.9		

SU, sole ulcer; SH, sole hemorrhage; WLD, white line disease; TU, toe ulcer; TS, thin sole; DD, digital dermatitis; SC, swollen coronet; NIF, non-infectious hoof lesions; IF, infectious hoof lesions.

Total number of cows in trimmed group: GR = 160, NGR = 118.

Total number of cows in Control group: GR = 84, NGR = 114.

More than one lesion per cow was included.

TABLE 6 | Univariable and multivariable logistic regression models showing the significant factors associated with non-infectious hoof lesions identified at the end of study period.

			Multivariable model						
Factors	В	SE	P-value	OR	95% CI		OR	95% CI	
Parity			0.03						
1	-0.94	0.40	0.01	0.39	0.17	0.85	0.41	0.19	0.88
2	-0.95	0.38	0.01	0.38	0.18	0.82	0.40	0.19	0.84
>2				Ref			Ref		
BCS			0.001						
≤2.5	2.99	0.57	0.001	20.0	6.43	62.37	19.71	6.39	60.81
2.6-3.4	1.63	0.55	0.003	5.10	1.71	15.18	5.21	1.76	15.43
3.5-3.9	0.18	0.57	0.744	1.20	0.39	3.69	1.20	0.39	3.69
≥4.0				Ref			Ref		
Hock condition			0.005						
Normal	-2.58	0.81	0.002	0.07	0.01	0.37	0.06	0.01	0.29
Hair loss	-2.19	0.82	0.008	0.11	0.02	0.56	0.09	0.01	0.44
Ulcer/swelling				Ref			Ref		
Hoof length									
Normal	-0.73	0.26	0.006	0.48	0.28	0.81	0.47	0.28	0.79
Overgrown				Ref			Ref		
Group									
Not trimmed	1.23	0.27	< 0.001	3.44	2,00	5.92	3.25	1.92	5.53
Trimmed									

BCS, body condition score; OR, odds ratio; SE, standard error; CI, confidence interval; Ref, reference category.

Malaysian dairies. A recent study found that floor designs around the milking pen, walkways, and resting pen, poor herd hygiene, and lack of hoof care influenced the risk of foot lesions (35). Hence, the application of HT as a management strategy may reduce the occurrence of hoof lesions such as sole ulcers and white line disease, which are the predominant causes of lameness in dairy cows in Peninsular Malaysia (35). Nevertheless, a more holistic strategy involving improved housing conditions, stall designs, and routine hoof inspection and care is required. The time to first lameness event was significantly higher in trimmed groups compared to their respective controls in grazing and non-grazing herds. The result highlights the efficacy of the HT technique as a preventive measure for lameness in lactating dairy cows. Previous studies have investigated the impact of functional trimming on lameness prevention (19, 29, 36). Mahendran et al. (36) reported no significant difference in the odds of lameness and time to first lameness event between cows that underwent pre-calving and post-calving foot trim. In another study, cows trimmed at mid-lactation had a cumulative incidence of lameness of 18% compared to control groups (24%) during late lactation (19). Findings from the reviewed studies could not be solely attributed to HT, since the studied population either had hoof lesions or were not observed for lesions presence before enrollment. Although the authors used an adaption of the functional trimming, two studies reported that preventive trimming reduced the risk of lameness during lactation in freestall and pasture-based farms (20, 37). Daros et al. (33) did not state the HT technique used in their study, but primiparous cows trimmed before enrollment had lower odds of lameness during lactation. These findings are consistent with our results when comparing the incidence rate of lameness between trimmed and control cows. However, our result gives more insight on the impact of HT, since all cows in the present study were evaluated for healthy hooves and sound locomotion before enrollment. Application of functional trimming in the present study might have assisted to better the cows' gait due to improvement in weight distribution (38), frictional properties at the floor-claw interface, and preserving hoof dimensions after achieving the proper hoof length and sole thickness (17, 39).

The majority of lameness events in trimmed and control cows were observed during mid-lactation and early lactation (within 120 DIM), respectively. The reason for this finding is not fully understood. Nevertheless, early lactation is identified as a highrisk period for lameness due to factors such as negative energy balance, peri-calving hormonal changes affecting the hoof horn tissues, and challenges associated with peak lactation (40, 41). This might explain the higher lameness events in control cows at early lactation, whereas lameness episodes in trimmed cows might be delayed until mid-lactation due to the protective effect of HT.

Lesion prevalence at the end of the study period was lower in HGR (23.2%) compared to CON-GR (48.8%), as well as in HNGR (32.2%) compared to CON-NGR (52.6%). This result reflects the potential benefits of HT in grazing and non-grazing cows. For instance, the incidence of hoof lesions was lower in herds where trimmed cows spent more time on pasture (42). Pasture access as short as 4 weeks was associated with a higher tendency to bear weight on the affected claw, improved tracking up, and improved gait score of lame cows (43). In addition, HT enhances even weight distribution between the medial and lateral claws and restores proper sole thickness (17, 38, 39). These events might explain the delay in the onset and lower prevalence of hoof lesions in trimmed compared to non-trimmed cows in the present study.

Specifically, the majority of the lesions were non-infectious (i.e., hoof horn lesions) which corroborates the results from other related studies conducted in Malaysia (44, 45). Another indication of the benefits of HT in delaying the onset of hoof horn lesions was the lower prevalence in trimmed cows compared to controls under both management systems. This result is consistent with the findings of Manske et al. (20) and Gomez et al. (37), where an adaptation to functional trimming was protective against hoof horn lesions. Cows trimmed around drying off were found to have lower odds of sole ulcers (20% lower) in the subsequent lactation (21). The final step in the functional HT is the formation of a hollow dish (i.e., increased paring) around

the solar area adjacent to the axial aspect of the hoof, which is regarded as the typical sole ulcer site (15, 17). Although we did not assess the longitudinal changes of sole thickness, the last step in the HT procedure might have reduced the pressure directed unto the corium during the risk period for hoof horn lesions (17).

In contrast, the prevalence of infectious hoof lesions was low in all the trimmed and control groups. Previous studies have highlighted low prevalences of digital dermatitis, heel horn erosion, and foot rot in Malaysian dairy farms (44, 45), which could play a role in the present findings. Besides, all the enrolled farms used footbaths as a lameness control practice. However, the HT may also contribute to the finding, as such intervention was reported to reduce the occurrence of digital dermatitis in pasture-based herds (46), while trimmed cows provided with pasture access had a lower prevalence of infectious foot lesions (43). The HT technique might have restored a proper heel height; thus, reducing the exposure to slurry, interdigital irritation, and subsequent lower odds of infectious lesions. A more controlled study is required to elucidate such speculation since the present study enrolled multiple farms with varying levels of herd hygiene. Furthermore, the fact that both trimmed and untrimmed cows had low prevalences of infectious hoof lesions limits our understanding of the effectiveness of the HT procedure.

The risk of lameness was higher in underconditioned cows and those affected with hoof lesions, with the incidence varying between farms. Previous researches have consistently demonstrated that low BCS predisposes cows to lameness and the other way around (47, 48). In addition, loss of BCS and increase of BCS at calving could influence the risk of future lameness events and the chance of recovery from lameness (49). BCS loss promotes thinness of the digital cushion and instability of the pedal bone; thus, supporting the pathogenesis of hoof horn lesions causing lameness (11, 12). These events are further augmented by the absence of HT, improper trimming, and long intervals between trimmings (50). Good BCS was a criterion for enrollment of cows in this study, however, the observation points (every month) limit our knowledge on the event direction. Cows could have been underconditioned prior to lameness onset or the other way around.

Lameness risk varied between farms in this study. Farm C had a higher risk of lameness compared to Farm E, but the risk was not different on other farms. The reasons for this finding are not clearly understood since important animal-based factors such as BCS, DIM, hock condition that could influence the risk of lameness were considered during enrollment. Nevertheless, a higher number of cows on farm C received HT on both hind hooves compared to other farms. Hoof traits such as overgrown dorsal wall length, uneven sole thickness, and disproportionate heel height may affect weight distribution between the medial and lateral claws, and heighten the risk of future lameness event (11, 17). A previous study reported a significant increase in LS in cows from few days to 2 weeks after preventive HT (51). However, the cows in the present study were observed at monthly intervals, which suggests that aside from HT, herd-level factors beyond the scope of this work might have contributed to the onset of high locomotion scores on farm C.

Lower parity was a protective factor against hoof horn lesions in the present study. Chronic degeneration of body structures such as ligaments, bone, and digital cushion are mainly associated with increasing age (52, 53). However, such changes are not common in first parity cows probably due to fewer lactations and less exposure to high-risk periods of lameness (24). Other factors that may play a role in higher risks of hoof horn lesions in older cows include relapse of such lesions in subsequent lactation (53), the onset of exostosis on the caudal aspect of the distal phalanx, and reduced protective capacity of the digital cushion following replacement by connective tissue (54, 55). For instance, previous lameness episodes were not considered as criteria during cows' enrollment in the present study. These factors may contribute to the increased odds of hoof horn lesions observed in underconditioned cows.

Cows with normal hock conditions had a lower prevalence of non-infectious hoof lesions compared to those with hock injuries. The result highlights the importance of cow comfort in lameness management. Lame cows affected with either sole ulcers or white line disease may lay down for longer periods, which may promote the onset of hock injuries especially when lying surfaces are abrasive (56). Moreover, environmental and housing factors relating to poor stall designs may influence the concurrent onset of hock injuries and hoof lesions (57, 58). A longitudinal assessment of cows with normal hock conditions and at shorter time intervals is more appropriate to ascertain the event's direction.

We acknowledge the strengths and limitations of the present study. The enrolled cows were randomly selected and placed into treatments and control groups in each farm, assessed for hoof health status before enrollment, and detailed explanation and standardization of HT technique. All the assessments were conducted by a single veterinarian. HT was conducted by the researcher in 4 of the dairy farms, whereas both professional hoof trimmers and the researcher carried out the procedure in farm D. The hoof trimmers in farm D also apply the Dutch Five-Step HT method for lameness management. Nevertheless, a hoof trimming training session involving the researcher and professional hoof trimmers (n = 3) was conducted before the onset of the study. The training entailed the steps and landmarks of the HT procedure and to have a standardized format. No separate training was conducted for locomotion scoring; however, a high level of agreement (Kappa coefficient = 0.80) was observed between the researcher's estimate of gait scores and available records conducted by the hoof trimmers on the same cows. These factors assisted in reducing issues related to low inter-rater reliability, confounding factors, and increased the chances of attributing changes in gait and hoof health to HT.

Nevertheless, aside from the management systems, some of the on-farm routine practices might influence lameness events during lactation. The assessment of previous lameness history in the study population was based on farm health records, which is insufficient to ascertain the true scenario before the study. Regarding the environmental conditions, data on the climatic conditions such as temperature and humidity were not collected. Although the climatic conditions in the various study areas are not expected to vary widely since they are within Peninsular Malaysia, they may impact differently on the outcomes. Furthermore, our results could not elucidate the influence of timing and frequency of preventive HT in dairy cows. Future studies might focus on these areas to improve our knowledge on the impact of HT as a preventive strategy for lameness management on dairies.

CONCLUSION

This study revealed that early and late-lactation functional HT contributed to lower lameness incidence, higher survival time to first lameness event, and lower prevalence of hoof lesions compared to non-trimmed cows from grazing and non-grazing farms. Factors that also increased the risk of lameness during lactation were low BCS, presence of hoof lesion, and there was variation in lameness risk between farms. The predominant causes of lameness were non-infectious hoof lesions. Aside absence of trimming, the odds of non-infectious hoof horn lesions were higher in older and underconditioned cows, as well as those with hock injuries. Functional HT is beneficial as a lameness preventive strategy when conducted at late lactation; however, parity, body condition, and hock condition are equally important.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Institution of Animal Care and Use Committee, Universiti Putra Malaysia (Ref: UPM/IACUC/ AUP-R010/2019). Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SR, WS, and MS contributed to conception of the work and funding. SR and MS made substantial contributions to data acquisition, analysis, interpretation, drafted and revised the work, and wrote the final version. SS-H and RM made substantial contributions to revision of the drafted manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the paper and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

This research was financed and supported by the Universiti Putra Malaysia research grant (UPM/800-3/3/1/GP-IPS/2019/9680900).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Director General and staff of DVS, Putrajaya, Malaysia, for approving this study and technical supports provided during the research. We also appreciate the assistance provided by the participating farms and farm workers, staff of the Department of Farm and Exotic Animal Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University Putra

REFERENCES

- Pothmann H, Nechanitzky K, Sturmlechner F, Drillich M. Consultancy to dairy farmers relating to animal health and herd health management on small- and medium-sized farms. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:851–60. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7364
- Martin-Collado D, Byrne TJ, Amer PR, Santos BF, Axford M, Pryce JE. Analyzing the heterogeneity of farmers' preferences for improvements in dairy cow traits using farmer typologies. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:4148– 61. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-9194
- Sogstad ÅM, Østerås O, Fjeldaas T, Nafstad O. Bovine claw and limb disorders related to reproductive performance and production diseases. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:2519–28. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72327-X
- Charfeddine N, Perez-Cabal MA. Effect of claw disorders on milk production, fertility, and longevity, and their economic impact in Spanish holstein cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2017) 100:653–65. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11434
- Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WM, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS. Dairy farmers' perceptions of and actions in relation to lameness management. *Animals*. (2019) 9:270. doi: 10.3390/ani9050270
- Moreira TF, Nicolino RR, Meneses RM, Fonseca GV, Rodrigues LM, Facury Filho EJ, et al. Risk factors associated with lameness and hoof lesions in pasture-based dairy cattle systems in southeast Brazil. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:11. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-16215
- Weigele HC, Gygax L, Steiner A, Wechsler B, Burla JB. Moderate lameness leads to marked behavioral changes in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:2370–82. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13120
- Passos LT, Cruz EA, Fischer V, Porciuncula GC, Werncke D, Dalto AG, et al. Dairy cows change locomotion score and sensitivity to pain with trimming and infectious or non-infectious lesions. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2017) 49:851–6. doi: 10.1007/s11250-017-1273-0
- Robichaud MV, Rushen J, Passillé AMde, Vasseur E, Orsel K, Pellerin D. Associations between on-farm animal welfare indicators and productivity and profitability on Canadian dairies: I. On freestall farms. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:4341–51. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14817
- Bran JA, Costa HC, von Keyserlingk MAG, Hotzel MA. Factors associated with lameness prevalence in lactating cows housed in freestall and compostbedded pack dairy farms in southern Brazil. *Prev Vet Med.* (2019) 172:104773. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104773
- Newsome RF, Green MJ, Bell NJ, Bollard NJ, Mason CS, Whay HR, et al. A prospective cohort study of digital cushion and corium thickness. Part 1: associations with body condition, lesion incidence, and proximity to calving. *J Dairy Sci.* (2017) 100:4745–58. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12012
- 12. Griffiths BE, Mahen PJ, Hall R, Kakatsidis N, Britten N, Long K, et al. A Prospective cohort study on the development of claw horn disruptive lesions in dairy cattle; furthering our understanding of the role of the digital cushion. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:440. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00440
- Zuliani A, Mair M, Kraševec M, Lora I, Brscic M, Cozzi G, et al. A survey of selected animal-based measures of dairy cattle welfare in the Eastern Alps: toward context-based thresholds. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 101:1428– 36. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13257
- 14. Hund A, Logrono JC, Ollhort RD, Kofler J. Aspects of lameness in pasture based dairy farms. *Vet J.* (2019) 244:83–90. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2018.12.011

Malaysia, and the DVS staff in Perak, Selangor, Negeri Sembilan, Pahang, and Johor.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.631844/full#supplementary-material

- Solano L, Barkema HW, Mason S, Pajor EA, LeBlanc SJ, Orsel K. Prevalence and distribution of foot lesions in dairy cattle in Alberta, Canada. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:6828–41. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-10941
- Afonso JS, Bruce M, Keating P, Raboisson D, Clough H. Profiling detection and classification of lameness methods in british dairy cattle research: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:542. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00542
- Nuss K, Paulus N. Measurements of claw dimensions in cows before and after functional trimming: a post-mortem study. *Vet J.* (2006) 172:284– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.04.031
- Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WM, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS. Claw trimming as a lameness management practice and the association with welfare and production in dairy cows. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1515. doi: 10.3390/ani10091515
- Hernandez JA, Garbarino EJ, Shearer JK, Risco CA, Thatcher WW. Evaluation of the efficacy of prophylactic hoof health examination and trimming during mid-lactation in reducing the incidence of lameness during late lactation in dairy cows. J Am Vet Med Ass. (2007) 230:89–93. doi: 10.2460/javma.230.1.89
- Manske T, Hultgren J, Bergsten C. The effect of claw trimming on the hoof health of Swedish dairy cattle. *Prev Vet Med.* (2002) 54:113– 29. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5877(02)00020-X
- Thomsen PT, Foldager L, Raudal P, Capion N. Lower odds of sole ulcer in the following lactation in dairy cows that received hoof trimming around drying off. *Vet J.* (2019) 254:105408. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2019.105408
- Grandin T. Cattle Transport Guidelines for Meat Packers, Feedlots, and Ranches. (2008). Available online at: http://www.grandin. com/meat.association.institute.html (accessed 18 June, 2018).
- Solano L, Barkema HW, Pajor EA, Mason S, LeBlanc SJ, Zaffino Heyerhoff JC, et al. Prevalence of lameness and associated risk factors in Canadian Holstein-Friesian cows housed in freestall barns. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:6978– 91. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9652
- Sprecher DJ, Hostetler DE, Kaneene JB. A lameness scoring system that uses posture and gait to predict dairy cattle reproductive performance. *Theriogenology*. (1997) 47:1179–87. doi: 10.1016/S0093-691X(97)00098-8
- Vasseur E, Gibbons J, Rushen J, de Passillé AM. Development and implementation of a training program to ensure high repeatability of body condition scoring of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:4725– 37. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6359
- Archer SC, Newsome R, Dibble H, Sturrock CJ, Chagunda MG, Mason CS, et al. Claw length recommendations for dairy cow foot trimming. *Vet Rec.* (2015) 177:222. doi: 10.1136/vr.103197
- Gibbons J, Vasseur E, Rushen J, de Passillé AM. A training programme to ensure high repeatability of injury scoring of dairy cows. *Anim Welf.* (2012) 21:379–88. doi: 10.7120/09627286.21.3.379
- Toussaint RE. Trimming. Chapter 3. In: Toussaint Raven E, editor. Cattle Foot 671 Care and Claw Trimming. Farming Press, Ipswich (1989). p. 75–94.
- Ouweltjes W, Holzhauer M, van der Tol PPJ, van der Werf J. Effects of two trimming methods of dairy cattle on concrete or rubber-covered slatted floors. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:960–71. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1559
- Thomas HJ, Miguel-Pacheco GG, Bollard NJ, Archer SC, Bell NJ, Mason C, et al. Evaluation of treatments for claw horn lesions in dairy cows in a randomized controlled trial. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:4477– 86. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8982

- Egger-Danner C, Nielsen P, Fiedler A, Müller A, Fjeldaas T, Döpfer D. ICAR claw health atlas. In: Proceedings of the International Committee for Animal Recording. Rome. ICAR Technical Series. (2015). p. 18.
- 32. Dohoo I, Martin W, Stryhn H. Veterinary Epidemiologic Research. 2nd ed. Charlottetown, PE: VER Inc. (2007).
- Daros RR, Eriksson HK, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Lameness during the dry period: epidemiology and associated factors. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:11414–27. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-16741
- Randall LV, Green MJ, Green LE, Chagunda MGG, Mason C, Archer SC, et al. The contribution of previous lameness events and body condition score to the occurrence of lameness in dairy herds: a study of 2 herds. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:1311–24. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13439
- Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WM, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS. Prevalence and risk factors for hoof lesions in dairy cows in Peninsular Malaysia. *Livest Sci.* (2021) 245:104404. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104404
- 36. Mahendran SA, Huxley JN, Chang YM, Burnell M, Barrett DC, Whay HR, et al. Randomised controlled trial to evaluate the effect of foot trimming before and after first calving on subsequent lameness episodes and productivity in dairy heifers. *Vet J.* (2017) 220:105–10. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.01.011
- Gomez A, Cook NB, Kopesky N, Gaska J, Dopfer D. Should we Trim Heifers Before Calving? American Association of Bovine Practitioners (2013). p. 226.
- Van der Tol PPJ, Van Der Beek SS, Metz JH, Noordhuizen-Stassen EN, Back W, Braam CR, et al. The effect of preventive trimming on weight bearing and force balance on the claws of dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2004) 87:1732–38. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73327-5
- Bryan M, Tacoma H, Hoekstra F. The effect of hindclaw height differential and subsequent trimming on lameness in large dairy cattle herds in Canterbury, New Zealand. N Z Vet J. (2012) 60:349–55. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2012.698443
- Green LE, Hedges VJ, Schukken YH, Blowey RW, Packington AJ. The impact of clinical lameness on the milk yield of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2002) 85:2250–56. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74304-X
- Green LE, Huxley JN, Banks C, Green MJ. Temporal associations between low body condition, lameness and milk yield in a UK dairy herd. *Prev Vet Med.* (2014) 113:63–71. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.10.009
- Armbrecht L, Lambertz C, Albers D, Gauly M. Does access to pasture affect claw condition and health in dairy cows? *Vet Rec.* (2017) 182:79. doi: 10.1136/vr.104554
- Hernandez-Mendo O, von Keyserlingk MAG, Veira DM, Weary DM. Effects of pasture on lameness in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1209– 14. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71608-9
- 44. Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS, Shaik Mossadeq WM. Prevalence of lameness, claw lesions, and associated risk factors in dairy farms in Selangor, Malaysia. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2017) 49:1741– 48. doi: 10.1007/s11250-017-1387-4
- Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WM, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS. Cow- and herd-level factors associated with lameness in dairy farms in Peninsular Malaysia. *Prev Vet Med.* (2020) 184:105163. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2020.105163
- Somers JG, Frankena K, Noordhuizen-Stassen EN, Metz JH. Risk factors for digital dermatitis in dairy cows kept in cubicle houses in The Netherlands. *Prev Vet Med.* (2005) 71:11–21. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2005.05.002
- Bicalho RC, Machado VS, Caixeta LS. Lameness in dairy cattle: a debilitating disease or a disease of debilitated cattle? A cross-sectional study of lameness

prevalence and thickness of the digital cushion. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:3175–84. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1827

- 48. Sepúlveda-Varas P, Lomb J, von Keyserlingk MAG, Held R, Bustamante H, Tadich N. Claw horn lesions in mid-lactation primiparous dairy cows under pasture-based systems: association with behavioral and metabolic changes around calving. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:1–12. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14674
- Lim PY, Huxley JN, Willshire JA, Green MJ, Othman AR, Kaler J. Unravelling the temporal association between lameness and body condition score in dairy cattle using a multistate modelling approach. *Prev Vet Med.* (2015) 118:370–7. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2014.12.015
- 50. Bell NJ. Evidence-based claw trimming for dairy cattle. *Vet Rec.* (2015) 177:220–21. doi: 10.1136/vr.h4591
- Van Hertem T, Parmet Y, Steensels M, Maltz E, Antler A, Schlageter-Tello AA, et al. The effect of routine hoof trimming on locomotion score, ruminating time, activity, and milk yield of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:4852– 63. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7576
- 52. Raber M, Scheeder MR, Ossent P, Lischer Ch J, Geyer H. The content and composition of lipids in the digital cushion of the bovine claw with respect to age and location–a preliminary report. *Vet J.* (2006) 172:173–77. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.03.009
- 53. Foditsch C, Oikonomou G, Machado VS, Bicalho ML, Ganda EK, Lima SF, et al. Lameness prevalence and risk factors in large dairy farms in upstate new york. model development for the prediction of claw horn disruption lesions. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0146718. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146718
- Newsome R, Green MJ, Bell NJ, Chagunda MGG, Mason CS, Rutland CS, et al. Linking bone development on the caudal aspect of the distal phalanx with lameness during life. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:4512– 25. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10202
- Stambuk CA, McArt JAA, Bicalho RC, Miles AM, Huson HJ. A longitudinal study of digital cushion thickness and its function as a predictor for compromised locomotion and hoof lesions in Holstein cows. *Trans Anim Sci.* (2019) 3:74–83. doi: 10.1093/tas/txy107
- Thompson AJ, Weary DM, Bran JA, Daros RR, Hötzel MJ, von Keyserlingk MAG. Lameness and lying behavior in grazing dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:6373–82. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15717
- Sadiq MB, Ramanoon SZ, Shaik Mossadeq WM, Mansor R, Syed-Hussain SS. Association between lameness and indicators of dairy cow welfare based on locomotion scoring, body and hock condition, leg hygiene and lying behavior. *Animals (Basel)*. (2017) 7:79. doi: 10.3390/ani7110079
- Vasseur E, Gibbons J, Rushen J, Pellerin D, Pajor E, Lefebvre D, et al. An assessment tool to help producers improve cow comfort on their farms. *J Dairy Sci.* (2015) 98:698–708. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8224

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Sadiq, Ramanoon, Shaik Mossadeq, Mansor and Syed-Hussain. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Low-Intensity, High-Frequency Grazing Positively Affects Defoliating Behavior, Nutrient Intake and Blood Indicators of Nutrition and Stress in Sheep

Angel S. Zubieta^{1*}, Alejandra Marín^{1,2}, Jean V. Savian³, Anderson M. Soares Bolzan¹, Jusiane Rossetto¹, Mariana T. Barreto⁴, Jéromê Bindelle⁵, Carolina Bremm^{1,6}, Laura V. Quishpe⁷, Stella de Faria Valle⁷, Virginie Decruyenaere⁸ and Paulo C. de F. Carvalho¹

¹ Grazing Ecology Research Group, Federal University of Rio Grande Do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, ² Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Departamento de Producción Animal, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Medellín, Colombia, ³ Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria, Programa Pasturas y Forrajes, Estación Experimental INIA Treinta y Tres, Treinta y Tres, Uruguay, ⁴ Animal Production and Ruminant Nutrition Research Group, Federal University of Pampa, Rua Promorar Luiz Joaquim de Sá Brito, Itaquí, Brazil, ⁵ Precision Livestock and Nutrition Unit, Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech, TERRA, Teaching and Research Centre, University of Liège, Gembloux, Belgium, ⁶ Department of Agricultural Research and Diagnosis, Secretariat of Agriculture, Livestock and Rural Development, Porto Alegre, Brazil, ⁷ Department of Clinical Veterinary Pathology, Federal University of Rio Grande Do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, ⁸ Productions in Agriculture Department, Animal Production Unit, Walloon Agricultural Research Centre (CRA-W), Gembloux, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Gregorini, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Reviewed by:

Juan Carlos Ku-Vera, Universidad Autónoma de Yucatán, Mexico Abmael Cardoso, São Paulo State University, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Angel S. Zubieta gello_zuva@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 21 November 2020 Accepted: 26 May 2021 Published: 22 June 2021

Citation:

Zubieta AS, Marín A, Savian JV, Soares Bolzan AM, Rossetto J, Barreto MT, Bindelle J, Bremm C, Quishpe LV, Valle SdF, Decruyenaere V and de F. Carvalho PC (2021) Low-Intensity, High-Frequency Grazing Positively Affects Defoliating Behavior, Nutrient Intake and Blood Indicators of Nutrition and Stress in Sheep. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:631820. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.631820 The intensity and frequency of grazing affect the defoliating strategy of ruminants, their daily nutrient intake, thus nutrition and physiological status. Italian ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum Lam.) pastures were grazed by sheep either under a low-intensity/high-frequency grazing strategy (Rotatinuous stocking; RN) with nominal pre- and post-grazing sward heights of 18 and 11 cm, respectively, or under a high-intensity/low-frequency strategy (traditional rotational stocking; RT) with nominal pre- and post-grazing sward heights of 25 and 5 cm, respectively. Treatments were arranged under a complete randomized design and evaluated over two periods, in different years. In 2017, the aim was to depict the type of bites that sheep perform during the grazing-down and associate them to the grazing management strategy according to their relative contribution to the diet ingested. In 2018 we estimated the total nutrient intake and evaluated blood indicators of the nutritional status and immune response to stress of sheep. The bite types accounting the most for the diet ingested by RN sheep were those performed on the "top stratum" of plants with around 20, 15, and 25 cm, whereas the type of bites accounting the most for the diet of RT sheep were those performed on "grazed plants" with around 10, 5, and \leq 3 cm. In 2018, the RN sheep increased by 18% the total organic matter (OM) intake and by 20-25% the intake of soluble nutrients (i.e., crude protein, total soluble sugars, crude fat), digestible OM and of metabolizable energy, and had 17.5, 18, and 6.1% greater blood concentration of glucose, urea nitrogen (BUN) and albumin, respectively, but 17% lower blood neutrophil-to-lymphocyte (N:L) ratio. Sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures under the low-intensity/high-frequency grazing strategy (RN) ingested a diet of better quality from bites allocated on the top stratum of plants, had greater intake of soluble nutrients and blood parameters positively associated with nutritional status and immune response to stress.

Keywords: animal welfare, nutritional status, grazing management models, sward height, ingestive comfort

INTRODUCTION

Criteria used to define the limits of sward depletion affect the foraging strategy of ruminants, thus the herbage intake and diet quality. Carvalho (1) proposed a low-intensity/highfrequency grazing approach that defines the management limits of the sward based on animal behavioral responses, i.e., a pre-grazing sward height allowing animals to maximize the intake rate and a grazing-down of 40% to sustain it high at any time while grazing. Although maximizing the intake rate is a natural foraging strategy of ungulates (2), applying this grazing approach is non-sense in most commercial farms, as orientations to maximize intake rate and individual animal intake are thought to reduce harvest efficiency and farm profit (3, 4). Conversely, for increasing herd forage intake and making full exploitation of the area, traditional guidelines propose starting grazing when the balance between herbage accumulation and its quality is optimized (5), and low residual sward height or mass as depletion limit (6-8), through high-intensity/low-frequency grazing strategies (9).

High-intensity/low-frequency grazing force animals to extend sward depletion to bottom parts of plants, preventing them from allocating bites on leaf laminas of the top stratum, which restrict the individual intake of a more digrestible diet (1). The metabolic profile of animals is directly affected by the intake of digestible organic matter [OM; (10)]. For instance, when blood glucose is low, other products coming from lipolysis of body reserves become available [e.g., non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), betahydroxybutyrate (BHB)], affecting the proliferation of immune cells [e.g., leukocytes; (11, 12)]. Therefore, apart from being against the natural preference for leaf laminas and of ingestive comfort associated with high and profitable intake rates (13), lower daily intake of a less digestible diet could threaten some of the domains of animal welfare [e.g., nutritional status and immune response; (14)], even when pastoral systems claim to promote it (15).

If the defoliating behavior of non-supplemented grazing animals affects their physiology, pastoral systems could improve or impair their nutrition and welfare depending on grazing management. We hypothesized that sheep grazing Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam.) pastures under a lowintensity/high-frequency grazing strategy and composing a diet from bites performed preferentially on the top stratum of plants, have greater intake of a diet with better quality and blood parameters positively associated with nutritional status and immune response to stress, compared to animals under a high-intensity/low-frequency traditional management (RT), composing a diet with lower quality from bites performed on both top and grazed parts of plants. To test this assumption, we conducted two grazing trials over two consecutive years. In 2017, we characterized, at the bite scale, the diet ingested by sheep grazing Italian ryegrass pastures, and in 2018, we determined the daily nutrient intake and compared the impact of the grazing management strategy on nutrition- and stress-related blood parameters of sheep.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All procedures on animals followed the guidelines of the law of procedure for the scientific handling of experimental animals and were approved by the Ethics Committee for the Use of Animals (CEUA) of the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS; protocol 3571).

Experimental Area and Pasture Establishment

The grazing trials were conducted at the Experimental Station of the Faculty of Agronomy of the UFRGS, in Southern Brazil $(30^{\circ}05''22' \text{ S} \text{ latitude, } 51^{\circ}39''09'W \text{ longitude and }46 \text{ m}$ above sea level), with a subtropical humid "Cfa" climate with an average annual temperature of 18° C. Italian ryegrass pastures were established on April 20th in 2017 and May 23th in 2018, through conventional soil preparation (plowing and disking), mechanical spreading of 35 kg of seed per hectare and 250 kg of the formula (NPK, 5-30-15) per hectare at seeding and 200 kg of nitrogen (urea) 30 days later.

Treatments and Experimental Design

Two grazing management strategies in rotational stocking were evaluated under a completely randomized design, with two paddocks per treatment in 2017 and with four in 2018, over two evaluation periods. The Rotatinuous stoking (RN), with nominal pre- and post-grazing heights of 18 and 11 cm, respectively, was compared with a traditional rotational stocking (RT), with nominal pre- and post-grazing heights of 25 and 5 cm, respectively. The combination of pre- and post-grazing sward heights results either in low-intensity/high-frequency (RN) or in high-intensity/low-frequency (RT) grazing strategies (9). For the RN, the pre-grazing height aims to maximize intake per unit of grazing time on Italian ryegrass pastures, while the post-grazing height (40% reduction of the initial height) aims to sustain the intake rate at any time while grazing (1, 16, 17). For the RT, the pre-grazing height aims to initiate grazing at maximum net herbage accumulation and the post-grazing height to maximize herbage harvest efficiency (9, 18).

Animals and Pasture Management

The number of animals, paddocks and the duration of the stocking period differed between 2017 and 2018, according to year-specific objectives. Twelve Texel sheep (35 ± 4.3 kg of
live weight; LW) in 2017, and 24 Texel × Corriedale castrated males (41.1 \pm 3.4 kg LW) in 2018, were randomly allocated, respectively, to four and eight paddocks of 0.21 ha (three test animals per paddock). Pasture management was similar in both years. Briefly, sheep grazed in strips, changing to another daily between 14:00 and 15:00 h. Thereby, each paddock was subdivided into strips of variable size (130 and 47 m² on average for RN and RT, respectively), according to treatment targets and herbage growth; strips provided enough forage for animals to deplete the sward within the preestablished pre- and post-grazing sward heights.

The pre- and post-grazing sward heights were measured at two-day interval during the treatment adaptation period and daily during evaluations, by taking 150 random readings per strip at the "leaf horizon" on the top of the sward, with the aid of a sward stick (19). To maintain sward height targets, a variable number of put-and-take sheep, accompanied the three test-sheep on each strip (20). Sheep entered to paddocks before the pre-grazing sward height of both treatments was achieved, to complete a grazing cycle on all paddocks, while creating a sward height gradient. This allowed the first grazed strip within each paddock to reach the treatment pre-grazing sward height, just before it was grazed again. Thereby, from the second grazing cycle onwards on paddocks of each treatment, animals grazed on regrown sward strips within preestablished treatments heights; at this moment, the period of adaptation to treatments of 35 days in 2017 and of 16 days in 2018, started. Afterwards, in both 2017 and 2018, two evaluation periods took place on vegetative swards. Animals always had free access to water.

The Continuous Bite-Monitoring and Bite-Scale Hand-Plucking

In 2017, we implemented the continuous bite-monitoring (CBM) methodology consisting of (1) animal-observer familiarization, (2) bite-code grid elaboration, (3) observer training the bite-code grid monitoring and (4) real-time bite-monitoring evaluation [for details see (21-23)]. We used this method during two periods, with 3 days of observation, as schematized in Figure 1A. Briefly, during the first 10 days of adaptation to the treatment, four observers accustomed animals to the proximity of humans (<1 m) and during the following 25 days, the observers trained the bite-coding grid (Figure 2) previously elaborated for sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass swards, and only when they were able to encode, in real time, each bite without hesitation, observations initiated. Each observer evaluated a different animal each day, alternating the treatment each day. Despite precautions, in period one, a sheep of each treatment had to be discarded from the analysis as they presented unusual behavior in the presence of the observer. Indeed, in period two, the 3rd day of observation was not conducted due to unsuitable weather conditions; thus, only two out of the three test animals within a paddock were evaluated during two observation days. Overall, 18 out of 24 possible observations were obtained. The bite encoding was recorded with a digital Sony recorder Icd-PX240[®] device. Recordings of the bite-monitoring were analyzed using the software JWatcher® (http://www.jwatcher. ucla.edu/, verified 10 December 2019; The Observer, Noldus Information Technology[®], The Netherlands). While animals were not performing any eating activity during the CBM, the observers simulated at least 20 times each bite type (**Figure 2**), as detailed in Bonnet et al. (24); fresh samples were put on a paper bag. The total dry mass (g DM) of each bite type was calculated by oven drying the mass gathered per bite, at 55° C for 72, and dividing the dry weight on an electronic scale (0.0001 g precision) over the number of simulations; this information was used to compose the diet ingested.

Calculation of the Dry Matter Intake per Bite Type (Diet Ingested)

To determine the sheep DM intake per bite type, we multiplied the number of times that each bite type was recorded during the CBM by their individual dry mass (g DM). Afterwards, we summed up the DM ingested by all the bite types to estimate the intake during the CBM. Finally, the DM intake per bite type was divided by the intake of each animal to obtain the relative proportion that each bite type accounted for in the DM intake; herein referred as the diet ingested.

Total Organic Matter Intake and Herbage Digestibility

In 2018, the daily OM intake was estimated on the three test-sheep per paddock in two periods (Figure 1B). We used the fecal crude protein (CP) technique (25), as described by Savian et al. (18). The equation proposed by Azevedo et al. (26) for Italian ryegrass was used: OM intake = 111.33 + 18.33 × fecal CP (g/sheep/day). Each period consisted in total feces collection during five consecutive days. Sheep were fitted with feces collecting bags, which were emptied once per day (from 07:00 to 08:30 h) and the feces were weighed and homogenized to take sub-samples of 20% of the total. Fecal samples were dried at 55°C for 72 h, pooled per sheep, grounded and stored until analysis; afterwards, they were put on an oven at 550°C for 4 h to obtain the ash content. The OM content was calculated by subtracting the ash content from the dried mass of samples. The nitrogen content was obtained by the Kjeldahl method (27), and the CP content was calculated by multiplying the nitrogen content by 6.25. The OM digestibility was calculated as follows: OM digestibility = 1-total amount of feces (g DM/sheep/day)/OM intake (g DM/sheep/day). The digestible OM intake was calculated using the OM intake and OM digestibility. The metabolizable energy (ME) intake was estimated using the model proposed by CSIRO, [(28); ME = $0.169 \times \text{OM}$ digestibility-1.986].

Nutrient Content of the Diet Ingested and Total Daily Nutrient Intake

In 2018, each bite of the bite-code grid (**Figure 2**) was handplucked, as described above, during the first 4 days of the feces collection (**Figure 1B**). The simulation was performed by one evaluator after the main morning and afternoon meal bouts, completing one paddock per treatment per day; all bite types were simulated once on each paddock on each period. The fresh mass



of bites was put on a cooler with ice immediately after sampling, and within 4h stored at -20°C until freeze-drying (freezedryer Martin Christ DELTA 1-24 LSC, Germany) and grounding (1 mm screen). From these bite samples, we compounded 16 diets of 10 g of lyophilized samples (2 treatments \times 4 paddocks \times 2 periods), considering the proportion that each bite type accounted for to the diet ingested, as estimated in 2017. The herbage nutrient contents (g kg/DM) of diets were estimated by NIRS scanning (XDS NIRS system, FOSS-Denmark, 1,100-2,498 nm of wavelength by 2 nm steps and absorbency data expressed as log 1/R), using calibrations developed at the Walloon Agricultural Research Center (CRAW), Belgium (29). The daily OM intake estimated by the fecal CP technique was converted to DM intake (g/animal/day) by dividing the daily OM intake over the OM content of the diet, derived from NIRS. From this, we calculated the daily nutrient intake, as follows: daily nutrient intake = total DM intake (g/animal/day) \times nutrient content (g/kg DM).

Biochemical and Hematological Blood Parameters

In 2018, sheep blood samples (4 mL) from the jugular vein were collected on tubes containing heparin (EDTA K2) and

on non-heparinized tubes (Inforlab, São Paulo, Brazil), 2 days after the last fecal collection day of each period from 07:00 to 08:30 h (Figure 1B). Samples were transported in a cooler at 5°C, within 4–6 h, to the Department of Clinical Veterinary Pathology of the UFRGS. Packed cell volume was assessed from heparinized samples with the micro hematocrit method; samples (duplicate) were diluted with Turks's solution and centrifuged (Heraeus Pico 17, Thermo Scientific) on capillary tubes at 17,000 g for 5 min at room temperature (17°C) to perform total leukocyte counting (hemocytometer Neubauer Improved, New Optics). Blood smears were dried and stained with Diff Quick to perform differential leukocyte counting (i.e., total, neutrophils, lymphocytes and blood neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; N:L). Non-heparinized samples were brought to room temperature and centrifuged (Heraeus Megafuge 8, Thermo Scientific) at 1,700 g for 10 min. The serum obtained was analyzed for glucose, urea, albumin, alkaline phosphatase, fructosamine and cholesterol by enzymatic colorimetric analysis using commercial kits (Glucose HK, Urea Color 2R, Albumin AA, ALP 405 AA, Fructosamine AA and Colestat enzymatic, respectively, Wiener Lab., Rosario, Argentina) in a Wiener Lab CM 200 autoanalyzer (Wiener Lab., Rosario, Argentina). Considering that the molecular weight of urea is 2.14 times that of urea nitrogen, the



on plants of \leq 3 cm with minimum or no presence of leaf laminas. Among the "specific" type of bites, the bite "Max" is allocated on both grazed and intact leaf laminas, with the presence or not of stem, on plants with \geq 15 cm; the bite "Mix" is similar, but on plants with \leq 15 cm; the bite "Pinza" is allocated at the tip (superficial) of a single or no more than two intact or grazed leaf laminas, and at any sward height; the bite "Panza" is also a superficial bite, but on lying plants; the bite "La" is allocated on 2-to-3 lying intact leaf laminas with \geq 20 cm length, while the bite "Le" is similar, but on plants with \leq 20 cm length; the bite "Li" is allocated on lying plants gathering 2–3 grazed leaf laminas of any horizontal length; the bite "Co" and "Du" are performed on one and two defoliated stems, respectively, on plants with 5–15 cm; the bite "Fo" is performed on a single intact or grazed leaf lamina within the canopy; the bite "Fa" is performed on the leaf lamina below the inflorescence, intact or grazed leaf laminas.

blood urea nitrogen (BUN) was estimated from serum urea as follow: BUN (mg/dL) = serum urea (mg/dL)/2.14. An aliquot of centrifuged serum was stored in Eppendorf tubes (1.5 mL) and frozen at -20° C until analyzed separately by enzymatic colorimetric analysis for NEFA (Randox, Antrim, UK) and BHB (Ranbut, Randox, Antrim, UK).

Statistical Analysis

Pasture data in 2017 and 2018 was subjected to ANOVA, at 5% of significance, considering the fixed effect of treatment, period and year, and their interactions, and the random effect of the paddock (experimental unit). The diet ingested by animals, estimated in 2017 from the CBM, was subjected to a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA), at 5% of significance, to compare the relative proportion that each bite type accounted to the diet ingested between grazing management (RN and RT), considering the fixed effect of treatment and period, and their interaction. Moreover, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed

to order the types of bytes performed by sheep grazing Italian ryegrass pastures under both grazing management strategies, according to their relative contribution to the diet ingested. The percent of the variance explained per axis was used as a selection criterion. Data of 2018, describing the nutrient content of the diet, the daily nutrient intake, OM digestibility and metabolizable energy content and blood parameters, was subjected to ANOVA at 5% of significance. The model included the fixed effects of the treatment, the random effects of the period and of the animal nested within the paddock (experimental unit), and of the treatment \times period interaction (lmer function), except for the data of the nutrient content of the diet, whose model excluded the effect of the animal nested within the paddock. The statistical models in both years were selected considering the best fit model according to the AICs' criteria. Means were compared using the least-squares mean linear hypothesis test adjusted for Tuckey comparison. All analyzes were performed using the R software [(30), version 3.6.0].

TABLE 1 | Sward surface height and sward height depletion of vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures grazed by sheep under contrasting grazing management strategies (RN and RT) in rotational stocking.

Variables	RN	RT	SEM	P-value
Pre-grazing, cm	19.4	27.3	0.4	<0.0001
Post-grazing, cm	12.2	6.9	0.3	<0.0001
Sward height depletion, %	37.3	74.7	1.8	<0.0001

RN, Rotatinuous stocking; RT, Traditional rotational stocking; SEM, standard error of the mean.

TABLE 2 | Bite-scale characterization of the diet ingested by sheep (relative proportion that each bite type accounted to the diet ingested) grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures under contrasting grazing management strategies (RN and RT) in rotational stocking.

Bite type	RN	RT	SEM	P-Value
Top stratum (less dense)				
Ce	0.69	3.48	0.87	0.134
De	3.30	2.18	0.35	0.092
Ke	11.19	5.23	1.52	0.031
Ve	24.07	5.76	2.88	0.000
Ge	3.54	2.25	0.77	0.472
Те	11.3	3.67	1.31	0.001
Top stratum (dense)				
Ка	0.65	0.45	0.24	0.768
Та	1.51	1.16	0.28	0.425
Va	2.81	0.96	0.50	0.062
Ga	0.66	1.47	0.30	0.188
Grazed plants				
Ra	0.40	9.24	1.73	0.004
Ci	3.44	12.66	1.48	0.000
Di	7.23	13.34	1.22	0.008
Ki	5.93	6.70	1.01	0.698
Vi	3.61	3.19	0.69	0.824
Ті	0.99	1.425	0.42	0.585
Specific				
Mix	10.77	10.77	1.64	0.983
Max	6.30	4.215	0.85	0.271
Pinza	0.35	0.275	0.10	0.256
Panza	0	0.16	0.06	0.736
La	0	1.68	0.37	0.020
Le	0.57	3.53	0.69	0.027
Li	0.13	3.86	0.66	0.001
Jun	0	1.565	0.30	0.004
Со	0.01	0.305	0.05	0.000
Du	0	0.085	0.02	0.059
Fa	0.21	0.215	0.04	0.981
Fo	0.08	0.135	0.03	0.296
In	0.01	0.005	0.005	0.391

RN, Rotatinuous stocking; RT, Traditional rotational stocking. SEM, standard error of the mean.

RESULTS

Sward Canopy Height and Bite-Scale Characterization of the Diet Ingested

Table 1 shows the difference in pre- and post-grazing swardheights between treatments. The effects of year and period, and

their interaction with treatments did not affect the pre- and post-grazing sward canopy height or the sward height depletion (P > 0.05). The management of the sward height affected the proportion that some, but not all bite types, accounted to the diet ingested (P < 0.001; **Table 2**). Neither the effect of the period nor its interaction with treatment was significant. **Figure 3** shows



the first two dimensions of the PCA, explaining 69% of the total variation of data. The bite Ve, performed on the top stratum of plants with $\sim \! 20 \, \text{cm}$, was the most associated with the RN management, followed by the bite Te and Ke, performed also at the top stratum of plants with \sim 25 and \sim 15 cm, respectively; these three bite types accounted for 47 and 15% of the diet ingested by the RN and RT sheep, respectively. Overall, the bites of the top stratum of plants accounted for 60 and 27% of the diet ingested, respectively, by the RN and RT sheep (Table 2). Bites that associated the most with the RT management were Ci, Di and Ra, performed on grazed plants with \sim 5, \sim 10, and \leq 3 cm, respectively; these three bite types accounted for 11 and 35% of the diet ingested, respectively, by the RN and RT sheep. Overall, these three and the other bite types performed on grazed plants accounted for 22 and 47% of the diet ingested, respectively, by the RN and RT sheep (Table 2). Other specific type of bites whose contribution in the diet differed between treatments, were those performed on lying plants, trampled plants or steams, namely La, Li, Le, Jun, and Co, and accounted for 1 and 11% of the diet ingested by the RN and RT sheep, respectively; the contribution to the ingested diet of some of the bite types performed on the top stratum, grazed plants

or specific, did not differ between the RN and RT strategies (Table 2).

Nutrient Content of the Diet Ingested and Daily Nutrient Intake

Table 3 shows the effect of treatments on the nutrient content of the diet ingested and on total daily nutrient intake; neither the effect of the period nor its interaction with treatment was significant (P > 0.05). In the RN management, the CP and total soluble sugar contents of the diet ingested were greater (P < 0.001), the crude fat content tended to be greater (P = 0.056), while the fibrous compounds such as ADF and ADL contents were lower (P < 0.001), with no difference for NDF content between treatments (P > 0.05). OM digestibility and ME content greater in the RN diet (P < 0.0001). The intake of OM, digestible OM, and all nutrients, except ADF (P > 0.05), were greater for the RN management (P < 0.001).

Blood Biochemistry and Hematology

Table 4 shows blood biochemical and hematological parameters of sheep as affected by the grazing management strategy. Neither the effect of the period, nor its interaction with treatment TABLE 3 | Nutrient content of the ingested diet and total nutrient intake by sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures under contrasting grazing management strategies (RN and RT) in rotational stocking.

Variable	RN	RT	SEM	P-value
Nutrient content, g/kg DM				
Organic matter (OM) ^a	896	883	3.4	0.036
Crude protein (CP) ^a	254	220	5.5	<0.0001
Neutral detergent fiber (NDF) ^a	358	367	9.7	0.4086
Acid detergent fiber (ADF) ^a	259	321	13.9	0.009
Acid detergent lignin (ADL) ^a	23	33	2.7	0.027
Total soluble sugars ^a	144	126	3.4	0.0086
Crude fat ^a	41	37	1.9	0.056
OM digestibility, g/kg OM	771	755	2.2	<0.0001
Metabolizable energy, MJ/kg DM	11.05	10.77	0.04	<0.0001
Daily intake, g/animal				
Organic matter (OM)	835.95	680.90	54.3	<0.0001
Crude protein (CP)	237.1	169.5	7.2	<0.0001
Neutral detergent fiber (NDF)	333.8	281.6	8.9	<0.0001
Acid detergent fiber (ADF)	241.7	248.4	7.4	0.586
Acid detergent lignin (ADL)	21.5	25.3	1.1	<0.0001
Total soluble sugars	135.2	96.9	4.0	<0.0001
Crude fat	38.1	28.6	1.2	<0.0001
Digestible OM	643.5	513.6	16.9	<0.0001
Metabolizable energy, MJ/day	10.3	8.3	0.3	<0.0001

RN, Rotatinuous stocking; RT, Traditional rotational stocking. SEM, standard error of the mean. ^a Values estimated by NIRS.

TABLE 4 | Biochemical and hematological parameters of sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures under contrasting grazing management strategies (RN and RT) in rotational stocking.

Variables	RN	RT	SEM	Reference values	P-value
Biochemical					
Albumin (g/dL)	3.76	3.53	0.04	2.4–3.0 ^a	0.011
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	260.1	231.4	10.8	68–387 ^a	0.335
Fructosamine (umol/L)	254.3	233.3	4.5	_	0.175
Glucose (mg/dL)	61.0	50.4	1.3	50–80 ^a	0.001
BUN (mg/dL)	30.8	25.3	0.7	8–20 ^a	0.003
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	75.6	84.5	2.4	52–76 ^a	0.478
BHB (mmol/L)	0.327	0.309	0.02	0.55ª	0.170
NEFA (mmol/L)	0.12	0.24	0.02	-	0.092
Hematological					
Total leukocytes (cells/µL)	6853.0	6231.1	166.7	4,000–8,000 ^b	0.11
Neutrophils (cells/µL)	1183.6	1272.8	71.3	700–6,000 ^b	0.76
Lymphocytes (cells/µL)	3755.8	3358.7	127.7	2,000–9,000 ^b	0.05
Neutrophils (%)	17.46	20.44	1.1	10–50 ^b	0.133
Lymphocytes (%)	55.3	53.9	1.4	40–55 ^b	0.109
N:L	0.315	0.379	0.03	_	0.046

RN, Rotatinuous stocking; RT, Traditional rotational stocking. ^aReference value from Kaneko et al. (31) or ^bByers and Kramer (32). SEM, standard error of the mean.

affected blood variables (P > 0.05). The serum concentration of albumin, glucose and urea (BUN) were greater in the RN sheep (P < 0.011), while the NEFA tended to be greater on RT animals (P = 0.09), and the alkaline phosphatase, fructosamine, cholesterol and BHB were unaffected by treatments (P > 0.05). The hematology profile shows lower lymphocyte counting (P = 0.05) and greater neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (N:L; P < 0.046) on the RT sheep, and unaffected total leukocytes and neutrophil number, and neutrophils and lymphocytes percentages (P > 0.05).

Biting, Intake, and Blood Constituents

DISCUSSION

The RN stocking stresses the central role that the sward height has over the intake rate and daily forage intake of grazing ruminants. Boval and Sauvant (13) mentioned that foraging decisions driving the intake rate provide information of ingestive comfort, appetite, gut health and welfare. Indeed, Mellor (14) suggests that eating enough of a high-quality diet and experiencing postprandial satiety are components of a good mental and nutrition state, thus of welfare. Thereby, the RN stands as a grazing management that might promote welfare, as it mimics the "time minimizing" nature of grazers by allowing them to graze at high intake rates and to "take the best and leave the rest" of plants (1). We show this by finely depicting the diversity of bites that sheep can perform to cope with contrasting grazing strategies and compose their diet, and the effect that the resulting amount and quality of the diet ingested have over some nutritionand stress-related blood parameters of sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures.

The Biting Behavior and Nutrient Content of the Diet Ingested

Bergman et al. (2) suggest that ungulates are "time minimizers" or the opposite, intake rate maximizers, this is, that they opt to graze on sites allowing them to harvest the greater amount of food in the least possible time. This could be a foraging strategy adopted by grazers for fitness (i.e., surviving until reproductive age, finding a mate and producing an offspring). From this assumption, our observation that RN sheep composed their diet preferentially from bites performed on the top stratum of plants (i.e., leaf laminas), especially on Italian ryegrass plants with \sim 20 cm (Table 2) was expected, as around this sward height sheep display high intake rate on vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures (1), and also by assuming that herbivores defoliate swards from the top to the bottom of the canopy (33). Moreover, animals select leaves with greater soluble content (34) when they are not forced to explore the bottom parts of plants. As pointed out by Savian et al. (18), we also observed 14% greater CP content in the RN diet, with values within the range reported for ryegrass pastures grazed by sheep (35, 36). The 12% greater content of soluble sugars in the RN diet, but similar NDF content in both treatments, probably resulted from the low fiber content of the vegetative stage of Italian ryegrass in this study. The 2.2 and 2.5% greater OM digestibility and ME intake, respectively, by the RN animals (Table 3) could result in greater LW gain (9, 35) or milk yield (3). The 13% increase in crude fat was expected, with values within the range of other grazing trials with ryegrass (37-39). Several experiments showing the vertical quality gradient of forages (40-42) support our results indicating better nutritive value of the RN diet in response to preferential biting behavior on the top stratum of plants.

Daily Nutrient Intake

According to Dove (43), as farm profit derives from outputs per hectare, balancing nutrient supply with demands should not be attempted on an individual-animal basis, instead, a daily penalization of \sim 10% of individual DM intake should be targeted (3); in dairy systems where the herbage utilization reaches 93% (6) restriction could arguably surpass 10%. Nonetheless, we suggest that optimizing individual nutrient intake from grazing would occur without the trade-off of reducing per hectare harvest efficiency and farm profit, provided that both primary (i.e., total herbage production and harvesting per stocking season) and secondary production (i.e., individual and per hectare LW gains), are both optimized with the RN stocking, with respect a RT applied on Italian ryegrass grazed by sheep (9). While setting sward heights for maximizing the intake rate does not mean that animals will always defoliate plants at such sward height or warrant maximum daily intake, the conditions are ideal for this to happen (1, 16, 17, 44), thus for reducing the supplementation with high-grain diets or silages. This is timely for high yielding animals [e.g., cows whose forage intake capacity increases by 0.18 kg/kg of milk at lactation peak on good quality pastures; (45)], under time-limiting scenarios. Clearly, the daily competence of grazing with other time-consuming behaviors (i.e., ruminating, idling, socializing, walking), human interventions (i.e., nocturnal housing, milking) or weather conditions (i.e., rain and fouling, heat stress, low forage growth), could reduce eating time and accentuate intake restrictions under scenarios of low intake rate (1).

Blood Biochemistry and Hematology

The management of grazing affects the amount and quality of nutrients that animals ingest, thus their metabolic status. Blood glucose is a short-term proxy of energetic metabolism (46, 47), and in ruminants, propionic acid is its main precursor, although amino acids make a minor contribution to gluconeogenesis (48). Therefore, its greater concentration on RN animals could be explained by their greater intake of digestible OM and CP (Table 4). In line with this, Raja et al. (10) suggested that glucose responds positively to digestible OM intake. Glucose concentration in both RN and RT sheep (Table 4) is within reference values of adult sheep (31), and values in RN animals compare well with those of sheep grazing ryegrass at low intensity (49). Moreover, other reports coincide with this study in that animals with restricted feed intake, thus with limited supply of gluconeogenic substrates, have lower blood glucose concentration than better feed animals (50-53).

Fructosamine is formed from glucose and mainly albumin and owing to albumin's half-life of around 2 weeks (54), it serves as a blood marker of glycemia of the previous weeks. The non-significant increase in fructosamine in RN animals, despite higher blood glucose and albumin, could indicate the non-sensitivity of this proxy to acute changes of glucose (55), as observed on cows with less energy deficit after 30 days in lactation (56), or that a single glucose sampling did not allow an accurate referencing of glycemia of the previous weeks, because of day-today variation in DM intake in grazing conditions. Nonetheless, the reduction by half in blood NEFA concentration (P = 0.09) in RN sheep, is consistent with a better energy balance compared to RT sheep.

In this latter regard, energy intake restriction reduces cholesterol levels (57), triggers the mobilization of fatty acids from adipocytes and increases the serum concentration of NEFA (47), limits propionate production (58) and stimulates the synthesis of ketone bodies, mainly BHB (59, 60). In this study, cholesterol and BHB blood concentrations were within values previously reported for sheep (49, 52), but lower than values reported by Kaneko et al. (31) for BHB; however, as the grazing management did not affect their concentration on nonmetabolically challenged adult sheep, we suggest that substantial changes of these energy metabolites are more likely to occur when imposing energy intake restrictions below maintenance (50), which was not the case of our study, as animals of both treatments put on weight (data not shown), as demonstrated by Schons et al. (9) in a similar experiment. Likewise, alkaline phosphatase can be reduced under feed intake restriction, as occurred with sheep at a high stocking rate (61). Nonetheless in our study, its decrease in RT animals was not significant. As with energy metabolites, it is perhaps necessary a severe feed restriction to affect its concentration.

As explained above, albumin is indicative of mid-term protein status (54), while BUN is of readily dietary protein intake (62). Both metabolites were above the superior limit of 30 g/dL and 20.7 mg/dL, respectively, reported by Kaneko et al. (31) for adult sheep. As these metabolites respond positively to dietary CP, its excessive intake by sheep of both treatments is evident. BUN concentration on RN and RT sheep are comparable to values reported on sheep grazing temperate pastures with 25% of CP [blood urea equivalent to 33.1 mg/dL of BUN; (63)]. High BUN may cause reproductive inefficiency in sheep at values around 14.6 mg/dL (64-66). Such inefficiencies have been noticed on temperate pasture-based dairy herds (67, 68). Moreover, high concentration of nitrogen in the rumen could lead to less efficient ATP-producing fermentation pathways (69), high energy expenditure due to ureagenesis in the liver (70) or boost the emission of nitrous oxide from manure. In this latter regard, despite Savian et al. (71) noticed greater nitrous oxide emissions from feces, these represented <1% of the CO₂-eq emitted as enteric methane (g/ha/day), which was 61% lower in the RN, with respect RT grazing (18). To avoid inefficiency associated to excessive dietary CP, it becomes necessary to test optimal levels of energetic supplementation on animals grazing under the RN management and assess the trade-off between the emission of greenhouse gases via urine and the carbon stock in soil on RN paddocks, hypothesized to be enhanced due to greater herbage growth (9).

Low energy intake can activate the pituitary-adrenal axis, suppress animals' immune response and impair their welfare. Within leukocytes or immune cells, neutrophils participate in phagocytosis, produce reactive oxygen species (highly toxic for engulfed bacteria) and antibacterial enzymes (72), and lymphocytes confer cell-mediated immunity through immunoglobulins (73). As under long-term stress the blood N:L ratio increases (11) in response to greater levels of glucocorticoids (32, 74), this ratio is a good proxy of long-term stress (75). Sub-optimal feeding (76), monotonous diets (77) or delaying feeding (78), affect leukocytes formation and function (47). In this study, the 17% higher N:L ratio on RT sheep, support our

hypothesis that the grazing strategy penalizing individual OM intake by 18% could impair animal welfare via depressing the immune response. This is also suggested from the greater NEFA concentration, as animals with high circulating NEFA can have their immune system suppressed (Ingvartsen and Moyes, 2012). A greater N:L ratio (52) or the expression of hepatic proteins involved in immune response and inflammatory cytokines (53), as indicators of welfare impairment were also observed on sheep under sub-optimal grazing conditions.

Overall, RN sheep exhibited a metabolic and hematological profile that could be associated to a better nutritional status and immune response to stress, thus to welfare. Nonetheless, it is advisable that given the subjective nature of the welfare concept, no single physiological measurement is conclusive and that complementary assessments over the whole grazing season (e.g., inflammatory responses, oxidative stress, behavioral responses to the grazing environment denoting ingestive comfort or the opposite), should be considered for a broader evaluation of the well-being of grazing animals.

CONCLUSION

Pastoral systems must be evaluated not only by their productivity and environmental impact, but also by how much they promote animal welfare. This study shows that the low-intensity/highfrequency grazing strategy (RN) allowed sheep to compose their diet mostly from bites performed on the top stratum of plants, contrary to a traditional strategy (RT) of high-intensity/lowfrequency grazing, forcing sheep to compose diets mostly from bites performed on top and grazed parts of plants. The biting behavior of sheep grazing vegetative Italian ryegrass pastures under the RN strategy allowed them to have a greater intake of a diet with better quality and a biochemical-hematological profile positively associated with nutrition and immune response to stress, which means that well-managed pastures (e.g., RN) could be a good strategy to promote welfare in grazing conditions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee for the Use of Animals (CEUA) of the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS; protocol 3571).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AZ: conceptualization, writing original draft, investigation, review, editing, and field data collection. AM: field data collection and review and editing. JS: conceptualization, field data collection, and review and editing. AS: conceptualization, field data collection, and review and editing. JR: data curation, formal analysis, and review and editing. JB: writing, review and editing. MB: field data collection and laboratory analysis. CB: formal analysis and review. LQ: review and editing and laboratory analysis. SV: resources and review. VD: writing, review and editing and resources. PdF: conceptualization, supervision, funding acquisition, review and editing, resources, and project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the FAPERGS/CAPES 04/2018— DOCFIX, project: Grazing in horizons: how can grazing management interfere in the intake rate and grazing-down process in rotational stocking (18/2551-0000564-9).

REFERENCES

- Carvalho PCDF. Harry Stobbs Memorial Lecture: can grazing behavior support innovations in grassland management? *Trop Grasslands Forrajes Trop.* (2013) 1:137. doi: 10.17138/TGFT(1)137-155
- Bergman CM, Fryxell JM, Gates CC, Fortin D. Blackwell Science, Ltd Ungulate foraging strategies: energy maximizing or time minimizing? J Anim Ecol. (2001) 70:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2001.00496.x
- Peyraud JL, Delagarde R. Managing variations in dairy cow nutrient supply under grazing. *Animal.* (2013) 7:57–67. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111002394
- Romera AJ, Doole GJ. Optimizing the interrelationship between intake per cow and intake per hectare. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:384. doi: 10.1071/AN14424
- da Silva S, Sbrissia A, Pereira L. Ecophysiology of C4 forage grasses understanding plant growth for optimizing their use and management. *Agriculture*. (2015) 5:598–625. doi: 10.3390/agriculture5030598
- Curran J, Delaby L, Kennedy E, Murphy JP, Boland TM, O'Donovan M. Sward characteristics, grass dry matter intake and milk production performance are affected by pre-grazing herbage mass and pasture allowance. *Livest Sci.* (2010) 127:144–54. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.09.004
- Ganche E, Delaby L, O'Donovan M, Boland TM, Galvin N, Kennedy E. Post-grazing sward height imposed during the first 10 weeks of lactation: Influence on early and total lactation dairy cow production, and spring and annual sward characteristics. *Livest Sci.* (2013) 157:299– 311. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.08.001
- McEvoy M, O'Donovan M, Kennedy E, Murphy JP, Delaby L, Boland TM. Effect of pregrazing herbage mass and pasture allowance on the lactation performance of Holstein-Friesian dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2009) 92:414– 22. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1313
- Schons RMT, Laca E, Savian JV, Mezzalira JC, Schneider EAN, Caetano LAM, et al. 'Rotatinuous' stocking: an innovation in grazing management to foster both herbage and animal production. *Livest Sci.* (2021) 245:104406. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104406
- Raja RH, Moss R, Murray RM, Leng RA. Growth and glucose metabolism in young calves grazing tropical pasture - the effects of supplementation with maize or cottonseed cake. *Trop Anim Prod.* (1981) 2:105–15.
- Dhabhar FS, Miller AH, McEwen BS, Spencer RL. Stress-induced changes in blood leukocyte distribution. Role of adrenal steroid hormones. *J Immunol.* (1996) 157:1638–44.
- 12. Sordillo LM. Nutritional strategies to optimize dairy cattle immunity. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:4967–82. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10354
- Boval M, Sauvant D. Ingestive behaviour of grazing ruminants: meta-analysis of the components linking bite mass to daily intake. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2019) 251:96-11. doi: 10.1101/705665

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To the CONACYT of Mexico, for providing the PhD scholarship (CV: 171912). To all the post- and under-graduation students that assisted in the data collection. We thank the staff of the Experimental Station of the Agronomy Faculty of the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, for providing the means to conduct the experiment, and the staff of Agro-Bio Tech at Liege University and Wallon Agricultural Research Center, in Belgium. We thank Mariluh Fernandes, Fernanda G. Moojen and Thainá Freitas for the artwork.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.631820/full#supplementary-material

- Mellor DJ. Operational details of the five domains model and its key applications to the assessment and management of animal welfare. *Animals*. (2017) 7:60. doi: 10.3390/ani7080060
- Provenza FD, Kronberg SL, Gregorini P. Is grassfed meat and dairy better for human and environmental health? *Front Nutr.* (2019) 6:26. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00026
- Fonseca L, Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Filho RSA, Gonda HL, Carvalho PC de F. Management targets for maximising the short-term herbage intake rate of cattle grazing in Sorghum bicolor. *Livest Sci.* (2012) 145:205– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2012.02.003
- Mezzalira JC, De Faccio Carvalho PC, Fonseca L, Bremm C, Cangiano C, Gonda HL, et al. Behavioural mechanisms of intake rate by heifers grazing swards of contrasting structures. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2014) 153:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.12.014
- Savian JV, Schons RMT, Marchi DE, Freitas TS de, da Silva Neto GF, Mezzalira JC, et al. Rotatinuous stocking: a grazing management innovation that has high potential to mitigate methane emissions by sheep. *J Clean Prod.* (2018) 186:602–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.162
- Barthram GT. Experimental techniques: the HFRO sward stick. In: *The Hill Farming Research Organization Biennial Report, 1984/1985.* Penicuik: HFRO (1985). p. 29–30.
- Mott GO, Lucas HL. The design, conduct and interpretation of grazing trials on cultivated and improved pastures. In: *International Grassland Congress*. Pensylvania: State College Press (1952). p. 1380–85.
- Agreil C, Meuret M. An improved method for quantifying intake rate and ingestive behaviour of ruminants in diverse and variable habitats using direct observation. *Small Rumin Res.* (2004) 54:99– 113. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2003.10.013
- Bonnet OJF, Meuret M, Tischler MR, Cezimbra IM, Azambuja JCR, Carvalho PCF. Continuous bite monitoring: a method to assess the foraging dynamics of herbivores in natural grazing conditions. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:339. doi: 10.1071/AN14540
- 23. Bolzan AMS, Szymczak LS, Nadin L, Bonnet OF, Wallau MO, Moraes A, et al. What, how and how much do herbivores eat? The Continuous Bite Monitoring method for assessing forage intake of grazing animals. *Ecol Evol.* (2021).
- Bonnet O, Hagenah N, Hebbelmann L, Meuret M, Shrader AM. Is hand plucking an accurate method of estimating bite mass and instantaneous intake of grazing herbivores? *Rangel Ecol Manag.* (2011) 64:366–74. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-10-00 186.1
- Penning PD. Animal-based techniques for estimating herbage intake. In: Penning, editor. *Herbage Intake Handbook*. 2nd ed. Reading, PA: British Grassland Society (2004). p. 53–93.

- Azevedo EB, Poli C, David DB, Amaral GA, Fonseca L, Carvalho PCF, et al. Use of faecal components as markers to estimate intake and digestibility of grazing sheep. *Livest Sci.* (2014) 165:42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2014.04.018
- 27. AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis. 12th ed. Washington, DC: Association of Official Analytical Chemists (1975).
- 28. CSIRO. Nutrient Requirements of Domesticated Ruminants. Collingwood, VIC: CSIRO Publishing. (2007).
- 29. Decruyenaere V, Lecomte P, Demarquilly C, Aufrere J, Dardenne P, Stilmant D, et al. Evaluation of green forage intake and digestibility in ruminants using near infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIRS): developing a global calibration. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2009) 148:138–56. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2008.03.007
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. (2019). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/
- Kaneko JJ, Harvey JW, Bruss ML. Clinical Biochemistry of Domestic Animals. Oxford, UK: Academic Press (2008).
- Byers SR, Kramer JW. Normal hematology of sheep and goats. In: Schalm's Veterinary Hematology, 6th Edn. Ames: Blackwell Publishing (2010) 6:836–42.
- Baumont R, Cohen-Salmon D, Prache S, Sauvant D. A mechanistic model of intake and grazing behaviour in sheep integrating sward architecture and animal decisions. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2004) 112:5– 28. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2003.10.005
- 34. Elgersma A. Grazing increases the unsaturated fatty acid concentration of milk from grass-fed cows: a review of the contributing factors, challenges and future perspectives. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol.* (2015) 117:1345–69. doi: 10.1002/ejlt.201400469
- Cosgrove GP, Taylor PS, Jonker A. Sheep performance on perennial ryegrass cultivars differing in concentration of water-soluble carbohydrate. J New Zeal Grasslands Assoc. (2015) 77:123–9. doi: 10.33584/jnzg.2015.77.491
- Vasta V, Pagano RI, Luciano G, Scerra M, Caparra P, Foti F, et al. Effect of morning vs. afternoon grazing on intramuscular fatty acid composition in lamb. *Meat Sci.* (2012) 90:93–8. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2011.06.009
- Bonanno A, Di Grigoli A, Mazza F, De Pasquale C, Giosuè C, Vitale F, et al. Effects of ewes grazing sulla or ryegrass pasture for different daily durations on forage intake, milk production and fatty acid composition of cheese. *Animal.* (2016) 10:2074–82. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116001130
- Lourenço M, Van Ranst G, De Smet S, Raes K, Fievez V. Effect of grazing pastures with different botanical composition by lambs on rumen fatty acid metabolism and fatty acid pattern of longissimus muscle and subcutaneous fat. *Animal.* (2007) 1:537–45. doi: 10.1017/S1751731107703531
- Morrison SJ, McBride J, Gordon AW, Wylie ARG, Yan T. Methane emissions from grazing holstein-friesian heifers at different ages estimated using the sulfur hexafluoride tracer technique. *Engineering*. (2017) 3:753– 9. doi: 10.1016/J.ENG.2017.03.018
- 40. Hodgson J. Grazing Management: Science Into Practice. London: Longman Group (1990).
- 41. Delagarde R, Peyraud J, Delaby L, Faverdin P. Vertical distribution of biomass, chemical composition and pepsin—cellulase digestibility in a perennial ryegrass sward: interaction with month of year, regrowth age and time of day. *Anim Feed Sci Technol.* (2000) 84:49–68. doi: 10.1016/S0377-8401(00)00 114-0
- 42. Orr RJ, Rutter SM, Yarrow NH, Champion RA, Rook AJ. Changes in ingestive behaviour of yearling dairy heifers due to changes in sward state during grazing down of rotationally stocked ryegrass or white clover pastures. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2004) 87:205–22. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.01.009
- Dove H. Balancing nutrient supply and nutrient requirements in grazing sheep. *Small Rumin Res.* (2010) 92:36– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2010.04.004
- 44. Amaral MF, Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Da Trindade JK, Gibb MJ, Suñe RWM, et al. Sward structure management for a maximum shortterm intake rate in annual ryegrass. *Grass Forage Sci.* (2013) 68:271– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2012.00898.x
- Peyraud JL, Comeron EA, Wade MH, Lemaire G. The effect of daily herbage allowance, herbage mass and animal factors upon herbage intake by grazing dairy cows. *Annales Zootechnie.* (1996) 45:201–17. doi: 10.1051/animres:19960301

- Ginane C, Bonnet M, Baumont R, Revell DK. Feeding behaviour in ruminants: a consequence of interactions between a reward system and the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:247. doi: 10.1071/AN14481
- Ingvartsen KL, Moyes K. Nutrition, immune function and health of dairy cattle. Animal. (2013) 7:112–22. doi: 10.1017/S175173111200170X
- 48. Leng RA. Glucose synthesis in ruminants. Adv Vet Sci. (1970) 14:209–792.
- 49. Macari S, Carvalho PC de F, Oliveira L de, Devincenzi T, Albuquerque C, Moraes A de. Recria de borregas sob diferentes métodos de pastoreio em azevém anual em sucessão a lavoura. *Pesqui Agropecuária Bras.* (2011) 46:1401–8. doi: 10.1590/S0100-204X2011001000038
- Caldeira RM, Almeida MA, Santos CC, Vasques MI, Portugal AV. Daily variation in blood enzymes and metabolites in ewes under three levels of feed intake. *Can J Anim Sci.* (1999) 79:157–64. doi: 10.4141/A97-083
- Caldeira RM, Belo AT, Santos CC, Vazques MI, Portugal AV. The effect of body condition score on blood metabolites and hormonal profiles in ewes. *Small Rumin Res.* (2007) 68:233–41. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2005.08.027
- Costa JPR, Silva WL da, Paula GC de, Tsuzukibashi D, Malheiros EB, Ruggieri AC, et al. The effect of grazing intensity and supplementation on performance, stress indicators and metabolic profiles of finishing lambs. *Semin Ciências Agrárias*. (2015) 36:3863. doi: 10.5433/1679-0359.2015v36n6p3863
- 53. Ren W, Hou X, Wang Y, Badgery W, Li X, Ding Y, et al. Overgrazing induces alterations in the hepatic proteome of sheep (Ovis aries): an iTRAQ-based quantitative proteomic analysis. *Proteome Sci.* (2016) 15:2. doi: 10.1186/s12953-016-0111-z
- Tóthová C, Mihajlovičová X, Nagy O. The use of serum proteins in the laboratory diagnosis of health disorders in ruminants. In: *Ruminants* - *The Husbandry, Economic and Health Aspects.* London, UK: InTech (2018). doi: 10.5772/intechopen.72154
- Jensen AL, Petersen MB, Houe H. Determination of the fructosamine concentration in bovine serum samples. J Vet Med Ser A. (1993) 40:111– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0442.1993.tb00607.x
- Caré S, Trevisi E, Minuti A, Ferrari A, Loor JJ, Calamari L. Plasma fructosamine during the transition period and its relationship with energy metabolism and inflammation biomarkers in dairy cows. *Livest Sci.* (2018) 216:138–47. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.08.003
- Fernandes SR, Monteiro ALG, Dittrich RL, Salgado JA, Silva CJA da, Silva MGB da, et al. Early weaning and concentrate supplementation on the performance and metabolic profile of grazing lambs. *Rev Bras Zootec*. (2012) 41:1292–300. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982012000500029
- Kronfeld DS. Hypoglycemia in ketotic cows. J Dairy Sci. (1971) 54:949– 61. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(71)85951-9
- 59. Braun JP, Trumel C, Bézille P. Clinical biochemistry in sheep: a selected review. *Small Rumin Res.* 92, 10–18. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2010.04.002
- McGuffey RK. (2017) A 100-Year review: metabolic modifiers in dairy cattle nutrition. J Dairy Sci. (2010) 100:10113–42. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-12987
- Thamsborg SM, Hauge EM. Osteopenia and reduced serum alkaline phosphatase activity in grazing lambs naturally infected with gastrointestinal nematodes. *J Comp Pathol.* (2001) 125:192–203. doi: 10.1053/jcpa.2001. 0498
- Kenny DA, Boland MP, Diskin MG, Sreenan JM. Effect of pasture crude protein and fermentable energy supplementation on blood metabolite and progesterone concentrations and on embryo survival in heifers. *Anim Sci.* (2001) 73:501–11. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800058471
- Speijers MHM, Fraser MD, Theobald VJ, Haresign W. The effects of grazing forage legumes on the performance of finishing lambs. J Agric Sci. (2004) 142:483–93. doi: 10.1017/S0021859604004496
- Bishonga C, Robinson JJ, McEvoy TG, Findlay P, Aitken RP, Robertson I. Excess dietary urea intake in ewes its effect on ovulation rate embryo development. *Jpn J Vet Res.* (1996) 44:139–51.
- 65. Fahey J, Boland MP, O'Callaghan1 D. The effects of dietary urea on embryo development in superovulated donor ewes and on early embryo survival and development in recipient ewes. *Anim Sci.* (2001) 72:395– 400. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800055892
- 66. McEvoy TG, Robinson JJ, Aitken RP, Findlay PA, Robertson IS. Dietary excesses of urea influence the viability and metabolism of preimplantation sheep embryos and may affect fetal growth among survivors. *Anim Reprod Sci.* (1997) 47:71–90. doi: 10.1016/S0378-4320(96)01627-2

- Wittwer FG, Gallardo P, Reyes J, Opitz H. Bulk milk urea concentrations and their relationship with cow fertility in grazing dairy herds in Southern Chile. *Prevent Vet Med.* (1999) 38:159–66. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5877(98)00121-4
- Fariña SR, Chilibroste P. Opportunities and challenges for the growth of milk production from pasture: the case of farm systems in Uruguay. *Agric Syst.* (2019) 176:102631. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2019.05.001
- Vibart RE, Ganesh S, Kirk MR, Kittelmann S, Leahy SC, Janssen PH, et al. Temporal fermentation and microbial community dynamics in rumens of sheep grazing a ryegrass-based pasture offered either in the morning or in the afternoon. *Animal.* (2019) 13:2242–51. doi: 10.1017/S1751731119000168
- Huntington GB, Archibeque SL. Practical aspects of urea and ammonia metabolism in ruminants. *Proc Am Soc Anim Sci.* (1999) 1999:1– 11. doi: 10.2527/jas2000.77E-Supplly
- Savian JV, Priano ME, Nadin LB, Tieri MP, Schons RMT, Basso C de F, et al. Effect of sward management on the emissions of CH4 and N2O from faeces of sheep grazing Italian ryegrass pastures. *Small Rumin Res.* (2019) 178:123–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2019.08.011
- Alhussien MN, Dang AK. Potential roles of neutrophils in maintaining the health and productivity of dairy cows during various physiological and physiopathological conditions: a review. *Immunol Res.* (2019) 67:21– 38. doi: 10.1007/s12026-019-9064-5
- Carroll JA, Forsberg NE. Influence of stress and nutrition on cattle immunity. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (2007) 23:105–49. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2007.01.003
- 74. Tornquist SJ, Rigas J. Interpretation of Ruminant Leukocyte Responses. Schalm's Veterinary Hematology. Ames: Wiley-Blackwell (2010). p.307-13.

- Davis AK, Maney DL, Maerz JC. The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists. *Funct Ecol.* (2008) 22:760– 72. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01467.x
- Collier RJ, Renquist BJ, Xiao Y. A 100-year review: stress physiology including heat stress. J Dairy Sci. (2017) 100:10367–80. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13676
- Catanese F, Obelar M, Villalba JJ, Distel RA. The importance of diet choice on stress-related responses by lambs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 148:37– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.07.005
- González LA, Correa LB, Ferret A, Manteca X, Ruíz-de-la-Torre JL, Calsamiglia S. Intake, water consumption, ruminal fermentation, and stress response of beef heifers fed after different lengths of delays in the daily feed delivery time. J Anim Sci. (2009) 87:2709–18. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1709

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zubieta, Marín, Savian, Soares Bolzan, Rossetto, Barreto, Bindelle, Bremm, Quishpe, Valle, Decruyenaere and de F. Carvalho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

